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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

The Senate,
Wednesday, 11th February, 1948.

Ordered: That the Senate do unite with the House of Commons m the 
appointment of a Joint Committee of both Houses to continue and complete the 
examination and consideration begun by a joint committee oi the c 
the House of Commons, pursuant to a resolution of the House on Ma.y Id, iy4b, 
and continued by a Commission under the Inquiries Act, appointed by Order 
in Council P.C. 3797, dated the 11th day of October, 1946, and further continued 
by a joint committee of the Senate and the House of Commons, pursuant to a 
resolution of the House, on February 13, 1947, of the Indian Act, Chapter 98, 
R-S.C. 1927, and amendments thereto, and to suggest such amendments as 
they may deem advisable, with authority to investigate and report, upon 
Indian administration in general and, in particular, the following matters.

8
status

1- Treaty rights and obligations.
2. Band membership.
3. Liability of Indians to pay taxes.
4. Enfranchisement of Indians both voluntary and involuntary.
5. Eligibility of Indians to vote at Dominion elections'.
6. The encroachment of white persons on Indian reserves.
7. The operation of Indian day and residential schools.
" And any other matter or thing pertaining to the social and economic

- — of Indians and their advancement, which, in the opinion of such 
Committee, should be incorporated in the revised act.

That the following Senators be appointed to act on behalf ot the Senate
°n the said Joint Committee, namely: T , , T

The Honourable Senators Blais, Dupuis, Fallis, Horner, Johnston, Legei, 
Macdonald (Cardigan), MacLennan, McKeen, Paterson, Stevenson and Taylor.

That the records, exhibits and evidence received and taken by the Joint 
Committee during the last session of Parliament and by the Commission 
aforesaid, be made available to the said Joint Committee and made part ot
the records thereof. . . , ,

That the said Committee have power to appoint from its members such 
subcommittees as may be deemed advisable or necessary to deal with specific 
Phases of the problem aforesaid, with power to call for persons, papers and 
records, to examine witnesses under oath and to print such materials rom day 
to day as may be ordered by the Committee for the use of the Committee and
Members of the House of Commons and the Senate. , —That a Message be sent to the House of Commons to inform that House
accordingly.

Thursday, 19th February,
Ordered: That the quorum of the Committee be nine members.
Ordered: That authority be granted to the Senate section of 

Committee to sit during sittings and adjournments of the Senate. 
Attest. L. C. MOYER,

Clerk of the Senate.
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House of Commons,

Monday, 9th February, 1948.

Resolved: That a joint committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
be appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration begun 
by a joint committee of the Senate and the House of Commons, pursuant to a 
resolution of the House on May 13, 1946, and continued by a Commission under 
the Inquiries Act, appointed by Order in Council P.C. 3797, dated the 11th day 
of October, 1946, and further continued by a joint committee of the Senate 
and the House of Commons, pursuant to a resolution of the House on Feb­
ruary 13, 1947, of the Indian Act, Chapter 98, R.S.C. 1927, and amendments 
thereto, and to suggest such amendments as they may deem advisable, with 
authority to investigate and report upon Indian administration in general and, 
in particular, the following matters :

1. Treaty rights and obligations.
2. Band membership.
3. Liability of Indians to pay taxes.
4. Enfranchisement of Indians both voluntary and involuntary.
5. Eligibility of Indians to vote at Dominion elections.
6. The encroachment of white persons on Indian reserves.
7. The operation of Indian day and residential schools.
8. And any other matter or thing pertaining to the social and economic 

status of Indians and their advancement which, in the opinion of such 
committee, should be incorporated in the revised act.

That the following members be appointed to act on behalf of the House of 
Commons on the said joint committee, namely:

Messrs. Arsenault, Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, Castleden, 
Charlton, Church, Farqubar, Gariépy, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Glen, Harkness, 
Little, Matthews {Brandon), MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), Reid, 
Richard (Gloucester), Stanfield.

That a message be sent to the Senate requesting their honours to appoint 
senators to act as members of the Senate on the said special joint committee.

That the records, exhibits and evidence received and taken by the joint 
committee during the two last sessions of Parliament and by the Commission 
aforesaid, be made available to the said joint committee and made part of the 
records thereof.

That the said committee have power to appoint from its members such 
subcommittees as may be deemed advisable or necessary to deal with specific 
phases of the problem aforesaid with power to call for persons, papers and 
records, to examine witnesses under oath and to print such materials from day 
to day as may be ordered by the committee for the use of the committee and 
members of the House of Commons and the Senate.

That the said Committee shall report from time to time and that the pro­
visions of Standing Order 65 limiting the number of members on special commit­
tees be suspended in relation thereto, and that a message be sent to the Senate 
to acquaint their honours therewith.
Attest.

ROY T. GRAHAM,
Deputy Clerk of the House.
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Thursday, 19th February, 1948.
Ordered: That the quorum of the said Committee be nine members. 
Ordered: That the said Committee be granted leave to sit while the House 

sitting.
Attest.

ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE,
Clerk of the House.

REPORT TO THE SENATE

Thursday, 19th February, 1948.
The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons appointed 

to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the Indian Act 
(Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been referred 
to the said Committee, beg leave to make their first report, as follows:—

Your Committee recommends:—
1. That the quorum of the Committee be nine members.
2. That authority be granted to the Senate section of the Joint Committee 

to sit during sittings and adjournments of the Senate.
All which is respectfully submitted.

W. H. TAYLOR,
Chairman.

With leave of the Senate,
The said Report was adopted.

REPORT TO THE HOUSE OF COMMONS
Thursday, 19th February, 1948.

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons appointed 
to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the Indian Act 
(Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), has the honour to present the following as a

First Report

Your Committee recommends:—
1. That the quorum of the Committee be nine members.
2. That the said Committee be granted leave to sit while the House is sitting. 
All which is respectfully submitted.

DON F. BROWN,
Chairman.

By leave of the House,
The said Report was concurred in this day.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House of Commons,

Thursday, 19th February, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to “continue and complete” the examination and consideration . . • 
of the Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have 
been referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11.00 a.m.

Present:
The Senate: The Honourable Senators Blais, Fallis, Horner, Johnston, 

Macdonald (Cardigan), MacLennan, McKeen, Taylor ... 8.
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, Castle- 

den, Charlton, Church, Farquhar, Gariépy, Gibson (Comox-Albemi), Harkness, 
Little, Matthews (Brandon), MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), Reid, Richard 
(Gloucester) ... 17.

On motion of the Honourable Senator Johnston, seconded by the Honourable 
Mrs. Fallis, it was

Resolved: That the Honourable Senator William H. Taylor be Chairman 
of the Committee for the Senate.

On motion of Mr. Farquhar, seconded by Mr. MacNicol, it was
Resolved: That Mr. D. F. Brown be Chairman of the members of the 

Committee for the House of Commons.
The Honourable Mr. Taylor and Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., took the Chair 

aiid expressed their appreciation of the honour done them by being chosen to 
act as Joint Chairmen for the 1948 Session of the Committee.

Mr. Brown (Joint Chairman) then made a statement to the Committee. 
(For text of statement, see Minutes of Evidence).

Mr. D. S. Harkness gave notice of a motion and his reasons for bringing 
the motion to the attention of the Committee. (For text of motion, see Minutes 
°f Evidence).

Messrs. Reid and Case addressed the Committee.
The Chairman (Mr. Brown) suggested that the notice of motion filed by 

Mr. Harkness and the suggestion of Mr. Reid (see Minutes of Evidence) be 
referred to the subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure (to be named later).
Agreed.

On motion of Mr. Little, it was
Resolved: That the quorum of the Committee be nine members
On motion of the Honourable Senator Fallis, it was 

of th’ es2}ved\ That the Senate be asked to grant •authority for Senate members 
18 Committee to sit during sittings and adjournments of the Senate.

n motion of Mr. Matthews (Brandon), it was 
Com That the House of Commons be asked to grant leave to the

rmttee to sit while the House is sitting.

7



8

The Chairman (Mr. Brown, M.P.) informed the Committee that the Order 
of Reference to the Committee which, mutatis mutandis, is that of 1946 and 
1947, authorizes the Committee “to print such materials from day to day as may 
be ordered by the Committee for the use of the Committee and members of 
the Senate and the House of Commons” and that the only matter to be decided 
in this regard was the number of copies to be printed.

On motion of Mr. Case, it was
Ordered: That 1,000 copies in English and 250 copies in French be printed 

of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence to be taken before the Committee.
It was agreed that the f ollowing subcommittees would be set up :

On motion of Mr. Blackmore,
The subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure would be composed of:
The Joint Chairmen and Messrs. Bryce, Case, Gibson (Comox-Alberm), 

Raymond (Wright), Reid, Stanfield, and the Honourable Mr. Dupuis.

On motion of the Honourable Mrs. Fallis,
The subcommittee on Treaty Rights and Obligations would include:
The Honourable Senators Taylor and Paterson and Messrs. Brown, Black- 

more, Castleden, Gariépy and MacNicol.

On motion of the Honourable Senator Johnston,
The subcommittee on the revision of the Indian Act would be:
The Honourable Senators Taylor and McKeen and Messrs. Brown, Arsen­

ault, Church, Farquhar and Richard (Gloucester).

On motion of Mr. Church,
The subcommittee on Indian Educational matters would be as follows :
The Honourable Senators Fallis and Taylor and Messrs. Brown, Case, 

Charlton, Matthews (Brandon) and Reid.
The Committee adjourned at 11.40 a.m., to meet again at the call of the 

Chair.

T. L. McEVOY
Clerk of the Joint Committee.

i
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,

February 19, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act met this day at 11 a.m. 
Air. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman) presided.

Hon. Mr. Taylor (Joint Chairman) : Mr. Chairman, Mrs. Fallis, gentlemen; 
I have been asked by the chairman of the Comrqons section to say a word to 
you. First of all, I desire to express my appreciation at being again chosen 
a.s chairman of the Joint Committee on the Indian Act. I realize the respon­
sibilities that go along with the work, especially if we hold meetings as fre­
quently as we did last year. As joint chairman Î realize that you have put me 
iuto this position probably to keep me quiet. However, I shall try to preserve 
order and decorum in the committee to the extent to which I am acting as 
chairman, and I shall be pleased to fulfil my duties. I thank you.

The Chairman: Mr. Chairman, Mr. Fallis, gentlemen. May I also express 
mY appreciation and thanks to the members of the committee for having 
chosen me as joint chairman, chairman of the Commons section of this com- 
mittee, for the ensuing year. I am also given this opportunity of expressing 
to you my appreciation for your co-operation in the past—the co-operation which 
has been extended by you to the Chair and to one another is reflected to a 
large extent in the harmony with which this committee has alwaj s conducted 
its work.

Now, for the future : we have come down to the period when we must 
Produce results, and our work this year will be arduous and serious because we 
have before us the welfare of approximately 140,000 people the Indian popu- 
!ation of Canada—and if we keep in our minds the slogan which we have adopted 
ln this committee—“Help the Indians to help themselves then the actions 
^hich we shall take will be for the benefit of all the Indians. At all times we 
have in our minds that slogan. Keeping the fact in mind that we are looking 
after the welfare of human beings, Ï am sure we will get along expeditiously
and harmoniously. . . , , .

May I again thank you for your selection of me as your joint chairman.
Before embarking upon our routine proceedings, there are some matters

Much I feel we should consider. , , , . ,
Members of the committee will recall that very valuable assistance was 

Pven us last March 28 bv the Rev. Canon II. A. Alderwood, D.D., Superin­
tendent, Indian School Administration of the Missionary Society of the Church 
°f England in Canada, which was making representation to us on that date.

It is with regret that we have learned that Canon Alderwood passed on 
suddenly while attending the memorial service in front of this House on Novem­
ber H jast
, Canon Alderwood came to Canada in 1912 and, after his ordination in 
1917, went to western Canada and began his ministry m the diocese of 
Edmonton. He was later appointed Archdeacon of the diocese of Saskatoon 
and in 1943 was appointed to the position lie held when he appeared before us.

I am sure that I speak for +his committee in extending our deep sympathy 
to the members of his family and to all those with whom, and for whom, 
Eanon Alderwood laboured so unceasingly.
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Canon Alderwood was succeeded by the Rev. Canon J. W. House who, we 
regret, also passed on in December last.

Canon House was for seventeen years principal of the old Sun School on 
the Blackfoot Reserve at Gleichen, Alberta. May we also extend our sympathy 
to the family of Canon House and to those with whom he was associated.

On April 15th last this committee .also heard representations by the Board 
of Missions of the Presbyterian Church in Canada through the Very Rev. 
Robert Johnston, M.A. Doctor Johnston devoted many years of his life to 
the missionary work conducted by his church among our Canadian Indians. 
He had been moderator of the Presbyterian Church in Canada, being well known 
in Ottawa because of his ministry at Knox Church in this city.

We regret to learn of the passing on 24th October last of Dr. Johnston.
I know that the committee would not wish me to neglect to put on record 

the gratitude which we feel for the outstanding work done on behalf of our 
Canadian Indians by the reverend gentlemen to whom I have just referred.

There is also another matter to which I would like to refer.
The resignation from parliament of the Hon. Grote Stirling, member for 

Yale, British Columbia, deprives this committee of the services of one who, 
in previous sessions, was a very faithful attendant at our committee meetings, 
and a very valuable contributor to the deliberations conducted herein.

During his long service in this house, Mr. Stirling’s kindly manner and 
gracious conduct endeared him to the hearts of all, regardless of party affiliations. 
May, I therefore, both personally and on behalf of this committee, yes, and 
on behalf of the people of Canada, express to him our gratitude for the assistance 
he has been to us in the past and the hope that the future will hold for him 
an abundance of contentment and health which he so richly deserves.

May I also take this opportunity of welcoming to this committee Senator 
Léger who replaces Senator Robicheau, and also Mr. T. L. Church who replaces 
the Hon. Grote Stirling.

We trust that their work on this committee will prove as pleasant to them 
as our relationship with one another has proved to us in the past.

Now, the next business of the committee will be the fixing of our quorum.
Mr. Harkness: Mr. Chairman, perhaps before we go ahead with our 

routine proceedings this would be a good time to file a notice of motion. It 
reads as follows:—

Notice of Motion,—Whereas the 1946 Joint Committee on the 
Indian Act reported to parliament on 15th August, 1946, recommending, 
inter alia:—
5. That the Director of Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines and 

Resources, in conjunction with the Civil Service Commission and 
the Treasury Board take immediate steps to fill such vacant key 
positions as Indian agents and such other vacancies in Indian Affairs 
Branch which in the public interest must be filled forthwith ; 

and the said report was unanimously concurred in by both houses of 
parliament;

Whereas the 1947 Joint Committee reported to parliament on 10th 
July, 1947, recommending, inter alia:—
10. That the Director of Indian Affairs should be given the status, if not 

the rank, of deputy minister to permit him to have direct approach 
to his and other departmental heads ....

14. That whenever possible a vacant position of Indian agent be filled 
by promotion of an assistant agent who will have had the oppor­
tunity of receiving training in all the duties of an Indian agent;
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23. That future appointments of officials concerned with the administra­
tion of Indian Affairs should, where practicable, be restricted to 
applicants who have had previous experience in the field. Field 
Officers in the said administration should, from time to time be 
posted to the headquarters office of such administration ; 

and the said report was also unanimously concurred in by both houses of 
parliament.

Therefore be it resolved : That this present Joint Committee 
on the Indian Act forthwith call and examine Messrs. H. L. Keen ley- 
side, C. W. Jackson, R. A. Hoey and C. H. Bland, to ascertain 
the extent to which the above or any other of our previous recom­
mendations concerning administration and personnel in Indian Affairs 
have been implemented and, if not, why and by whom the said 
recommendations were frustrated and thwarted.

Ihe Chairman : Would you file that?
Mr. Harkness: Yes. I make that motion for three reasons—

, IJ16 Chairman : First, is it not the usual procedure to give notice of motion 
,nd then when the matter comes up for debate to discuss it? The other mem­
o's of the committee have not had an opportunity of perusing the contents of 
le Motion, and I would think that in fairness to the other members of the 

committee the notice should be filed as a notice of motion and be taken up 
at our next meeting.

. Mr. Harkness: Mr. Chairman, I was going to give the reasons for filing 
118 notice of motion.

The Chairman : That could reasonably be given in a debate, could it not? 
°u would have an opportunity at that time. However, this is a matter for 
le committee to decide. I would think that would be the proper procedure.

Mr. Gibson : Mr. Chairman, I suggest it would give us something to 
w°i’k on, if Mr. Harkness gave us brief reasons, now.

The Chairman: Is that procedure acceptable to the committee?
Mr. Reid: Mr. Chairman, may I ask if parliament did concur in the report 

m was it merely tabled? There is quite a difference. Many members may not 
x> aware of it while others are. Very often a report is tabled in the House 
and it lies on the table. I wonder if parliament did concur in the report.

Hie Chairman : Yes. Both Houses did. Is it agreeable for Mr. Harkness 
0 give, briefly, the reasons for his motion?

Agreed.
Mr. Harkness: Mr. Chairman, I make this motion for three reasons : 

lfst, from the point of view of the privileges of parliament and of this joint 
,(l|ninittee of parliament. I believe that our privileges have been infringed by 

le. ^ct that certain of our recommendations which I have included in this 
°“ce of motion have not been carried out.

• Secondly, I believe one of the chief duties of this- committee is to inquire 
lnto the administration of the Indian Affairs Branch and to ensure that the best 
ï?en be appointed to fill the vacancies and that all appointments to that 

ranch are being made in accordance with our recommendations and at the 
earliest possible moment, which again, I believe, has not been done.

Third, I speak from the point of view of the morale of the Indians—to 
ensure that they will have confidence that this committee is investigating 
noroughly the administration of the Indian Affairs Branch ; that they have no 
oubts in their minds that that work is being carried out by this committee.

1 Mink that is particularly necessary, due to the fact that I made a few remarks 
ln the House of Commons which were replied to yesterday by the Hon. Mr.
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Glen. There has been a certain amount of publicity in connection with the 
matter; and I think that in order to set the minds of the Indians, particularly, 
at rest that the entire matter brought, up at that time should be thoroughly 
investigated. I expressed my belief on that occasion that efforts which I 
thought improper were being made to force the appointment of a superintendent- 
general for agencies. Mr. Glen in reply denied that statement, and in doing so 
saw fit—

The Chairman: Now, I do not want to interrupt you, and I know you 
want to be fair—

Mr. Harkness: I certainly do want to be fair; that is why I have filed 
this notice of motion. I shall be finished in half a minute.

Mr. Farquhar: I see no reason why Mr. Harkness should not be allowed 
to continue with his explanation.

Mr. Harkness: Mr. Glen in his reply saw fit to castigate the Civil Service 
Commission and an Appeal Board for rejecting the appointment of the man 
whom the department wished to appoint or whom they recommended for the 
jpb. It seems incredible to me that those bodies should be criticized for doing 
the job that presumably they have been appointed to do, and it seems to me 
that the delay of eighteen months in the appointment to this important position 
in the Indian Affairs Branch is due either to the department or to the Civil 
Service Commission. It is one of our jobs to determine who has been at fault 
and to ensure, if possible, that delays of this kind and embroglios of this nature 
do not recur. For these reasons I have given notice of this motion.

The Chairman: Thank you very much, Mr. Harkness. There is one 
matter I would like to refer to at this moment and that is that one of the 
reasons for the delay in getting our committee formed and started with our 
business has been the illness of our good friend “Scotty” Bryce. I am glad 
to see “Scotty” back with us. The name, of course, is William H. Bryce, but 
he is affectionately known as “Scotty”. We hope he will be feeling fit enough 
to go through with his arduous duties. I am told by the clerk that his 
attendance record in this committee, during the last two years, has been one 
hundred per cent, and we would not like to have such a good record marred.

Mr. Reid: Mr. Chairman, following Mr. Harkness’ notice of motion, I 
think this committee should also inquire into an appointment that was recently 
made in British Columbia. I think it was our recommendation to the govern­
ment that when appointments were being made within a province that if there 
were those within the service in that province who were eligible and capable 
to fill a promotion that those people would be moved up to the higher position. 
Now it appears that has not been done in British Columbia.

The Chairman : Do you give that as a notice of motion?
Mr. Reid: Yes. May I also draw to the attention of this committee, and 

suggest that we should take note of it, that we have been castigated by a former 
Minister of Mines and Resources, in the Senate. When our report was before 
that honourable body last year he said—I will read his words—

The Chairman: Is this a debate of this year?
Mr. Reid: Last year, 1947. And I quote : “As a matter of fact, most 

of the recommendatitons have no more value than wind that blows around the 
corner, so far as the implementation at the present time is concerned.” I say 
that is a serious statement to be made by a former minister of the Crown—a 
former minister in charge of Indian Affairs—when discussing our recommenda­
tions to parliament. When such a person has this to say I think we should 
seriously consider whether we are wasting our time in this committee. I say 
that seriously. As a member of parliament I was not naturally in the Senate 
when the statement was made. Some of the members of this committee,
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including Senators Fâllis, Johnston and Taylor, took exception to the remarks 
made. However, I say that note should be taken by this committee of those 
remarks. Strong words were used in connection with our recommendations. 
Does the honourable senator mean to say1 that we have been sitting here for 
two years for nothing? It was an extremely strong statement to be made 
by a former minister who was once in charge of Indian Affairs. I, personally, if 
no one else, take strong exception to such words. In fact, I would like to have 
him come along here and tell us why he made them or what prompted them to 
'be made. We are not in the House of Commons now and so can mention a 
senator by name in this committee; and I am doing so now; he should be called 
and asked to explain his reasons for such statements. I want to know. I am 
not allowed to go to the Senate. I therefore cannot challenge him personally. 
But as a member of this committee I am resting on my rights as a member of 
Parliament to bring this matter up at our organization meeting today.

The Chairman: Of course, we realize that the same rules apply to this 
committee—a joint committee—as apply in the House of Commons ; we are all 
members of the House or of the Senate. We of the House section are members 
of the committee as members of parliament, and we get our authority from 
that house of parliament and are responsible to that house of parliament. My 
■own thought on the subject is that it is up to us to prove that what that 
Senator said is not correct.

Mr. Reid: I think it has been overwhelmingly proved, because none of the 
recommendations so far as I know have been carried out. I do not know that 
we need any more proof. Tell me one recommendation that has been carried out.

Mr. Bareness : That is the point of my motion.
Mr. Reid: Let us not fool around with this matter. Either We are going 

*o do a job or we are not. We as members of parliament are entrusted with 
a serious task and if our recommendations are only “a lot of wind that blows 
around" the corner”, let us disband. I have given a lot of my time to the work 
°f this committee, as have all other members and I am putting this matter 
forward in all seriousness. If our recommendations do not mean anything, 
you Mr. Chairman have just answered what I said, that perhaps Senator Crerar 
18 right.

The Chairman: As I was saying it is up to us to prove that what we 
are saying is going to be a fact. Our job is to revise the Indian Act, and, 
as_ yet, we have not got down to the revision. We are going to do that 
this year.

Mr. Reid: Hold on. I know that is our task, but last year we made many 
recommendations, twenty-six in number. We made a certain number of recom­
mendations the previous year.

The Chairman : Yes.
Mr. Reid: You say they should not be carried out because we have yet 

to revise the Indian Act.
. The Chairman : I did not say that. I said our first job this year is to 

revise the Indian Act. t
Mr. Reid: We made twenty-six recommendations last year. No. 17 was.

That when a promotion from the staff of an agency is not possible, 
a promotion should, when practicable, be made from junior o cers in 
the district who may desire promotion and who are suiter ant qu 
for a senior post.

. . r +v,at, recommendation in theAs I say there has been a direct ™^ation recommendations may
Province of British Columbia, which proves tnar 
be just what Senator Crerar says they are.
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The Chairman : We will take that as a notice of motion to this committee, 
and it will be discussed at the next meeting.

Mr. Case: You say it is up to us to prove something. How soon do you 
expect we are going to be in a position to find out? I feel much as Mr. Reid 
does, that we want to know whether we are wasting time or whether our work 
means something. How soon are we going to come to grips with this?

The Chairman: I would sugest that these notices of motion be referred to 
the subcommittee on agenda and procedure and be dealt with at the next meeting. 
Is that agreeable?

Agreed.
We will now proceed with the next order of business.
See minutes of proceedings.
The committee adjourned at 11.40 a.m. to meet again at the call of the 

chair.
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REPORT TO THE HOUSE OF COMMONS

Tuesday, 2nd March, 1948.
ap Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
ppointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 

ref *an (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
er?ed to the said Committee, begs leave to present the following as a

Second Report

Your Committee recommends that it be empowered to retain the services of
counsel.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

DON F. BROWN,
Chairman.

Concurrence: March 4, 1948.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House of Commons,

Tuesday, 2nd March, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
aPPointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration oi the 
ïndian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.
n Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Blais and Johnston. 2.
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce Blackinore, Case, Castleden, 

Charlton, Church, Gariépy, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Harkncss Matthews 
Brandon), MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond {Wright), Reid, Richard 

(Gloucester), and Stanfield.—17.
n In attendance: Messrs. H. L. Keenleysidc, Deputy Minister Mines and 
Resources; C H Bland, C.M.G., Chairman, Civil Service Commission, 
C- W. Jackson. Director. Administration and Personnel, Mines ^d Resources 
g- A. Hoey, Director. Indian Affairs Branch; Dr O K Ault, D ector of 
personnel Selection, Civil Service Commission; M. C. Crosbie, Mmes and 
Resources: D. H. Russell, Indian Affairs.
e , Mr. MacNicol questioned the appearance in the public press ■of-the 
^bstance of the report of the subcommittee on agenda and P^°^dure before 
the said report was presented to the Joint Committee. Messrs. Brown and Case
replied.
nr Mr. Case presented the first report of the subcommittee °n agendajnd 
P pcedure and moved the adoption thereof. (For text of re; o ,
evidence).

After debate, the said report wras adopted.
Dn motion of Mr. Bryce, it was .
Resolved, That for the next two weeks this Committee c ° 1 ‘ 

nd Thursdays at 10.30 a.m., until adjournment.
On motion of Mr. Bryce, it was f

. Agreed, That Mr. J. E. Matthews, M.P., {Brandon), be 10 
nis J°mt Committee for the present session.

On motion of Mr. Case, it was asking that this
o Ordered: That report to the House concerned be made asm g 

o'nmittee be empowered to retain the services of conn <
On motion of Mr. Case, it was . , iQet qpqqinn

v: Agreed, That the subchairmen of the subcommittees ® oj jn(kan Act,
the Itf Tveaty Rights and Obligations, Mr. Ganepy- g Matthews.

e Honourable Senator McKcen; of Indian Education, Mr.
5
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On motion of Mr. Reid, it was
Resolved, That this Committee now proceed to the hearing of the witnesses 

named in paragraph 2 of the report of the subcommittee on agenda and procedure, 
adopted this day.

Mr. C. H. Bland, C.M.G., Chairman, Civil Service Commission, Ottawa, 
was called, not sworn, made a statement and was questioned thereon.

On motion of Mr. Reid, it was
Agreed, That Mr. Bland be excused from attendance until such later date 

as the final report of the appeal board now considering the appointment to the 
vacant position in Indian Affairs of “general Executive Assistant” shall have 
been presented to the Civil Service Commission and made available to this 
Committee.

Mr. H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, Mines and Resources, Ottawa, 
was called, not sworn, made a statement and was questioned thereon. (For text 
of statement, see minutes of evidence).

The Committee adjourned at 1.00 o’clock p.m., to meet again this day at 
4 o’clock p.m.

AFTERNOON SITTING 

The Joint Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m.
Present :

The Senate : The Honourable Senators Blais and Johnston—2.
The House of Commons : Messrs, Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 

Charlton, Gariepy, Harkness, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), MacLean, 
MacNicol, Raymond [Wright), Reid, Richard (Gloucester), and Stanfield—14. 
In attendance: as noted above, for morning sitting.

Examination continued of Mr. H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, Mines 
and Ressources, Ottawa.

From time to time Mr. R. A. Efoey, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, 
answered questions of members of Committee.
, The Committee adjourned at 6 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Thursday 
next, 4th march, at 10.30 a.m., to proceed with the examination and consideration 
of the Indian Act.

T. L. McEVOY,
Clerk of the Joint Committee.
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House of Commons,

Thursday, 4th March, 1948.
The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 

appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been, 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 10.30 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman).
Present :

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Blais and Johnston—2.
The House of Commons: Messrs, Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, 

Case, Charlton, Church, Gariepy, Harkness, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice- 
Chairman), MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), Reid, Richard 
(Gloucester)—15.
In attendance: Messrs. C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and personnel, 
Mines and Resources; R. A. Hoey, Director, Indian Affairs Branch; W. M. Cory, 
Legal Section, Mines and Resources ; D. H. Russell, Indian Affairs Branch.

The Committee proceeded to the consideration of the Indian Act, and 
amendments thereto.

Mr. Church asked to be informed at a later time whether Indians are 
citizens of Canada within the meaning of the Citizenship Act.

The Chairman impressed upon the Committee the need of giving careful 
but speedy consideration to the Act, in order that the Committee could report 
to the House not later than May 15th next.

Discussion followed as to the procedure to be adopted with regard to the 
consideration of the revision of the Act.

On motion of Mr. Charlton, it was Tuesday next, to permit
, Resolved: that the Committee adjourn unt CoinmittCe only, mrnieo- 
departmental officials to prepare, for t \ , p)Cpartment proffers for-
graphed copies of amendments to the Act which toe I
consideration by the Committee. • ]ude amendments

Mr. Jackson explained that these suggestums wo Committee,
or. which it is deemed necessary to have the advice ot the

The Chairman announced that it is 1(?P® Barrister, who, during the 
Committee will have the assistance of Mr. Lickers, alsQ that on Wednesday
two previous sessions asted as counsel for t ie 1 . c\vjl Service Commission
next it would be possible for the Chairman ot tne Ues to questions
and Messrs. C. W. Jackson and R A. Hoey to attend and g 
asked by Mr. Harkness on Tuesday, 2nd a

The Committee adjourned at 11.45 a.m. 
9th March, at 10.30 o’clock a.m.

to meet again on Tuesday next,

T. L. McEVOY,
Clerk of the Joint Committee.





MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,

March 2, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act met this day at 11 a.m. Mr. 
D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman), presided.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, before proceeding with the business of the 
committee may I refer to the passing of Senator Robicheau who was a member 
°f this committee last year. Senator Robicheau passed on, I believe, last 
evening. I am sure that I speak for this committee and each member thereof in 
conveying to Senator Robichcau’s family our sincere sympathy and as well 
as the sympathy of this committee to the colleagues of the late senator.

The next item of business will be the first report of the subcommittee on 
agenda and procedure, and I will call on Mr. Case to read that report.

Mr. MacNicol: Mr. Chairman, we read nearly all about it in the news­
papers. Why was that report given to the press before it was given to this 
committee? Is it customary for a subcommittee to publicize in the press what it 
*s going to recommend to a main committee?

The Chairman: What are you referring to?
Mr. MacNicol: The subcommittee’s report which was in the local

Oewspapers.
The Chairman : I thought you were referring to the passing of Senator 

Robicheau. I am sorry.
Mr. MacNicol: No. You had passed by that and started to deal with the 

subcommittee’s report, and I was going to accept that—
The Chairman : I have no knowledge of the subcommittee having gi\cn 

to the press the report of the subcommittee. Did you, Mr. Case 
Mr. Case: No. There are various news-gathering agencies—
Mr. MacNicol: It was in the press.
Mr. Case: I might say, Mr. Chairman, that one of the members of the 

Press gallery called me to find out when this matter was coming up - 
ft was coming up at our next meeting. I notice they associated h r.
1 ' but I do not know— , , ,

The Chairman : Now, if you arc talking about what the press lui a® m
1 may say that before even the first meeting of the main about

asked on a number of occasions by various members o aL. that the 
^hat we would do, and I told them at that time as I ^P^^Vwill not 
,°mmittee itself will govern what is to be done by the commi t - 

tb,e fur me to have anything to say in that regard. They asked me what I
_ °Ught would be done, and I said I felt that the commi there was not

asonable—that was before the subcommittee had ever me - j
®ver any report of what had happened in the subcommittee It was me^ Jg 
Pinion given as a private member as to what I thought they n &
10 subcommittee’s report will bear that out.

t] . Mr. MacNicol: The press clipping is with another member w io i 
i mo™mg and contained details of what would be recommended to this 
omimttee. We have had that kind of matter up in the House soma ;
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with regard to members of the cabinet telling beforehand what was to be done 
in reference to certain matters ; and it has been pretty well threshed out there 
that such reports should be given to the House before being given to the press.

The Chairman : I can assure you, as far as I am concerned, that I am will­
ing to co-operate with the press at any time, on my own opinions; but I cannot 
express the opinions of any committee—especially when a committee has not 
met.

Mr. MacNicol: As I say, I am sorry I gave the press clipping, which was 
quite a report, to someone else this morning who said he would be here. I have 
no other objection except that I think all reports of the business of this com­
mittee should be discussed here first.

The Chairman : I quite agree with you. So far as the committee is con­
cerned, the committee’s business is the committee’s business; and I have no right 
as the chairman to say what the committee is going to do. I gave the press my 
personal opinion, and I think I was fairly reported.

Is there any further business before Mr. Case makes his report?
Mr. Case: Mr. Chairman, this is the first report of the subcommittee on 

agenda and procedure:

1. Agenda for Session of 1948.
Your subcommittee recommends that every effort be made by your 

committee to complete without undue delay the examination of the Indian 
Act, so that the task referred to the committee may be completed this session.

Your subcommittee, therefore, recommends that your committee meet every 
Tuesday and Thursday ; that the meetings on Tuesday, March 2nd, be restricted 
to the examination of the witnesses named in paragraph 2; that the meetings 
on other days be devoted exclusively to the consideration of the Indian Act, 
special meetings to be called on other days of the week when necessary.
2. Notices of motion.

Your subcommittee has considered notices of motion filed by Messrs. 
Harkness and Reid, on Thursday, February 19th.

Your subcommittee recommends that Messrs. H. L. Keenleyside, C. W- 
Jackson, C. H. Bland and R. A. Hoey be requested to attend a meeting of 
your committee to be held on Tuesday, March 2nd, at 11.00 o’clock a.m., and 
again at 4.00 o’clock on that afternoon, to give testimony, in order that your 
committee may comply with the request as set forth in the motions herein.
3. Employment of Counsel.

Your subcommittee recommends that both the Senate and the House of 
Commons be asked to empower your committee to retain the services of counsel-
4. Subcommittees.

It is recommended that the subcommittees set up on Thursday, February 
19th last be requested to convene without delay, appoint their sub-chairmen 
and report from time to time to your committee.

All of which is respectfully submitted.
I move the adoption of the report of the subcommittee.
The Chairman: Adoption is moved by Mr. Case—
Mr. Harkness : Mr. Chairman, in connection with these subcommittees, 

is there no subcommittee on band membership? Which of the subcommittees 
handles that matter, if any subcommittee handles it? It seems to me that 
we had a subcommittee on that matter last year, although I am not sure.

, The Chairman : Of course, as far as I am concerned, band * membership 
—I am giving my own personal opinion again—would come under the revision
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the Act. It is our duty to revise this Act or make a new Act; and therefore 
the question of band membership would come under the revision committee.

Mr. Harkness : Did we not have a subcommittee on band membership 
last year?

The Chairman : No; we had a committee on treaty rights and obligations.
Mr. Castleden : Did that committee on treaty rights and obligations 

meet?
The Chairman: I believe so. They will be asked to convene and report 

as soon as possible to this committee.
After all, gentlemen, we must realize that we held sixty-eight meetings 

°f this committee alone last year, and there were four subcommittees ; I think 
the members of this committee have done fairly well.

Mr. Castleden : I am not making any criticism of them. One very 
important matter is this matter of Indian treaties, and I do not think the
subcommittee—

f fj^r' Gariepy: We had one meeting, and it was decided to let the officials 
‘ie department prepare a resume of treaty rights and obligations, and that 

’’Çady and should be submitted to the subcommittee within a short time 
80 “at it can prepare a report for this committee.

Mr. Castleden : I hope that subcommittee meets' this year.
Mr. Reid: Mr. Chairman, with regard to the first recommendation, I do 

... think the recommendation as stated is as I thought it would be, because 
1 you remember what I said at the subcommittee meeting—and I am repeating
it this morning—I took the stand, and I am taking it now, that this year
nothing should"interfere in any way with our getting the Indian Act revised 
and placed before the House of Commons; and I suggested to you that in 
Regard to witnesses coming here, or any other extraneous ma er?, v c s to 
devote other days to hearing them, but that we should carry on religiously 
at least two days a week with our work on the Indian Act and the revision 
thereof. We have a formidable task; and if you will read recommendation
No. i you will notice that it says:

Agenda for Session of 1948:
Your subcommittee recommends that every effort be made by your 

committee to complete without undue delay the examination of the 
Indian Act, so that the task referred to the committee may be completed 
this session. . ,

Your subcommittee, therefore, recommends that your committee meet 
every Tuesday and Thursday; that the meetings on Tuesday, March 2nd, 
be restricted to the examination of the witnesses namei in ] s‘P » 
that the meetings on other days be devoted exclusively to the con­
sideration of the Indian Act, special meetings to be called on other 
days of the week when necessary.

N°w, that was not the way I placed my views before the subcommittee. The 
I expressed was that we should hear witnesses today, and, it other 

,days are required, we should devote special days to carrying cm us inquiry, 
but that this matter be not allowed to detract from the real business before this 
committee; I am just a little afraid, Mr. Chairman, that we will get into 
^eussions here day after day on our regular meeting days, Tuesdays and 
Thursdays, then the end of the session will come along and we will not ave 
the new Indian Act ready. That is the job we are to do. Now, we have 
witnesses before us, and we cannot help but hear them today; but I am going 
to Propose that if we do not finish with them today we set further hearings for 
another day apart from our regular meeting days.

N
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Mr. Gariepy : That is what the report says.
Mr. Bryce: I think it is very well covered. It says, “that the meetings 

on Tuesday, March 2nd be restricted to the examination of the witnesses named 
in paragraph 2.” That refers to the two meetings today, this forenoon meeting 
and the afternoon meeting ; and the rest has to do with our consideration of 
the Indian Act.

Mr. Reid: You could read it to mean that the meetings will be on Tuesday.
Mr. Bryce : Do not let us be lawyers ; let us be laymen, and take it for 

granted.
Mr. Reid: That is what I wanted—to have it clarified from a layman’s 

point of view.
Mr. Bryce: What you asked for and what you supported in the subcom­

mittee is in that recommendation.
The Chairman : In order to clarify this matter, could we state now that 

we will meet at 4 o’clock today, if necessary, to dispose of the matters which 
are now before us; and if this matter goes beyond the meeting this afternoon 
that we will have a special meeting but that we shall not detract from our 
program as set forth by the subcommittee.

Mr. Reid: In answer to Mr. Bryce may I say that it was a lawyer who 
drew this up.

Mr. Case: The subcommittee wants our work completed by May 31, so 
that our report can be placed before parliament—

The Chairman : May 15.
Mr. Case: May 15, yes. There was a specific date mentioned, when we 

should try to have our report before parliament so that our work will be 
completed.

The Chairman : In the committee’s own inimitable way we are trying to cut 
red tape to the bone. We have taken our own ways of doing things, and 
instead of referring this to. the committee and having it discussed here and 
having the committee proceed in the regular way, we have cut all that red 
tape and have asked these witnesses to come here today without your prior 
approval. Now, if that is agreeable, and if there is no further discussion, I will 
ask—

Mr. Harkness: All I was concerned about earlier was which of these 
subcommittees would deal with band membership, because I wanted to attend 
one of the meetings and put forward some ideas I have.

The Chairman : That would be the revision committee. Now, these 
committees, of course, have to meet and report, and we ask that they report as 
soon as possible so that the committee as a whole may discuss matters which 
they have taken up. Now, is there any further discussion?

Mr. MacNicol: May I ask, Mr. Chairman, whether the hour of meeting 
at 10.30 rather than 11 o’clock would be satisfactory to most of the committee? 
The reason I ask that is that I have, ahvays, a meeting at 11.30 on Tuesday 
morning, and I shall have to leave this morning at 11.30. If the committee 
were to meet at 10.30 I could be here longer.

The Chairman: Do you mean that you would like to make the hour of 
meeting 10.30 as a rule?

Mr. MacNicol: Yes, as a rule. If that is satisfactory to the committee 
it is quite all right with me; 10.30 would be a more satisfactory time than 
11 o’clock.

The Chairman: I do not know how that would affect the other members 
of fhe committee, because some of the members of the committee have a great
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deal of correspondence and departmental work to take care of in the morning, 
and the only time they have to take care of such work is between the hours 
of 9 and 11. However, I will leave it to the committee to decide. What is the 
opinion of the committee on that point?

Mr. Habkness: Personally, I would be agreeable to that idea for the reason 
that I am on the Prices Committee, and it is going to be difficult for me to 
attend this committee as much as I should like; and the adoption of Mr. Mac- 
Nicol’s suggestion would give me a little more opportunity to be here.

The Chairman: Mr. Castleden, what do you think about this?
Mr. Castleden: I think it is all right. There is a great deal of work to 

be done. I sometimes find it difficult to get through all the work in the 
office before 11 o’clock, but I am willing to stand by the wishes of the 
committee.

The Chairman: Is there any further comment on this matter of the time 
of meeting?

Mr. Blackmore: Mr. Chairman, I presume that we should express our 
own frank opinions?

The Chairman: That is what we are here for.
Mr. Blackmore: I feel that 10.30 would be too early for me.
Mr. Bryce: I was going to suggest 10 o’clock.
Mr. Blackmore: When do you get your work done?
Mr. Bryce: At night.
Mr. Blackmore: My secretary is not available at night.
The Chairman: Of course, it is not only a matter of correspondence, but 

the departments arc not open at night; at least I have not found them to be 
°Pen at night very often.

Mr. Case: I will vote cither way, but 11 o’clock suits me best.
Mr. Charlton: I am in the same position as Mr. MacNicol, I have 

meetings on Tuesdays and Thursdays at 11.30 sharp, and I shall not be here 
efiher of those days. If the time could be put forward to 10.30 it would 
oiuch more convenient to me.

The Chairman: Do you mean that on Tuesdays and Thursdays we will 
be meeting from 10.30 to 12.30?

Mr. Charlton: On Tuesdays and Thursdays I am tied up after 11.30.
Mr. MacNicol: On Tuesdays I am in the same position—not Thursdays.
Mr. Reid: This is a very important matter because if some members aie 

not to attend that will be a drag on the committee, and we have all the work we 
can carry out in the revising of the Indian Act. I think we should agiec on 
something suitable as to days and time of meeting.

Mr. Blackmore: I wonder if this would be worthy of consideration, that 
thc members of the Indian Act Committee who are on other committees be 
Reused from those other committees in order to attend the Committee on the 
miian Act, because this committee has to prepare its report t is yeat.

Mr. Reid: Please bear in mind that if nothing happens this year it \\i e 
‘ 'other twenty-five years before it may be possible to revise ><’ • /' •

1(Ians are expecting this revision; the country is expecting it, ns li? 01U , 
Inmost important committees which has been set up by parhamcn , am 
mdians and the people have been waiting for this committee for seventy years. 
, Mr. Matthews: This is just a matter of what is more convenient to mcin- 

ms of the committee, and if'10.30 is a more convenient hour I shall be ready 
10 suPport it.
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The Chairman : I think Mr. Blackmore’s suggestion is worthy of con­
sideration. If members of the committee are going to leave our sessions they 
are going to be the losers and the committee also is going to be the loser. The 
committee may not be able to carry on its functions because of the failure of 
members to attend -or of people withdrawing from the committee.

Mr. Bryce: I move that we try to start our meetings at 10.30, for two 
weeks.

The Chairman : The motion is that we sit on Tuesdays and Thursdays 
between the hours of 10.30 and 12.30 for the next two weeks. Is it your 
pleasure that we sit from 10.30 to 12.30?

Mr. Case: We must decide if we are going to do this for the benefit of 
those on other committees because they are going to miss an hour and a half 
of the work anyway, or miss an hour.

The Chairman : Members will have to determine which is the most 
important committee for them to attend.

Mr. Reid: Every member will have to make up his own mind as to which 
committee is the most important.

The Chairman : In that case why change things at all?
Mr. Blackmore: It ought to be borne in mind that we have been training 

ourselves for several years in the matter before this committee. Nearly every­
one can break into one or the other committees and do a fairly good job, but 
he cannot do it in this committee.

The Chairman : Well, we have a motion that we sit from 10.30 until 12.30.
Mr. Bryce: Say 1 o'clock.
The Chairman : Is there an amendment to that motion?
Mr. Reid: I suggest that we meet at 10.30 and adjourn when the com­

mittee sees fit. We may not want to adjourn at 12.30. Let the committee 
make its own rules.

The Chairman : That would be an amendment. Is that agreeable to you, 
Mr. Bryce?

Mr. Bryce: Yes.
The Chairman: The motion now reads that wre will meet at 10.30 on 

Tuesdays and Thursdays for the next two weeks and adjourn when we see fit 
Is that carried? It is carried except for Mr. Castleden.

Now, there is another matter that I should bring before the committee 
and that is the matter of the appointment of a vice-chairman for this committee. 
Last year Mr. Matthews was the vice-chairman.

Mr. Bryce: I move that Mr. Matthews be the vice-chairman again this 
year.

Mr. MacNicol: I second that motion.
Carried.
Mr. MacNicol: May I ask a question about counsel? Is it our intention 

to have the same counsel again?
The Chairman: Yes, I am bringing that matter up now. This is dealt 

with in paragraph 3 of the report of the subcommittee and it says:
Your subcommittee recommends that both the Senate and the House 

of Commons be asked to empower your committee to retain the services
of counsel.

A motion would later on be in order to appoint Mr. Norman Bickers.
Mr. MacNicol: I would be glad to move that at the proper time.
Mr. Blackmore: I would second the motion.
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The Chairman: I should have said that we ask to be empowered to appoint 
counsel, not naming anyone. It may be there will be others we will want to 
name. A motion in conformity with clause 3 of the report would be in order.

Mr. Case: I am inclined to think Mr. Tickers’ name should be there if he 
18 available because like our committee he has been here most of the time.

The Chairman : I was in error there. We have not yet the power to name 
counsel, and it may be we will want more than one counsel.

Mr. Case: I see—we must ask to be empowered to retain counsel.
The Chairman : Yes. Would you move that? •
Mr. Case: I so move.
Mr. Blackmore: I second that.
The Chairman : It is moved by Mr. Chase and seconded by Mr. Blackmore 

>at this committee ask the Senate and the House of Commons for power to retain 
Ae services of counsel. All in favour? Opposed?

Carried.
tt The next matter before the committee is the consolidated motions of Mr. 
darkness and Mr. Reid.

Mr. Case: Before we go into that, I was wondering if we could name the 
committee chairmen so they could convene their subcommittees? It will not 

cake very long.
The Chairman : The practice has been to have each subcommittee name 

«s own.
Mr. Case: Meetings will be convened then?

. The Chairman : Yes. I see, of course, no objection to suggesting the names 
the vice-chairmen as they were last year. The subcommittee on agenda and 

Procedure is taken care of. As to treaty rights and obligations I would suggest 
>at Mr. Gariépy, chairman last vear, be reappointed chairman of that

sflbcommittee.
Mr. Case: I will so move.
The Chairman: Would you leave it until we get through?
Mr. Case: All right.

. The Chairman: Senator McKecn was chairman last year of the subcom- 
^ttee on revision of the Indian Act. Mr. Matthews was cîian'man last^ ear of 
. 10 subcommittee on Indian education. A motion will now n 1 

ave these gentlemen act as chairmen of such subcommittee».
Mr. Case: I so move.
Mr. Harkness: I second that. , , TT ,

... .The Chairman : It is moved by Mr. Case and seconded \ - r- ar 'nes--
ln favour? Opposed? Carried.
Mr. Harkness’ motion is:

That this present joint committee on the Indian Act forthwith call 
afld examine Messrs. H. L. Keenleyside, C. W. Jackson, R. A. Hoey and 
V'- H. Bland, to ascertain the extent to which the above—

S&SSL* course, to the recommendations made by this committee to

th.

a Q incoming administra- —or any other of our previous recommcn a ^ jemented and, if not,
tion and personnel in Indian Affairs frustrated and thwarted.
«■„, and by whom th, said —" and thank yon for changing 

hour eSKcT S gTm. ™ hour in the mormng.
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The Chairman: As I have previously indicated the committee in its 
wisdom has seen fit to cut red tape on this matter, and has already invited 
these gentlemen to be present with us this morning. If it is your pleasure we 
will now hear them.

Mr. Reid: I so move.
The Chairman: Mr. Reid moves that these gentlemen be now heard. Would 

you like to hear Mr. Bland, Mr. Keenleyside, Mr. Hoey or Mr. Jackson first?
Mr. Hark ness: I would suggest that as we are going to deal to a considerable 

extent with personnel, appointments, and so forth, that we might achieve a 
better base to work from, and a better understanding of the whole question, 
if we call Mr. Bland first, to give us a brief outline of the procedure in making 
civil service appointments. I know that I personally have always been, and 
still am, very much confused over all these things we hear as to competitions, 
rating boards, promotion boards, close competitions, open competitions, and 
so forth. I think if we get from Mr. Bland a brief explanation of just how 
promotions are made in the civil service we will have a better general idea 
on which to base further questions. After we have got that from Mr. Bland 
I would suggest that possibly we might ask him to stand down. We could 
then call him later on any specific matter on which we might want to question 
him.

The Chairman : Is it your pleasure, gentlemen, that we proceed with this 
matter not only this morning but this afternoon and on subsequent days, or do 
you want to finish it today? If so, we will have to ration our time.

Mr. Reid: It is difficult to say, at this stage, if we could finish it today. 
We cannot say now whether or not we can. I differ from Mr. Harkness as to 
our procedure. I would call the deputy minister first. I would ask him as 
the head of the department to make a statement regarding the matter, 
particularly on account of the statements made in the House of Commons.

Mr. Harkness: I would agree with that except, as I say, I think there 
is considerable ambiguity in most people’s minds in regard to how appointments 
are made in the civil service, in other words, as to what the procedure is. If 
we get a very brief outline from Mr. Bland we will be in a better position 
to ask subsequent questions of Dr. Keenleyside and others.

The Chairman : Gentlemen, if we adopt the procedure of going into general 
questions we are going to be here not only this afternoon and this evening 
but until doomsday.

Mr. Reid: As long as Mr. Bland’s statement is brief that is all right.
Mr. Harkness : I hardly think Mr. Bland would take more than five 

minutes.
The Chairman: Maybe we could caution all witnesses to be brief, and if you 

like we will put a time limit on them.
Mr. Case: I do not see how you can put a time limit on them, but I think 

we can exercise some degree of judgment. As Mr. Harkness has said Mr. Bland 
may clear this thing up in five or ten minutes, and there will not have to be 
further discussion.

The Chairman : We also have Dr. Keenleyside. He would be able to give 
us all the answers, I hope, in connection with the implementation of the recom­
mendations of the committee. Maybe you would like to hear him for a moment? 
What is your pleasure?

Mr. Blackmore: Why not get Mr. Bland through with his job first?
The Chairman : What is your pleasure? Shall we hear Mr. Bland or 

Dr. Keenleyside?
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Mr. Reid: As long as we have one of the witnesses now; let one of the 
witnesses get up and let us hear him now.

The Chairman : Who wants to go first, over there?
Mr. Case : Let us have Mr. Bland.
The Chairman : Have you any choice as to which of you would like to go 

first?
Dr. Keenleyside: Mr. Bland could make a brief statement.

C. H. Bland, C.M.G., Chairman, Civil Service Commission, called.
The Chairman: I think, Mr. Bland, the Chairman of the Civil Service 

Commission, is well known to all of you. He has appeared before this com­
mittee on other occasions.

May I say Mr. Bland we again want to welcome you to the committee and 
trust the information you will give to us will be as valuable as on other occasions.
■ The Witness: Mr. Chairman and members of the committee: I should 
hke to say at the beginning that I appreciate the opportunity to be with the 
committee again. I enjoyed my previous sessions with you, and I will be only 
too glad to co-operate with Mr. Reid’s suggestion that I be very brief in this 
Presentation.

I take it that what Mr. Harkness had in mind was a very brief statement 
°f the main principles of the Civil Service Act regarding appointment to and 
promotion in the public service.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. I had more in mind the procedure which is followed.—A. If I may give 

two or threee principles first and then show what procedure is followed to carry 
out those principles perhaps it would be more satisfactory. The fundamental 
Principle of course, of the Civil Service Act is appointment on the basis of 
oierit, on the competitive basis, and the same principle applies to promotion. 
A secondary principle, though a very important one, is that preference must 
be given in appointments to persons possessed of the veterans’ preference, who 
have the necessary qualifications for the posts to be filled. The third principle 
ls that in positions outside the city of Ottawa a preference exists for qualified 
residents of the locality.

These are the main principles involved. In carrying them out the practice 
that is followed is that when a position becomes vacant applications are invited 
troni the public, either from the Dominion as a whole if it is a position at 

ttawa, or from the residents of the locality if it is a local position. The examin­
ation that is given to the applicants depends upon the nature of the position 
dnd the qualifications required. For clerical positions a written examination is 
usually a part of the test. For positions of a higher nature an examination ol 

10 applicant’s qualifications as stated on the sworn application form, followed 
requently by an oral examination, constitutes the usual form of test.

When the examination is completed the results are compiled, and the returned 
soldier, if there is one, who obtains the highest rating, secures the appoint- 
ln<“nt- I should like to make it clear that the person who secures the highest 
^ating, if not a returned soldier, does not secure the appointment. A returned 
,? ,°i' with a pass mark, or in other words, a veteran who is good enough to fill 

e job, will secure that job over a civilan who may have higher qualifications 
nd a higher pass mark. That is a requirement of the Civil Service Act. 

of hen appointments are made from the eligible lists compiled as a result 
the examinations the persons appointed are subject to a probationary term, 

c nd the department is expected to observe them carefully, and if they are not
6879—2
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satisfactory to remove them speedily before too long a period has elapsed. 
If they are satisfactory after a period of a year they may be made permanent.

The procedure with reference to promotions is analogous. Applications are 
invited from the department or unit concerned. Ratings are given by the depart­
mental officers who know the applicants best. The ratings are three-fold; one 
on the efficiency of the employee as it is revealed in his service, one on his 
fitness for the job that is vacant, and one on his length of service or seniority. 
The reports received from the departments are compiled in the Civil Service 
Commission and the person who secures the highest rating is selected for the 
appointment.

As a result of the 1938 parliamentary committee a new procedure was set 
up whereby at the conclusion of a promotional examination any unsuccessful 
applicant who feels that he has not been fairly dealt with has the right to make 
an appeal to the Civil Service Commission, and an appeal board may then be 
set up which consists of a representative of the department concerned, a 
representative of the appellant,—the procedure being that he can name a civil 
service organization to represent him—and a representative of the Civil Service 
Commission. A period of fourteen days is allowed for appeals. If there are no 
appeals the selection is confirmed. If there are appeals based on good grounds, 
an appeal board is held, and the Civil Service Commission then considers the 
report of that appeal board before confirming or declining to confirm the original 
selection.

I think, gentlemen, that is a brief outline of the procedure that is followed 
in making appointments and promotions. If there are any specific questions 
on the procedure that I can help to make clear I would be glad to do so.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. I have a question I would like to ask. I am not going to go into 

generalities. I want to confine myself to the case brought before parliament, the 
case as we have it here before this committee. My question is in regard to the 
appeal board. When an appeal is made by an applicant who is not successful 
what rules guide the appeal board? That is one question. My second question 
is what right or authority has the appeal board to change any of the regulations 
or qualifications required for that position? I note in this particular case we 
are discussing there was an appeal. The minister in his statement in the 
House said:

Having disposed of Mr. Randle’s appeal, the review board, and I 
contend without any authority to do so, proceeded to review the ratings 
of the other candidates. In doing so they took it upon themselves to 
ascribe new duties to the position, different from those described in the 
advertisement. Then, without giving the candidate who had been rated 
the highest an opportunity of being heard, they recommended that that 
candidate did not possess the minimum qualification.

I hope you understand the question I have in mind. It has to do with the powers 
and rights of the appeal board, and in this particular case the reasons for any 
change they made and who gave them authority to make it.—A. The 1938 report 
of the special parliamentary committee on the operation of the Civil Service Act, 
as a result of which appeal boards were instituted, reads as follows:

To facilitate the adjustment of complaints of a civil servant where 
such complaints cannot otherwise be adjusted, your committee recommends 
that such complaints be adjudicated by a board of appeal consisting of 
a nominee of a civil service organization named by the appellant, a 
nominee of the deputy head of the department affected, and a nominee 
of the chairman of the Civil Service Commission, the latter of whom 
shall be chairman of the board.
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Carrying out the general principle ■contained in that recommendation of 
the parliamentary committee the Civil Service Commission at once instituted 
the practice of appeal boards by asking the department concerned to name a 
representative, asking the employee who made the first appeal to name a repre­
sentative civil service association, and appointing one of the commissions cmn 
officers to act as chairman of the board. While the recommendation itself does 
n°t go further than what I have read to the committee the interpretation w Inch 
the Civil Service Commission placed upon it, and which it now places upon 
*t> is that the appeal board should investigate any justifiable claim made by a 
dissatisfied applicant and find out what were the facts concerned. Those facts, 
^ithout any administrative action, are then to be reported to the Civil Service 
pornmission for action. In other words, the appeal board itself has no adminis­
trative authority. It is a fact-finding board, but when it reports the result 

its investigation to the commission it then becomes one of the functions of 
the commission to decide what action it should take.
, Q. Did they in this present instance follow exactly the procedure you 
have just outlined, and if so, was it the commission that set up the neu rules 
governing this position?—A. In the case in question the appeal board held 
several meetings and reported in detail to the Civil Service Commission making 
certain recommendations. The commission considered the evidence submitted 
and the recommendations made and came to a conclusion as to what it should do.

By Mr. Richard: , . . •
Q. Can the appeal board, for instance report to you that there were rortam 

lefiuirements which were set for that position, and th •= ' , yiev were 
c°me up to those requirements, and add another candi board'in the
n°t asked to deal with that?-A. The general duty of ana^ealboa^inhe 
mind of the commission is to investigate the complaint and to ^ >nto any 
Pertinent facts relating to that complaint. What the commission wants is facts 

a fair consideration of those facts by the appeal board. JVe wouMfeel the 
aPpeal board has a perfect right to report anything can
lamination which it finds to be unfair. It has no right - 
onlY report it, but we feel that is the purpose of the appeal board.

Q. If you do not care to answer this question you do nc’t ''fwk that is a 
Sfion I should like to ask and have answered is do y instance. after due 
afher dangerous power to place in their hands. , " advertisement
onsideration and advice from the department you pu- the requirements for 
?r « certain position with all the qualifications and a1 ,fjuiremei licante
hat position placed in that advertisement. It is made pu ■ the position 
X 1 take it in every case due consideration is given to ^

old require. Having done so do you not think it l ■ that and sav “Well,
w86 °f an appeal—for vou as a commissioner to cia S , ■ there now”,V* »'=• «"« ™d «T r S the main « thé
boariUt m requirements of your own?—A. I thin ^th a promotion
: and the main purpose of the commission n < that- will bringJ to arrive at a just decision, and any consideration of facts that g

°ut a just decision is a wise course to take, 
tv That is an answer and is not an answei.

By Mr. Gibson: , . . . _ „Unnld bp the
one to W°uld you not *hink that probably the depu y That is the
calto^ggest, the qualifications, knowing what he requnes

0 deputy minister does set the quahfications- ations as has been
Did the deputy minister in this case alter the quaimcau 

ggcsted by the minister?—A. Right.
6879—25
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Q. Did the deputy minister alter them or the Civil Service Commission? 
Did the Civil Service Commission alter the qualifications or did the deputy 
minister?—A. The qualifications as set by the department are investigated by 
the commission to make certain they are exact statements. Errors may occur 
in making statements. That is the purpose of the investigation.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Did the Civil Service Commission go back to the minister or deputy 

minister in this particular case after the appeal board—
The Chairman : What particular case are we talking about?
Mr. Reid: We are talking about the case that was brought up in the House 

by Mr. Harkness and dealt with later by the minister. There is only one specific 
case before the 'committee. I am rather surprised that you should ask me what 
case we are dealing with. I really am.

The Chairman : I need it for the purpose of the record, Mr. Reid.
Mr. Reid: We are only dealing with the one case. I read- specifically from 

Hansard. We are dealing with the particular case brought up by Mr. Harkness 
and which necessitated the witnesses we have here this morning. I asked Mr- 
Bland when the report was made to him by the appeal board did he then find 
out there was a further requirement suggested by the appeal board which was 
necessary or in line with the position?

The Witness: Certainly.
Mr. Reid: If so where did he get the information?
The Witness: The matter of the appeal board report, of course, was 

discussed by the commission with the officers of the department.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Then the officers of the department must have O.K’d it.—A. The officers 

of the department first furnished the qualifications. When the appeal board 
made its report alleging certain inaccuracies, the Civil Sendee Commission 
discussed the appeal board report with the department.

I should like to say here, Mr. Chairman, that I am quite glad to answer any 
question the committee wants to ask me, but I think it is only fair to the 
committee to say that at the present time this case is before an appeal board for 
consideration, and I would hope that board would be permitted to furnish its 
findings before there is a discussion.

Q. As far as I am concerned I am willing to abide by that statement. I 
trust that no question I have asked will be detrimental or unfair in any way 
with regard to the deliberations: of the appeal board. I will come back to the 
general principle of procedure on appeal boards. I still have not got a clear 
answer—it may be my fault—as to how you carry out an action of this kind', 
how it is really carried out.

Mr. Harkness: In connection with your last statement I understood—-
The Chairman: Did you ask a question, Mr. Reid?
Mr. Reid: I do not think Mr. Bland has made it very clear as to who 

assumes the entire responsibility. Does the Civil Service Commission assum6 
the entire responsibility for a change?

The Witness: The appeal board assumes responsibility for its own report- 
The Civil Service Commission assumes responsibility for any action that is taken 
on that report.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. That brings up another point. Is the commission bound to follow the 

appeal board’s recommendation?—A. No.
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By Mr. Richard:
Q. A report is made to you by the appeal board and you may adopt it, 

re]ect it or follow whatever course you choose?—A. Alter it in part or in whole 
0r not at all.

Q. There is no finality to it? You are not bound by it?—A. No.
By Mr. Case:

Q. In other words, you can disregard the decision of the appeal board 
entirely ?—A. Exactly; it is advice to the Civil Service Commission.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Is the Civil Service Commission not entirely responsible for the whole 

stiair? Are they not the bosses of the appeal board?—A. The commission is 
/-sponsible for selection as to appointments. We ask the appeal board, however, 

ascertin the facts, and, to investigate the facts in an entirely impartial and 
/dependent manner. When we get their report it is our responsibility as to 
bat action is taken upon it.

By Mr. ITarkness:
Q. You said a moment ago that in this particular case of Mr. Pratt’s, the 

Ppeal board was sitting at the present time. There was an account in the 
ttawa Journal of February 17, which indicated that the appeal board had 
ready finished sitting that day. In fact, the account is headed, “Appeal board 

Cancels Pratt appointment”. Is there another appeal board sitting on this thing? 
"--v- No, in answer to your question—

Q- Or is this the same appeal board?—A. It is the same appeal board. 
.1 give you detailed information in answer to your question, I am afraid it 
,InKs me into the field of discussing what the appeal board1 is doing at the 

Present time. I think the committee would agree that it is desirable that the 
‘ PPeal board feel it is a free agent to act as it sees fit.

By Mr. Reid:
t Q- Are there any or many appeals in which you do not concur?—A. Yes. 
na'-t year, we heard about 200 appeals. I think in about 10 per cent—no, leste 
0 an 10%, about 5% of those cases we found there had been a misunderstanding 
n, a misapprehension or error of some kind and remedial action was taken. 
l e Occasionally get reports from appeal boards with which we find ourselves 
j, .be to agree. Generally speaking, the appeal board makes a good job of it. 
no ls because we want this appeal board to make a good job and I would prefer 

discuss it at the moment.

By Mr. Hdrkness:
lajQ- bust to clear up what is happening, Mr. Bland;, you say that this is the 
ï'ebr aPPeal board which is reported as having brought down its findings on 
'vjruf/y 1 A- The appeal board held one session and adjourned for further

u.-x c—u „-,,;uonr.o hpfnre it. Does that.... J x 11—A. inc appeal uu«u 7resh"evïdence before it.Mdence. It is meeting again with that tiesi
mswer what you had in mind? , \ sav, this report is headed,Q. It does not necessarily answer it because as
APpeal board cancels Pratt appointment .

The Chairman: That is a newspaper report.

By Mr. Harkness: 
an,j 9- that report incorrect? 
Hews, ain asking if that report is 
has I ,Per reports of the actions 

he’d its sittings.

It is a report appearing in the newspaper 
incorrect?—A. I would prefer not to discuss 
of the appeal board until the appeal board
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Mr. Case: The report must either be correct or incorrect; that is just a 
statement of fact.

The Chairman : I do not think we should ask this witness to determine the 
correctness or incorrectness of a newspaper report on a matter with which 
the appeal board is now dealing.

Mr. Case: Leave the newspaper out of it, then.
The Chairman: I think we are agreed that the witness has given a fair 

answer. We must consider that this is the same as a court case and we should 
not be discussing a matter which is sub judice at the present time. I do not 
think we should be discussing what the appeal board might find. I was brought 
to task this morning for having done a similar thing.

Mr. Bareness : According to the reports to which publicity has already 
been given the appeal board made a finding. Now, I think this committee is 
entitled to know whether that is correct or not.

The Chairman : I think the witness has already said that the appeal board 
has not made a finding.

Mr. Bareness: The report says that the board did make a finding and 1 
think the committee is entitled to know whether it did or did not. I take it 
that probably, the situation is that the mater has been re-opened.

The Witness : No. I think that is a fair question, Mr. Barkness. The 
appeal board has not made a final finding. It made an interim finding and 
it is continuing its investigations.

Mr. Matthews: I think Mr. Bland has gone sufficiently far in this matter 
to satisfy everybody. The matter is now before the appeal board and, certainly, 
we should not question him on reports appearing in the newspaper until that 
board has finally reported.

Mr. Bareness: So far as reports appearing in the newspaper are concerned, 
I think every member here has used reports appearing in the newspaper as a 
basis for questions to a minister in the Bouse of Commons. It is the most 
common thing in the world. There should not be any objection to the using 
of newspaper reports as a basis for questions here.

The Witness: My point is this; if the appeal board had completed its 
determinations, had made its report to the commission, I would have no 
objection whatever to putting on the table everything that any member of the 
committee might want. Bowever, while the appeal board is sitting I think 
it is undesirable we should be discussing the very thing that board is inves­
tigating.

Mr. Bareness: I am quite satisfied with your last answer, Mr. Bland- 
What I wanted to get at was whether this appeal board has made a finding or 
not. You say it did not, but it made an interim finding and it is now holding 
another meeting in order to come to a final finding. I am quite satisfied with 
that answer.

Bon. Mr. Johnston: In view of the fact the appeal board handling this 
case is still working on it, we had better adjourn this whole proceeding until the 
appeal board has handed in its final report. We cannot get full information 
with regard to the matter while that appeal board is still sitting.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. There are a few questions I should like to ask Mr. Bland. Can an 

appeal board enlarge the duties of a position without first of all receiving 
the sanction of the Civil Service Commission?—A. The appeal board, Mr. Reidi 
can neither enlarge nor diminish the duties of a position. All it can do ig 
ascertain the facts.
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Q. That is a fair answer. My second.question is this; has an applicant 
who is rated first in an examination and then, on an appeal heard by the appeal 
board, is placed second the right to appeal? You can see very easily why he 
should have?—A. You can be legal or you can be practical, as you remarked 
a few minutes ago, Mr. Reid. I would like to be practical in my thinking so 
far as this is concerned.

Q. I am rated first. Then, the appeal board raises the duties and I am 
ranked second. I want to go before the appeal board and the commission 
with my case; that is a practical question?—A. I would say the basis of 
operations in the mind of the parliamentary committee when they set up appeal 
boards and in the mind of the commission ever since has been an endeavour 
to bring about more just treatment. If any candidate has a legitimate claim 
to show injustice, the commission always wants to hear it. Obviously, however 
We cannot go on holding appeal after appeal or we would never get things 
finalized. So long as there is a claim of injustice the feeling of the Civil 
Service Commission is that we want to hear it and have it investigated.

By Mr. Castleden:
Q. If the appeal board makes its report to the Civil Service Commission 

and either the appeal board or the commission alters the qualifications, is the 
position again advertised with the new qualifications or does the commission 
So ahead and make an appointment?—A. May I make a comment on that? 
Neither the appeal board nor the commission alters the qualifications. What they 
try to do is to ascertain whether the original statement was a fair statement of 
the qualifications. What are the real qualifications? That is the purpose of 
any investigation that might be made. If the qualifications are found to be 
unfairly stated the first time, we try to get them right the second time.

Q. There was no altering of qualifications in this case?—A. There was no 
altering of qualifications, as I see it. The appeal board felt the qualifications 
as advertised were not the qualifications in the minds of the departmental 
officials who testified before the board. There seemed to be two separate 
positions involved, one being the one which was advertised and the other being 
the one which certain departmental officials felt was the real position. That 
ufisapprehension, the appeal board attempted to clear up.

By Mr. Case:
Q. Is the position then advertised with the revised qualifications? A. Yes.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. In following up what Mr. < 'fJ,^vouf knowledge?—A. I can 

SM board répond *££ reifications

as advertised did not appear to be proper for the job in quest 
Q. They did not alter them? ,
The Chairman: The appeal board has no power

By Mr. Harkness:x-/ ty xrx i . xx /wmoo •

Q. They just state the advertisement, in their opinion, vas no a proper 
advertisement?—A. Yes.

uyirn.uiyw. . , :j.,_ ____ ABy Mr. Bryce:

, ■ win nave to explain wnat i men» ^ Tn nrtwMw
e give full authority to the Winnipeg office to make a sc ■
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we ask them to hold an examination for further consideration by headquarters. 
In the one case, it would be final and in the other case it would be for further 
consideration.

Q. What makes the difference?—A. Our Winnipeg office is a fairly small 
office at the present time. For most positions, the ordinary run-of-the-mine 
positions, it can do a very good job. For certain technical positions we would 
need to have a more technical examination and, in those cases, we would ask 
to have the Winnipeg report sent to Ottawa.

Q. Then, who alters it here?—A. No one necessarily alters it at all. It is 
not for the purpose of altering it, it is for the purpose of ascertaining whether 
the rating or scoring done by the Winnipeg office was sufficiently accurate to be 
taken. It would probably be accepted. If there, is nothing wrong with it, it will 
be accepted. It is not for the purpose of altering it, it is only for the purpose 
of making sure of it.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Do all appeals from the appeal board come before the three commis­

sioners or before you, personally?—A. The report of the appeal board in each 
case is seen by the three commissioners.

By Mr. Bryce:
Q. It would appear as though anything which is not satisfactory to Ottawa 

could be changed?—A. No, that is the last impression I would want to give.
Q. That is the impression I get. If you hold an examination in Winnipeg 

or Calgary for a local position and you do not like the results, then you bring 
it to Ottawa and change it to suit yourselves?—A. I would invite you to come 
down to the commission offices and we would put every file in front of you. If you 
can find one case like that—

Q. Do not tempt me?—A. You are welcome. Let me tell you what I mean. 
I have not made myself clear. The Winnipeg office is a field office whose duty 
it is to supply appointees for positions in the province of Manitoba. We have 
every confidence in them. We give them standards to which to work. We give 
them the fullest possible authority. In certain instances however— for example, 
if we were appointing a headquarters officer with high technical qualifications, 
would ask our Winnipeg office to do part of the work, to hold some examinations. 
Another part of the work may be done somewhere else, in British Columbia or 
elsewhere. Reports on all these operations come to Ottawa for final evaluation.

Q. Do you always lean backwards to give a vet, the job?—A. Yes, if he is 
able to do it.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. In connection with these reports of the appeal board, they go to the Civil 

Service Commission for their action. Does a copy of the report also go to the 
department concerned?—A. A copy of the appeal board report goes to each 
member of the appeal board in the first instance. The report, is finally 
adjudicated upon by the Civil Service Commission. A copy of the commission’s 
decision is then sent to the department. I do not think we then send them a 
copy of the appeal board report because, I presume, they would already have it 
from their own officer. There is no objection to it going to them.

Q. In o-ther words, their own officer being there, he takes it back to the 
department and it becomes part of their departmental files?—A. That is right.

Q. This particular appeal board which is now sitting in regard to the
appointment of a superintendent general for Indian agencies-------A. A general
executive assistant, under the present title.

Q.- When was the job rcadvertised as a general executive assistant rather 
than as a superintendent general of Indian Agencies?—A. I cannot recall the 
date without the file, but it would be within the last two months I should think.
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As a matter of fact, I do not think it was publicly advertised. I think the appli­
cants in the first competition were advised that they would now be considered 
f°r the position of general executive assistant. I would say that happened 
within the last two months.

Q. This appeal board which is now sitting is sitting as a result ot an 
appeal from those refused men on this new classification or new name.—-A. les.

Q. When will that appeal board be finished its sittings? A. I should think 
’t should be finished very shortly ; I hope it will.

By the Chairman:
. Q. It is up to the board?—A. Yes, they have their findings to make on the 
'nvestigation, but we hope to have a report very shortly.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q- What do you mean bv “shortly”; within a week?—A. Yes, I should 

chink so.
Q. The point I am trying to ascertain is when we will be in a position to 

ahead and ask further questions. You do not feel you can go ahead while 
18 matter is before the appeal board?—A. I hope you do not think there is 

nA reluctance on my part to answer the questions of the members of the com­
mittee. I merely feel that the appeal board should be able to go ahead with 

s investigations without any outside discussion taking place concerning the 
/latter which is before it. I will advise the committee as soon as the appeal 
°ard report is in.

,, Q- May I ask, between the time this appeal board sat before—which was 
I le 17th, I think, of last month—and the present time when it is sitting again, 
'.as there been any re-rating or reclassification of the applicants for that posi- 
ion?~_a. Well, that is a question, Mr. Harkness, I would prefer not to answer 
util the appeal board reports as it involves a procedure which the appeal board 
sclf is investigating.

By Mr. Castleden:
Q- The appeal board has only the power to find the facts?—A. Yes.
Q- It could not alter the facts?—A. No.

, Mr. Harkness : I do not see how that alters the facts, that no other rating 
has been made.

^he Chairman : When you have a report made to us after the matter is 
Ho\v? Zed”’ "7°u can discuss these questions. Why should we press the matter

,, to me' this particular Mr. Harkness: There is this point which occu^nd there was a discussion
aPpointment was brought up in the House of Oomn committee was moved.
Jout it. Then, this investigation or enqui . according to the newspaper 

between the time those two things the appeal board
rePort, the appeal board made a ruling. Now, we tinn

The Chairman: That has been changed. 0nlv an interim
Mr. Harkness: Now, we find the appeal tmard of ten daysfading and it is meeting again. Thjs has haçp whether there was or is any

"LtW(> weeks. What T am interested m know ^ yQU might call a fait
°rt to circumvent this committee l to the matter, 

eeompli by the time this committee go • to govern its own pro-
f , The Chairman: After all, this conamittee is go jt t0 your heart s
®edure. After the manner is “finalized’, then you
c°ntent.

Mr. Harkness: I just wanted to bring up that point.
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The Witness: Mr. Harkness wants to have a definite answer as to whether 
or not any attempt has been made to circumvent consideration by this com­
mittee. I would say emphatically no. Once the matter has been dealt with by 
the appeal board, we will be only too happy to bring everything before the 
committee; that is, so far as the Civil Service Commission is concerned.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. I am very glad to hear you say that. I thought I should put that before 

you.—A. My only reason for hesitating in answering some of the questions is 
that I feel the appeal board should have a fair chance to give consideration to 
the matter without outside discussion going on.

Q. The point is that outside discussion has already taken place?—A. Even 
so, I think the appeal board will do a better job if there is no outside discussion.

Mr. Reid: I would move that this matter be postponed until the appeal 
board has reported. Then, we can discuss the matter intelligently. If it is 
sub judice now, we should not discuss it.

The Chairman : Is it your motion that Mr. Bland step down for the time 
being?

Mr. Reid: That is right.
The Chairman : And we proceed with this matter at a later date at a 

special session?
Mr. Reid: That is right.
Mr. Gibson : I second the motion.
The Chairman: All in favour?
Mr. Case: I think I should be privileged to ask Mr. Bland a few questions 

while he is on the stand. Everybody else has had a chance and now that the 
most inquisitive members are finished, they want to cut off the discussion.

The Chairman : I should like to give you an opportunity of asking your 
questions.

Mr. Gariepy : Let Mr. Case put his questions.

By Mr. Case:
Q. I wanted to ask the witness whether the Civil Service Commission has 

the privilege of making appointments on its own?—A. Yes.
Q. Now, did you ever appeal to the appeal board yourself or does the appeal 

always come from the candidate?—A. I cannot recall a case in which it has not, 
Mr. Case, but I would not state there was not a possibility. After we have 
made a selection we might want to make a further investigation. However, I" 
do not recall such a cese and in every case the appeal has come from the 
candidate.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. Just on that point, do the departments concerned ever refuse to accept 

your appointment?—A. Yes, they have the right to do so under the law. The 
law provides that the appointment by the Civil Service Commission may be 
rejected by the department.

Q. What happens in that case?—A. The next person is appointed.
Mr. Reid : And the government takes the responsibility.
The Witness: Yes.
The Chairman: All in favour of the motion now before the committee? 

Contrary?
Carried.

. Thank you very much, Mr. Bland. We appreciate your coming here today- 
Will you hold yourself in readiness to be recalled?
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Is it your pleasure now to hear Dr. Keenleyside? 
All in favour? Contrary?
Carried.

Dr. H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, Department of Mines and 
Resources, called.

The Chairman : Dr. Keenleyside, among other things, has administrative 
control of the Indian Affairs branch of the Department of Mines and Resources.

By the Chairman:
Q- Dr. Keenleyside, would you care to say anything in connection with 

bis matter?—A. May I first of all say that I appreciate the opportunity of 
appearing before the committee. I know I am speaking for all the members of 

le department, and particularly for the members of the Indian Affairs branch, 
j' hen I say that the appointment and the work of the committee is, in our view, the 
best thing that has happened in the administration of Indian Affairs in Canada 
°ver the last generation; we are hoping to have action as the result of the work 
°1 the committee which will change the whole complexion of the administration 
of Indian Affairs.

I would like, Mr. Chairman, if I may, to make a very brief statement with 
^gard to the case that has been up this morning. My reasons for asking are 
these: ever since the matter first appeared in the newspapers and was first 
discussed in parliament I have been asked by members of parliament and by 
members of the press and by others for a statement as to what has been going 
bn. The suggestion has been that as the executive officer in charge of the 
department I must have known what was happening in connection with this 
blatter, and that I am the one who should be making a statement about it.
I have refused up to the present to say anything about it to the members of the 
Press or to others, because it seemed to me that the proper time to make such 
statements was when I came before this committee. However, I feel very 
strongly that on my first appearance before this committee, when such charges 
have been made in regard to the administration of the department, I should 
be permitted to make a statement about this particular case; and with your 
Permission, sir, I should like to do so.

The Chairman : Is there any objection to Dr. Keenleyside making a state­
ment? Very well, carried.

The Witness: Since the loth of March, 1947, I have been the officer 
^sponsible, under direction of the minister, for the administration of the 
department of Mines and Resources. This covers all units of the department, 
deluding the Indian Affairs branch.
> lb connection with the proposed appointment of Mr. Ford Pratt, therefore, 

must and I do accept full and exclusive responsibility for any administrative 
°tion taken by the department during the last year. I should like my accept­
ée of this responsibility to be as clear as words can make it. 

as this by way of introduction I would like to refer briefly to certain
Pects of the case which require clarification. 

c To begin with, may I say that I dislike exceedingly the necessity of dis- 
„ s,Slng in public, and particularly in the newspapers, the comparative merits 
j abilities of officials in the public service. I shall keep what I have to say 
said • connecti°n to a bare minimum, but in view of what has already been

m parliament, in this committee, and in the press, I cannot avoid some
comment.
der • as t° Mr. Randle. It has been suggested that this officer of the
b * artment and candidate for appointment as general executive assistant has 

n badly treated. The impression has been created that he was recommended
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for appointment by the Civil Service Commission and that he was improperly 
deprived of the appointment.

None of this is true.
Mr. Randle was never, at any time, recommended for this appointment 

by either the commission or the department. There was never, at any time, 
the slightest chance of his being appointed. He did not stand second in the 
competition. He was eighth. Acting quite within his rights, he twice appealed 
against the decisions in favour of Mr. Pratt by the Civil Service Commission. 
His first appeal was thrown out. The second has not yet been dealt with. 
Mr. Randle has had every possible consideration.

I turn now to Mr. Pratt.
During the past two or three years—both before and after I succeeded 

my distinguished1 predecessor, Dr. Camsell, as deputy minister—the department, 
with the assistance of the Civil Service Commission, has been making a most 
vigorous effort to improve the organization and to raise the standard of the 
personnel in the Indian Affairs branch. The existence of this parliamentary 
committee and the interest and advice of its members have been an inspiration 
to the officers of the department in their efforts to carry out these essential 
reforms.

Shortly after I joined the department I was told of the proposal to appoint 
Mr. Pratt to the post of general executive assistant in the Indian Affairs branch.

May I interject here that the date on which that title was introduced was 
not, as has been suggested, two or thrçe months ago; it was the 27th of May, 1947.

I had known Mr. Pratt for many years and had a very high regard for his 
abilities. After carefully examining the record I wrote to the Civil Service 
Commission and asked that action be taken to bring this matter to a conclusion 
by confirming Mr. Pratt’s appointment. Shortly thereafter it was suggested 
by the members of the commission that this appointment might be held in 
abeyance until a decision had been reached in connection with one or two other 
senior appointments which were under consideration. To this I agreed. During 
the following four months, by study of the situation in Ottawa and by exam­
ination of conditions in the field (where I visited over twenty reserves and a 
number of Indian areas in the Northwest Territories and the Yukon), I sought 
to extend my knowledge of the service and its personnel. When I returned 
to Ottawa we gave immediate attention, with the assistance of the Civil Service 
Commission, to the problem of appointments in the Indian Affairs branch.

Supported by what I had learned in the interim I again recommended that 
Mr. Pratt’s appointment be confirmed. My reasons for this recommendation 
were the following:

1. As private secretary to the minister and as chief of personnel in 
the department, Mr. Pratt had had long experience in dealing with Indian 
matters, and with the personnel of the Indian Affairs branch, both at 
Ottawa and in the field.

2. He knew personally a great many of the Indian agents, had visited 
many of the reserves and had assisted the minister in dealing with Indian 
complaints.

3. He had had a long experience of successful and devoted activity in 
the public service.

4. He was a man of humane instincts, of fine intelligence, and of 
unquestioned integrity.

These were my reasons, and my only reasons.
I make no apologies for recommending that Mr. Pratt be appointed to the 

post of general executive assistant. I only regret that action has been so long 
delayed, and that this fine officer should have been subjected to the indignities 
of the last two weeks. I hope that the appointment will now soon be made. Mr.
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Pratt will be a great asset to a branch that badly needs the qualities that he 
can bring to its service.

May I now refer to what seems to me to be the most serious aspect of the 
recent developments in this case? It is quite clear that on two different occasions 
a person in a position to know what was being done or discussed in connection 
with the appointment has made confidential information—including a document 
from a Civil Service file—available to a representative of the press. Tins is a 
serious charge, but the facts are quite plain. I assume that the Civil Service 
Commission which, I am satisfied, is not in any way responsible for what 
has happened, is taking the necessary steps to place the responsibility where 
it belongs. Until the person responsible for this outrageous act of bad faith has 
been located and named—and this should not be a very difficult task—every­
one else connected with the case will be unjustly under suspicion. In my 
opinion, when the responsibility has been fixed, steps should be taken to ensure 
that the person concerned shall never again, under any circumstances, be allowed 
to participate in activities under the control of the Civil Service Commission.

Having thus clarified my position in relation to the problem under review 
I am glad to place myself at the disposal of the committee.

Mr. Harkness: Before I ask any questions in regard to what Dr. Keenley- 
side has said, I should like to make a short statement myself. Now, in the first 
place, there seems to be—

The Chairman: Is that agreeable to the committee that Mr. Harkness shall 
make a statement?

Agreed.
Mr. Hark ess : The inference in bringing up this case is that I was attempt­

ing to attack Mr. Pratt, or something of that nature. Nothing has ever been 
farther from my thoughts. The inference is contained in what Dr. Kcenleyside 
has said, and it was definitely stated in the House by the minister. I would like 
to make it absolutely clear once again—and I will repeat what I said at that 
time—that I have a high regard for Mr. Pratt ; I have nothing in the world 
against him. My purpose in bringing the whole matter up was to try to see 
that the recommendations of this committee were being carried out in the first 
Place; and, more important than that, that such appointments as are being made 
are best for the Indian service, and that the men who are most experienced 
and best qualified to carry out the work will get the jobs.

Now, in the second place, the inference has been given as a matter of 
[act the statement was definitely made, without turning it up in Ha mar 
hy the minister, that I was acting on behalf of Colonel Randle.
, I would like to state very definitely that I have never sben Colonel Handle; 
[ have never had a letter from him ; I have never talked to him on t ie c ep 'one, 
f know absolutely nothing about him except that he has been on ie Six . K) s 
reserve for a number of years. I may say that my information-all the 
reformation I have got, some of which it turned out was not correct in connec 10 
w,th this case—came from a totally different source, and Co one an( c ^ 
nothing to do with it. I have never had any idea of acting on Ins behalf, and 
* am not now doing so. I should like to make that abundantly < ear.

Now, I disagree completely with what Dr. Kcenleyside ias sai , 
Tost important and serious aspect of this subject is that a i ocumci . 
*as supposed to be confidential got into the hands of the press, n 
[at is a very minor matter in comparison with the welfare of ic n _

[hls committee has been set up to investigate; I think much the most importa 
factor of this whole case is whether this or any other appointment is the be.t 

that could have been made, having the welfare of the Indians in mind This 
fatter which Dr. Kcenleyside stresses as being so important, I think, is oi very 
Htle importance in comparison with the other ; and it is from that point of i lew
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that I think we should be investigating this whole question—particularly investi­
gating the entire question of administration and personnel of the Indian Affairs 
branch.

I should like to refer again to my resolution which contains, in the last 
part, these words: “to ascertain the extent to which the above or any other of 
our previous recommendations concerning administration and personnel in Indian 
Affairs have been implemented ; and if not, why and by whom the said recom­
mendations were frustrated and thwarted.”

The case of Mr. Pratt is entirely incidental to that. I brought that case up 
because, as every member of the committee knows, it is extremely difficult to lay 
one’s hands on a definite case. I happened to lay my hands on that particular 
case, and I brought it up as a matter of illustration. I think we can, when this 
appeal board has quit sitting, very well prosecute that as a definite example 
of whether recommendations are being carried out or not.

Now with that preamble, I should like to ask Dr. Keenleyside one or two 
questions?

The Chairman : Now, do you not think that in view of the fact that two 
personalities have been brought into this discussion that we could very well be 
rather guarded in our questions with regard to people and persons, and especially 
in the one case which is now, as Mr. Bland says, before the appeal board. We 
could go on indefinitely where other people and other.positions are concerned— 
people who are not in a position to come here and defend themselves. Now, do 
you not think that under those circumstances—we have a great deal more to do 
with respect to the recommendations of this committee to parliament—I suggest 
to you that we now proceed with the other matters which were recommended 
by us to parliament and very well leave out personnel matters of Indian 
administration.

Mr. Harkness : Mr. Chairman, I do not want to go into personnel matters, 
and I would like to point out to you that I did not bring this case up again; 
it was brought up by Dr. Keenleyside; and in view of his statement I thought I 
should make a statement to make my own position clear.

Mr. Richard: How far are we going to go into this matter?
Mr. Harkness : In connection with the general question contained in this 

resolution, while I agree with Mr. Reid that we must get this Act completed this 
year, nevertheless I think an investigation of this kind into whether our past 
recommendations arc carried out is fully as important if not more so.

The Chairman: I agree. That is what I want to get on with.
Mr. Harkness: Now, I wish to refer to the evidence of last year at page 

1942, where Mr. Hoey makes this statement:
It is my hope that next year the committee will undertake and com­

plete the revision of the Act. The longer I remain in the Indian service 
the more I am convinced that it is largely an administrative problem. 
I cannot see—for the life of me—at the moment, how you could revise 
the Act, or in what way you could revise it, that would mean much to 
the Indian population in the absence of sound administrative effort. I 
would say offhand that ours is about two-thirds an administrative problem 
and perhaps, about one-third a legislative problem.

Now, in view of that I think it is fully as important that we should look into 
the way in which the administration has been carried on and particularly to 
inquire into the extent to which our recommendations have or have not been 
implemented.

The Chairman: That is agreed. Let us get on with it.
Mr. Harkness: I would like to ask Dr. Keenleyside—
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The Chairman: We have made certain recommendations ; let us take them 
ln order.

Mr. Harkness : These questions will be in regard to the recommendations 
We have made.
2 The Chairman : Can we not take these in order? You have got them now, 

to 26 of the recommendations made last year, for instance. Let us see what 
nas been done.

Mr. Harkness: That is what I am going to proceed to do.
Mr. Blackmore: Is there any reason why Mr. Harkness should not be 

1 Emitted to ask his questions?
if Chairman : I see no reason at all, except that I want to get this matter

Possible, through today, without getting into a lot of personalities.
Mr. Case: I would like to hear Mr. Harkness and we are interrupting him.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. My first question, then, is: what proportion of yc 

Ijbe Indian Affairs branch?—A. I think that is an impossible/our time is given to
y, ruituis urancnr—a. i tninK that is an impossible question to answer,
* ' ■ Chairman. On some days or some periods of time I am devoting practically 

my time to Indian Affairs. At other times I am not doing it at all. It 
on what matter is of most importance on which I put in my own

all „.,r
spends' 
time.
, Q. Do you consider that you can devote a sufficient amount of your time 
5° Indian Affairs work in view of the work of the many branche» of > our 
department?—A In view of the fact that the Indian Affairs branch has got 
a director who devotes all of his time to that work, the question is really a matter 
;jf whether the director is competent or not. In my opinion the director at the 
Present time is a very competent officer, and as far as I am concerned l 

into Indian Affairs matters when he brings them to my attention and feels
'at it is necessary to do so. . , j 1047?_

^ Q. Have you studied the reports of this committee for 1946 and 194/.
af .Q^Whcn did you first read them?—A. I am sorry, Mr. Chairman, I am 

'aid my memory does not go back —
The Chairman: I think he said he had read them.

By Mr. Harkness: . Tt T
n . Q- I asked the question. It is definitely a proper one;~~ ® 0

"nt of your question, I may say that I read them some con»1 _ hearing 0f 
I Q. In connection with the general one in 1946, th • ,• t admmis-
tr, y rimental officials has disclosed the necessity for certain , existing
Iç'h 've improvements which can be effected without the causes outlegislation, and which, when put into effect, will remove some of the causes out 

which have arisen grievances and complaints of many 
The Chairman : Which one is that? . T. •

in ^Mr. Harkness: This is the first general part of our 1946 repoit.
°* 21 of the proceedings-.
^r- Reid: Has this any bearing on this evidence.
Mr. Harkness* Yhs , ■ ,

had The CHAI«>,.«: What he is dealing with are the
Sheen made in our third report, dated the 13th of August, 1946. ms

^ble. My own thought would be to get down o * • connection
With Witness: I wonder if I might make a brio su^r’Co1Jmreports or not? 
I nojWhat Mr. Harkness asked as to whether ^ iaL,.nmmendations that were 
maci 0njy read the reports, but I have studied the 1 been taken as a

ade with a great deal of care; .and also the steps that have been taken as
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result of those recommendations. I quite agree that the desirable way to handle; 
these matters is to take them up one at a time and ask me or the other officers 
of the department what has been done about them. As a result of my study of 
the matter a general summary has been made showing the number that have 
been carried out and the number that have not. If you are interested in hearing 
them..............

The Chairman: Would that be agreeable?
Mr. Reid: Personally I am very much concerned with the statement made, 

by Dr. Keenleyside because I was one of those who raised the point about the' 
recommendations. Before we leave this,—and so that the record may be kept 
straight and we are not jumping from one thing to another,—I should like to 
ask Dr. Keenleyside a question on the statement he made a few minutes ago.
I should like to do that before we proceed with the recommendations. If we go 
on with the recommendations and then jump back, the record will not be clear. 
He made a statement regarding this case under discussion which was mentioned 
by Mr. Harkness in the House. Then Mr. Harkness proceeded to ask him some- 
questions. I should like to ask him one question regarding it before we move 
on to the recommendations. I think that is only fair so that the record may? 
be kept clear.

The Chairman : Is that agreeable?
Carried.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. My question is this. While I agree with much of what Mr. Harkness 

has said I cannot agree with him on the matter of “stealing” a document. I take 
that as a very serious thing. My question is what steps, if any, have been taken 
to find the culprit because if valuable documents can be mishandled in that wayj 
no documents are safe around Ottawa.

The Witness : I am afraid my answer must be that that is a matter for 
the Civil Service Commission ; that while we are anxious to assist in it it is the 
responsibility of the Civil Service Commission to find out why the regulations 
of the commission have not been carried out in this particular case.

Mr. Retd: Later on I will ask Mr. Bland that question, but I agree it i= 
a rather serious matter when a valuable document can disappear.

The Chairman : Would it be agreeable to allow Dr. Keenleyside to give 
us the information he volunteered?

The Witness: This is a very brief summary made up because of the 
suggestion that has been made that the recommendations of the committee 
had not been attended to by the department, it even being suggested in certain 
cases that we had paid no attention to them at all. In general, of course, 
I do not think it is necessary to say that that is not true. We are just as 
much interested in these recommendations as the members of the committee 
are. We are very much pleased that the recommendations were made, and 
are doing our best to carry them out.

This is a summary of the 10 recommendations in 1946 and the 26 recoin- 
mendations in 1947. There were 2, one in each set, that overlapped, and in 
consequence there was a total of 35 recommendations. Of those 35 there 
were 11 that were matters of government policy over which the department 
had no control, or else were matters relating to the procedures of the committee 
itself, or else referring to some department other than the Department of Mines 
and Resources. There are 11 in that category. That left a total of 24 recom­
mendations on which the department was more or less free to act. I say more 
or less because in certain cases action depended on other departments or on 
the Civil Service Commission as well as on our own department.

Of those 24 there are 18 that were carried out, or are in effect. There 
were 4 that were partially carried .out or are partially in effect, and there
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Were 2 that have not been acted upon. Instead of being delinquent on the 
whole 35, as has been suggested, the departmefit failed to act on only 2 recom­
mendations, and I am prepared to explain the failure on those two. In other 
words, in the relatively short time that has elapsed since the 1947 report of 
the committee the recommendations, with 2 exceptions', have been carried out 
as far as the department is concerned. It seems to me that is not a wholly 
unsatisfactory report.

Mr. Reid: Would you see that a copy of that statement is sent to Senator 
Crerar, in my name?

Mr. Harkess : We are going to particularize—
The Chairman : Could we say that we are not interested in those that 

have been carried out?
Mr. Harkness : No, we are interested in them all.
The Chairman: I mean so far as questioning is concerned. Are you 

Uiterested further in those recommandations that have been carried out?
Mr. Harkness : I do not think we are prepared to accept that they have 

been carried out. At least, I am not, as yet.
The Chairman : What is your pleasure, to take them individually?
Mr. Harkness: I think so.
The Chairman: Let us take number one. Shall we start with number one 

of 1946?
Mr. Case: Is the chairman going continually to interrupt questioning of 

the witness? There has been constant interruption. We are not going to get 
anywhere. I say that with all due respect.

The Chairman: The committee is going to govern its own procedure.
Mr. Reid: In fairness, I think we are somewhat away from Mr. Harkness’ 

case and are now dealing with our recommendations, a matter that I brought up.
Mr. Case: Mr. Harkness was still questioning.
Mr. Reid: If you look at my motion it is, as I said a while ago, to ascertain 

the extent to which our previous recommendations have been carried out. IX by 
n°t let the witness proceed and tell us about the recommendations?

Mr. Harkness: Certainly I want to have them particularized.
The Chairman : I have been charged with having interfered with members 

?/ the committee. Maybe I have. I do not deny it because I am trying to get 
the affairs of the committee completed, and I have to occasionally crac ic 
whip. I do not intend to be discourteous to any member, and if I am, 1 am 
SUrc that members of the committee will reprimand me in the manner in w lie
0nly they can do. .

. Shall we say that each member of the committee will have a certain tune 
''ffhin which he may be permitted to ask questions, as we did las year, so i 
We may be fair to all members of the committee, or shall we go on with this 
lamination not only today but tomorrow and every other day.

Mr. Gariepy: I suggest that we let Mr. Harkness proceed.
Mr. Blackmore: Hear, hear.

j Mr. Gariepy : If we start going around the table it will take more inn 
kOcicly.
i . Mr. Richard : It seems to me that the point that Mr. Harkness wishes to 
// lnK out is that he takes exception to the statement made by I)r. veen. • , '
'!.at these recommendations have been carried out If Mr. Harkness will deal 
dl> them one by one he can point out the ones he thinks have not been 1

6879—3
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The Chairman : I want to be fair to all members of the committee and to 
give them each an opportunity to submit such questions as he wishes to the 
witnesses before us today. If that is your pleasure you will be the ones who 
will be making the rule, not I.

Mr. Blackmore: It seems to me Mr. Harkness should be permitted to 
proceed. I am not prepared to recommend that he should take all his points 
first. It may be it would be a good thing for him to take the first one and say 
what he has to say, and then let other members ask questions on that one.

Mr. Reid: Would it not satisfy the committee if the witness made a com­
plete statement as to the recommendations that have been carried out, taking 
our recommendations made in 1946 and 1947, and then allow Mr. Harkness to 
question him on those that were not carried out? I think the committee then 
would get somewhere.

The Chairman : I did not quite catch that.
Mr. Harkness : I think wre should proceed with these one at a time and 

have whatever questioning there is by myself and everyone else on the recom­
mendations as we deal -with them.

The Chairman : Mr. Reid, of course, was the one who brought this up, in 
his motion.

Mr. Harkness : If you will read my motion you will see that is the very 
essence of it.

The Chairman : Let us get on with it. I am not going to argue. What is 
your suggestion, take them up one by one?

Mr. Reid: My suggestion is that Dr. Keenleyside be allowed to make his 
statements as to the recommendations that have been carried out and those that 
were not carried out, and that following that we allow Mr. Harkness to ask 
any questions he wants to ask.

Mr. Gariepy: I modestly suggest that is the wrong approach to the prob­
lem. We are not dealing now with what the government did or did not do or 
what the department did or did not do. We have made no final report. It just 
happens that one of the members of this committee has a grievance and he put 
it in the shape of a motion.

The Chairman: Two members.
Mr. Gariepy: I am speaking of the one now. We can deal with one or the 

other or both at the same time. It does not matter, but let the two members 
proceed with their grievances. Then we will have the reply and be done 
with it.

The Chairman: Is that agreeable to the committee?
Mr. Harkness: I suggest we would save more time if we took these up one 

at a time. Then everybody who wishes to ask any question on the recommenda­
tion that we are dealing with can ask it at the time that we are dealing with it 
instead of going back over it time after time.

The Chairman : Is that agreeable to the committee?
Mr. Blackmore: And that Dr. Keenleyside be given a chance to make any 

comment.
The Chairman : Is that agreeable?
Carried.
Mr. Harkness: I think the first four recommendations of 1946 are not ones 

about which the department could have done anything. Then we come to 
No. 5.

That the director of Indian Affairs branch, Department of Mines and 
Resources, in conjunction with the Civil Service Commission and the 
Treasury Board, take immediate steps to fill such vacant key posts as 
Indian agents and such other vacancies in Indian Affairs branch which, 
in the public interest, must be filled forthwith.
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Mr. Reid: What is the number?
Mr. Habkness: No. 5 of 1946.
The Chairman: Dr. Keenleyside, would you care to comment on that?

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. What has been done in that regard?—A. That recommendation has 

been carried out, with the exception of one Indian agent appointment which 
Remains unfilled. That is the Tyendenaga agency in Ontario. It is intended to 
bll it, but the man who is to be appointed to it, if our plans go through, is ill, 
and we are waiting for his recovery. Otherwise the recommendation has been
carried out.

The Chairman : Any further questions?
The Witness: Incidentally I have all the details here in regard to the 

lumbers and places, and so on, if anybody wants to see them.

By Mr. Harkness:
A tQ\ What about “and such other vacancies in Indian Affairs branch”?— 
v 1 did not quite get that.

Mr. Raymond: You have appointed an inspector in the province of Quebec 
atld I am very glad of it.
y The Witness: Oh, “such other vacancies”; the answer to that is simply 

'at we are filling or have filled all appointments as rapidly as has been possible, 
here arc certain senior posts that have still to be filled, including the one that 

'as been under discussion in the committee here both this morning and at other 
'hies. In the posts outside we have certain reclassifications that are under 

j ay at the present time which have not been carried through as yet but which we 
r?Pe will be very soon. The real point is that every position that has been 
established and confirmed by the Civil Service Commission, with the single 
Xception of the Indian agent at Tyendenaga, has been filled at the present 

if'he, with the further exception of the post in the head office here for Mr. Pratt, 
be is appointed to it.

By Mr. Bryce: .
„ Q. As to the assistant Indian agents you are applying for now in Manitoba 
are they all new positions that you are going to create now?—A. What isi being 
+,°ne is that where possible we are bringing farm instructors under the teims of 
Jb.e Civil Service Act, and they are being called in this classification under the 

lv'l Service Act, assistant Indian agent. fl11- Q_
t Q. Then that would consider an agricultural man suitab e g

D(han agent’s position?—A. That is what has happened, yes.
The Chairman: Any further questions?

No. 6. That the establishment for Indian Affairs branch, Depart­
ment of Mines and Resources, be increased to provide for the appoi 
ment of at least two Indian agents at large, 

it, .The Witness: That recommendation also has been cairied out. 
ofa'te has been appointed field agent, or Indian agent at laifec, Quebec and 

Manitoba. Mr. Morris has been appointed for provmce of Quebec^and
e maritimes. In addition to those two we have asked 1 .. nrovince of

(WS10n to advertise a promotional competition for field ag ,
°ntario and are thinking of doing the same thing in Saskatchewan.

The Chairman: _ . .
No. 7. That consideration be given by the Civil Service Commision 

to the desirability of placing additional classifie a ion _ _ 
field staff under the provisions of the Civil ^eivi 

6879—
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The Witness: This is the question that Mr. Bryce raised, and the 
answer I gave him holds here. With the approval of the Civil Service Com­
mission we have established the classification of assistant Indian agent, and we 
are hoping that the fann instructors will gradually move into that classification. 
In addition to that, however, there is the fact that Indian day school teachers 
are being brought under Civil Service Commission classification whch will mean 
that they will be eligible for annual increments and for superannuation. It makes 
a very great change in the position of the Indian day school teachers, and a 
change that will enable us to get very much better teachers on the average than 
has been the case in the past when we have had to rely either on people who 
have been filled with enthusiasm to do the work or else on people who could 
not get a better job.

Mr. Harkness: How many of these teachers have been brought within the 
civil service now? What proportion?

Mr. Hoey: Oh, I would say in reply to that every fully qualified teacher, 
that is, every teacher qualified acadamically and professionally, is either in or 
in the process of being brought in.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. What has been done in the matter of farm instructors? Have any steps 

been taken to bring them under the Civil Service Act?—A. They are being 
brought in under the Civil Service Act as assistant Indian agents.

Q. Do you mean to say that all farm instructors are now going to be 
assistant Indian agents?—A. We hope they will be gradually put into that 
position as they qualify for it, and as approval is given by the government for 
taking them out of the personal system of appointment and putting them under 
the Civil Service Commission.

Q. What about the ones who remain as farming instructors? Has any 
method been devised to bring them under the Act?—A. That is what I have been 
saying. We are trying to bring them all under the Act, and we will do it just 
as rapidly as we are a!lowred to do so.

Q. I would take it from what you have said some of them will remain as 
farming instructors?—A. There may be some of them who would not be com­
petent to do the job as assistant Indian agents, and possibly they might be kept 
on as farming instructors, yes.

Q. Are those farming instructors who will remain to be brought under the 
Act? Are there any steps being taken to bring them under the Act?—A. Not 
as far as I know.

Mr. Hoey : They are really under the Act. Although the appointment is a 
ministerial one they contribute and qualify for superannuation allowances. The 
only handicap, as Mr. Bland knows, in the case of a ministerial appointee is 
that he cannot take part in a promotional competition. Apart from that he is 
a civil servant in a very absolute sense.

Mr. Harkness: Perhaps you will remember, Mr. Hoey, that we had a 
considerable amount of discussion on that very point in 1946. I think the 
general opinion of the committee then was that these men should be brought fully 
under the Civil Service Act. That is why I was asking the question as to 
whether there were any steps being taken to do that. Apparently they have not.

By Mr. Bryce:
Q. Coming back to the school teachers who are under the civil service now, 

does that include teachers appointed by the different churches or only teachers 
appointed by the department?—A. It will include teachers appointed by the 
churches as rapidly as we can do it.—all teachers are not covered yet—whether 
appointed by the churches or appointed directly by the department. When 
one says “appointed by the churches” that really is a misnomer because they
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are all appointed by the department, although we still take the recommendation 
of the churches in regard to the individuals in a number of instances, but the 
actual appointment is made by the department.

By Mr. Gibson:
Q. That applies only to teachers in residential schools, not to residential 

school staffs?—A. Teachers in the residential schools but not the rest of the staff.
The Chairman : No. 8 is the same as No. 1 of 1947.

That more direct methods be employed for the return of rentals 
collected on behalf of Indian lessors.

Ko. 1 of 1947 is:
That immediate steps be taken by all responsible officials to remove 

without further delay this longstanding grievance with regard to rentals 
due to Indians.

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, these two recommendations have only been 
carried out partially. We are doing everything we can to speed up the payment 
°f the rentals, but the fact is that under the Consolidated Revenue and Audit 
Act we cannot do what the committee desired us to do. There has to be an 
apiendment of that Act, or alternatively an amendment to the Indian Act. After 
discussion with the Auditor General we have decided that the most effective 
and simple way of handling it would be to leave if for an amendment to the 
Indian Act. They would prefer it that way, and as far as we are concerned we 
arc anxious to have it done either way. If they will not do it one way we are 
Prepared to do it the other way.

The Chairman : It is up to this committee to act upon it. Are there am 
further questions?

Mr. Harkness: Yes.

By Mr. Harkness
l Q- You said you were able to do this only partially.
. y that?—A. I mean we have speeded up the methods that

What do you mean
,-v vim,i,i—n.. i mean we nave speeded up the methods that ha\e been employed 
ln carrying out the intention of the committee under the present regulations, but 
We cannot go beyond that until the regulations are changed.
, Q. When was this done?—A. I do not know that I can give you any date 
tor it.

Q. In our 1947 report we say:
Your committee notes with extreme regret that recommendation No. 

8 of the said report of August 15, 1946, which was concurred in by both 
houses of parliament, has not yet been implemented.

^hat is the recommendation we are dealing with.
The Chairman : Where are you reading from?
Mr. Harkness : From our 1947 report.

. Pile Witness : Probably I could answer that this way. M 1PT 'P 
1 rttee’s report was made available to us and as a result of discussions P - 
, nient in the session that ended on the 21st of July last, as ’ • , , •
tLCome and go over with me all the recommendations that had been made by 
flnnc°mmittce, and to discuss what could be done to implement n . ' ,
Wo t'he points that came up at that time, and it was agréer ‘ would
d Cc?uld not do anything fundamental without changing the . u i - '
fi’ol" 1&t was possible by speeding up the procedures within c( Pal 1 

■ I suppose you could say it began in July.
Air. Harkness: How much speed-up have you accomplishe
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By the Chairman:
Q. 1946?—A. July, 1947. I am afraid I cannot answer that.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. It did take months for these rentals to move back and forth. Does it I 

now take the same number of months or a fewer number of months, or is it 
down to weeks or days?—A. I should imagine that would depend on the indivi­
dual case. In some cases we can probably get it done very quickly, and in ! 
others it would still take months.

Mr. Blackmore: If it would not involve too much time I would be inter- I 
ested in having Dr. Keenleyside show us just what sort of change would have I 
to be made in the Indian Act so that we can see why it is difficult for the | 
Department to implement the recommendation.

The Witness: I am afraid that is a technical subject that I would rather | 
have the legal officer of the department answer. All I can say about it is after l 
discussion with the Auditor General it was agreed that there had to be a change j 
in the Audit Act or else change in the Indian Act, and it was then agreed the I 
change would be made in the Indian Act. Just what the form of that change 
is going to be I am afraid I am not competent to answer.

By Mr. Blackmore:
Q. My concern is with what the difficulty is from which we are now suffer- l 

ing which needs to be remedied by a change. Is it that there is a lot of red tape : 
involved?—A. In essence it is that the amounts collectable have to be paid j 
to the Receiver General of Canada, into the general funds and thén have to be [ 
drawn out again.

By Mr. Castleden:
Q. Are the legal officers of the department doing anything about a draft : 

bill?—A. Yes, we have a draft of all the changes that we think would be desir­
able in the present Act and are prepared to discuss them with the committee '• 
when it is desired to have our view about them.

Q. They will be present at the revision, I presume?—A. Certainly.
Mr. Reid: May I ask Dr. Keenleyside whether the members got it clear 

how many of the recommendations made last year have been carried out and 
how many have not been carried out, and why? I venture to ask whether the \ 
members of the committee really understood the discussion properly, because 
we have not the 1946 report before us?

Mr. Richard: We are going over them one by one, and we have got to No. 7.
Mr. Reid: I am asking if we have that information on the record—whether 

the recommendations of 1947 have been carried out. I am asking that because 
I brought up that matter at the last meeting. If no one else wants that infor­
mation I do.

The Chairman : If I understand you, you want the list of recommendations 
made; or do you want just the recommendations that have been carried out?

Mr. Reid: No. You will remember that Senator Crerar in the Senate, when 
the report was tabled last year, said that the twenty-six recommendations made 
by us they were just “a lot of wind” and did not mean anything. I brought up .. 
the point; I said I would like to know if his statement is correct and to know 
how many recommendations have been carried out. Now, that question has not 
yet been answered, and I would like to have it answered sometime before the ; 
witness leaves the committee, either now or in the afternoon. Of the twenty-six 
recommendations passed by this committee in 1947, how many have been carried 
into effect and how many have not; and as regards those that have not been 
carried out, why have they not been carried out? If those questions do not 
interest the members of this committee it is too bad; but I do want that infor­
mation.
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The Chairman: Will you wait just for a moment? ^ eleven of
Mr. Matthews: I understood the witness to 

the thirty-five over which the department ha 
The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Matthews : And twenty-four remame .

Mr” those twenty-four. eW«-^already *«

are partiallv in effect, and two have not been ac i
The Witness: That is correct, according ^ "W c°mputato ^ ^ 
Mr. Harkness: Are we going over them one by one to

to each case? , . ,
The Chairman: Yes. We will adjourn until 4 o clocK.
The committee adjourned to meet again at 4 p.m.

AFTERNOON SESSION

The Committee resumed at 4 p.m. i;ve
The c™: Gentlemen, 

to make, with your permission, in the evidence yv

Dr. H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, Department of Mines and

Resources, recalled : .. , . .» •
The Witness: Mr. Chairman and f^tiSfof Serai superintendent of 

toorning we discussed the date on which the ti § assistant was adopted
Indian agencies was dropped and the title genera rn9,ivprtently I said that the
l°r the purpose that we had under discussion. 9„ ^g That is whatdate was1 May 27, 1647; instead I should have said d„tc on which
I intended to say. It was done on May 27,1m Sonvice Commission to
the decision was reached in discussion with 1 _ minc;i on August 30, 1946. 
make the change, which was implemented by order in council

By Mr. Case: , thcy advertised for
Q. So that the advertisement really was m cm> „ & misnomer actually, 

superintendent general of Indian agencies. A. .... ‘.riven was not the proper 
y hat happened, in my opinion, was the title whicl sg the purpose of
description of the job. I just wanted to make that straig 
the record, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman : No. 9. . .. No 8 before recess,
Mr. Harkness: Mr. Chairman we werethe minutes and proceedings of 

?tod during the intervening period I looked up point, and I have one
No. 20 of 1946 which dealt with evidence we had on 
°r two more specific questions to ask m view o roepsses

The Chairman : That is the trouble with having 
Mr. Harkness: Yes, people ran always get

By Mr. Harkness: .. at that time was Mr.
Q. On page 780 of those proceedmgs—the w ^ of Finance, and he 

}V- C. Ronson, Assistant Deputy Mmister, I * cvidence in connection with 
'tod been brought before the committee to g . conected for Indians by the 
fat could be done in the matter of r®^JjJ,gaYS) at page 780: 
department and payment of rentals to when j made SOme inquiry

This is a bookkeeping procedure of safety, also as a
about it I was told that this was done as
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matter of making certain collections in the event the Indian owed money. 
I think that is all, but that is the kind of thing that I assume is not 
provided by the statute, and could be changed by order in council or by 
arrangement between the comptroller of the treasury and the officers of 
the department . . .

And then at page 781 I find the following:
Mr. Hoey : As Mr. Ronson says, it is a matter that could be corrected 

by regulation. I do not know that, but I feel it could be. Is it your 
opinion it could be changed by regulation, Mr. Ronson?

The Witness: Unless it is contrary to the Consolidated Revenue 
and Audit Act which says that all public funds shall be deposited to the 
credit of the Receiver General. But my own opinion is that these are 
not public funds and that therefore this could be corrected by regulation. 
I should think the way to do it is for Mr. Hoey to get in touch with 
Mr. McIntyre and perhaps they can iron it out themselves.

What I am asking you is: Was Mr. McIntyre contacted and was it discovered 
that this could be done by changing the regulation or by order in council, and if 
so was any change made in the regulation or was application made for an order 
in council to correct the situation?—A. Mr. Chairman, in reply to that question 
the contact that was suggested was made ; but in the subsequent correspondence 
we have received this letter from the acting chief treasury officer. It refers 
to a memo asking the question that has been set out there : “Since receipt of 
your memo of the 1st instant. . . ” that is August, 1947, “ . . . I have discussed 
the matter with the assistant comptroller of the treasury, and this will confirm 
our understanding that amendments to the Consolidated Revenue and Audit 
Act would be necessary to effect the changes you are prepared to consider.”

Q. What was the date of that, Doctor?—A. I have not the actual date, but 
it was some date in August, 1947, because it is a reply to a letter dated the 
11th of August, 1947, and it begins, “Since receipt of your memo of the 1st 
instant. . . ”

Q. Have any steps been taken to have an amendment of that nature intro­
duced by the Finance Department?—A. No. As I said this morning, we dis­
cussed the matter again with the Auditor-General and as a result of that dis­
cussion it was mutually agreed that the best way to do it would be by having 
an amendment to the Indian Act, and we are now proposing to suggest to the 
members of the committee that that be done in the revision of the Indian Act 
which this committee undertakes.

Q. It is suggested that that will cover it—because I understood from what 
you said the amendment to the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act would be 
necessary?—A. That was the original reply, but it had subsequently been sug­
gested that it could be done by amending the Indian Act. Incidentally the 
date of that letter I quoted is the 11th of August.

The Chairman: No. 9. “That the Indian Affairs branch immediately 
undertake the drafting of plans: (1) for the construction of such additional 
accommodation as is necessary to relieve the present overcrowding of certain 
Indian day schools ; (2) to provide for the construction of such other Indian day 
schools as, in the opinion of the said branch, are needsd.”

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, we contend that this action has been taken 
because of the following facts: during the present fiscal year that ends on the 
31st of this month, additional classrooms have been built to Indian schools 
throughout the country to the total number of fifty-eight. In addition to that 
seven teacheries have been built during the year. That, however, is only the 
beginning because of the plans for the coming fiscal year, plans now approved by 
the Treasury Board. Perhaps what I have to say should not be on the record.
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The Chairman : Is it agreed that the witness speak off the record?
Agreed.
(Witness speaks off the record).

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Is this to take care of the overcrowding in certain Indian schools or 

18 it partly that and partly to give more education to the Indian children?— 
A. Both; it is intended to achieve both those things. It will not, of course, 
solve the whole problem of providing schools for the Indians because it cannot 
be done in one year. It involves materials and labour. It would not be a 
feasible thing to meet the whole deficit in this one year; but we are doing more 
than has ever been contemplated in any previous year, and as much as 1 think 
W'e can actually get done during the present year. May I speak off the record 
again?

Agreed.
(Witness speaks off the record.)

By Mr. Reid:
Q. In your opinion, going ahead with such a building program for schools, 

"'ould it in any way interfere, with the committee in its final conclusion should 
they deem it advisable to propose that the Indian children, wherever possible go 
to provincial day schools? There is a thought in the minds of some members 
of the committee—not all—of having Indian children sent to municipal or 
Provincial day schools. In that way we could get them out and among the 
white children—similar to what happened in British Columbia with the Japanese 
children mixing with our people—the better. I am raising that point now in 
connection with the extensive building program—should the committee bring 
in that recommendation?—A. No, I do not think that would be likely to 
happen. In a good many places it will, of course, be possible to have schools 
that are primarily Indian schools make provision for white or halt-breed 
youngsters who are in the same vicinity—that is particularly true in the 
Northwest Territories and the Yukon—but in other places it is our endeavour 
to get the provincial authorities to agree that Indian youngsters should go to 
white schools which are already established. We are not building Indian schools 
ln any place where it is possible for the Indian children there resident to go
t° an existing white school.

By Mr. Matthews: 
iL Q. Are those mostly in new

. , " iu exienmna tne wont mere, meit, « — ,3 • -„i rc „;„i„W,1]ch the whole situation was reviewed by our own and the provincial officials;
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and it is hoped that as a result the system of registered trap-lines and other fur 
development activities may be greatly extended in Manitoba.

In the province of Saskatchewan, trapping on a planned basis will be per­
mitted this year in a very large area that has been set aside by the Saskat­
chewan government. This is the result of an agreement that was made by the 
provincial government and the Indian Affairs branch of our department. This 1 
will extend greatly the work that is being done in Saskatchewan. I have here j 
also some details about what is being done at Sipanolc, at Onion Lake on the | 
North Saskatchewan. I think it is, perhaps, unnecessary to go into that now. I 
The point is that as fast as we can, with the personnel available in the fur con- « 
servation unit in the Indian Affairs branch, this program is being pushed ahead. ! 
The members of the department are very enthusiastic about it. They feel that I 
it is one of the greatest contributions that can be made for the welfare of the [ 
Indians in the less populated districts.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. I would like to ask a question about No. 8, but if it has been answered 

before I shall let it drop. My question with regard to No. 8 is this: take the ! 
case of far-off places in British Columbia, like the Queen Charlotte Islands, ■ 
where Indians rent places; have any steps been taken to have more direct 
methods of payment made rather than have those rentals come all the way to 
Ottawa and go back?—A. No, sir, it still has to be done in that way.

Q. You are looking into the matter, I hope, to see if some better system 
can be developed?—A. Except to speed up the collection and ship it to Ottawa 
and speed it up here by faster action from the Treasury there is nothing we can 
do until the Audit Act is amended or the Indian Act is amended.

The Chairman : Let us refer to the 1947 record. No. 1 has been taken 
care of. Now, No. 2: “That a commission, in the nature of a claims commis­
sion, be set up with the least possible delay to inquire into the terms of all 
Indian treaties, in order to discover and determine such rights and obligations 
as may therein be involved, or any subsequent substitution therefor, and to 
appraise and settle in a just and equitable manner any claims or grievances 
arising thereunder.”

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, it was our view that this was a matter which 
was a serious item of government policy and that the Department, as such, 
would not be in any position to set up such a commission. Whether it would be 
advisable to have a commission or not is something, regardless of our view, 
■which w'ould have to be decided by the government.

The Chairman: No. 3: “That the questions involving band membership 
be left for definition and determination during the 1948 session when the Indian 
Act is next examined and considered;” —I presume there is no comment there.

No. 4: “That immediately parliament next reassembles a special joint 
committee be constituted with powers similar to those granted your committee 
on the 13th of February last;” —I suppose there is no comment there, either?

No. 5: “That the matter of enfranchisement of Indians be left for further 
consideration when the Indian Act is under revision;” —I assume there is no 
comment.

The Witness: This is one of the eleven.
Thp Chairman: No. 6: “Certain Indian bands resident on ‘lands reserved 

for Indians’, particularly in the province of Quebec, are compelled to pay taxes 
other than those imposed by dominion legislation. It is therefore recommended 
that a reference be made to the proper court to determine the legality of any 
taxation imposed on Indians.”

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, this is one of the two recommendations on 
which no action has been taken. No action has been taken although it has 
been under review by the responsible officers of the department for some time-
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It has 'been pointed out by those officers that itms difficult, if |^t ™I^SSimpôsts 
make out a case which would cover he ^numerable *£that inP the 
that vary from province to provmce. We hâve a suggest^ ^ courtg
province of Quebec, for example, specffic cases ha ^ ^ <)f thc difficulties 
and judgments have been rendered. It J +] Trirticuiar provincial tax being 
is to obtain a ruling as to whether or not the p . 102 0f the Indian
dealt with is or is not a tax within the meaning of mtioniuoii 
Act. That is a matter again which I think we will have to have lega 
upon. I am not competent to comment on it.

By Mr. Harkness: , _w vnu
Q. Has any case actually been taken to the ^prem^ Cum ^ add in

might call a reference but not a court itiling: A . taken onc 0f these 
answer to that point this fact that assuming that londations in 1947, it 
cases to the courts since the committee made' its i ' * alterations or
would still be under consideration m some court a the tmie « ^ wquW be
amendments to the Indian Act are to be made. amendments to
more expeditious to leave this whole thing to be treated m th ,f ^
the Indian Act than it would be to take any speclh ‘ ,"' ec-fic casè and would
could push that through quickly it would only cove ^1^ covered m
hot cover fifteen others. So we are hoping t < , , ieavin<T it to therecommendation No. 6 can be handled most ^  ̂VlndUn Act 
action of this committee in its proposed gnun< , j be determined, Q. It seems to me it is a constitutional .“^f^^Xtweln the provinces 
by the Supreme Court; it is a matter of dmsion 1 ^ make to the Indian
and the dominion essentially, and any ame,nb™e.h vin‘ial governments.—A. 
Act will have no effect upon taxes imposed by the provincial g
I am not a lawyer, but I would be mchned o i pler to have it
, Q. I am not a lawyer either.-A. -that£ is after the changes
brought up after the Indian Act goes into c madc ’on the basis of the
m the Indian Act go into effect, and have a decision made
ncw Act. , , ,w mnttcr to take the matter to

Q. As you say, it is going to be a leng done fche better; but I cannot 
the Supreme Court, and I think the soonei tha , difference,
see that the amendments made are going to ■nuu that some case will

The Chairman: Is it your proposal, Dr. - ^vdj put through this
be stated to the Court based upon legislation vhich
committee?

The Witness: That would be my suggestion, ^ whether this would 
, Mr. Blackmore: Mr. Chairman, I have bee know what attitude the
be an appropriate question to ask? I ,woul“ , Hx:ng Indians; whether or 
department as a whole takes towards this matter demands of the govern- 
n°t they are disposed to defend the Indian aga » neutral view? Perhaps 
^ents to tax them or whether they take more or that considering
»at is an unfair question; if so I withdraw it, but 1 ^
the treaties as they stand it is a monstrous o 8 d am entitled
, The Witness: Mr. Chairman, I am not sure JJ**"*, 
to go as an official in expressing a personal p , eblK position. Probably 
. . Mr. Blackmore: Do not put yoursel m an e tbe question. I think

is because I wanted to express mysel ‘ guaranteed to the Indians they 
Personally, considering the treaties in w 11 , j..be Minister of Finance is
w°uld not be taxed, that the present ^ttitude ^ matter how many
c.°mpletelv reprehensible in taxing Indians. and in most cases
Acts_ we pass or how we change Acts the treats a ^ ^ ^ ,ag >he sun shone 
the Indians consider those treaties w 8 grass is growing,
and the grass grew. The sun is still shining ana &
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The Chairman: And “the rivers flow”; do not forget that.
Mr. Blackmore: That is right. I think we ought to give quite a lot of 

recognition to that.
The Chairman : I do not want to get into any argument, but I was 

wondering in what particular has the federal government imposed taxation except 
to tax income earned “off reserve”?

Mr. Blackmore: That is sufficient.
The Chairman : You will find disagreement there. Let us not get into a 

discussion on that point.
By Mr. Harkness:

Q. Have you secured a legal opinion from the Department of Justice in 
regard to how you should proceed to have one of these matters brought up and 
have the authorities decide as to the rights of the provinces and the dominion 
to tax Indians?—A. Not to my knowledge. That may be corrected by the 
legal officers of the department, but not to my knowledge.

Q. I would suggest that should be done immediately.
Mr. Richard: That is a pretty big question. If an Indian claims he is not 

taxable because of treaties then no matter to what court we go, even if it is the 
Supreme Court of Canada, they would have to deal with the treaties, not with the 
powers of the provinces or the dominion to tax them. If the provinces have 
power according to the B.N.A. Act then you have to go back further and see 
whether we had the right to give them those powers if by treaty we could not 
do so.

Mr. Blackmore: Very well said.
Mr. Reid: It goes further than that because in the province of British 

Columbia we had no treaties at all. Indians may fish for food. No licence 
is required; but there are Indians who are I am told making $10,000 to $15,000 
a year from fishing. They have got to take out a licence for which they have 
to pay. One just cannot give a broad answer and say no taxation of Indians 
because in B.C. we have no treaty with the Indians. The Indians in that 
province have no treaty at all. They are in a special class by themselves.

Mr. Richard : Then you would not have to deal with treaties, but where 
there are treaties existing before the B.N.A. Act that would be a different 
situation.

The Witness: If I may add a further word, it seemed to be apparent to 
the officers of the department that it was the general view of the committee that 
an inviolability of the Indians from taxation, to put it that way, would be 
strengthened in the revision of the Act. In other words, in the revised Act there 
would be something stronger than article 102 in the present Act, and that if the 
matter is going to be put before the court it would be better to do it under a 
stronger and clearer section than the one we have at present. That may be a 
wrong interpretation of the facts but that was the way we felt about it.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. I think the point the committee had in mind in making the recom­

mendation was that one of the great complaints of the Indians was as to 
being taxed unjustly, as they believe, and without right, and it was one of the 
duties of the department to satisfy that complaint as far as possible by providing 
funds to take cases to the courts in the respective provinces, if that were 
necessary, which I presume it would be, to get the matter settled.—A. Under the 
present clause in the Act it seemed to us it would be not a question of just one 
case but it would be a question of a dozen cases or more because of all the 
different kinds of taxes. We were expecting that in the revised Act the clause 
would be so clarified that it might perhaps be handed in a single case. We were 
quite apprised of the fact that it would eventually end up in the courts anyway,
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but we thought it would be a much better case from the standpoint of the Indians 
?nd of the department, which would be representing the Indians in this case, 

we had a better statute base to go on.
Q. The point is the committee made a recommendation and as far as I can 

see nothing has been done about it. The department took it upon themselves to 
decide they would not carry it out.—A. I said at the beginning that this was one 
°f the two cases in which we did not carry out the recommendation.

The Chairman :
No. 7. That encroachment of persons other than Indian upon lands 

reserved for Indians is not viewed with favour by either the members of the 
Indian band concerned, nor by the Indian Affairs branch. It is recom­
mended that the Indian Affairs branch take immediate steps, consistent 
with the wishes of the Indian bands concerned, to remove from Indian 
reserves all persons other than Indians who reside in, or carry on business 
on an Indian reserve.

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, may I draw attention to the clause that it 
18 recommended that the Indian Affairs branch take immediate steps, consistent 
with the wishes of the Indian bands concerned.” It is our desire as, of corn se, 
*t was the view of the committee, that no additional encroachment should take 
Place on the Indian reserves, and that as many people as possible who were now 

the Indian reserves improperly should be taken off. We have run into 
difficulties in trying to carry out those two views, although we have done oui 
best in relation to both of them. It has been difficult for one reason, because 
°i the housing situation.

By Mr. MacNicol:
, Q. What?—A. The housing situation. If we had forced all of the persons 

"ho are now on Indian reserves to go off it would have been difficult in many 
cases to find alternative places for them to stay. Also in many cases it was 
contrary to the wishes of the Indians themselves that the people should be sent 
°b- Consequently, consistent with the wishes of the Indian bands concerne , 
w was not felt that we should take any overt action at this particular time o 
$Ce that they were pushed off. . , , , 1; , ,
, Finally in a good many cases there were leases which had been estât is 
, .chore the committee made this recommendation, and which iaie jc '0 
«me to run. Obviously we could not violate the terms of those leases. L mg- 
§cst that this recommendation has been carried out although v 
pared to settle for the statement that it was partially carried out.

By Mr. Bryce:
n Q- Do you run into the problem where you have got good ‘o'-, 

lr°ugh a reserve and you cannot possibly control the flow o 
°ad has been built through an Indian reserve?—A. Quite tiuo.

s running
a

am afraid I cannot giveBy Mr. MacNicol:
Q. Have many been removed?—A. I am sorry; I 

articulars as to that. . „
Q- Have any been removed from any reservation.

7n Mr. Jackson: At Maniwaki there is a man who had no man
w, haver. f wc 1C111UVUU 1UUJL U1 Jive-

ri,r the investment he had in his property, u»™ — have in
rVne it in some cases, but Caughnawaga is the very wo . ^ palities&ada from that point of view. We were asked by the»lnd^Xve Ste
Who h WC Put ,thfe peopl,c oiT wherHC W0Uindhwhog°areTdependent upon the lease 
» ® bave made leases who are widows and who a I . ieeeces 0ff
§eontal for their livelihood. They are very much against putting the le.s . •

y°u have two conflicting opinions there.
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Mr. Reid: Were you requested by the Indians to remove them?
Mr. Jackson : At Caughnawaga, yes. One faction of the Indians wanted 

us to move them. Four or five years ago we had a Commission that went down 
there to investigate and it spent two weeks going into all the cases. We started 
to take action to get them off. Then when the war came a lot of these people 
living on the reserve were working in factories and they said, “Do not put 
them off or they will be moving away from these factories which want labour.” 
We stopped that action at that time.

Mr. Case: The leases that the gentleman refers to are made with the Indian 
band and with the approval of the department?

Mr. Jackson: Some of those leases run for four or five years and in some 
cases ten years. We are trying to keep them down to a shorter period but 
there are cases where the tenant has a ten-year lease on the Indian reserve.

Mr. MacNicon: I should like to ask if any families have been removed 
from the Mission Point reservation on the Restigouche. When I visited that 
reservation there seemed to be a good deal of contention on the reservation about 
it being taken up too much by white families.

Mr. Jackson: I could not answer that question.
Mr. Hoey: I do not think so.
The Chairman:

No. 8. That the whole matter of the education of Indians be left over 
for further consideration. In the meantime, however, it is recommended 
that all educational matters, including the selection and appointment of 
teachers in Indian schools be placed under the direct and sole responsibility 
of the Indian Affairs branch.

The Witness: The first sentence, of course, is merely a direction of the 
committee to itself. With regard to the rest we are moving as rapidly in that 
direction as possible. All appointments as Indian teachers now are being made 
by the department, and in accordance with the standards set by the department.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Are you taking steps to fill vacancies that have existed in certain schools 

in British Columbia for a year or a year and a half?—A. Yes, sir, we have 
done everything of that sort we can, and at the present time I think there is just 
one vacancy in the whole Indian school set-up. I should add that it is impos­
sible to divorce the system immediately and completely from the system of 
teacher nomination by the churches because there are some places where up 
to the present it has proven exceedingly difficult to get teachers who will go in 
except through a missionary urge which usually finds its expression through 
membership in the teaching establishment of one or other of the churches. That, 
combined with the fact that it is the duty of the department to provide a 
teacher of a particular denomination in an area where the students are pre­
dominantly of that denomination, has resulted in our being prepared to accept 
nominations from the churches provided that the teacher in question comes up 
to the educational standards that we insist on for all of our teachers at the 
present time. The situation has been eased a good deal by the introduction of 
a new scale of payment for teachers in the Indian day schools. That has gone 
up very markedly in the last year, and as a result it is much easier now to get 
competent teachers than it was before. I hope that that favourable condition 
will continue.

By Mr. MacNicol:
Q. Are there many of your Indian schools vacant now?—A. No, sir, only 

one vacancy in Indian schools at the present time.
Q. Pardon?—A. There is just one vacancy.
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Q. Only one in the whole Indian school educational system?—A. A\e 
are short of schools, but the schools we have are being staffed.

Q. Have you a teacher at Moose Lake?—A. I do not know.
Q. Northern Manitoba.
Mr. Hoey: I should think so. The last time I heard we had.
The Chairman :

No. 9. That the administration of all aspects of Indian affairs should 
be under one ministerial head.

Mr. MacNicol: I agree with that, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman : Shall we leave that?
Mr. Case: I presume that is government policy, too.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. I might ask if to your knowledge there have been any conversations 

9r anything else done in connection with bringing that about?—A. I think 
| will have to rely on the statement that is a matter of government policy and 
bat I am not competent to report on it.

The Chairman :
No. 10. The director of the Indian Affairs branch should be given the 

status, if not the rank, of deputy minister to permit him to have direct 
approach to his and other departmental heads; or, he should be named 
a commissioner who shall rank as a deputy minister and who shall have 
at least two assistant commissioners of whom one should be a Canadian 
of Indian descent.

By Mr. MacNicol:
A Q. Which would be more effective, a deputy minister or a commissioner?— 

■ The first part of that is definitely government policy, and again I am not 
0fopetent to comment. On the latter part of it I think we have accomplished 

^°uiething that would at least justify us in saying the views of the committee 
lave been partially carried into effect. Immediately following the receipt of 

,e committee’s recommendation on this subject the question was viewed in 
,e'ation to the departmental organization, and as a result a new semor official 
^s, been appointed with the title of superintendent of welfare. He has been 
..led to the headquarters staff and is one of the four major assistants o ie 
Rector of the branch. That is a partial compliance with what the committee 
Commended in the second part of their recommendation.

fill flip hmviY)nw •

h Q. Who it that?—A. The person I have in mind is Major MacKay who was 
fead of the Indian service in the province of British Columbia and who came 
I0 Ottawa to take the post of superintendent of welfare. I should 1add’ 1 
i Sard to the appointment of an Indian to one of the senior p< » s>

been and still are looking for a person who would be competent to fill 
mat job, but we feel that it would be a very great mistake to appoint an In chan 

one of the senior positions unless we had a man vhon , m ;+
Sng to make good. If you put in an Indian who proved to be a failure it 
8e ^bt have a serious effect on the whole procedure of using . " ■
g lce- The department is very much in favour of having _ favour 
0t lce in every position they can competently fill, but- ^ 

butting them into positions where they would not ■ e , -n„
m berly anj consequently bring discredit on the who e p
uuians.



54 SPECIAL JOINT COMMITTEE

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. As far as the first part of the recommendation is concerned while it is im­

possibly a matter of government policy I think you can tell us whether or not , 
it has been done. I do not think that enters into the matter of government 
policy—A. It has not been done. The director of the branch is still the director, j 
I may say he acts as a deputy minister very frequently with my complete 1 
approval, but his official title is still director.

Q. That is to say, he has not been given the status. This recommendation 
was that he should be given the status if not the rank of a deputy minister.— I 
A. I am not entirely clear as to what is meant by the status. I think perhaps I 
it would be fair to say that Mr. Hoey as director of the Indian Affairs branch I 
has a degree of control over the activities of his branch that would be approxi­
mately equal to that of a deputy minister in another department.

Q. The idea of the committee as I remember it, and as stated here, was I 
to permit him to have direct approach to his and other departmental heads. I 
Has he the right of direct approach to you and/or other departmental heads?—A. I 
Yes. There is nothing to prevent the director of the Indian Affairs branch I 
approaching our minister, and he does it very frequently, and similarly I would I 
assume he would have equal access to the minister of another department, if I 
he felt it necessary to communicate with him.

.

By the Chairman:
Q. In other words, Dr. Kecnleyside, you and the members of the committee I 

feel the same, that, where possible, red tape is now cut.—A. As far as our I 
department is concerned we are trying to get rid of it entirely.

By Mr. MacNicol:
Q. I was going to ask a question in reference to something said about 

qualifications. We had a man before us a year ago, Judge Martin.
The Chairman: He is a magistrate.
Mr. MacNicol: Magistrate—a very capable man, and apparently a man 

who is giving great service in that field of activity. He ought to be one worthy 
of consideration.

The Witness: I should like to speak off the record. (Off the record).
The Chairman:

No. 11. That Indians who are qualified for any position in the admin­
istration of Indian affairs, at any level, be given a preference for appoint­
ment to such positions within that administration for which they qualify 
or are suited.

Mr. MacNicol: I think that is perhaps where I should have asked about 
Magistrate Martin.

The Witness : I think from what I have said in connection with the last 
recommendation it is clear that the department is very anxious that Indians 
should be employed, and that we are desirous of carrying out this recommenda­
tion. In fact, we have carried it out to this extent that we have asked the 
Civil Service Commission to include in the qualifications in the competitions for 
appointment as assistant Indian agent a preference for persons of Indian racial 
origin. In addition to that we have carried on an active recruiting campaign 
for Indians to be employed in the schools. At the present time there are in the 
Indian Affairs branch a total of 91 persons of Indian origin. Of these 36 are 
school teachers. The remainder are employed in administrative jobs of one 
kind or another.

By Mr. Richard:
Q. Has there been an increase in Indian teachers during the last year?—A- 

Yes, sir, a very marked one. I cannot give you the figures.
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Mr. MacNicol: They do very well, do they ?
Mr. Hoey: Yes, very well. We have 5 at normal this year taking training 

assisted by the department.
The Chairman:

No. 12. That when the director of Indian Affairs becomes aware that 
an Indian agent shortly will be leaving the service, he should, in ample 
time before the said agent retires, request that the Civil Service Commis­
sion select and appoint a successor to the said agent, so that there shall be 
no interruption in the carrying out of the duties of that most important, 
office in Indian administration, that of Indian agent.

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, immediately on the receipt of this recom­
mendation of the committee the matter was taken up with the Civil Service 
Commission, and on the 29th of May last year the commission indicated that it 
Was prepared to accept recommendations of the department for the immediate 
placement of officers commencing leave prior to superannuation. YV e have 
carried out entirely what the committee recommended.

By Mr. Bryce:Q. There will not be any time where there will be a six months wait? A.
six months’ wait.

How long has that beenBy Mr. MacNicol:
Q. You have an agency adjacent to The Pas.

vacant?Mr. Hoey: The agent died a few months ago, and the appointment has been 
l!1ade. I am not sure whether it has been announced.

The Chairman: I wonder if we could keep our remarks on a gencial level, 
h&t is to say, not get into particular phases of the administration.

Mr. Bryce: That is in Manitoba. It is important.
The Chairman: I agree with you, none more important.

No. 13. That the retiring leave of any agent or officer in Indian 
administration be granted to him simultaneously with payment to him 
in a lump sum of his leave payments instead of retaining him on the 
payroll pending actual retirement. This in order that the position may be 
filled without delay by the person selected and appointed to succeed the
retiring agent or officer.

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, on the 19th February of this year the 
treasury Board ruled that, in such a case, a temporary appointment may be 
jjade without reference to the board. I think that covers the point upon which 

fle committee made its recommendation.
The Chairman:No. 14. That whenever possible a vacant position of Indian agent be 

filled by the promotion of an assistant agent who will have had the 
opportunity of receiving training in all the duties of an < g ■> 

.The Witness: That, Mr. Chairman, is being carried out as a regular part 

departmental policy.
By Mr. Richard: , T ,. , ,,b Q- Does not that conflict with your ruling or decision that an Indian should

there were a suitable person available in the agency he would be promoted

6879—4
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whether he was an Indian or not, unless there was some very good Indian candi-. 
date against him and no other place in which the Indian candidate could be , 
put. Up to the present, we have not been in that happy position because the J 
number of available Indian candidates of proper quality has not been very 
great.

By Mr. Case:
Q. I think Dr. Keenleyside said this morning the department is endeavour­

ing to bring the farm superintendents or supervisors along— —A. Farm ; 
instructors.

Q. —as assistant agents ; might those two policies eventually clash or, I 
suppose a person could be appointed a full agent if the occasion arose?—A. You 
mean jump up from farm instructor to deputy agent?

Q. You are going to make him a deputy agent?—A. The natural procedure I 
would be for him to go from farm instructor to assistant agent- and then be ! 
reclassified to agent. Wherever possible, we are doing that.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. How many of these positions of Indian agent have actually been filled I 

by promotion of the assistant agent or clerk, whatever the case may be?—A. I 
cannot answer that, but I should not think there would be very many as this I 
particular recommendation only came in last year.

Mr. Bland: I can answer that. Since the last report of the committee, 13 Jj 
agents have been appointed. Of these 13, two were assistant agents The reason $ 
for the comparatively small number is that, so far, there are comparatively few | 
assistant agents. As the number of assistant agents increases, the promotions f 
will increase also.

Mr. Harkness : Were any of those 13, people who had been clerks?
Mr. Bland: Two of them: the rest were from outside the service.
The Chairman :

No. 15. That in view of the fact that Indian reserves are widely scat- ' 
tered across Canada and in view of the diversity of the problems con- ;• 
fronting those charged with the administration of Indian affairs, the j 
Indian Affairs Branch should be decentralized and regional directors be | 
appointed to look after and to determine such matters as appropriately j 
falls in their particular region or jurisdiction.

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, since this recommendation was made the posi­
tion of Inspector of Indian Agents in the various provinces has been reclassified 
in accordance with the recommendation and the persons occupying the new posts 
are called regional supervisors of Indian agencies. This reclassification brought 
with it an increase in salary and an increase in responsibility.

In addition to that, provision has been made for two regional supervisors 
in the province of Ontario instead of one inspector, as was the case before. It 
is now the general policy of the department to put in regional supervisors in 
each of the provinces, and more than one where it is essential to have more than 
one. It is also our policy to give to them a very much increased degree of 
responsibility for the activities of the agent and other Indian officials in the 
province.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. What increased powers have been given to these regional supervisors?— 

A. The regional supervisor is reporting conditions directly to the head office. In 
other words, instead of having, as originally, a small degree of responsibility 
for what goes on in the various agencies, they now have a very large measure of 
responsibility. If conditions do not develop properly in any Indian agency in 
the area under their control, they are responsible for that.
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Q. Is the situation now that the agent makes his reports which he formerly 
made to headquarters here, to the regional supervisor or docs îe s 1 m 
to headquarters? •

Mr. Hoey: His quarterly reports are still made to Ottawa. In a great many 
cases a copy goes to his regional supervisor.

Mr. Bareness: What I am trying to get at is, what real increase has there
been in his powers? What real decentralization has there been : 0 ,
tape has been saved? How much more rapid and direct action can he secured, 
if any?

Mr. Hoey: Well, I do not know that I can explain in a sentence or two 
just what has been done. For example, up until a year or tv'° a£0’ p , 
conferences of Indian agents were unknown. Since this commit e - >
have had a number of them. There was one last year m Ontario, o Q 
City; one in each of the prairie provinces and one in British Columbia.

To these provincial conferences we send out one or two o < j
department and problems are discussed and responsibility ?s 1 c , , j x 
addition to that we have been bringing to Ottawa—-we ha\e jus Mhcrta is 
Weeks with the Inspector for Saskatchewan and the supems " Wp w;ii
on his way to Ottawa now. We discuss the whole provincial P U 
discuss it with Mr. Gooderham when he comes down. H we

At the moment, we are putting the emphasis on increased prcKluction.e We
say to him, “Now, you undertake this and go ahea • cutting down
steadily increasing the responsibility and, shall I sa. , •
the red tape 'by personal contact. arran, , QO fpwpr

Mr. Harkness : Has the practical effect been îa c 
Otters to write or more? , ., „_nHOT1+ r:m,. flrP

Mr. Hoey: I would say that the Indian agents a m(Ldousiy 
writing more letters because their work has increase ' to

Mr. Harkness: That was My information, that they had many more

Mr. Hoey: Last year, we distributed three 'Mmiliis1 were°paid
'u family allowances to 18,500 individual families... . ^-nd That is a 
through the agent; some were paid direct; others we P.^ of fche branch 0f 
tremendous responsibility, the disbursement b\ 
three and three-quarter million dollars.

Mr. MacNicol: In cash? Veterans’ Land Act
Mr. Hoey: In cash and in kind. phen, t ieie is ^ .gt starting in now

fhich has led to a great deal of correspondence £dch will be under-
t° circularize the agents concerning the next lnci r
taken next year. ,. „ oc ,.rpni statistics officers for the
n In addition to that the agents are acting^ - -n eacb province. We •
pureau of Statistics and for the vital statistics /? afijures_to the staffs of the 
have added tremendously—Mr. Bland may ha\ < an °a<,ent and no clerk now 
agencies in Canada. . Agencies which had o » tenographer grade 1.
have, in some cases, a clerk grade 3, a clerk grade - ana
ln that way, we are helping them out. bave had a complete unit

Reference will be made later to the fac . This survey stretched
frvey made. Probably Mr. Bland will deal wan a. ^ detcrmine the work at 
from the Atlantic to the Pacific and was made m ^ work effectively. 
a given agency and the staff required to e. . aiming was this : I have
„ , Mr. Harkness: The general point at which !»«*» ^ u „ for that 
gained the impression—which may or f QUently, where an agent used
cason I am asking the question tha . • „ , be now has two letters tc 
0 have one letter to write to you people in Whilst there has been a

Wr*e, one to the regional supervisor and one to >ou.
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supposed decentralization, actually there has probably been no greater power 
given to the regional superintendent to make decisions on the spot. For example, 
if an agent wants to repair a school and spend $300 on it, he has to write to you, 
as I understand it, to get authority to do that. He cannot write to the super­
intendent or call him on the telephone and say, “Here, a hurricane last night took 
the roof off the school and we have to get it replaced immediately or the children 
cannot go to school”. He has to write to you to get authority. I understand 
the supervisor has no authority to tell him to go ahead in such a case. Is that 
correct?

Mr. Hoey: If the roof were blown off the school?
Mr. Harkness: I just took that as an example.
Mr. Hoey: If the school Xvcre burnt down, he would have to communicate 

with us immediately. I do not know that I could give him the authority to 
proceed, nor could the deputy minister or the minister, for the simple reason that 
our estimates are made after we receive the estimates from the field.

The Indian agent at The Pas for instance, sends in his estimates. In those 
estimates he makes provision for the repair and upkeep of the school ; wood or 
coal for heating the school ; repairing the roads and so on. If he exceeds that 
estimate then the whole matter has to be reviewed here. We have to determine 
whether or not there is money available to meet that emergency. Three hundred 
dollars would not be serious, but a couple of thousand dollars would be, in case 
the school were burnt.

Mr. Harkness: How much money has an agent authority to spend without 
referring to anybody?

Mr. Hoey: It would depend upon whether the item under review was in his 
estimates or not.

Mr. Harkness: In an emergency, could he spend $10 or $20 or $25? What 
is the limit he could spend in an emergency?

Mr. Hoey: I think if it were an emergency such as the breakdown of his 
car on the road or something like that, he could spend whatever was necessary 
to put it in shape.

Mr. Harkness : There is a limit to what he could spend without reference 
to a higher authority?

Mr. Hoey: Yes.
Mr. Harkness : What is it?
Mr. Hoey: I would say about $200.
Mr. Harkness: That is the limit on an agent. Has the area supervisor a 

further limit to which he can go?
Mr. Hoey: $500.
Mr. Harkness: Is that the same limit as prevailed before you made these 

changes?
Mr. Hoey: I think that a few years ago—well I do not know that they 

had authority to make any expenditure other than in an emergency.
Mr. Harkness : To bring it down to this particular matter, since the 

appointment of these district supervisors is the limit any different than it was 
'before these people were converted from inspectors of agencies to district 
supervisors?

Mr. Hoey: When the present regulations were worked out there was only 
one senior officer in the field who could spend $500 without reference to Ottawa 
and that was Major MacKay in British Columbia. We are gradually extending 
that to all the supervisors.

Mr. Harkness: Is the general direction in which we are moving towards 
the position where an agent could, say, telephone his supervisor or send him a 
letter to which he will get an answer in the course of two days instead of
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several days when he sends it to Ottawa, and thus get matters settled without 
laving to refer to an officer in Ottawa? Is that the general direction in which 

we are moving?
Air. Hoey : After Mr. Matterton goes back, I should like the deputy to 

read his statement concerning Saskatchewan. Mr. Matterton will be in 
a Position to call in his Indian agents, if he wishes to call them in, or com­
municate with them by letter and tell them exactly what next year’s program is.

Mr. Gooderham, after he comes down here and we review the Alberta 
nogram with him, intends to call in his superintendents and assistants. He 
„ 1 "ien 'be able to tell them exactly what the year’s program is and give them 

clear board, if you want to call it that, to go ahead. That is the procedure 
we are following.
i Mr. Harkness: Do you think any considerable amount of this letter writ- 
_ R to Ottawa is going to be cut out, and the consequent delay before anything 
can be done?
r ^Ir. Hoey: I think the letter writing is going to increase for the simple 

ason we are doing substantially more work. It is amazing to me the additional 
amount of work we are doing.

Phis morning I received a statement that .150 or 160 families in the south 
lnes Bay area will receive this year a $1,000 per family from the Abitibi beaver 
^erve. That will be paid to them in three or four payments. This is an 

ntirely new source of wealth. It is a source of wealth which, ten years from 
°w> may mean $3,000 per family.

+) ^B'. Harkness : You are going around my question, Mr. Hoey. You say
'ere will be more letters to write because there will be more business. Assuming 
1(Te's not more business, are these new appointments you arc making going to 

w'n CC t!ie amo.unt of letter writing to Ottawa and therefore increase the speed 
Bh which decisions can be made ; that is what I want to know?

Mr. IIoey: If the Indian program is going to be carried out the way I 
j ®l,id like to see it carried out, it is going to result in more letter writing but 
c]S?j unnecessary letter writing. Let me refer again to family allowances. A 
W'\n <^es> an^ unless that death is quickly reported the payments continue.
p recovery is simply impossible. A child is born and if it is not immediately 

j c un the list, if it is not immediately qualified for allowances, we get a protest. 
n pat way, our work is gradually extending.

-p, ^ e have 50 additional class rooms and, perhaps next year there will be 85.
j U:fv >s the appointment of teachers and communications with regard to that, 

will bring over figures showing you how the receipt of letters has steadily 
creased from day to day.

How, there is no great objection to that, provided unnecessary corrcspond- 
uce has been avoided.

Mr. Harkness: We are still not getting at my essential point. I think the 
eason the committee made this recommendation last year was because of the 
widence given by Mr. Zimmerman from the United States Indian Department.

18 evidence was to the effect that the United States central office handles the 
ti^nces in a broad way; the general policy and that is all. What you might call 

ers of administration, actually, were carried out under the area 
have forgotten the name by which they are known in the 
The point I am trying to get at is, arc you moving in that

The Witness: May I answer that? Is not the reply inherent in what 
l r- Hoey said? A year ago there was one supervisor in the Indian Affairs 
Ianch, in the field, who could spend up to $500 and now there arc six.

» Mr. Harkness : Yes, I asked a question in regard to that matter. I think 
nat's an indication you are moving in that direction. Then, I wanted an answer 

6879—5

minor
supervisors—I 
juted States. 
Section?
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to the general question as to whether you were moving in that general direction. 
We had in mind that there should be a greater decentralization of authority so 
agents would not have to send letters in to head office on minor administrative 
matters. All that would be avoided if these officials would be given greater 
authority. Because of the greater responsibilities put upon them, they were to 
receive bigger salaries when they were converted into superintendents. The 
area supervisor, having been given a bigger job, would have a great deal more 
of what you might call the routine work delegated to him. Previously, it had 
to go through head office. Our idea was to take that work out of the head office 
so that the people at head office would have more time to spend on what you 
might call the important matters of administration and policy.

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, that certainly is the intention in the re­
classifications which have been set up and it is progressively becoming the 
practice. I think it is fair to say it is certainly more the practice at present than 
it was a year ago.

Mr. Richard: The fact you have given them more authority to spend 
without reference to Ottawa gives them more decisions to make in, the field 
which would, otherwise, be referred to Ottawa?

The Witness: Certainly.
Mr. Case: Mr. Hoey said that the regional supervisor has authority to 

spend up to $500 in case of an emergency. Is that for his provincial jurisdiction 
or is that- for any one reserve?

Mr. Hoey: It is for any need that might arise.

By Mr. MacNicol:
Q. Mr. Hoey and Dr. Keenleyside spoke about the number of deputies or 

assistant supervisors who have been apponted. May I ask this question ; how 
many of them were Indians?—A. None at all, sir, in the top category. I am not 
sure just what you are referring to, but if you are referring to the regional 
supervisors we have been talking about, none of them were Indians.

Q. Quite a few of them have been added to the service.
Mr. Hoey : We appointed an assistant Indian agent at Oka, Quebec, and 

there is a competition now just closed at Six Nations and there were four Indian 
applicants. 1 cannot say definitely, but I am sure that an Indian will be ap­
pointed assistant agent to the superintendent at Brantford. The announcement 
may he made at any time.

Mr. MacNicol: That will be a fine step in the right direction. I was speak­
ing about supervisors.

The Chairman: No. 16; that is the same as No. 6 in the 1946 report. 
Probably we could skip that.

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, I would like to make a statement about that, 
if I may, because I think we have some information that may be useful to put 
before the committee.

The Chairman : Before doing that I wonder if I could remind the committee 
that we will be closing at 6 o’clock and we will have to determine when we are 
going to continue with this evidence if we are not finished by that time. 
Tomorrow morning, 1 believe, will be out, but probably tomorrow afternoon 
could be arranged for, if that is agreeable, say, at 4 o’clock. We have determined 
that we will not encroach upon the Tuesdays and Thursdays so that it will have 
to be tomorrow or Friday. Is it agreed that we meet tomorrow afternoon at 
4 o’clock?

Agreed.
The Witness: Mr. Chairman, I will not take more than two minutes on No. 

16. Mr. Hoey has already referred to the unit survey which has been carried 
out during the last year and it has resulted in the overhauling of the whole
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service. I think the committee might be inti ^ there have been ninety-
year there have been sixteen new positions ■ ^ in the total staff of the
eight, reclassifications. There has been » ; . ‘ ; f temporary employ-
branch, excluding the fluctuating staff which is taken on
ment in the summer, from 698 to 802. „ . ..a-j on it—was this

Mr. Reid: The question I had in mmendation went through the
"it is something I had in mind when this • the agent. I visited
committee. I will mention one agency witlu i ■ . | thc Indian agent, and
billoet agency and I travelled over the entile i "■ * ^ justice to the job and
1 could not see for the life of me how ^ out the duties in
yisit all the Indians and look after them a « writing letters and
the office; as Mr. Huey said, the duties in he office lt seemed
attending to correspondence, occupies all the that it was ten years
t° me that the agency there was in the sai 1 - When I was discussing 
ago before all these modern schemes came into enect. the duties in
this matter before the committee it was „ not being looked after
agencies had more than doubled. 1 he India > ' t humanly possible
and it was no fault of the Indian agent whatever It not >s Agassiz
fl°r him to go say through the Fraser canyon and come^do^ ^ H(J inay
and visit all the Indians in that district and on ce t km>w what was going
Vlsit them once a year, but he had no oppo ..h-ritory and the work in his 
°n, in his agency during the year with so la g of the Indians was being
" bee so voluminous that, in my opinion, _ i ked after. In fairness, the 
retarded or the care of the Indians n°t PrnPÇ -, eare for those Indians. I
ndian agent is doing everything humanly 1> ■ , . have been looked into and

fonld like to know whether circumstances like hat na - . that 1S
"bat has been done.. You could duplicate that in a great
n<>t an isolated case. :nted with the situation

The Witness: Although I am not perfo™1 \ , . true and is duplicated in 
a Lilloet I am sure that what Mr. Reid has* said w * dcal still t0 be done
f great many places throughout Canada. t °and assistants to Indian
ln the way of appointing additional Indian agents ana 
agents before we have a satisfactory stall.

Mr. Reid: The whole matter will be revie we . rpmmmendations already
t . The Witness: Yes. There are someverysh Columbia. 1 his is pci - 
>eing made in connection with the situation
laPs the most complicated problem of all.

'at

By Mr. Blackmore:
jfder for^n^e+We frc ?n that particular question I wonder if it would be in 
a°gree limita °i aS7. this question : Does the administration feel to any serious 
amp]e firm* . , T financial considerations in extending the work or have you 
both truthMia Provision?—A. I think I can answer that in a way that will be 
bnancjai ,11 ant‘ agreeable by saying that since this committee started its work 
î)1-opCr|‘. suPPort has been available for everything we have thought we could 

Mr ^ecommerM to be undertaken.
apd y, ' . oackmore: Mr. Chairman, there is only one more thing I want to say 
oid n0î J*s .at if at any time there should be an indication that that condition 

ontinue we should be glad to be told about it.
q By Mr. Case:

s0rveV9^be field staff has been increased by 114, and you are completing vour 
* • A. Yes.

By Mr. Harkness:
boot’s . -vou ,r!akc a reclassification whose responsibility is that, the depart- 

or the Civil Service Commission?—A. The recommendations would go
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from the department to the Civil Service Commission which would either accept 
them without further investigation if they felt they were entirely reasonable or 
make a further investigation itself. I should like to say, however, that the Civil 
Service Commission sent one of its senior officers throughout western Canada 
for the purpose of reviewing the situation in the Indian Affairs services par­
ticularly, and many of these reclassifications were the result of what he recom­
mended when he came back, combined with what the department had had already 
in mind to do.

Q. Who was this official, and when did he make— —A. Mr. Orr.
Q. When did he make the survey?—A. I am afraid I cannot answer for the 

exact date.
Mr. Bland : The latter part of 1947.
Mr. Case : How long was Mr. Orr out on that survey?
Mr. Hoey: He began that survey immediately after Christmas in 1946. 

He undertook a survey not only in western Canada but throughout the country. 
I think the only agencies he has not visited arc in the Yukon, and he may have 
gone there.

The Witness: He was there.
Mr. Hoey : He has not completed the Northwest Territories fully yet. Take 

British Columbia. We have a heap of recommendations about twelve inches 
thick. Action on them was delayed awaiting the arrival of Major MacKay 
from the B.C. headquarters. It is under consideration now. Saskatchewan was 
under consideration last week. Alberta will be under consideration when our 
official comes here next week. There is a tremendous amount of work involved, 
not only in reclassifications but changed Indian agency boundaries, the drawing 
of maps ; and we are proceeding with it and we are rather encouraged.

Mr. Case: Is Mr. Orr still on that work?
Mr. Hoey: Yes, I think he must be. I get reports from him. He has been 

on it a year or so.
Mr. Harkness: In making that survey what does Mr. Orr do? Look into 

what the responsibilities of the job are and make recommendations as to what 
the classifications should be?

Mr. Hoey : I think Mr. Bland could explain what Mr. Orr’s instruc­
tions were.

Mr. Bland: The purpose of having Mr. Orr make this survey was to 
ascertain at first hand exactly what the demands of the agencies and the pro­
vincial demands were. He covered all the agencies in Canada, with the 
exception of a few in the far north, and consulted with the Indian agents, 
inspectors and the regional supervisors, as well as the head officers here ; and 
his findings were embodied in a quite voluminous report indicating, in his 
opinion, the need for considerable more staff as well as higher pay for certain 
of these classes of Indian officers. That report has gone to the depart­
ment. However, as Mr. Hoey says, the recommendations have not all been 
carried out; but the report is there indicating that more officers should be 
appointed and salaries increased ; and substantial progress has been made in 
making appointments and increasing salaries.

Mr. Harkness: I am glad to hear that the survey has been made.
Mr. Case: Is Mr. Orr a representative of the Civil Service Commission?
Mr. Bryce: Did he travel by plane?
Mr. Bland: I imagine he did on occasion.
Mr. Bryce: T am asking if he travelled bv plane and T think that is a quit® 

sensible question because if you told me he did not I was going to tell you he did 
not go to half the places.

Mr. Bland: I think he did.
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p. . Mr. Reid: I am curious to know why this responsibility was handed to the 
Service Commission.

Mr. Bland: It is a responsibility of the commission under the Civil Service 
IA? to report to the Treasury Board on departmental requests for additional 

^tan or compensation, and we felt that in this particular case it was well worth 
M'ile securing a report on the actual conditions in the field before we made our 
Recommendations. I might say that the department agreed with us on that, and

field
am quite confident that a good deal of good has been done by having actual

surveys. It is difficult in Ottawa to know how things go unless you go
out and see for yourself. ,. ,......,

Mr. Blackmore: It will be quite salutary to have a man cnuu > u 
Indian department give us his frank observations on conditions.

Mr. Bryce: I wonder if Mr. Bland could tell the committee the next time 
we meet where Mr. Orr has been.

Mr. Bland: Yes, I can do that. , , .
Mr. Harkness: As a matter of fact we might feel that it would | 

thing to call Mr. Orr at a later time and find, out first-hand ju-
Were.

I he Chairman : It will have to be at a special meeting.
^Ir. Case: I think it would well be worth a special meeting. 
The Chairman:

No. 17. That when a promotion from the staff of an agency is 
not possible, a promotion should, when practicable, be made from junioi 
officers in the district who may desire promotion and who are suited 
and qualified for a senior post.

The Witness : This is the policy of the department and is always followed 
subject to the qualifications that are embodied in the recommendation i .self.

By Mr. Reid: rviumbia. Some change was
Q. I am interested in the work in „ nd y\T, Arneil was sent to

uiade there. Mr. MacKay was brought to c' , C 0f recommendation 17.
British Columbia. It seems to me that was a and efficient men. but 1
I am not finding any fault because both are esürm I i wftg violated in that 
am wondering if there is an explanation w . 1 +pe rule was not violated
case?—A. Mr. Chairman, I submit respectfully ^ suited and qualified
because it says “when practicable and when British Columbia is, as
for a senior post. I would like to go a little nut ne . difficult situation
I have said at a previous point in this discussion m the m< the

the whole Indian Affairs set-up. became °\ CCOnomic position and their Indians there, in their status, in types. 1 a<rCncics in the province and
general activities. There is a total of se ^ jt js exceedingly difficult
something like fourteen hundred different rese , ■ hc work there is carried out 
administrative position, and in order to ensu ^ best man we can find m 
as satisfactorily as possible I think we should ** ^ Columbia myself
Ibe whole Indian service in Canada. 1 . ^ be properly considered
last autumn I met the officers there thc officers who might be con-
a.Ppointment to the post, or at least I ^ back to the department here
^dered for appointment to that post. ^ branch and with o « •
I discussed in great detail with the Rector of ^ in tbe end we came
alternatives that were available for that a, p t ved if we appointed M- 
to the conclusion that the service ^Lffinwas made and was accepted by 
ftmeil. In consequence that rec0™™ that 0n the face of it, M “• ,ha(.
tbe Civil Service Commission. I . recommendation, but
though we were stretching the bounds of this
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given the circumstances and the exceptional qualifications of the man who was 
appointed we were justified in reading into the recommendation permission to 
do what was done.

Q. I have known Mr. Arneil very well, and he had such a thorough working 
knowledge of the Indian situation in Ontario that it has always struck me that 
you would have thought there would have been someone coming along under Mr. 
Mac,Kay to succeed him in British Columbia when Mr. Arneil’s ability and know­
ledge was so valuable here.—A. One of the outstanding candidates in British 
Columbia wrho might, perhaps—I am not sure—have been given the appointment 
under other circumstances took ill just about the time the competition was at 
its height and as a result he no longer was available for the appointment; but 
it was just a matter of judgment and our judgment was in favour of Mr. Arneil.

Mr. Blackmore: Before we get away too far from the comment concerning 
the number of letters coming to Ottawa I should like to make this general 
observation that I think the authorities in Ottawa are quite sound in keeping 
their fingers on the whole situation across the country. They do not necessarily 
take over the authority and administer through the local people, but it is a 
good thing to know what is going on.

Mr. Case: If you read clause 15 you will notice that the object of it, in 
making the recommendation, as it says, was definitely to get away from 
(centralization.

Mr. Blackmore : I think that is quite true, but it does no harm to have 
the central authority in that excellent position to supervise and give leadership 
and general guidance.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. May I ask what the position of Dr. MacKay is?—A. Now?
Q. Yes.—A. He is superintendent of welfare in the head office of the 

Indian Affairs branch.
The Chairman :

No. 18. That when promotion within the staff of an agency is not 
feasible, the field of competition for applications from the general public 
should be made wide enough to ensure the selection and appointment of 
a fully qualified person.

The Witness: We have carried this out, Mr. Chairman, by arranging with 
the Civil Service Commission that in all cases of this kind the advertisement 
will be on a provincial basis and it is felt that this is wide enough to meet the 
point covered by the recommendation.

Mr. MacNicol: Will applications be open to any returned soldiers?
The Witness: They are open to anyone, but the returned soldier gets the 

preference.
The Chairman :

No. 19. That examinations whenever possible, should be conducted 
by the district offices of the Civil Service Commission rather than at 
headquarters of the Civil Service Commission at Ottawn.

The Witness: That is a question for the Civil Service Commission, but I 
happen to know that the situation is that this recommendation is being carried 
out by the commission.

The Chairman :
No. 20. That Indian agents who have undergone a period of probation 

satisfactory to the director of Indian Affairs should be made permanent 
civil servants at the end of such probationary periods.

The Witness: This is the present departmental policy.
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The Chairman :
No. 21. That, by order in council, appointments to the Indian Affairs 

administration should no longer be. subject to the 'permanent quota’ 
not in force, as imposed by the Treasury Board regulations.

By Mr. MacNicol:
Q. What does “permanent quota” mean?—A. In each department or branch 

°1 government there is a regulation made by the Treasury Board saying that 
a certain percentage of the employees may be made permanent, but not any 
persons beyond that percentage. It is a regulation that has given rise to a good 
deal of difficulty and I believe hardship in many cases in the past, and it is very 
frequently under attack by the departments.

By Mr. Bryce:
Q. Will these 114 new appointments be temporary?—A. They are all 

temporary to begin with. At the end of a year's service they may be made 
Permanent.

Q. They will be reviewed at the end of the year?—A. Yes.
By Mr. Case:

Q. Do you say that No. 21 has been adopted?—A. Well, No. 21 -the 
situation here is that at the present time the permanent quota within the Indian 
Affairs branch has not been filled because of certain peculiar conditions including 
the fact that the quota was a reasonable one to begin with. The possible number 
of permanencies has not yet been taken up, but it will be during the coming year 
and this whole question will have to be reviewed again.

By Mr. Matthews:
Q. I suppose you have not a copy of Treasury Board regulations?—A. No, 

sir.
The Chairman:

No. 22. That the preference accorded to any veteran be consistently 
accorded with regard to all appointments to positions in the administra­
tion of Indian Affairs.

The Witness: This is carried out in accordance with the provisions of the 
recommendation with the exception that there are certain cases where the 
veterans have disabilities which make it impossible to make the appointment 
I'1 at is, physical disabilities. As you know, the Indian agent in many cases 
fives a pretty heavy life and a physical disability has to be taken into 
consideration.

Mr. Harkness: This is a question in which I am particularly interested, 
y here are several appointments I would like to get more information on 1 
think, probably Dr. Keenleyside is not the right man from whom to get. the 
^formation. He probably will not be familiar with particular cases of particular 
Appointments. Is not that the case, Dr. Keenleyside?

The Witness: I am familiar with some of them, particularly if they aie 
ln the higher grades.

Mr. Harkness: I would like to go into some appointments—the Indian 
agent at Selkirk, Manitoba. Do you know anything about that .

The Witness: I do not know anything about that.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. And the agent at Lesser Slave Lake?—A. No.
Q. And the appointment of Mr. Gendron, I think it is, as 

agent for Quebec?—A. Yes, I know about that.
. Q. What can you tell us about that?—A. It is a promotion 

Position within the service.

general Indian 

from a junior
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Q. Does Mr. Gendron enjoy the veterans’ preference?
Mr. Hoey : I do not know. He was Indian agent at Maniwaki for a number 

of years. We thought of appointing him three or four years befpre but he was 
not interested in it. We finally persuaded him. He is one man we had to go 
out after. He is a particularly well qualified man. In addition to being a 
university graduate and having a thorough business training he was general 
manager of one of the most successful co-operative enterprises in the province 
of Quebec. With the Civil Service Commission we decided to call for a pro­
motional competition to take the place of the inspector, Mr. Thibeault, who 
retired a couple of years ago. A competition was held and Mr. Gendron received 
the appointment, but I do not know whether or not he is a returned soldier.

Mr. Harkness: Dr. Keenleyside has not any knowledge of that. Perhaps 
we can go into that with another witness later, so that we can finish with Dr. 
Keenleyside now.

The Chairman: No. 23.
Mr. Harkness: There is also another appointment, that of Mr. Morris. Do 

you know anything about that?
Mr. Hoey: Mr. Morris—
Mr. Harkness: I mean Dr. Keenleyside.
The Witness: No.
Mr. Harkness: We will go into that with another witness.
Mr. MacNicol: I should like to ask a question about the first sentence of 

No. 23.
The Chairman: We are on 22. Are you ready for 23?

That future appointments of officials concerned with the administra­
tion of Indian Affairs should, where practicable, be restricted to applicants 
who have had previous experience in the field. Field officers in the said 

■ administration should, from time to time, be posted to the divisional 
or headquarters office of such administration.

Mr. MacNicol: My question pertains to the first sentence. All of us have 
been impressed with Magistrate Martin for one, and there were some others 
whose names I have forgotten who have appeared before us. Would that clause 
bar men of their qualifications from being appointed to an administrative post?

The Chairman: It would not bar them.
The Witness: What clause?
Mr. MacNicol: The first sentence.
The Chairman:

That future appointments of .officials concerned with the administra­
tion of Indian affairs should, where practicable, be restricted to applicants 
who have had previous experience in the field.

The Witness: I do not think it was intended by the committee that should 
be an absolute rule.

By Mr. MacNicol:
Q. Pardon?—A. I do not believe it was intended by the committee that 

that should be an absolute rule. Otherwise they would not have put in the 
qualifying clause “where practicable”. I would think if we found a satisfactory 
Indian available for a senior appointment in the department that it would 
certainly be at least open to argument that he should be appointed rather than 
a person with field experience, depending on other qualifications.

Mr. Harkness: I think the point is covered by recommendation No. 11 in 
which we recommended that any Indian at any level be given preference if he 
qualified.
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do not think that would make it impossible to appoint Magisuar 
anyone else whom we felt should be appointe .

The Chairman. ^o. 24. . . oq? \Vp haveMr. Case: Can we have a comment from Dr. keenleyside on 23.
aot had his comment on that. _ • mav;ne

The Witness: That is quite correct. ^Ir‘f£'tse_i es 1 preference, where other 
appointments to senior posts m the head office g ^ P That is a
things arc equal, to the man who has had cxpvin. . branches of the
general regulation throughout the whole de par nn . xvurk and every-dewrtment «5 well a, Indian Affairs, have
where in the department it is and has been the po .*■> piCCCnt examples 
°ther things are equal, to those who have had îe t --I ^ course the case
of how this has worked out in the Indian Affairs brant are of*mmse,
of Major MacKay who has recently come down o ) - l j j have had
Wt in addition to that most of the senior officers c^on‘l Jones who
experience in the field. I would cite for the recor - who js superintendent
18 superintendent of family allowances and Colt ne - nffice.
of education, two of the most difficult and responsible posts in the

By Mr. Case: MacKay sought the change
Q. Would it be a fair question to ask J securing him for this

from British Columbia, or were you more interested m 
Particular post?—A. The initiative came from Here.

The Chairman: No. 24. opinion, one of the
Mr. Darkness: No, Mr. Chairman No 23 is, m y 1 ^ what is now

I’ecommendations that enters very considérai) , hich we decided this
known as the “general executive assistant” awomtaeut which n tQ it In my 
niornmg not to discuss, although there has been , ointment or attempted 
Opinion, this recommendation was set at naug 1 1 . " , to discuss the matter
aPpointment. Therefore as the decision apparc > when we are going
n°w I should like to have No. 23 stand, as it were, as we say 
°Ver the estimates, and deal with the mattei ag • we are trying

The Chairman: I do not think we are passing on 
get is information. . ,, u

Mr. Case: We hope we do not have to levicw iew them at all.
Mr. Darkness: I was hoping we would not have to

Mr. Case: Let it stand. come back to any one
The Chairman: I see no objection to that. Ve can 

these recommendations if we so desiie. 1 • . , .• n 0f Indians affairs, if
That in the best interest of the «1®“S ‘ or incapacitated, or for 

there be officials therein who are incomi ^ >offi<jialg should be super- 
any reason unable to fulfil their c without undue delay, 
annuated or retired from the servi , recommendations

., The Witness: Mr. Chairman, this is the suggestion that was made
-hat have not been carried out. It is the n _ suggests that we are getting 
0 the department by the committee. Mr. Doe «competent and who is not.

rating form which will assist in decidmg who» coil difficulty. In any 
JH however, does not seem to me to be he of a longer period of
^ganization you will have some people w ho, a gome instances, as m the 
8ervice, have moved some distance up the ladder.

to

of
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British navy, if people do not reach a certain height on the ladder at a certain 
age they are dropped and find some other occupation. There is nothing of that 
sort in the civil service set-up in Canada.

Take a hypothetical case. If you have a man who has spent 20 or 25 years 
in the public service the fact that he is not up to a high standard of competence 
at the end of that time is not a sufficient justification under civil service rules 
for asking him to resign or for putting him on superannuation. There is no 
provision by which that can be done. The result is that you have in this, as in 
other branches of the government, certain people who for maximum efficiency 
could probably be replaced by others to the benefit of the service, but what 
machinery you would use to bring that about I frankly do not know, and we 
have been unable in the department to come to any conclusion as to a way in 
which this recommendation can be carried into effect.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. In connection with people who are incompetent I can readily see the 

difficulty, but in connection With people who are incapacitated, by which I mean 
from illness or something along that, line, is there no way you can have those 
people superannuated earlier than would be the case otherwise?—A. You run up 
against this problem there, that people who have been in the service for many 
years, and who have then become incapacitated, have almost certainly built up 
a very long period of sick leave to which they are entitled, and certain other 
forms of leave which they can use during the time of their absence on account 
of incapacitation. That may run to six months. It may run to more than that- 
The mere fact that a man is out of action for say a period of six months does 
not necessarily mean that he prejudices his position in the civil service. It is 
an extremely difficult problem, and in the department we would be very glad to 
have any suggestions from the committee as to how we can get around it. Nat­
urally, we are anxious to have as efficient a branch as possible. At the same 
time we are anxious to play the game with the people who are in it, and we do 
not want to be harsh or cruel in cutting people off just because, on account of 
age or some other reason, they are not as efficient as they used to be. We have 
to try to hold some kind of balance, and even in cases where we feel people 
should, for the benefit of the service, be dropped or transferred we do not lcnoW 
how to go about it.

Q. I agree that there should not be any harshness used with regard to 
people who are incapacitated. I understood from Mr. Hoey’s evidence last year 
that apparently there were some cases of people who were incapacitated, but in 
order to enable those people to get a reasonable pension, in other words, in order 
to “play the game” by them, which I think should be done without any doubt, 
they had to be retained. There was no means by which they could be super­
annuated earlier because of their illness or physical incapacity. I was wonder­
ing if any progress had been made at all in looking after those people or finding 
some means by which they might be retired earlier, and if in actual fact any of 
them have been retired.—A. Mr. Hoey points out that in the last year there 
has been a change in the regulations which provides for deferred superannuation 
and which may have some effect on these cases, but I think the general answer 
to your question is no.

Q. Nothing has been done up to date?—A. I would rather have Mr. Blarm 
answer that than myself. I do not know what can be done.

Mr. Bland: I think the evidence given indicates the difficulty of the problem- 
It is not however impossible to effect a satisfactory retirement in the case of 
a person who is physically incapacitated, and sometimes one might go a little’ 
further and stretch the meaning of the word “physically.” ,

The two points of the problem seem to me to be, first, the maintenance m 
the efficiency of the service, which in some cases necessitates retirement, arm
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secondly fairness to the employee in question. The general tendency at the 
present time, particularly in the last year or so, has been to ease the legalities 
°f the phrase and to permit the retirement on pension of persons whose efficiency 
was no longer as good as it should be. It still is difficult but I think progress 
has been made. I can recall some cases in which retirement has been made in 
the last year on those grounds.

Mr. Harkness: Would it be possible to correct that situation by amend­
ment to the Indian Act, inasmuch as we are now • rewriting it, as far as the 
Indian department is concerned?

Mr. Bland: I think that the problem would come under the Superannuation 
Act rather than under any other Act. The committee has quite properly, and 
could again quite properly, emphasize the need for such action, but I think the 
action itself would require to be taken under the Superannuation Act.

Mr. Harkness: The only thing that this committee can deal with is the 
Indian Act as far as any amendment or revision is concerned, and I was wonder- 
lng if by revision of that Act we could deal with this problem.

Mr. Bland: Well, I cannot speak for the Department of Finance or the 
Superannuation Act, but I think it would be regarded as preferable that retire­
ments in any department of the service should be made under that Act.

Mr. Harkness: I think it would be, too.
Mr. Bland: What this committee could properly do would be to emphasize 

Ine need of fairly liberal action in that regard, particularly as far as the Indian 
Affairs branch is concerned. I do not think it is impossible to get action, but it 
does need some emphasis and some pressure to bring it about.

Mr. Harkness: Could I get an answer to my last question? Has any action 
ucen secured in any case or cases in the last year or two?

Mr. Hoey: We had one Indian agent retire as the result of illness without 
ariy compulsion. He just retired. That is the only case I can think of.

Mr. Harkness: Did he retire on pension?
Mr. Hoey: Yes.
Mr. Harkness: That is the only case you have in which action was secured.
The Chairman: Mr. Bland suggests it can be secured.
Mr. Case: Was that the result of incapacity'or inefficiency?
Mr. Hoey: No, not inefficiency.
Mr. Case: That was incapacity?
Mr. Hoey: He had coronary thrombosis.
The Witness: That, of course, can always happen. Personnel may become 

Seriously ill and retire on their own initiative, but I understood the 
j Commendation to mean that the department should take the initiate c in 
. "spelling or persuading an individual to retire because they did not think 
* was either physically capable of doing the job or that lie n as sufficient 1\ 
mcient in it. On those points it is really an exceedingly difficult matter.

By Mr. Blackmore:
-, Q. Has Dr. Keenleyside information with which to give us some sort of 

Ca about how many we have in Canada who might be characterized as being 
^.Capacitated in the Indian service?—A. Do you mean incapacitated 01 sut- 
Cently inefficient to justify action being taken? , , ,

b Q. Probably if we use incapacitated it would be more charitable and would 
e sufficiently explicit.

j Mr. Harkness: Incompetence is always a matter of argument, ou 
caPacity would be a different matter.
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The Witness: I am afraid I would not want to try to estimate the number.
I will satisfy myself, and I hope the committee, by saying I believe there are 
some.

The Chairman: No. 25.
That the project of building a central governmental hospital in 

northern Indian agencies, with nursing stations in far outlying districts, 
be proceeded with at once.

By Mr. MacNicol:
Q. Has any investigation been made as to the most suitable location which 

would serve all these northern agencies? I presume it means agencies north of 
the 60th parallel, or does it include all the northern agencies in Alberta, Saskat­
chewan and Manitoba? If so, there would only be three suitable places, 
Edmonton, Prince Albert and The Pas. Perhaps the department has been locat­
ing suitable places.—A. This really is a question for the Department of National 
Health and Welfare. About all I can do is to say that they feel they are carry­
ing out the recommendation of this committee. As you know a contract has been 
given already for a hospital at James Bay. A military hospital is being taken 
over at Brandon. There is a very large hospital at Edmonton. It is the largest 
Indian hospital in Canada. There is a hospital also at North Battleford and 
a series of other hospitals are being planned or erected at the present time 
including one at Sioux Lookout. In addition there are number of nursing 
stations in northern Ontario and in northern Manitoba and in the northwest 
territories.

Q. They use the whole of one floor at The Pas.—A. I do not know what 
the situation is there.

Q. And do they not operate a hospital at Winnipegosis?—A. There is one 
at Norway House.

Mr. Jackson : We have one at Winnipegosis.
The Chairman: No. 26.

That some statutory provision be made for the adequate care of aged, 
infirm or blind Indians; and that in the meantime rations given to Indians 
should be sufficient in quantity and quality.

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, this really refers to the matter of old age 
pensions which is a matter of government policy, a matter for government 
decision. I might say, however, we have within the last year made a very 
definite increase in the rations that are being supplied to the aged and indigent 
Indians throughout the country. It has gone up pretty nearly 100 per cent i® 
monetary value, and the situation for those poor people is very much better 
than it was. Perhaps I should not say this, but the view of the department 
certainly is that old age pensions should be paid to the Indians.

Mr. Blackmore: Hear, hear.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. I wonder if we could get not the monetary value but the actual goods j 

that these Indians get. I think every one in the committee knows that one of j 
the greatest complaints we got from the Indians was the issue of what they 
looked on as very inadequate rations to them. We have pressed in this coin' j 
mittee that the old age pension should be given to them and have desired that J 
they be treated better in the matter of the rations given to them, and so forth- j

Mr. Chairman, I wonder if the witness could give his attention to the I 
question that is being asked instead of the conversation going on there. , j

If the witness cannot give the information then we will call Mr. Hoe? I 
later and he can give the information that this witness has not got. The poi®* 
was that the monetary value of the rations issued to Indians was for a lo’1» ‘ 
time under $5 a month. Then it was around $7.50 a month or $7.20 or something |
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sise. I think we all realize that with the increase in the cost of food that if an 
increase of 100 per cent in the monetary value was given to them it might still 
leave them with very inadequate rations. I should like to get just what the 
rations issued to them now consist of.—A. I do not suppose the honourable 
member wants me to give a breakdown of the actual food that is given to the 
Indians in all the different areas of Canada that come under this because, of 
course, it varies from place to place. I think what might be offered, however, as 
a general comment on his question is this: provision is being made in this year’s 
estimates not only for the distribution of rations to the Indians in greater 
quantity and better quality than before, but in addition to that provision is 
being made for. the payment of $8 a month to indigent aged Indians in the 
coming year.

Mr. Blackmore: Eight dollars in cash?
The Witness: Eight dollars in cash in addition to the other items that are 

given.
Mr. Harkness : I wonder if at the next meeting we could have produced 

the present ration list in typically different parts of Canada, say British Colum­
bia, the prairie regions, the Northwest Territories and the maritime provinces?

The Chairman : In view of the fact that we have completed the recom­
mendations that have been made by the committee to parliament, would you 
consider it advisable to adjourn this subject until such time as the appointment 
referred to this morning has been confirmed and we are going to go back ^ for 
re-examination and questioning, rather than having to meet to-morrow? I 
Suggest we can dispense with to-morrow morning’s meeting.

Mr. Harkness: There are these various appointments which I asked about 
a.od Dr. Keenleyside has not information on and which I think will take some 
^ne to go into. '

Mr. MacNicol: I notice in your last paragraph you mention Mr. Y\ ilham 
minmerman. I wish you to know that he treated me very nicely during last 
mil, although he is not now with the Indian department. He drove me to one 
°f the reservations which he referred to last summer, and he wished to be 
1 ctticmbered to the committee.

The Chairman : Thank you very much, Mr.. MacNicol, I am sure the 
c°ttnnittec will appreciate that.

Mr. Case: We have to hear Mr. Jackson and Mr. Hoey and we might 
Set on with them if we went on tomorrow.

The Chairman : They will have to come back when we go on the next 
Httc. Could we not dispense with the meeting tomorrow ?

Mr. Blackmore: I would rather dispense with the meeting tomorrow.
Mr. Harkness: As long as there is no undue delay.
The Chairman: Speak to the Civil Service Commission about that.

By Mr. Case:
p 9* You made the statement that the department would like to see old age 
lstM1<ms ma<Ie available to the Indians. You have given some thought and 
tli * *° ttie ttiatter and you are convinced it would be one method of giving
nf°ÏÏ -an advantage which the whites enjoy and at the same time eliminating some 

Ibis relief?—A. We hope so.
Q- You have not given any thought as to how that would be administered? 

it<Hl r* You give the money to them, or to the agent to administer?—A. I hope 
, Would be possible in most cases personally to give it direct, because our under- 
r'0*nq theory in all bur dealings with them is to increase their sense of 
b 8P°nsibility. Wherever it is possible to give it direct to them we hope it will 

done. However, there may be cases in which a particular Indian group is
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so backward that for a time w-e would have to assist them by administering it 
ourselves. We would hope to keep that to the minimum.

Q. Last year I think there was a direct recommendation by Mr. Blackmore 
or Senator Fallis that the Indians be included in the old age pension plan. Has 
there been any discussion in the department with respect to that?—A. Yes, there 
has been a good deal of discussion.

The Chairman : This committee last year reported to the Parliament last 
year unanimously recommending that the Government give immediate con­
sideration to the advisability of granting old age pensions to Canadian Indians.*

The Committee adjourned at 6.00 p.m. to meet again on Tuesday, March 
9 at 10.30 a.m. to proceed with the revision of the Indian Act.

* Third Report, Wednesday, May '7, 1947. See 1947 Minutes of Evidence, pp. 877 and 878.
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REPORT TO THE SENATE

The Senate,
Monday, March 8, 1948.

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons appointed 
to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the Indian Act 
(Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927) beg leave to make their second report, as follows:-'

Your Committee recommend :—
1. That it be empowered to retain the services of counsel.
All of which is respectfully submitted.

W. H. TAYLOR, 
Chairman, Senate Section.

With leave of the Senate, the said report was adopted.



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House of Commons, 

Tuesday, 9th March, 1948.
. f +v,o Hpnate and the House of Commons The Special Joint Committee of • tion and consideration of the

^■Ppointed to continue and complete the • • 1 ^ matters as have been
Inrdian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), / ^Vo’ tock a.m.
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 10.30

Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman), presided.
Present:
jw, fhe Senate: The Honourable Senators Blais, Leger, Macdonald (Cardigan), 

el-ennan, McKeen, Paterson and Taylor.—6.
Qll Phe House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Castleden, 
R j0n fComox-Alberni), Harkness, MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), 

L ’ Richard (Gloucester), Stanfield.—12.
gQ Attendance: Messrs. C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and Per­
il IllR Mines and Resources; W. M. Cory, Legal Section, Mines and Resources; 
R], j Hoey, Director Indian Affairs Branch; D. H. Russell, Indian Affairs 

np'1; also Norman E. Lickers, Esq., Barrister, Brantford, Ontario.
Ri'e Committee resumed examination of the Indian Act.

C0 1 *r- Reid suggested that consideration of the Act might be expedited if the 
pe,, ''"Rtee, at the outset, would decide whether the name “Indian” were to be 

Petuated, or some other expression, such as “native Canadian” used.
* discussion f0n0We(j it was agreed, that, for the present, the Committee 
Pew 'I Proceed on the assumption that the word “Iiidian” would appear in the

W°uid 'as agreed that Mr. Lickers and the Departmental officials concerned 
regar(j lect and bring to the Committee at its next meeting suggestions with 

0 tlle amendment of sections 2(d) and 14 of the present Indian Act.
lit) C°mmittee adjourned at 12.30 p.m., to meet 

n March, at 10.30 a.m.
again on Thursday next,

House of Commons, 

Thursday, lltli March, 1948.
'T'i

appoj Ie ^Pecial Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
Ipdian a continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
referr A°t (Chapter 98, R.S.C. 1927), and all such other matters as have been 

ec to the said Committee met tins day at 10.30 o’clock a.m.
Presiding.- Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
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Present:
The Senate: The Honourable Senators Macdonald (Cardigan) and Taylor.

—2.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, Charlton, 
Church, Farquhar, Harkncss, Little, MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), 
Reid, Richard (Gloucester), Stanfield.—15.

In attendance: Messrs. C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and Per­
sonnel, Mines and Resources; W, M. Cory, Legal Section, Mines and Resources; 
R. A. Hoey, Director, Indian Affairs Branch; D. H. Russell, Indian Affairs 
Branch ; also Norman E. Dickers, Barrister, Brantford, Ontario.

Mr. Case presented the Second Report of the Subcommittee on Agenda and 
Procedure. (Text of Report appended hereto.)

On motion of Mr. Case, it was
Resolved, that the said Report be adopted.
The Committee resumed examination of the Indian Act, with particular 

reference to the definition of an “Indian” and the redraft of Section 185 of the 
said Act.

Mr. D. J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts, Indian Affairs Branch, 
made a statement with regard to Indian status and eligibility for band 
membership.

On motion of Mr. Case, it was
Agreed: That a subcommittee to be named by the Joint Chairmen meet 

to consider the wording to the definition section 2(d) and report back to the 
Joint Committee its finding.

Mr. Reid presented notice of motion that the Joint Committee give considéra' 
tion to the matter of the eligibility of Indians to receive the benefits of provincial 
social services.

Notice of motion referred to subcommittee on agenda and procedure for 
consideration and report.

The Committee adjourned at 5.55 p.m., to meet again on Tuesday next, 16th 
March, at 10.30 o’clock a.m.

SECOND REPORT OF SUBCOMMITTEE ON AGENDA AND
PROCEDURE

Thursday, 11th March, 1948.
1. Employment of Counsel

Your subcommittee recommends that your Committee retain the service5 
of Mr. Norman E. Dickers, Barrister, Brantford, Ontario, as counsel for yoV 
Committee.

Your subcommittee further recommends that the fee to be paid M1: 
Dickers shall be $75 for each day’s attendance at Ottawa on the business 0* 
the Committee and, in addition, his actual travelling expenses to and froJ11 
Ottawa and his actual living expenses at Ottawa, as certified according to th6 
rules of the House of Commons ; the whole subject to termination at any ti®5 
by your Committee.
2. Revision of the Indian Act

Your subcommittee recommends for your consideration 
(a) the attached definition of an “Indian”;
(t>) the suggested redraft of Section 185 of the Indian Act;
(c) Appendix EL, 1947 Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence, page 56*' 
All of wdfich is respectfully submitted.
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House of Commons,

Tuesday, 16th March, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
Appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
*ndian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee met this day at 10.30 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Horner, Leger and Taylor—3
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 

yastleden, Charlton, Farquhar, Gariépy, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Harkness, 
■Cittle, MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), Reid, Richard (Gloucester), 
and Stanfield—18.

In attendance: Messrs C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and Per- 
5°nnel, Mines and Resources ; R. A. Hoey, Director, Indian Affairs ; W. M. Cory, 
tegal Section ; D. J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts; M. McCrimmon, 
Reserves and Trusts; D. H. Russell, Indian Affairs; also Mr. Norman E. Dickers, 
barrister, Counsel for Committee.

On motion of Mr. Bryce, it was—
_ Pesolved: That until further notice the meetings of this Committee on 
Oiesdays and Thursdays commence at 11 o’clock a.m.

The Chairman announced that at 4 o’clock p.m., to-morrow Wednesday, 
y tli March, the Committee would resume hearing of Messrs. Keenleyside, 
' ackson, Bland and Hoey with regard to the matter of appointments, etc., in 
indian Affairs Branch.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.
P Sections 49, 50, 51, dealing with “Surrender and forfeiture of lands in 
deserve will be re-drafted and submitted for further consideration.

The Committee heard submissions by Messrs. Jackson, Hoey and Allan.
It was agreed that the subcommittee would meet at 5 o’clock p.m. to-day 

|° review the definition clause 2d (“Indian”) and the matter of eligibility for 
)and membership and report to the Committee on Thursday next, 18th March.

The Chairman announced that before taking up the examination of the 
Act section by section it would be advisable that the Committee should agree 
°n general principles with regard to: voting by Indians at elections, provincial 
°r Dominion ; the right of Indian women to vote on matters affecting the band of 
Miich they are members ; the purchase and consumption of beer, wine and 
^Pirituous liquors by Indians; educational matters.
, It was agreed to have Mr. Case read a memorandum and to have it dis- 
bex fed in mimeograp.h form to all members of the Committee before Thursday

]y. The Committee adjourned at 6.05 p.m., to meet again on Wednesday, 17th 
arch, at 4 o’clock p.m.
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House of Commons,

Wednesday, 17th March, 1948
The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 

appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of 
the Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have 
been referred to the said Committee met this day at 4 o’clock p.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Macdonald (Cardingan) and 
Taylor—2.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 
Charlton, Farquhar,’ Gibson (Comoz-Albemi), Harkness, Matthews (Brandon)’ 
(Vice Chairman), MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), Reid, and 
Stanfield—15.

In attendance: Messrs. H. L. Kcenleyside, Deputy Minister, C. W. Jackson, 
Director, Administration and Personnel, Mines and Resources ; C. H. Bland, 
CMC., Chairman, Civil Service Commission; R. A. Hoey, Director, India» 
Affairs Branch; D. H. Russell, Indian Affairs; Dr. H. A. Procter, Indian Health 
Services, National Health and Welfare; also, Mr. Norman E. Bickers, Barrister, 
Counsel for Committee ; and, from Caughnawaga, Quebec : Messrs. Louis E. 
Beauvais; John Beauvais, Angus H. Canadian; Charles K. Canadian.

The Chairman announced that Mr. Keenleyside, called to appear today, 
would not be available for further hearings for at least one month, due to his 
departure from Ottawa on official business, and that, under the circumstances, 
it would be advisable that the Committee to endeavour to clear up today any 
matter's about which it was considered Mr. Kcenleyside can assist the 
Committee.

Mr. C. H. Bland, CMC., Chairman, Civil Service Commission, recalled, 
further questioned with regard to the appointment to the former position of 
General Superintendent of Indian Agencies in Canada and, later, the present 
position of General Executive Assistant, Indian Affairs Branch.

Mr. Bland withdrew, to be recalled later.
Mr. H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, Mines and Resources, was 

recalled, made a statement and was questioned thereon.
The Committee adjourned at 6.00 o’clock p.m., to resume this phase of Us 

investigation on Friday, 19th March next at 11 o’clock a.m. The Committee will 
meet at 11 o’clock a.m., on Thursday, 18th March next, to resume consideration 
of the Indian Act.

House of Commons,

Thursday, 18th March, 1948.
The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 

appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of 
the Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have 
been referred to the said Committee met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
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Present:
The Senate: The Honourable Senators Blais, Johnston, Macdonald 

(Cardigan), and Taylor—4.
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 

Charlton, Church, Farquhar, Harkncss, Little, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice- 
Chairman), MacLean, MacNicol, Reid (Gloucester)—14.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. 
C- W. Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel; R. A. Hoey, Director, 
jndian Affairs; W. M. Cory, Legal Section ; D. J. Allan, Superintendent, 
Reserves and Trusts; M. McCrimmon, Reserves and Trusts; T. R. L. Maclnnes, 
Secretary, Indian Affairs; D. H. Russell, Indian Affairs ; also Mr. Norman E. 
R'ckers, Barrister, Counsel for Committee.

The Chairman filed with the Committee copies of the Annual Report for 
;'le fiscal year ended June 30, 1946, of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs to 
the Secretary of the Interior, United States of America.

It was agreed that the Committee meet on Friday, 19th March next, at 
t* o’clock a.m., to resume hearing of Messrs Jackson and Hoey with regard to 
aPpointments and promotions in the Indian Affairs Branch.

Consideration resumed of the sections of the Indian Act dealing with the 
Purchase and consumption of intoxicants by Indians.

Messrs. Hoev, Maclnnes and Allan made statements and were questioned 
thereon.

The Committee adjourned at 12.50 p.m., to meet again tomorrow, Friday, 
t9th March, in special session to resume hearing of Messrs. Jackson and Hoey.

House of Commons,

Friday, 19th March, 1948.
The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 

appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of 
"he Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have 
been referred to the said Committee met this day at 11 o clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Horner, Johnston and Macdonald 
'Cardigan)—3.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Castleden, Farquhar, 
Pariepy, Harkness, Little, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice Chairman), MacNicol, 
^eid, Richard (Gloucester)—11.

» In attendance: Messrs. R. A. Hoey, D. H. Russell, Indian Affairs ; also 
’ r- Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.
n Mr. C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel, Mines and 
^sources, called, made a statement and was questioned thereon.

9 The Committee adjourned at 12.55 p.m., to meet again on Tuesday next, 
'h'd March, at 11 o’clock a.m.

T. L. McEVOY,
Clerk of the Joint Committee.





MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,
' March 17, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
aPpointed to examine and consider the Indian Act met this day at 4 p.m. Mr. 
D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman), presided.

The Chairman : Gentlemen, shall we come to order? Now, this is a special 
meeting of the committee for the purpose of continuing the examination of Mr. 
Inland, Chairman of the Civil Service Commission; of Dr. Keenleyside, Deputy 
-Minister of Mines and Resources, Mr. Jackson and Mr. Hoey. We shall have 
to take Mr. Bland first because Dr. Keenleyside, by reason of the work in the 
House at the moment, has to await the pleasure of the Prime Minister who has 
been speaking until now, I understand. As soon as Dr. Keenleyside has finished 
his business with the Prime Minister he will come here. We are anxious to 
complete Dr. Keenleyside’s examination because of the fact, as he informed 
the committee at the last meeting, that he is leaving on Thursday, I believe it 
'■-> the 18th, to travel through western Canada to the west coast on departmental 
business. He will be gone for a period of one month. We want to have him 
aPpear before us and discuss with him any matters connected with this com­
mittee before he leaves. Now, is it your pleasure that we proceed to hear Mr.
Bland?

Charles H. Bland, C.M.G., Chairman, Civil Service Commission, 
^called:

The Chairman : Mr. Bland, as you know, is chairman of the Civil Service 
Commission and has appeared before this committee on several occasions. His 
evidence given at the last meeting was not completed. If it is your pleasure we 
"’ill now hear from Mr. Bland.

The Witness: Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, when I last appeared before 
this committee as a witness a number of questions were asked in connection 
with the proposed promotion of Mr. Ford Pratt to a position in the Indian 
Affairs branch of the Department of Mines and Resources. As an appeal 
against Mr. Pratt’s promotion was then being heard by an appeal board the 
c°mmittee deferred further questioning until the Appeal Board had made its
report.
,, As the Appeal Board’s report has now been received and considered by 
, 10 Civil Service Commission I should like to make a brief statement which I 
‘mpe may provide the committee with the information it desires in connection 

Ah the matter.
j, Mr. Pratt has been considered for two posts in the Indian Affairs branch, 
y first in 1945 being that of general superintendent of Indian agencies, and 

le second, in 1948, that of general executive assistant, 
i Bor the first position the department advised the commission that it could 

u filled by promotion open to the permanent employees of the Department of 
e lnes and Resources. The commission invited applications from the permanent 
Uiployees of the department and secured ratings from the department on those 

^mployees who made application. The highest rating was secured by Mr.
• J. F. Pratt, assistant secretary and chief of personnel of the department.
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and Mr. Pratt’s promotion was approved by the commission, subject to the 
usual appeal procedure by which a period of fourteen days was allowed for 
appeals from unsuccessful competitors.

An appeal having been received from Colonel E. P. Randle, one of the 
applicants, an appeal board was constituted, consisting of persons who had had no 
previous contact with the preparation of the ratings, and composed of Mr. 
C. V. Putman, appeals officer of the commission as chairman, Mr. D. J. Allan, 
superintendent of trusts and reserves in the Indian Affairs branch, as representa­
tive of the department, and Mr. J. A. Maclsaac, vice-president of the Civil 
Service Federation, as representative of the appellant.

The board examined the various factors connected with the case and heard 
testimony from the director of the Indian Affairs branch and from the chief 
executive assistant of the department. There was an apparent difference of 
opinion as to the duties of the position between the director of the Indian Affairs 
branch and the chief executive assistant, the former regarding the post as one 
for a senior administrator who would be able to take direct charge of the work, 
and the latter regarding the position as being one for a special personnel officer.

The board’s findings were as follows:
1. That the post was a senior administrative one and that the incumbent 

should be qualified to take over, under the director, the administrative direction 
of Indian agencies.

2. That there was insufficient evidence of the administrative experience or 
capacity of Mr. Pratt to justify his selection for the position.

The Appeal Board accordingly recommended that Mr. Pratt’s promotion 
should be disallowed, which recommendation was approved by the commission 
and the department notified accordingly.

The commission was subsequently asked by the department to establish a 
position of general executive assistant, the duties of which did not involve the 
superintendency of agencies as had been the case in the previous position. The 
department asked that the ratings previously given by it to the original can­
didates, placing Mr. Pratt in first place, be accepted for this new position. The 
commission concurred in this, subject to the usual appeal procedure.

Colonel Randle filed another appeal against Mr. Pratt’s selection and an 
appeal board was again convened, consisting of Mr. H. R. McNaughton, appeals 
officer of the Civil Service Commission as chairman, Mr. R. A. Gibson, director 
of lands and development services, Department of Mines and Resources, as 
departmental representative, and Mr. J. A. Maclsaac, vice-president of the Civil 
Service Federation, as representative of the appellant.

The Appeal Board held two meetings at which it considered the duties of 
the position as well as detailed ratings submitted by a departmental rating 
board on the qualifications of the canditates with reference to it and finally 
reported that after careful consideration of all evidence presented, the Appeal 
Board was unanimously of the opinion that Mr. E. P. Randle had been fairly 
rated and that his appeal should be disallowed.

Two members of the board were satisfied that the new ratings, as submitted, 
fairly represented the comparative qualifications of the candidates and recom­
mend that these ratings be accepted. The third member accepted the ratings 
with certain reservations as to the relative qualifications of the two candidates 
standing highest on the list.

The commission has considered the report of the Appeal Board and in view 
of it believes that the promotion of Mr. Pratt to the position of general 
executive assistant should now be confirmed.

The Chairman : Are there any previous, questions you want to answer at 
this point, Mr. Bland? Do I understand that there were some questions 
unanswered at the last meeting when Mr. Bland was with us? If so, would you 
like to submit your answers now?
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Mr. Harkness : I have a number of questions I would like to ask in view 
of Mr. Bland’s statement, and some of them are questions which I had asked 
before to some extent. The idea was, I presume, that we would go ahead with 
questioning now.

The Chairman: Is that the will of the committee? If so, you may proceed.
By Mr. Harkness:

Q. Mr. Bland, in connection with this first appointment when the job was 
advertised, I think, as general superintendent of agencies, you said that an 
appeal was entered against the appointment of Mr. Pratt to that position and 
that the Appeal Board found that the post required to be filled was a senior 
administrative one and that Mr. Pratt did not possess the qualifications for 
that position ; that was the finding of the board?—A. For that particular post.

Q. As a matter of fact, did the board state in their findings that Mr. Pratt 
did not possess the “minimum qualifications” for the post?—A. I think the exact 
Wording of the board’s report was as I have quoted it; namely, there was 
insufficient evidence of the administrative experience or capacity of Mr. Pratt to 
Justify his selection for the position.

Q. Well, I know that in view of this fact, particularly, that Mr. Glen stated 
in the House of Commons that this board recommended that the candidate— 
meaning Mr. Pratt—did not possess the minimum qualifications?—A. I think 
1 had better quote the exact wording of the appeal board. Yes, the word 
"minimum” was used. The exact wording of the Appeal Board report was, 
"if it is an administrative job the board is unanimous in its opinion that Mr. 
Pratt has not the minimum qualifications for this position.”

By Mr. Reid:
Q. What year was that?—A. That was in 1946.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. Is it not also the case from what you have said here in connection with 

die difference of opinion between Mr. Jackson and Mr. Hoey as to this appoint- 
"lent that Mr. Hoey gave evidence to the Appeal Board that what was required 
Was a man to assume and take over a good deal of the administrative detail, 
jmd actually be a sort of administrative head of the department under him?—A. 
'he general gist of the board’s report on Mr. Hoey’s evidence was to the effect 

;hat Mr. Hoey felt this was a senior administrative position to be in charge of 
! 'e administration of Indian agencies and that the officer appointed to it must 
m capable of settling administrative problems largely without reference to Mr. 
tfuey as head of the branch.

Q. In other words, what the director of the branch felt he needed was an 
‘Uhninistrator, and that was, in fact, what was advertised for?—A. That is 
correct.

Q. And is it also a fact that Mr. Jackson indicated to this board that the 
lrian he thought should be in the position should be a man who rather than being 
an administrator would be a selector and manager of personnel?—A. Yes, I think 
as a general statement that is correct, too.

. Q. Is it correct that the board was very much amazed at securing this 
m-ulence from Mr. Jackson in view of what Mr. Hoey had already said?—A. 1 

unk the board was rather surprised to find there was such a difference of 
°Pmion.

By the Chairman:
Q- Were you present at the board meetings, Mr. Bland?—A. No, sir.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. Subsequently in spite of advertising for a general superintendent the 

ltlc of the job was changed to general executive assistant, and I assume the
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qualifications were changed also?—A. I should like to put that another way, if 
I may. Instead of advertising again the position of general superintendent of 
Indian agencies it was the request of the department, concurred in by the 
commission, that applications should be considered for a general executive 
assistant instead of for a general superintendent of agencies.

Q. What were the qualifications which were laid down for this general 
executive assistant?—A. The main difference was the fact that he would not be 
responsible for the administration of Indian agencies.

Q. In other words, just the opposite to what the director had asked for?—A. 
I think it would be only fair to the director and to Mr. Jackson to say that in 
their minds I think there were two jobs. One job was that of general superin­
tendent of Indian agencies which was a senior administrative post. The other 
job was that of assistant to the director on general executive work.

Q. Would it not appear as to Mr. Pratt’s appointment to this job, having 
been turned down by the Appeal Board, that the department then changed the 
title and the qualifications to a job—

The Chairman: Wait a minute, Mr. Harkness.
Mr. Harkness: I am all right.
The Chairman : Just a minute. I do not think we should put Mr. Bland 

in the position of having to state what was in the mind of somebody else. All 
he can do is give us the facts as they happened.

Mr. Harkness : I think you should let Mr. Bland answer for himself. If 
we are going to inquire into this matter at all we have got to inquire into it. There 
is no use not asking this question and that question and the other.

The Chairman : I know. I am not trying to stop you asking all questions 
that are fair.

Mr. Harkness: I think this question will be fair.
The Chairman : And direct, but we cannot assume that this indirect evi­

dence is going to be acceptable if you are putting him on trial.
Mr. Harkness: I am not putting anybody on trial. As a matter of fact 

I am trying to get to the bottom of this thing. To continue—
The Chairman : Ask what the facts are.
Mr. Harkness: If you will allow me to go ahead without interruption I 

think we will arrive at the facts.
The Chairman : I think that the committee would like you to bring out 

the facts, not what the presumptions are.
Mr. Harkness: Well, I will continue.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. Would it not appear, as I said, that the title and the qualifications of 

the job were changed more nearly to fit Mr. Pratt’s qualifications?—A. I think 
I answered that by saying that in my opinion there were two jobs. One job 
was the job of general superintendent of agencies. That was the job in which 
Mr. Hoey was mainly concerned. The other job was that of general executive 
assistant in which Mr. Jackson was more concerned. In the first case—

Q. Is it not a fact------ A. May I complete my answer?
Q. Certainly.—A. In the first case the job of general superintendent of 

Indian agencies was advertised and Mr. Pratt’s promotion to it was disallowed 
by the Appeal Board, and disallowed by the Civil Service Commission. The 
second job, general executive assistant, was then under consideration, and for 
it Mr. Pratt was again considered.

Q. But is it not a fact that the ratings which were originally given for 
this post of general superintendent of Indian agencies were, at the request of 
the department, continued as the same ratings for this second post?—A. That
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ls true, but at the request of the second Appeal Board further ratings were given 
by the department because of the fact there were differences between the jobs.

Q. Is it not the case actually that this job called general executive assistant 
was in essence the same job as that of general superintendent of Indian agencies 
vv"hich had been previously advertised?—A. No, the facts do not indicate that, 
as far as I can see them.

Q. Pardon?—A. In my opinion the facts do not indicate it was the
same job.

Q. The fact that at the request of the department the same ratings were 
to be used would indicate that?—A. I am answering from my point of view, 
not from the point of view of the department. From my point of view there were 
two different jobs.

The Chairman: If we are going to conduct a legal inquisition I think we 
should keep it on legal lines. If we are trying to find out information as far as 
this committee is concerned let us stick to the facts and ask the witness what 
he knows, what the fact is, not what he believes would be the result of certain 
facts.

Mr. Harkness: In all the evidence we have had before this committee and 
in all the evidence that is being heard at the present time before the prices 
c°nimibtee witnesses are constantly asked to give their opinion.

The Chairman: But this committee has not been set up as a legal 
inquisition to look into the question of an appointment by the Civil Service 
Commission.

Mr. Harkness: It is not a legal inquisition.
The Chairman: I agree with you it is not, but you are trying to put it on 

chat plane.
Mr. Harkness: It is not on that plane at all. It is an inquiry to try 

c° get at what the situation was in this particular case.
The Chairman: Then get the facts.
Mr. Harkness: I do not see why you are making any objection to the 

questions I am asking.
. The Chairman : Except that there is no use in our trying to ask what his 

°Pmion is on certain things. Ask what the fact is.
Mr. Harkness: We have been doing this ever since the committee was in 

operation. We have asked various officials their opinion on different matters. 
" hey are doing it every day in the prices committee, not only with officials but 
also with trade witnesses.

The Chairman: Heretofore we have been finding out facts as to the con­
ditions on Indian reserves, how the Indians live, how they act, how the} make 
an income, and all things pertaining to the life of the Indians. Now we arc 
getting off on a side track in trying to set up a board of inquiry into the fairness 
°r otherwise of an appointment by the Civil Service Commission. Ii that is 
going to be done I think we should draw a line.

Mr. Reid: As a matter of fact, I was going to pursue Mr Harkness 
Questions and challenge Mr. Bland if he had given an opinion. He has no right 

give an opinion as to the duties. I am one of those who believe the ( îvil 
Service Commission is not in a position to know the duties of any depaitment. 
fhey are civil service examiners, and after the department lays down the 
•equirements it is their duty to test the applicants for that job. I do not see 
how Mr. Bland could be in a position to say what is required in the Indian 
•Affairs Branch.
v Mr. Harkness: I did not ask Mr. Bland to answmr any question along that 
ne- I merely asked him for his opinion as to the change in the name and the 

modifications for that position.
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The Chairman : Suppose you ask any member of the committee his opinion.
Mr. Harkness: As it happens I am asking Mr. Bland who is the witness at 

the moment.
The Chairman : Mr. Bland is here to give us facts. Let us stick to the 

facts.
Mr. Harkness : I think we will finish this inquiry a lot more rapidly if you 

will allow me to continue without interruption.
The Chairman : If I allow everybody to have his own way I suppose we 

would get some place, but where? My job is to be fair with the committee in 
imposing the laws and rules as set by the committee.

Mr. Case: You must admit that the committee did set aside a certain time 
to hear this evidence. Mr. Harkness is trying to get at the facts.

The Chairman : I am quite content to find out all the facts that are 
available, but let us stick to facts, not what somebody else said to somebody else 
what he thinks somebody else was going to do.

Mr. Harkness: I should like to point out this is not a court. We do not 
stick to strict procedure as lawyers would understand it in court. We ask for 
opinions constantly from witnesses. I was asking for an opinion in this case.

The Chairman: I do not think it is a proper thing to ask for an opinion.
Mr. Harkness: I think it is. It is done constantly. In any event, let us 

get on.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. In connection with this new title for the job, what were the qualifica­

tions which were laid down? Have you got those?—A. May I interject a remark 
here? If you want my opinion on these things I will have to give it to you 
correctly.

Q. Yes.—A. I do not think it was a new name for the same job. I think 
it was a different job.

Q. Well, what were the qualifications?—A. I have already said that I 
thought the main difference in the duties was the fact that this new job did not 
involve the administration of Indian agencies. I will read the exact qualifica­
tions given by the department if you would like to have them.

Q. All right.—A. This is the General executive assistant, Indian Affairs 
Branch department’s statement as signed by Mr. C. W. Jackson:

Duties: Under the director, Indian Affairs Branch, to develop ser­
vices and co-ordinate procedures having to do with the procurement and 
distribution of supplies, assignment, classification, transfer and payment 
of staff, checking and certifying of branch accounts, and the maintenance 
of branch statistics and records, and other related work ; to train and 
supervise staff assigned and to make recommendations respecting the 
welfare of staff ; to review reports and recommend action pertaining to the 
election or removal of Indian chiefs and counsellors ; to co-ordinate the 
construction and maintenance programs of the branch ; to deal with 
officers of the department and with other departments and with members 
of the public pertaining to the work of the branch, and as directed to 
represent the branch on committees and boards ; as requested to advise on 
matters pertaining to branch operation and administration, and to recom­
mend changes in administrative procedures, and to perform other related 
work as required.

Mr. Reid: I wonder if Mr. Harkness would allow me to ask a question 
so that we will not have to come back to it.

Mr. Harkness: Yes.
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By Mr. Reid:
Q. Were those the qualifications that were drawn up in the first instance? 

A. No, in the second instance.
Q. I think if we are going to have a full report we should have the first 

qualifications, too. Let us have the whole picture. If Mr. Harkness does not 
ufind I want to find out about something else. We are all interested. Mr. 
Harkness is not the only one interested. I want to find out why the change 
t°°k place?—A. The advertised duties for the position of general superintendent 

Indian agencies read as follows:
To be responsible to the director of the Indian Affairs Branch for 

the administration of Indian agencies in Canada; to investigate and report 
on new appointments, changes in staff and promotions in the field 
administration ; to instruct and give guidance to employees; to make 
recommendations on the grading of Indian agencies and the classification 
of Indian agents ; to supervise the election and removal of Indian chiefs 
and counsellors, the implementing of law enforcement regulations, social 
services and all programs designed to improve the conditions of the 
Indians; to deal with administrative matters such as the adjustment 
of boundaries, the construction, repair and maintenance of buildings and 
roads, the purchase of equipment and stock, and to perform other related 
duties of a senior .administrative character.

Q. Who drew that up?—A. It was drawn up between the Civil Service 
Commission and the Department of Mines and Resources.

Q. It seems to me there are three jobs all mixed up in that one advertise­
ment, supervising the building of roads and buildings—

By Mr. Case:
,, Q. Just listening to the statement it is pretty hard to determine where 

difference is in the qualifications.—A. I think there is a very decided 
ifference because the first position, general superintendent of Indian agencies,

A S 1 f c fî ref rln+ir +lm o ri m i ri i eh i>q f i nn rtf Tt-t/4 i a rt o rrrvn m nc in 0 n D a rI7ln o f

do,s as its first duty the administration of Indian agencies in Canada, that 
es not appear in the other job.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. When the examination took place was it on the second?—A. I did not 

atch your question.
• Q. When the examination took place, when the ratings took place, was 
> °n the second or first?—A. There was an examination on both of them, 

ft the first instance it was on the general superintendent of Indian agencies 
mch i have just read. In the second instance the examination was on the 
uties I read for the position of general executive assistant. 

n Q. When was Mr. Pratt turned down first?—A. He was turned down for 
lc Position of general superintendent.

j , Q- On the first qualifications you read or the second?—A. The qualifications 
have just read.

By Mr. Case:
Q- Was an appointment made?—A. An appointment was not made.

By Mr. Charlton:
Q- Has there been another list sent out for that job?—A. No.

By Mr. Harkness:
t] Q- Is it not a fact, as brought out earlier, that the same ratings, as far as 
that ■ ar*'men* were concerned, were used for both jobs?—A. With the exception 

t in the second instance, the department supplied supplementary ratings.
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Q. At the request of the Civil Service Commission?—A. At the request of 
the Appeal Board.

Q. It strikes me from hearing you read those qualifications that the main 
difference between them is that in the first case the emphasis is on the handling 
of personnel, administration, and so forth. In the first advertisement, for a 
superintendent general, the emphasis to begin with is on the administration end 
of things as far as the Indian agencies in Canada are concerned, and secondly 
to deal with personnel. In other words—

The Chairman : Well—
Mr. Hark ness: Just a minute.
The Chairman : Just a minute. My job is to conduct this meeting and to 

try to get some semblance of order and get the thing done in a systematic and 
orderly way. We are not here to get your opinion, Mr. Harkness. We are here 
to inquire from the witness as to what the facts are. Am I right or am I wrong?

Mr. Charlton : I think Mr. Harkness should be given a chance to ask 
questions.

The Chairman : Every other member of the committee has an equal 
opportunity.

Mr. Charlton: That is right.
The Chairman: No one member is going to be singled out in preference to 

another. We are not here to get anybody’s opinion. We are not here to find 
out the opinion of any witness.

Mr. Harkness : I disagree with you completely, Mr. Chairman. We are 
here to get opinions. Every committee that has been set up by the House of 
Commons and by the Senate has gone into the matter of getting opinions at 
some time or other.

The Chairman: To be exact, this matter is not within the jurisdiction of 
this committee. We have made a sojourn into the fantastic, shall I say, for 
purposes of letting—

Mr. Charlton: There is nothing fantastic about it.
The Chairman: —of letting the committee inquire into the facts. We are 

developing more or less into a judicial committee here. If we want to get into 
a judicial committee and try this matter on the facts we will either have to 
have it referred to a proper legal committee or commission and have it tried 
by a judge or we will just find out the facts as we can find them out to assist 
the Indian affairs committee.

Mr. Reid: I should like to make a suggestion. I am one of those who 
believe if we are going into this matter that the records should be produced. 1 
should like to read them for myself. It cannot be done in a committee of this 
size. There are a lot of questions which one may ask to which a full and satis­
factory answer may not be given. I am wondering if it would not satisfy the 
situation to name a subcommittee of the main committee, including Mr. Hark- 
ness, which could get closer to the entire matter and bring in a report. I have 
a lot of questions I should like to ask, and I should also like to see some of the 
records as well.

I want to see the advertisement that was put out. I want to see the quali­
fications. That has been mentioned. I want to ask if the qualifications were 
changed. I want to ask who changed them. If it was the board of review that 
changed them why did they change them? I want to find out if Mr. Pratt was 
brought in before the board of review or just Mr. Randle heard. There are about 
fifty questions I should like to ask if we are going into it fully so'that I may 
be clear in my own mind as to whether or not there was any wrong done. At 
the moment I have an open mind, but if we are going into this let us go into it 
fully and completely. If Mr. Pratt should be exonerated then exonerate him-
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If the Civil Service Commission should be exonerated then do that, too, but if 
We_sit around here and just ask a few questions we will never get to the bottom 
°f it. That is my opinion.

Mr. Bryce: I have kind of lost track of what I was going to ask. You said, 
jj\r- Bland, that the Appeal Board made a recommendation in connection with 

appointment. What did you mean by that? Is that the usual custom 
^’hen there is an appeal that they send back recommendations as to what should 
t3e done next time?
. . The Witness: The usual practice is that when an appeal board is set up 
|t investigates the facts of the competition, ascertains whether or not there is 
Wth in the appellant’s claims, and makes a report to the commission on what 

s .“as found, with recommendations as to what action should be taken. As I 
raic* before, the Appeal Board can of itself take no action other than that. The 
esPonsibiIity then is that of the Civil Service Commission to decide what action 
0 take. This was the normal procedure for an appeal board.

By Mr. Matthews:
r. Q- Am I right in this summing up of what Mr. Bland has told us, that the 
ar®t position was to be that of general superintendent of Indian agencies plus 

jot of other duties? It was decided Mr. Pratt did not have the necessary 
Minimum qualifications for that position and he was not appointed. Another 
j)ytion came up a year later, that of general executive assistant to the 
foctor, not the position of general superintendent of Indian agencies, a different 

position, executive assistant under the director, and for that position it was 
a§reed that Mr. Pratt did have the qualifications. Am I right in my deductions 

*° what you have said or am I not?—A. I think that is a correct statement. 
W(i Q- I think that should clarify everything up to date. That is exactly where 
sid s^an(l now- He was turned down for the one job because he was not con- 
u c,'e(f eligible. He was recommended for the second job, I presume, because 

was considered eligible.
0Ur ^ jr- Case : It does not clear it up entirely in this sense, that naturally in 
t)i(, lrnn(!s the question arises as to whether the qualifications were made to fit 
w 'nan> because the other job has never been filled. That was the job they 

nfed to fill. They advertised it first.
By Mr. Reid:

$ Q- When the Appeal Board sat after an appeal was made to the Civil 
hav\1CC C(,mmission by Mr. Randle, in reviewing the entire case what did they 
q '.before them? Had they the first qualifications before them or the second 
n0 “^cations when they were judging it? That is important.—A. There were 
w Second qualifications at that time. They had only the qualifications that 
thee advertised for the first position. They had the departmental ratings on 
p various applicants for that first post. The qualifications for the second 
a arose onlv when the department asked that the position of general executive 

Mstant be filled.
ajj Can you assure us when the board heard the case they were looking at
tf)e ,!p applications, and their qualifications in the light of the second----- A. When
of j |lrst board looked at the applications they were looking at them in the light 
agGn*p fiualifications required for the post of general superintendent of Indian 
light*3168' Hie secon(I case the board was looking at the applications in the 

the qualifications for the position of general executive assistant.
If0 Did they call in any officials?—A. In the first instance they called in Mr.

y and .
Who?—A. Mr. Hoey, the Director of Indian Affairs, and Mr. Clarence 

s°n> Chief Executive Officer of the department.
7802—9
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Q. Did they call any of the applicants?—A. So far as I am aware, no. I had 
better check with the report, though. No, there is no indication that any 
witnesses were called other than Mr. Hoey and Mr. Jackson.

Q. Is it customary for the board to call the applicants in on an appeal being 
made.—A. No, I would not say so.

Q. Suppose I apply for a civil service appointment and I am turned down; 
if I appeal against the decision and place the matter before the appeal board— 
I may have fallen down in my oral examination when I went before the three 
men—and if that is where I have fallen down and the board is reviewing it why 
do they not call me, the applicant? Why do they just take the papers the other 
man has written. There are two examinations, first a written examination and 
then you are called before three men, one from the Civil Service Commission- 
one from the department, and one from the Canadian Legion. Those three make 
a rating and the ratings go down before the civil service board. Now I am asking 
if I fell down on the oral would the Appeal Board give me a prosonal inter­
view?—A. I will try to answer in this way...

Q. I am seeking light on the matter?—A. It is within the jurisdiction of 
the appeal board to call as many witnesses as the board thinks necessary in the 
particular case. In this case they apparently felt that they could deal with 
Mr. Randle’s appeal by calling on Mr. Hoey and Mr. Jackson.

By Mr. Charlton:
Q. Both members of the department?—A. In this case, yes. The appeal 

board did include members who were not members of the department, however-
Q. Was there a civil service examination held for the first appointment as 

general superintendent?—A. A written examination?
Q. Yes.—A. No, the only examination consisted of a rating given by the 

officers of the Department of Mines and Resources.
Q. A rating by the department officers?—A. Yes.
Q. How was the application made, by written letter?—A. Applications of 

individuals were made on the formal application form of the Civil Service Coni' 
mission, the standard form. They were again reported on by the department 
on a standard rating form.

Q. With a series of questions on the application form?—A. Yes.
Q. And that standing is judged by whom?—A. The decision as to a seleC' 

tion for a promotion rests on three things, length of service of the employee-^" 
and that is a minor factor, but it is a factor—efficiency of the employee in h>s 
previous employment; his fitness for the vacant post. Ratings are given by the 
senior officers of the department. In this case these three factors were con­
sidered ; his length of service, efficiency and fiitness for this particular post.

Q. Was the veterans preference a factor?—A. No, the veterans preferenc6 
is not under the law applicable to promotion examinations.

Q. How did Colonel Randle stand in the examination?—A. He was eighth’
By the Chairman:

Q. In any event, Mr. Bland, it is true to say this appointment is made Ç 
the Civil Service Commission. There is no question about that?—A. This lS 
an appointment to be made by the Civil Service Commission, that is correct-.

Q. And it has been made by the Civil Service Commission?—A. That 13 
correct.

Mr. Charlton : This is a reclassification is it not?
The Chairman: I beg your pardon?
Mr. Charlton : This is a reclassification is it not?
The Witness: No, it is a promotion.
The Chairman : Well the whole thing is a matter for the Civil Servk6 

Commission.
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The Witness : That is true.
By Mr. Charlton:

Q- A matter for the chairman?—A. The Commission is responsible for 
taking the selection.

Q. It is not under the department?—A. No. If I might endeavour to 
Plain, the Civil Service Commission is responsible for making selections for 

'/^motion but it obviously must utilize the information which is in the hands of 
^ c department. Consequently the commission secures the fullest information 

can and makes the selection on that basis, 
a The Chairman : Can the Indian Affairs Branch make the appointment on 

b °wn without regard to you?
The Witness : No.
Mr. Charlton : It makes certain suggestions.
The Witness: It supplies certain reports, yes.

By Mr. Matthews:
Q. Was there just one appellant?—A. A es. 
Q. And he was eighth on the list?—A. A es.

By Mr. MacNicol:
n Q. Had the gentleman who was successful in the examination been in the 
Potion before the appointment was officially made?—A. Dr. Keenleyside will 
i ^ able to answer that Question better than I can, but my information is that he had not.

Q. He had not been in the position?—A. No.

By Mr. Charlton:
a,si Q- I understand, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Hoey of the Indian Affairs Branch 
t|,j 6jd to have a general superintendent of Indian agencies appointed?—A-. I 
}j0 , that is true. The request came to us from the department proper. Mr. 

s request would go to the department and from it to the commission.
M It was Mr. Hoey’s wish that he have a general superintendent of Indian 

gericies?—A. Yes.
M I understand that position has not been filled yet?—A. That is true.
.'i- Has the application been sent out?—A. No, the Civil Service Com- 
|9n has not again been asked to fill the position. 

aSsjgM That position is not of quite as much importance as the executive

i^he Chairman : There we are again getting off into the realm of other

The Witness: That is a question for the department to answer. 
Charlton: The answer is obvious.

to c 11e Chairman: Well, you can draw your own conclusions but we are here 
C0til . °ut facts. We are not here to go into the operation of the Civil Service 
the rPT^sion. We are here to help the Indians; we are not here to investigate 
C0m n’il Service Commission or to inquire into the operation of the Civil Service 

''■ssion. I think the whole matter is irregular.
r. Harkness: I take it that we have Mr. Bland here to give us such 

®,s he can in the matter.
B]a | he Chairman : Yes, in the conduct of the Indian Affairs Committee, Mr. 

' is certainly here—
P;r' Bryce: This is a special meeting for the purpose of discussing this case, 

he Chairman : That is right, and let us get on to facts.
?802_

-21
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Mr. Bryce: If anybody has any complaint let him have an opportunity of 
stating it.

The Chairman: Let us get facts of the case and let it be done now, but we 
are not here looking into the operation of the Civil Service Commission.

Mr. Case: As a matter of fact there was a position advertised and Mr- 
Pratt made application for it. In the opinion of someone he did not posses5 
the necessary qualifications so, as a matter of fact, the position was not filled.

The Chairman : Are you asking Mr. Bland a question?
Mr. Case: I am directing the question through you, Mr. Chairman. Mr- 

Bland may comment upon it, but I am trying to state the facts.
The Chairman: Those facts have already been stated by Mr. Matthews.
Mr. Case: We all know an appointment was made. Another position wa5 

advertised and Mr. Pratt was again a candidate. In that particular instant 
he had the necessary qualifications to obtain the appointment, is that a fact?

The Witness: That is substantially the case.
The Chairman: That is true. That is what Mr. Matthews said.
Mr. Bareness: There is one other stage which has been left out of the 

discussion and which occurred there. The appeal board recommended that Mr; 
Pratt did not have the qualifications for this job of superintendent general. Di‘‘ 
the appeal board also recommend that someone else on the list had the qualifies' 
tions and should be appointed, and, in fact, did it recommend the appointment 
of some other person?

The Witness: Here again I prefer to answer by reading the report of tl>f 
board. The report of the board reads—in addition to the paragraph I hav’e 
already read with reference to Mr. Pratt—“The two available members of d>1 
board recommend that the above finding be approved and some other select!011 
than that of Mr. Pratt be made from those who apply.”

The Chairman: Let me ask this question before we go any further? Assui’1' 
ing that we have found this is irregular what are we going to do about it?

Mr. Bareness: Well it is then up to the department to make a move, 1 
would say, if we find it is irregular.

The Chairman : The department has not appointed us, through parliament’ 
to inquire into the Civil Service Commission.

Mr. Bareness: The parliament of this country has appointed us to inqui,c 
into the general administration of the Indian Affairs Branch.

The Chairman: Right, and not the affairs of the Civil Service Commissi*?11'
Mr. Bareness : We are not examining the Civil Service Commission, " 

are examining into appointments—civil service appointments—to the Indi9 
Affairs Branch.

The Chairman: Our terms of reference are right here, and.you have the!jj 
before you. We are to “report upon Indian administration in general and 1 
particular the following matters:—” _

Now the question has been answered time and time again that this i5 
civil service matter and not a matter for the Indian Affairs Branch. If ^ 
Indian Affairs Branch asked for the filling of a position, namely, the employing 
of an agent, the Civil Service Commission goes out to find a man and fill 
position. The Civil Service Commission has nothing to do with the Indj9;) 
Affairs Branch except to find an employee to fill the postion that has b°e 
advertised.

Mr. Reid: May I say this? It is my opinion and I am expressing it n°tU 
that I would like to see this matter cleared up if for no other reason than 
clear a man’s name. There was a little stigma left on the name of Ford Pr®j 
A statement was made in the House of Commons and the matter was refer1"1’
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p this committee—but there was a little stigma left to the name of Mr. Ford 
Matt and I would like, for one, in all fairness to that man, to see that the wrong 
,)c removed. I do not know how it can be removed other than by investigation 
ln this committee.

The Witness : May I make one brief statement?
The Chairman : Yes.

, The Witness: I would like to say this, if I may. I hope that it will not be 
.'ought that I am suggesting -what questions should be asked here—that is the 
Action of the committee itself, of course—but at the last meeting of this 

( "nimittee I requested that the answers to some questions be deferred because 
,, .the fact the matter was before an appeal board. I would like to make one 
(,llng clear. The appeal board report has now been made and the Civil Service 

Çttimission has nothing to withhold from this committee in connection with 
, hat lias taken place. If there are any facts I can give the committee, I am only 
00 Pleased to give them.

, Mr. Bryce: We do not seem to understand, or to be getting into our heads, 
f 'at we are here for. You know that in the regular Indian committee meetings 
J'r the rewriting of the Act, I objected that time should be taken for discussing 
Jls 'fatter while we had still to rewrite the Act. Now we have called a special 

ceting on the matter but it would now seem some of the questions of the 
embers of the committee are ultra vires.

Mr. Gibson : Sub judice?
< 'Mr. Bryce: No, concerning matters not within our reference. We set this 
,ay aside for the present discussion and if there is anything to be cleaned up, 

t us clean it up. If there is nothing to hide, let the questions be asked by 
I ayone who wishes to ask them. Let us clean the whole thing up and do not 

. us hear anything more about it. Whenever you get a legal mind running a 
"ng you are likely to never get anywhere.

Mr. Harkness : Right you are, Scotty.
The Chairman: I cannot say that I agree with you, Mr. Bryce.
Mr. Reid : Wait a moment, is Mr. Bryce through?
Mr. Bryce : Between Tom Reid and myself we will straighten the thing 
lu no time.
Mie Chairman : You will have the opportunity now then, Mr. Bryce.
Mr. Harkness : I would like to continue with this line.
The Chairman: Mr. Bryce says he wants to go ahead too. 

jj. Mr. Harkness: I was on a line of questioning when you interrupted me, 
t l may say so. I had asked one question and I had a second one ready 

ne asked when you interrupted me and then we had this discussion.

out

By Mr. Harkness:
The question I had asked was thether the appeal board had. recom- 
that somebody else be appointed to this position and the answer was 

>w it is a fact that the department refused to accept that recommendation 
tirT ^ns*ead threw the thing back to the appeal board?—A. The recommenda- 
y" appeal board was submitted to the department with the suggestion
t)^ further selection should be made. The department did not concur in 

suggestion of the appeal board that a further appointment from the list 
0r°md be made. Here again I am perhaps answering for Doctor Keenleyside 
'U h' Jackson, but as I understand it that is the situation. I think what was 

me mind of the department at that time was that Mr. Jackson’s conception 
'Ust ° l)osf as an executive assistant was coming to the fore, and consequently, 

mad of proceeding with the appointment of a general superintendent of

Q.

’"ended 
!es. No
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agencies they directed their attention to the position of general executive 
assistant. }

Q. In any event------ A. In any event no appointment was made nor was the
commission asked to make one.

Q. All right. When this matter came before the appeal board for the 
second time, and in this case it was a job for an executive assistant with the 
qualifications you have given, the appeal board held a meeting and it W8» 
reported in the press—I have the clipping here dated February 17—“Appeal 
board cancels Pratt appointment.” Apparently the appeal board met at 
that time and what did it do? What was its report?—A. That statement 
was not in accordance with the facts.

Q. February 17 was the date of the press report?—A. We have tw° 
reports from the appeal board and I will be glad to read what they say. The 
report of the appeal board made on February 17 reads as follows: “In fair' 
ness to all employees concerned, the board recommends a re-rating of tb® 
candidates on the basis of the actual requirements of this position at present, 
that the review board may pass judgment on the appeal which has been filed 
by Mr. Randle.”

Q. That was on February 17?—A. On February 17.
Q. What happened subsequent to that?—A. The commission advised the 

department of that request of the appeal board and asked the department t° 
prepare and supply the board with those ratings, which the department did-

Q. Was there any difference in the rating which was made to begin with 
on the question of the job of superintendent general and the rating supplied 
on February 17?—A. I can answer that best by quoting the two ratings. The 
order of the candidates, that is the relative fitness of the candidates, was changed- 
Mr. Pratt still remained first in both cases but the order of the remaining 
candidates was changed, I think, in six instances. The ratings were then1' 
selves different. New ratings had been provided and the actual numerical rating" 
were different in the second case from the ratings in the first case. The genera1 
effect was that Mr. Pratt secured first place in both ratings but the orcM 
of the following candidates was different in the second competition to wh9*1 
it was in the first competition.

Q. Then the appeal board had an official meeting on this thing with ne^ 
ratings before it at some subsequent time?—A. Yes, on March 3.

Q. On March 3?—A. Yes.
Q. That was the meeting to which you referred when you said they wer® 

unanimous in dismissing Mr. Randle’s appeal?—A. Yes, in my statement * 
quoted from the report of the appeal board.

Q. And the appeal board at that time concurred in Mr. Pratt’s appointing 
but the civil service representative did not concur?—A. That is not quhe 
correct. The civil service representative accepted these ratings but with certa'1’ 
reservations as to the relative qualifications of Messrs. Pratt and Arneil. ” 
do not think it is a correct statement to say that he did not concur.

Q. I am glad you corrected it.—A. The exact wording is “Two memberS 
of the board are satisfied that the new ratings as submitted fairly represent tilC 
comparative qualifications of the candidates and recommend these -ratings be 
accepted. The third member accepts these ratings with certain reservation-" 
as to the relative qualifications of Messrs. Pratt and Arneil.”

By Mr. Reid:
Q. I wo-nder if I may interrupt for a moment? In the case of a person wb0 

appeal against a decision—we will take the case of Mr. Randle who made ^ 
appeal—does he appeal against the decision rather than against the appointee,; 
Did he appeal against the decision in February or was it against Mr. Prat1" 
You see there is a difference.—A. I would be very glad to file with the con1' 
mittee, or read to the committee, Mr. Randle’s lengthy letter in this connection
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Q. I am just placing myself in the position of a candidate. If I was eighth 
or tenth or twelfth on a list I would not bother to appeal but if I was second 
j- might say to myself there was something wrong and I would like an appeal 
ooard to hear my case. Did Mr. Randle appeal for himself or did he appeal 
^gainst the appointment of Mr. Pratt?—A. I think he appealed against both. 
■His last sentence reads: “You are again reminded of my long administrative 
experience in the army and as an official of agricultural organizations—”

The Chairman : Have you any objection to reading the whole letter?
The Witness: No.
The Chairman : Well please read the letter.
The Witness: All right,
Mr. Reid: Yes, we want the facts.
The Witness:I put on the record Mr. Randle’s letter of January 17, 19-18.

COPY
DEPARTMENT OF MINES AND RESOURCES

Please Quote File
185/48

Brantford, 17th January, 1948.
R. Morgan, Secretary,

~lvil Service Commission,
Ottawa.
Hear Sir,

Re: File 4-5-809G (PNM)
With reference to your above file of the 5th instant, announcing the selec- 

won of Mr. Ford Pratt for the reclassified position (formerly General Superin­
tendent of Indian Agencies) of General Executive Assistant, Indian Affairs,— 
you will already have received my telegram of the 10th instant protesting 
toe unfairness of the procedure adopted, and now with extreme regret my formal 
aPPeal is made.

Your letter states that the appeal should not be in general terms, but 
should contain definite reasons. The obvious difficulty and unfairness of that 
r°quest cannot be questioned, as your letter of the 20th of December clearly 
states that new duties have been included.

Consequently, as the Commission has not seen fit to publicly disclose 
those duties, or the qualifications required, it is not possible for me in appealing,— 
^'cause of ignorance and the blackout of essential facts,—to competently and 
fittingly present reasons.

Therefore this appeal must on this occasion, to some extent be based 
°n a matter of principle—as viewing clearly the circumstances and outcome 

all that has occurred since the former competition was held, there is a 
strong feeling that much is not well with the Service, and that candidates 
entering competitions for promotion are up against circumstances which can 
a^ all times make promotion by just rating, unattainable, however merited
0r qualified. .

You will appreciate that without knowledge of the new duties assigned 
’-he reclassified position,—that it is possible they are laid down so that the 
qualifications unquestionablv held by me would not suitably conform to the 
Position and would make my appeal an absurdity, and place the successful 
Candida’tc in a much more favourable light,—which can hardly be considered 
a just procedure.
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However, as the Commission has seen fit to use the documents of the 
first competition as a means of re-rating all candidates for the reclassified 
position,—it would appear justifiable for me to request that the contentions 
made in my previous appeal should suffice, where applicable on this occasion,— 
together with the reasons contained in this letter. As that appeal is already 
on your file, may it please be used, together with this letter.

One point is reasonably clear from the designated title of the newly 
classified position; that is, the occupant of the position would largely have 
administrative duties in the Indian Affairs Branch.

As stated in my previous appeal, my administration for a considerable 
number of years of the largest Indian Agency in the Dominion, should certainly 
give me a knowledge and experience of purely Indian Administration, not 
enjoyed by the successful candidate whose duties appear to be of a secretarial 
nature.

You are also again reminded of my long administrative experience in the 
Army, and as an official of agricultural organizations, and the extensive knowl­
edge of personnel which is acquired through the duties these positions have 
involved.

You are advised the Civil Service Federation will represent me in this 
appeal.

Yours respectfully,
(Sgd) E. P. RANDLE,

Indian Superintendent.
Mr. Reid: That was the second letter.
The Witness: That is the letter of appeal in connection with the second 

position, yes.
The Chairman : Are there any further questions?

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. Well you stated that this newspaper account on February 17 was 

incorrect in regard to the statements made therein. It states “The Board 
directed—both the Mines Department and the Civil Service Commission readily 
agreed withdrawal of Mr. Pratt’s appointment and a new rating for all eligible 
candidates for this position.” Is that incorrect?—A. The latter part of it is 
correct but the first part is incorrect.

Q. What do y-ou mean by the first part?—A. It is correct that further 
ratings were requested, but it is not correct that the board said Mr. Pratt’s 
appointment should be withdrawn.

Q. I presume this demand on the part of the Appeal Board for new ratings 
amounts essentially to a refusal to make the appointment on the old ratings?

The Chairman : No, no, no.
Mr. Harkness: But it comes to the same thing?
Mr. Reid: I will tell you my opinion. We have dropped one man and we 

are asking why that man was dropped. There is no man capable of doing all 
the jobs you have set out there. That statement of duties is nonsense. Whoever 
wrote it? I would like to know who wrote it. The Appeal Board had every right 
to throw that thing out. It is a superman the department is looking for, not 
a man for the Indian Affairs Branch. Read it out to the committee and ask 
them if they can find a man to do that job.

Mr. Farquhar: That would not be the work of the Civil Service Commission.
Mr. Reid: I do not know who drew it up. I would like to know what was 

in their minds when they drew that up.
The Witness: It was drawn up jointly by the Department of Mines and 

Resources and the Civil Service Commission.
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Mr. Reid: That is terrible. I thought at first there was only one depart­
ment involved; now there are two.

Mr. Bryce: There is something about the Selkirk agency.
The Chairman: Do you want to ask questions about the Selkirk agency?
Mr. Bryce: No, Mr. Harkness asked a question before and I would like to 

hear the answer.
The Witness: I have the information for the other cases for which informa­

tion was asked.
Mr. Harkness : That is not what Mr. Bryce is referring to.
The Witness: I think it is.
Mr. Harkness : I asked about four other appointments, as a matter of 

tact, but I would think, perhaps, we had better go ahead and clean up this one 
case before we go into these other three or four.

The Chairman : Now is the time to ask the questions if you want to.

By Mr. Charlton:
Q. There were obviously at least eight applications for this first job.— 

A. There were eighteen applications for the first post.
Q. It seems rather peculiar there would not be one out of those eighteen 

to fill that position, does it not?—A. I think there could have been. There 
again perhaps I am getting into the thinking category. But it was the opinion 
of the Appeal Board and the commission that some of the applicants were 
qualified for the post.

Q. That they were qualified for the post?—A. Yes.
Q. Yet the position was not filled?—A. For the reason I have given you, 

that the department did not ask the commission to fill it.
Q. Because they changed their mind?—A. I cannot tell you that. That is 

a question that would have to be answered by the department.
Q. It is pretty obvious.
The Chairman : You can draw your own conclusions.
Mr. Charlton : I do, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Harkness: On this particular case I have no questions.
The Chairman: Do you wish to go into some other case?
Mr. Harkness: I have asked about four other positions. I do not know 

w hether it would be better to go on with this case now and go back to the others 
afterwards or not; I think it would be better to go on with this case.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Are you, as chairman of the Civil "Service Commission, satisfied with 

q'e last finding of the Appeal Board? Are you satisfied that everything is 
•ight?—A. I should like to answer that question in two parts, and I shall try 
*:0 make it straightforward. I am satisfied that the Appeal Board and the Civil 
^ervice Commission were justified in disallowing the promotion of Mr. Pratt 
m the position of general superintendent of Indian agencies, and I am satisfied 
that we are justified in confirming his promotion to the post of general executive 
distant.

The Chairman : Arc there any other questions?
Mr. Harkness: Can wre have Mr. Bland back in connection with these 

°ther cases?
The Chairman: The committee is quite at liberty at any time to ask any 

[Official of the government to come here and give evidence within their power or
knowledge.

Mr. Hoey: Mr. Chairman, there is this point I would like to make, if I 
rriay 'be permitted to do so: when criticisms of appointments are made they have
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a very unsettling effect. For example, there is the position in Manitoba. It 
appears regular. Mr. Bland will explain it. I am immediately inundated with 
letters and the head office staff are unsettled and,they remain unsettled and to 
some extent rebellious and split for and against; and it is a bad condition to 
keep that kind of thing hanging over a staff if it can be cleaned up. They are 
matters that come wholly within the Civil Service jurisdiction, and so far as I 
am personally concerned I would like to see them settled.

The Witness : Mr. Chairman, may I add one remark to what Mr. Hoey has 
said? I have details of the four cases about which Mr. Harkness asked, and 
my belief is that it would not take long to get them out of the way.

The Chairman : Is that agreeable?
Mr. Harkness : That is agreeable. Will Dr. Keenleyside be available to 

this committee at another time?
The Chairman: He is in the building. He will be leaving tomorrow and 

will be gone for one month.
Mr. Blackmore: May I ask a question for my own satisfaction? Just 

what is the general nature of the problems we are going to consider before the 
committee during the remainder of this sitting? We have had this one appoint­
ment. Are we just keeping on with appointments?

The Chairman: Apparently so. These are matters having to do with 
appointments through the Civil Service Commission. Now, this is not within 
the jurisdiction of this committee, but we did take it upon ourselves because of 
the publicity that has been given to one appointment, to examine into that 
appointment, and as a result there have been other questions asked on other 
appointments. Now, while it is not within our power to do anything about it 
in the event we do find anything wrong, in order to clear the air shall I say, we 
have permitted this committee to make some inquiries into this matter and 
other appointments. Now, Mr. Bland has other cases here which have been 
asked about. Let us find out about them. Is that agreeable?

Mr. Harkness: Agreed.
The Witness : May I table one paper? Mr. Bryce asked at the last meeting 

for a report on the itinerary of Mr. Orr, who made a long survey of Indian 
agencies.

Mr. Bryce : You told me where he had been and I doubted if he had gone 
to Norway House.

The Witness : I have a list of all the places he was at.
Mr. Bryce: Did he go to Norway House?
The Witness : I would like to say that this survey made by the Civil 

Service Commission through Mr. Orr was the result of a recommendation of 
this committee in the summer of 1946. After this committee reported that more 
attention should be paid to the needs of agencies and the inspection of agencies! 
the Civil Service Commission felt it was most advisable that a survey in the 
field should be made at once. Mr. Orr started at the end of 1946 and concluded 
his survey by the fall of 1947. He made numerous reports of the survey of 
each agency and district. Those reports have been transmitted to the Depart­
ment of Mines and Resources, and action in the way of additional staff, changes 
in methods and additional salaries have resulted from many of them. I do 
not know myself whether Mr. Orr was at Norway House or not, but these 
pages of the itinerary indicate where he was and the results. I do not see 
Norway House mentioned. I do not think he was at Norway House.

Mr. Bryce: I had doubts of him being there.
The Witness: His statement was that he had covered agencies throughout 

Canada with the exception of those in the north, and he recommends that ft
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further survey should be made in the near future of the agencies that were 
missed.

Mr. Bryce : My constituency can be called in the north.
The Witness: Yes. This will give full details, in any case.
Mr. Bryce: From the coverage I have made it is necessary that somebody 

in the department go there.
The Chairman : We will table the itinerary.
The Witness: Mr. Harkness asked for information with respect to four 

cases: one was the promotion of J. E. Gendron to the post of regional supervisor 
in thé province of Quebec ; the second appointment was that of superintendent of 
the Indian agency at Selkirk ; the third appointment is that of superintendent 
of the Indian agency at Lesser Slave Lake; the fourth is the case of John 
Morris of the Indian Affairs branch. I do not know what points you want to 
cover, but I shall be glad to give a short outline of what has happened in each 
case or I shall endeavour to answer questions.

Mr. Harkness : In connection with this case at Selkirk, Manitoba, I may 
say that I brought this up as a result of a letter which I received and perhaps 
I should read the letter to the committee.

The Chairman : From whom is the letter?
Mr. Harkness : It is from a gentleman whose name I do not mind giving 

to the committee, but he has asked me, if possible, that his name be not 
used for personal reasons in his present job. When you have heard the letter 
you will understand that he has good reasons for not having his name pub­
lished. I will ask that the name be not put in the record or published in the 
newspapers. I can give the name to the committee.

The Chairman : What we are trying to do is get information from the 
Civil Service Commission while Mr. Bland is here, and I am trying to get you 
to ask questions to get out the facts. Is it the pleasure of the committee to 
hear this letter read?

Agreed.
Mr. Harkness : I will give the name, but I merely ask that the name 

shall not appear in the record. Having regard to this man’s case, I think it is 
n reasonable request.

The Chairman : Is that agreeable?
Agreed.
The Chairman : Let us proceed.
Mr. Harkness (reads) :
“I have been most interested in your discussions before the joint Commons- 

Senate committee on Indian Affairs. I refer to your criticism of the manner in 
which Indian department appointments are made.

In 1945, while serving overseas as a captain in the Canadian army (I 
enlisted as a private) I wroth to the Department of Indian Affairs inquiring 
as to the possibilities of finding a career with them after retirement from the 
army.

I had been approached while in the army in Canada and asked if I were 
interested in the position of Indian agent for the Norway House agency in 
Manitoba. At that time I was earmarked for overseas service and so replied.

In reply to my letter from England I was advised to apply for the position 
°f Indian Agent at Selkirk, Manitoba, a position which was to be vacated in 
August, 1946.

My background for such a position is as follows:—
1. I was born and raised to school age on an Indian reservation at Fisher 

River, Manitoba, son of a Protestant missionary who served among 
the Cree Indians of Manitoba for fifty-two years.
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2. Educated at the University of Manitoba but completed only two 
years of arts. Left university to supply a mission field for the 
United Church of Canada.

3. Two years’ teaching experience on an Indian reserve at Oxford House, 
Manitoba.

4. Four years as missionary at God’s Lake and Cross Lake in Manitoba. 
During these years in addition to church work, I administered the work 
of the Indian department, including issuing of relief and treaty supplies, 
dispensing of Indian department drugs, counselling in all manner of 
domestic, social and economic problems.

5. A study of the economic problems of the Indians carried on over a 
period totalling twelve years in the Norway House district. This 
included a study of agricultural possibilities for Indians, and develop­
ments in the fishing and trapping industries.

6. A first-hand knowledge of the workings of the Indian Act.
7. A clear insight into the problems of Indian education.
8. A first-class knowledge of the Cree language, including the reading 

and writing of the Cree syllablic system. This ability has given me, I 
am sure, an insight into the psychology of the Indian which cannot 
be achieved by a man to whom their language must be interpreted. 
(At the present time I am proof-reading and correcting errors in a 
book containing over 200 hymns written in the Cree syllabic system.)

9. First-hand knowledge of conditions on ten Indian reserves in Manitoba 
and a general knowledge of conditions on at least six others.

Any or all of the above can be confirmed by Dr. George Dorey, secretary 
of Home Missions, United Church of Canada, 299 Queen street, west, Toronto, 
Ontario. By background is also well known to Dr. P. E. Moore of the Depart­
ment of- National Flealth, Ottawa.

On my return to Canada in 1946 I made application for the position of 
agent at Selkirk, Manitoba. At that time I was a resident of Winnipeg, Mani­
toba, and had lived in Manitoba all my life.

The Civil Service Commission competition for the position was not called 
until April, 1947, and I was urged by the above mentioned Dr. Dorey to apply 
once more for the position. I did so.

I was in due time advised by the Civil Service Commission that my quali- 
cations did not warrant any more consideration by that body than the initial 
perusal of my application.

To clear up a conclusion you may have reached ere reading this far, I will 
state my present situation. For two years I have held the position of super­
intendent of industrial relations in an organization which at present has about 
twenty-two hundred men on its payroll. My income is 20 per cent higher than 
■the maximum salary paid for the Indian department position for which I 
applied. I am not suffering any pain in my present position and certainly 
would not have even considered leaving it to join the Indian department were 
it not that I feel that I have been given certain qualities which would enable 
me to render worthy service to a people who stand sorely in need of help from 
those who know and appreciate them.

My whole purpose in writing this is to express my belief that it is utterly 
shameful that the employment of men with ‘field experience’ as recommended 
by the Senate-Commons committee in 1947 is completely disregarded by people 
who should have the real interests of the Indians at heart. During twenty 
years of. association with or observation of the Indian department I have felt 
that it was indeed a political football’ and from my father’s experiences I would 
say that this condition has applied for not less than forty years.
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May your efforts to bring to light some of the methods by which appoint­
ments are made succeed !

P. S. The Selkirk agency position has been filled, I am told, by a former 
C.P.R. employee.”

The Chairman: What is the date of that letter?
Mr. Harkness : February 20, 1948.
The Chairman: From whom?
(Name given to the committee.)
The Chairman : Gentlemen, Dr. Keenleyside is here now if you want to 

examine him before 6 o’clock.
Mr. Reid: Let us have an answer to this case now.
The Chairman : As soon as we get through with this matter we will hear 

from Dr. Keenleyside.
Mr. MacNicon: Mr. Chairman, I ask through you a question of Mr. Hark­

ness with reference to the gentleman who wrote the letter. Had he himself, 
personally, any experience in managing the affairs of an Indian reservation?

Mr. Harkness: You heard his statement. He had spent twenty years of 
his life, part of it in carrying on some of the work of the department as a teacher 
on an Indian reserve.

The Witness: The answer to the question is that for this particular agency 
the department desired and the commission agreed that it was desirable that 
the new agent should be either a forester or an agriculturist. Only one applicant 
who applied had the qualifications required.

Mr. Bryce: Was he a returned man?
The Witness: He was not a returned man. He was not an employee of 

the Canadian Pacific Railway. He had been employed at the Brandon experi­
mental farm and he was selected by a board which had a representative of the 
Canadian Legion present, who agreed that none of the returned soldier appli­
cants possessed the necessary qualifications.

By Mr. Bryce:
Q. Had he had any experience with Indians?—A. I could not answer that.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. Who drew up the qualifications for this particular post?—A. They 

were drawn up between the department and the commission. In all these cases 
the qualifications are drawn up jointly by the department and the commission. 
In some cases the department sets out the qualifications and sends them to the 
commission for consideration. Very often there is a discussion between the 
commission and the department, and in this case that was the procedure 
followed.

Q. I would like to refer particularly to the discussions we had last year on 
this matter that university qualifications should not be necessary for an Indian 
agent. I think most of the members of the committee felt that a man who was 
best qualified by temperament, past experience and so forth, whether he had a 
university education or not, was the man who should be appointed.

The Chairman: Is that a question?
Mr. MacNicoL: I think, as we said two or three times in our discussion, 

that somebody on the reservation or a superintendent of farming should have 
an opportunity to apply.

By Mr. Bryce:
Q. I want to ask you a question. You say that the Indian agent at Selkirk 

had to be an agriculturist or a forester?—A. That was the desire of the 
department.
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Q. Is that the desire with respect to every Indian agent you apply for?— 
A. No.

Q. Why Selkirk?—A. Mr. Hoey could answer this better than I can but 
my understanding is that in the Clandeboye agency lumbering and agriculture 
are two of the main pursuits.

Q. Have you been there?—A. No, sir; I am only quoting what I am told.
Mr. Brunelle: Will you give me the date of that letter?
Mr. Harkness: February 20, 1948.

By Mr. Brunelle:
Q. Mr. Bland, on February 20, 1948, had the commission advised that man 

that he did not have the proper qualifications?—A. A letter was sent to all 
unsuccessful applicants advising them that they were not being further con­
sidered. I will read it to the committee :—

With reference to your application submitted in connection with the 
position of superintendent of Indian agencies—

By Mr. Charlton:
Q. What is the date?—A. May 30, 1947.

Reference Competition 47-550,
Superintendent, Indian Agency, Grade 2,
Clandeboye Indian Agency, Selkirk, Man.
Dear Sir: (Madam)

With reference to your application submitted in connection with the 
marginally noted competition, I have to advise you that your qualifica­
tions and those of all other applicants were carefully reviewed by an 
Advisory Examining Board, and those who were considered to possess 
the education and experience most nearly in line with the requirements 
were selected for an oral examination. It was considered that if a suf­
ficient number of suitable eligibles could be secured from this group, it 
wtiuld be putting the other candidates to needless expense and loss of time 
to examine them also. I regret to say that your qualifications, as set 
out by yourself in your application form, did not justify your inclusion 
in this group.

Yours truly,
(Sgd.) R. MORGAN,

Secretary,
Q. Is that a form letter?—A. Yes.
Mr. Brunelle: He knew he was not qualified when he got that letter. That 

letter was sent to him on May 30, 1947.
The Chairman: We have Dr. Keenleyside here now if you would like to 

take the next twenty minutes in examination of him. We hope we will have 
the pleasure of calling on you again, Mr. Bland.

H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, Department of Mines and Resoures, 
recalled.

Mr. Blackmore: While Dr. Keenleyside is getting into position if it is in 
order I should like to ask a question concerning a matter of administration, if 
the committee sees fit to have the question asked. Then we would be able to 
go into the answers with the departmental officials next time we were together.

The Chairman: You would like to ask whom a question?
Mr. Blackmore : It will be a question for the whole administration.



INDIAN ACT 101

The Chairman : Would you like to submit a question now? Here is Dr. 
Keenleyside. Would you like to put it to him.

Mr. Blackmore: I think Mr. Hoey would be the one.
The Chairman: Through him it will go to somebody else.
Mr. Blackmore: If the committee is willing to give about three or four 

minutes for these questions I should like to have them on, the record.
The Chairman: You would like to submit questions and have them 

answered later?
Mr. Blackmore: That is right.
The Chairman: Is that agreeable to the committee? (Agreed.)
Mr. Blackmore : It has been brought to my attention—
The Chairman : There is this about it; we are on a special committee 

meeting now. Are those questions applicable to Dr. Keenleyside?
Mr. Blackmore: They are applicable to the whole Indian administration.
Mr. MacNicol: Dr. Keenleyside is going away. Had we not better finish 

with him?
The Chairman : Yes, I think so.
Mr. Blackmore: I agree.
The Chairman: Dr. Keenleyside is the Deputy Minister of the Department 

°f Mines and Resources, and has administrative control of the Indian Affairs 
branch. Have you something you would like to say first?

The Witness: No, just to apologize to you and to the committee for my 
intermittent attendance this afternoon. It was not through choice I was not 
here for the whole of the discussion.

The Chairman : AVe appreciate that. Is there any statement you would 
hke to make first before proceeding with questioning?

The AVitness: There are perhaps two things that might be put on the record. 
The first is that in regard to the proposed appointment of Mr. Pratt. I think 
Perhaps the committee does not recognize that it would have been possible to 
have had Mr. Pratt appointed to a senior position in the department by 
ministerial action, if all we had been doing was looking for an opportunity to 
have a job made for him, to put it that way.

It would also be possible to have advertised this position through the Civil 
service Commission and confined the candidates to those who were engaged in 
Ottawa in the headquarters of the department, to have confined it to the members 
t the department in Ontario, if you like, to have confined it to. members of 
me branch throughout Canada. Instead of taking any of those restrictive actions 
he department asked the Civil Service Commission to advertise the position 

'mly for everyone in the public service throughout the whole of Canada. In other 
?ords, there was no attempt made to restrict it with a view to making Mr. 

ratt’s chances better, if you want to interpret it that way.
The second thing that I think might perhaps be said—and here I would 

n°t take exception to what Mr. Bland has said but perhaps change the emphasis 
a little bit—is this. I think one would get the impression from the way in 
^«ich Mr. Bland put the matter that there had been two distinct positions, 
me first one superintendent of Indian agencies which was totally abondoned, 
‘‘ml then something else put in under the title of general executive assistant 
to the head of the Indian Affairs Branch.
r In my reading of the documents in the case, and in the discussions that 
I have had with those who were connected with it, I have come to the con­
tusion that there was not quite such a clear distinction drawn between the 
tow. What happened was the the original advertisement for a superintendent 
of Indian agencies was put out in a way that, I think, was rather an inadequate
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expression of what the department, and I believe the Civil Service Commission, 
had in mind.

When the first appeal was taken and was upheld by the Appeal Board 
the officers of the department and of the Civil Service Commission looked again 
at the position, and in the discussions which then took place they decided that 
the original advertisement for it was not really an adequate description of 
what they had had in mind. They also decided that the title, “Superintendent 
of Indian Agencies” which had been taken over from a previous appointment, 
was not the most suitable title for the kind of duties that were really wanted. 
As a result of other discussions which took place in the spring of 1946, and 
which were brought to a conclusion of August of that year it was decided to 
re-word the advertisement to make it more clearly express what was desired 
in the new appointment, and also to change the title so that it would more 
adequately express what was really wanted.

In the correspondence between ourselves and the Civil Service Com­
mission about it this was not described as a new position. It was described as 
a change in title or reclassification of the title. The point I am trying to make 
is this, that we did not want to appoint a new' superintendent of Indian agencies 
who would have the same kind of responsibilities as the previous incumbent 
of that job had had because we found it had not worked very satisfactorily. 
What wre wanted was a rather different set of duties which would have some 
of the responsibilities of the previous incumbent but which would have some 
additional responsibilities. The second advertisement clearly expressed what 
both the department and the branch and also the Civil Service Commission 
believed to be the proper duties for the kind of job that w'ould make unneces­
sary the appointment of a new superintendent of Indian agencies, and w'ould 
at the same time make it possible for the general executive assistant to do the 
job in the department that really needed doing.

The point of all this is we did not want another superintendent of Indian 
agencies in spite of the fact we at one time had agreed to an advertisement 
carrying that title.

The Chairman: Are there any questions?

By Mr. Reid:
Q. I am going to ask Dr. Keen ley si de the same question I asked Mr. Bland. 

I presume you read the first advertisement?—A. Yes.
Q. Do you think it w'ould have been possible to secure at the salary you 

were offering an individual with all those qualifications and requirements?— 
A. I often have doubts about that in civil service advertisements, and find it 
very difficult to believe that a person having all those virtues could be found, 
and if he could be found whether he would be inclined to take the job at the 
salaries that are offered.

The Chairman: Any further questions?
Mr. Bareness : Yes.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. You stated this new' job with the title of executive assistant you thought 

would be more in line with what was needed in the department. Is it not a 
fact that Mr. Hoey had asked for an administrative assistant?—A. I do not 
know what you mean by administrative assistant.

Mr. Charlton: General superintendent.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. In filling this job of superintendent general of Indian agencies what he 

had in mind was a man to act chiefly as an administrator?—A. What he had 
in mind is the kind of person that is described in the advertisement for a
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general executive assistant. If you want to call that an administrative assistant 
I have no quarrel with the title.

Q. I presume you have read the findings of the first Appeal Board?—A. I 
fead the findings, yes. I did not read the copies of the documents that were 
attached to it that appeared in the newspapers.

Q. Is it not’ a fact that the Appeal Board found that Mr. Hoey had 
required a man, whose duties would be primarily of an administrative character, 
to relieve him of a great deal of the administrative load he Was then carrying?— 
A. I think there was something of that sort in the report that was made by 
the Appeal Board, although just why or on what authority the Appeal Board 
ltself should decide what the qualifications should be I do not know.

Q. I am not talking about the Appeal Board deciding anything. I merely 
^sked if that was not the kind of man Mr. Hoey asked for, according to the 
findings of the Appeal Board and the report of the evidence Mr. Hoey had 
given.—A. Yes, I think I might agree to that.

Q. Is it not also a fact that the report of the Appeal Board stated that 
they were very much surprised at the evidence given by Mr. Jackson, that 
they said something along this line, that they—

The Chairman : What are you reading from?
Mr. Harkness : I am reading from notes I have. They said—
The Chairman: Is this a public document?
Mr. Harkness: It will be public after I have read it.
The Chairman : That is right; I have no doubt of that. What we are trying 

to find out is what you are reading from. You are reading from something.
Mr. Harkness: I am actually reading this note I have got.
The Chairman : This is supposed to be a part of a document?
Mr. Harkness: Which you can see is in my own writing.
The Chairman : Where did you get it? Where is the original document?
Mr. Harkness: I have here also a document which purports to be the 

rePort of this board.
The Chairman: Where is that from?
Mr. Harkness:
The Chairman:
Mr. Harkness:
The Chairman :
Mr. Harkness: -____

fact, in the building here.
The Chairman : Where from?

Whether it is or not I do not know.
You have a document.
That is what I am trying to determine.
Where did you get this one?
I had this particular document typed for me, as a matter

Mr. Harkness: The original of it arrived in an envelope.
The Chairman : Where from?
/Ir. Harkness : Where it came from I do not know. As I say, it purports 
the report of this appeal board. Whether it is or not I do not know, 

is what I am trying to determine—amongst other things.
Mr. Brunelle: Why not have the real report of the board?
Mr. Harkness: I should like to have the real report of the board.
The Chairman: We had Mr. Bland here. He gave us the report.
Mr. Harkness: If Mr. Bland or anybody else is ready to table the reports 

°‘ 'these respective Appeal Boards I will be only too happy.
The Chairman : He has already done that,
Mr. Harkness : No, lie has not.
The Chairman : He read from them.

7802—3
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Mr. Harkness: He read certain excerpts.
The Chairman : He read from the original documents.
The Witness: I think perhaps if I may I should like -to make my position 

clear in regard to this. I presume what Colonel Harkness has is the document 
that was subsequently reproduced in the newspapers here in Ottawa. I should 
like to say that document, whether accurate or not, was never made available 
to the department.

The Chairman : In other words, as I understand it this is supposed to be a 
report which must have been by one of the three members of the Appeal Board. 
Is that not correct?

Mr. Harkness: Well, it purports to be the document turned in by these 
appeal board people. I see the names are typed in at the bottom, Maclsaac, 
Allan and Putman.

The Chairman : Was it given to you by one of those three men?
Mr. Harkness: I have already told you how I got it. It was not given 

me at all.
The Chairman : That is the point. You told us it came in an envelope.
Mr. Harkness: That is all that I know about it.
The Chairman : Is it black market?
Mr. Farquhar: What does it matter how it came? Can you not allow 

someone to go ahead and ask questions when we have Dr. Keenleyside here?
The Chairman : There is no objection to asking questions, but he is reading 

from a report.
Mr. Farquhar: Then you should keep quiet and let us see what he is after.
The Chairman : What I am trying to find out is what this report is aiid 

where it came from.
Mr. Harkness: That is what I am trying to find out. As I said before i* 

purports to be a report of the Appeal Board.
The Chairman : Then table the report.
Mr. Harkness: I do not know whether or not it is. I am asking some 

questions based on it.
The Chairman : We had Mr. Bland and the original report before us. The 

report will be available today.
Mr. Blackmore: I suggest that Mr. Harkness go ahead with his questions- 

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. I understood from the evidence we had at a previous meeting that one 

copy of this report, if this is a copy of it, went to your department?—A. No- 
sir, it did not.

Q. That was the evidence. I think if we look it up we will see that is so.-" 
A. I do not think anybody ever suggested that.

Q. You have never seen this report?—A. I read what I presume is the 
same report in the newspaper. That was the basis of the suggestion I made 
when I previously appeared before the committee that some steps of a discip' 
linary nature should be taken in connection with the purloining of a document 
from civil service files.

Q. I would suggest that I read this report into the record and then ask 
either Dr. Keenleyside or Mr. Bland whether it is actually a true conv of the 
report.

The Chairman: I do not think that we would be justified in accepting a 
copy of something which purports to be a copy of an original which we do npt 
know ever existed, and which has been denied by this witness. If we want ^



INDIAN ACT 105

et us have the original, and let us not have anything which purports to be 
something that is not a fact.

Mr. Harkness: All right, I would ask that the original reports of the first 
and the second appeal board be tabled for the use of this committee.

The Chairman: We have no objection to bringing Mr. Bland back when 
e arc finished with Dr. Keenleysidc and asking him for any material that is 

Pessary.
Mr. Farquhar: I do not think we should have it read into the record until 

, Çu time as we know whether it is a correct report. I do not think there is any 
lection to asking questions on it.

. 1 he Chairman : Have you any other questions you want to put to this
"itness?

By Mr. Harkness:
y Q- To continue the question I was asking, is it a fact to your knowledge 
evi **le ^rs* Appeal Board reported that they were very much amazed at the 
bv a CC £hven by Mr. Jackson, and that it was quite contrary to that given 
Da v r‘ Doey in connection with what qualifications were required for this 

Ticular job at that time, that of superintendent general.—A. No, sir, I have 
r(, ,any evidence of'that sort except what I read in the newspapers. What we 

cciycd in the department was a statement to the effect that the Appeal Board 
„;d decided that the appeal by Colonel Randle should be disregarded. Theytheny" u went on to add that they thought Mr. Pratt did not possess the qualifica- 
T1’18 that were defined in the advertisement, and they suggested that he be 
in ^Pointed also, and thirdly I think they suggested that the second candidate 

standing should be appointed.
By Mr. Reid:

Q. Who was the second candidate?- -A. Mr. Arneil.
By Mr. Harkness:

c Q- I would think that so far as further questioning on this point is con- 
f] ned it would be better to question Mr. Jackson or Mr. Hoey, so I will not 
th(:^on Dr. Keenleysidc further on this point. However, having regard to 
lt). Report of the Appeal Board which stated that Mr. Pratt did not have the 
ist "l*111111 qualifications, according to the evidence we have had and the min­
ty statement, for this type of administrative post; and having regard also 
c0 An. 23 of our 1947 recommendations: “That future appointments of officials 

kerned with the administration of Indian Affairs should, where practicable, 
of|TCstrieted to applicants who have had previous experience in the field. Field 
<tiVyrs *n the said administration should, from time to time, be posted to the 
t]wSlonal or headquarters office of such administration”, and having in mind 
«"..recommendation and the finding of this first Appeal Board, why did you 
Cf>nrUe P118*1 f°r the appointment of Mr. Pratt?—A. Mr. Chairman, I 
fy^aued to recommend the appointment of Mr. Pratt because I thought he 
W)i( we man of all candidates who was the best suited to have the position 

11 d was accurately defined.
etieo^' in your option did Mr. Pratt have the field administrative experi-
heori^bich in our recommendation 23 we recommended should be possessed by 

o appointed to those central posts in Indian Affairs?—A. I think he had 
W^Sh knowledge of conditions in the field to do better than anyone else who 
ow a candidate for the job that was defined in the competition for general 

assistant.
evety- Did he, in effect, have any field experience?—A. If you mean was he 

stationed in the field, no.
7802-
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Q. He had no field experience whatever?—A. No field experience was 
requisite for the particular job.

Q. I suggest, Dr. Keenleyside, that if you had been attempting to carry 
out our recommendation 23 you would have thought that field experience was 
requisite?—A. I think if you will read recommendation 23 there are qualifying 
clauses in that which make it unnecessary to give precedence to field experience 
over all other qualifications.

Q. It says, “where practicable.” I see nothing in “practicable” that 
would have been against giving this job to a man who had had field experience' 
—A. Mr. Chairman, if it is a question of carrying out the letter rather thaD 
the spirit of the recommendations of this committee as contrasted with appointing 
a man who is manifestly superior to the others in the competition for a pat' 
ticular job and thereby lowering the standard of the Indian Affairs service 1 
would, of course, have to make a decision to disregard in that particular 
instance the recommendation of the committee. I do not see how any pubhc 
servant who felt the responsibility of the position could do otherwise.

Q. What that comes down to merely is that in your opinion Mr. Prat* 
was superior although the Appeal Board did not think so?—A. The Appea 
Board was judging Mr. Pratt on what I have already said I considered to ^ 
an inaccurate statement of the qualifications that were required for the j0*5' 
I am not criticizing the Appeal Board. I think, perhaps, under the circun1' 
stances with the definition that was given in the first advertisement that they 
had some justification for taking the step they did.

Q. In drawing up the new qualifications for this position of executif 
assistant, did you draw those qualifications so that they would more nearff 
fit Mr. Pratt’s qualifications?—A. Well, in view of the fact they were drawn w 
something more than a year before I had anything to do with the Indian Affa1'! 
branch, of course, I had nothing to do with it personally ; but if it is suggeste°_ 
that any of the senior officers of the department were so recreant in their duv 
that they would adjust the terms of an advertisement in order to suit 
particular candidate, I suggest there is not an atom of truth in it.

Q. I not only suggest it; I suggest the Appeal Board stated it.
Mr. Matthews : I suggest the Appeal Board came out very definitely 

in favour of Mr. Pratt. Any man who understands the English langui 
cannot think differently. I do not like so much twisting of the facts.

Mr. Harkness: I do not think there is any twisting of the English langur 
whatever.

Mr. Matthews: You twisted one thing a minute ago that Dr. Keenlw 
side said.

ge

Mr. Harkness: I have not twisted anything.
Mr. Matthews: You did, not three minutes ago. .
Mr. Harkness: I have already asked that these reports be tabled so 

we can judge what they say ourselves.
Mr. Matthews: That is right. We are right with you on that.
Mr. Charlton : I have a few questions I should like to ask Dr. Keenl^ 

side if he is not going to be here tomorrow.
The Witness: I can be here tomorrow if necessary.
The Chairman : That may be all very well for Dr. Keenleyside but *■ 

committee has a job to do and its job is not to go into the operation of 
Civil Service Commission.

Mr. Charlton : Dr. Keenleyside is not in the Civil Service Commiss’111

The Chairman: This whole inquisition is about the Civil Service C01’’ 
mission.
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Mr. Blackmore: It is 6 o’clock.
The Chairman : It is 6 o’clock. A motion to adjourn is in order. We will 

Row adjourn.
Mr. Charlton: Before the motion for adjournment is carried I want to 

Hsk if I will have the opportunity to ask Dr. Keenleyside a few questions 
tomorrow morning or some other time.

The Chairman : I have no objection to your asking any questions at
We have a motion to adjourn. Is it your pleasure to adjourn?
Mr. Charlton: It is not mine. I will take about two minutes to ask the 

Questions I have to ask.
Mr. Blackmore: In fairness to Mr. Charlton I would suggest that he be 

flowed to do so.
The Chairman : You. withdraw the motion.

. Mr. Blackmore: I would suggest that we give enough time tomorrow to 
>ave these questions answered.

Mr. Matthews : Let him ask them right now.
Mr. Charlton: It will take a few minutes.
The Chairman : Put the question.
Mr. Charlton: It is more than one.

By Mr. Charlton:
Q. How long after the first job was advertised did you change your mind 

ln the department as. to the qualifications for that particular joh?—A. After the 
*®JP°rt the the Appeal Board was received in the department there was a meeting 
o'jth the members of the commission on the 27th of May, 1946, at which the 
/'“ole subject was reviewed, and the details of the advertisement discussed, 
,nrl so on. It was then agreed both that the advertisement was an inaccurate 
ascription of what was really wanted, and that the wording of the original 
dvertisement was unsatisfactory, and it was agreed then they would make a 
“ange. That was the 27th of May, 1946.

Q. And yet Mr. Hoey still asked1 for a general superintendant of Indian 
Sencies to be appointed?—A. Not after that, no.

Q. Obviously not.—A. I am afraid I do not get the point. I wonder if it 
c°nld be elucidated.

Q. I should like to refer to page 34 of the evidence. I do take exception to 
°“e of your remarks. I think it is rather unfortunate it was made. I will quote 
°“e paragraph.

Mr. Randle was never, at any time, recommended for this appoint­
ment by either the commission or the department. There was never, at 
any time, the slightest chance of his being appointed.. He did not stand 
second in the competition. He was eighth. Acting quite within his rights 
he twice appealed against the decisions in favour of Mr. Pratt by the 
Civil Service Commission. His first appeal was thrown out. The second 

^ has not yet been dealt with.
i “ere is an inference there which I think it is rather unfortunate that it should 

e “lade by yourself or anyone else in the department. I think in that inference 
““tain things may be determined not only to Colonel Randle but to other 

j“c“ibers of the staff of your department. I do not think it is conducive to 
, ““tnony within the department. I am sorry to make that statement but I 

“lieve it, and I believe it has been done before. I believe certain things.of that 
“tore are not, as I say, conducive to harmony of operation and administration 
Wiin the department because obviously now Colonel Randle’s standing will 
°t be as high as it was before.
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The Chairman : What is the question?
The Witness: I am afraid I do not get the inference. If it is suggested 

that I should not have said there was never any chance of his being appointed, 
I think that is a fair deduction from the fact he came eighth. It is perfectly 
obvious to me.

By Mr. Charlton:
Q. Would it not have been bettor not said? He is a rather high official 

being on the largest reserve in Canada.
The Chairman : He is an Indian agent.
Mr. Charlton : Yes.
The Chairman : He came eighth.
Mr. Charlton : He had been there for a number of years.
The Chairman : Do you know what year he was appointed?
Mr. Charlton: I am not sure of that, around 1925 or 1926.
Hon. Mr. Taylor: 1935.
The Chairman : What is the question? After all, he is the one that started

this.
Mr. Harkness : I do not'think he started it at all. I do not think he had 

anything to do with it.
The Chairman : Did lie not make the appeal?
Mr. Charlton: He applied for the first position. I am not here fighting 

for Colonel Randle. I am fighting for a principle that has been adopted in the 
department. I do not think it is a good one.

Mr. Brunelle: What is the question you are going to ask?
Mr. Charlton : I asked my question first. The other was a statement of 

fact. I believe that it has been a detriment to the operation of the India0 
Affairs Branch.

The Chairman: I must confess I do not get the question.
Mr. Brunelle: You said you had two questions. You asked one; then 

you made a statement. Where is the second question?
Mr. Blackmore: I am sorry, but I cannot get the principle. I am listening 

very sympathetically but I cannot quite get the principle that Mr. Charité0 
has in mind.

Mr. Charlton : I am taking exception.
The Chairman : You are making a statement. Have you got a questi»0 

you want to put to Dr. Keenleyside?
Mr. Charlton : I have no other questions now. I asked my question first-
The Chairman: That is a question which is not answered. I am like 

Blackmore; I do not quite see it.
Mr. Farquhar : I move we adjourn.
The committee adjourned.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons, 
Mardi 19, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act met this day at 11 a.m. 
Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman), presided.

The Chairman: As I advised you yesterday Mr. Bland will not be able 
to be here this morning and will not be able to be here next week unless, of 
course, we demand it. He will, however, be available after next week. Of 
course, then we have our Easter recess intervening so that it does not look as 
though it would be convenient to have Mr. Bland come back until some time 
after Easter. If it is your pleasure we will hear from Mr. Jackson and Mr. Hoey 
this morning. As you know Dr. Keenleyside will be out of the city for a month 
mi government business. Mr. Jackson and Mr. Hoey, you are both here. 
Have you something you would like to present to the committee at this stage, 
Mr. Jackson?

C. W. Jackson, Director of Administration and Personnel, Department 
°f Mines and Resources, called.

The Witness: Yes, Mr. Chairman and gentlemen. First I want to thank 
you for giving me the opportunity of being able to say something about this 
matter. I must say I feel very keenly about it, not because of any part I 
have had in it but because of the injustice that has been done to Mr. Pratt, 
c wish to say at the outset Mr. Pratt did not seek the job. He was most 
reluctant to be a candidate in the competition.

When I first discussed the matter with him he stated that there had always 
been-- antagonism on the part of civil service organizations to private secretaries 
being appointed to government jobs. I pointed out to Mr. Pratt at that time 
he was then a member of the civil service for over thirty years and that that 
Criticism should not apply to him. It was only after I pointed this out to 
him and emphasized the importance of the position in the branch that he 
°°usented to file his application.

I think I should point out to the committee that Mr. Pratt was then 
Occupying and still occupies the position of chief of personnel in the branch 
rhat position has a salary of $4,320. The position for which he was applying 
has a salary range of $4.620 to $5,220. I mention that to indicate that there 
'''as only really a difference of $300, whereas the publicity that has been given to 
mis whole matter would indicate Mr. Pratt was being promoted to a job where 
me increase ran into thousands of dollars. I am sure if I had not strongly 
{mged Mr. Pratt to be a candidate he would not be in the unfavorable position 
he is in today. Therefore, so far as he is concerned I am responsible for that. 
,"rhile I was glad to hear Mr. Bland state two days ago that the appointment 
had at last been confirmed by the commission I do not know whether Mr. Pratt 
}vjn now accept that position, but whether he does or not it is only fair to 
mm I should place on record a true and accurate statement of the facts. 
Mter I have done that I think it will be evident to most of the members of the 
c°mmittee that instead of there being any scheming on the part of Mr. Pratt,
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or on the part of the department, or on the part of his friends, to secure this » 
position for him there was scheming on the part of others to prevent his 
appointment, and that these efforts have continued up until the last few days or , 
the last few weeks.

With those brief remarks, Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee, 1 
I have my file here, and with your indulgence I should like to start right from 
the beginning when this position was created in the first place and outline in (
detail just what took place, each different step, because I feel sure from the I
evidence I have heard that there is a misunderstanding on the part of many of 
the members of the committee as to what actually took place in connection with j
the filling of this competition. It may take some time.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. May I ask a question on what you have said just now? You have made |

a statement that is worthy of attention by this committee. I think you made i
the statement there were those who endeavoured to prevent the appointment of '
Mr. Pratt. The reason I ask this question is because I am one of those who have 
long held the view there is something worse in the civil service than members 
of parliament trying to exert influence, or political patronage, and that is the 
friendship patronage within the service which has grown up and which has 
become bureaucratic and is worse than anything that could be said of the gov­
ernment or a member of parliament. What I am wondering is who endeavoured 
to prevent?—A. I have my own ideas, but I think if you will give me an 
opportunity of telling the whole story right from the beginning you can draw your 
own inferences. Q. I think I could name them because in my eighteen years here j 
there have been many cases where the government was blamed for appointments 
when it was inside the civil service itself that they were carrying on these 
machinations and manipulations, and we were held responsible for it.

Mr. Farquhar : I think it would be well if we heard Mr. Jackson’s story and | 
then we can ask him questions.

Mr. Reid: All right.
The Witness: I might say this position of general superintendent of Indian i 

agencies was created in 1936 when the department was amalgamated, that is> 
when the Indian Affairs Branch was made a part of the Department of Mines 
and Resources. The reason it was created was that our then minister though* 
it would be advisable to bring somebody who had had field experience to Ottawa, | 
and so we created at that time a position that was known as general superin­
tendent of Indian agencies. We did not then set forth any duties for the position- 
The order in council creating the position in the department just named the 
position. There were no duties set forth at the time that Mr. Christianson, the 
first occupant of the position, was assigned to it. Mr. Christianson came in and 
took over this work. Mr. Christianson came to Ottawa in December, 1936, and 
carried on his work for a number of years. It soon became evident to our min­
ister, to the deputy minister and myself, and to the senior officials of the branch, 
that there was an overlapping of those duties with the duties of the other seni°r 
officers. Mr. Hoey will bear me out when I say that the occupant of that position 
“was getting into the hair” of some of the other officials of the branch. He was 9 
assuming because he was general superintendent of agencies he could do this and 
that—interfering with the duties of Mr. Hoey at that time, or some other 
person. i

When Dr. Robertson, who was the inspector of Indian Agencies in Saskatche- j 
wan, died, it was decided to send Mr. Christianson to Regina, and he continue1 | 
there until 1944 when on account of age he was retired. On his retirement which 
did not take effect until August, 1945, I believe—he had six months retiré
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leave—steps were taken in February, 1945, to fill the vacancy. At that time I 
know I had, and I think Mr. Hoey had, a good idea what duties should be carried 
out by the person who was going to fill that position.

By the Chairman:
Q. What was that date?—A. In February, 1945. On the 15th of that month 

we sent over to the Civil Service Commission a formal requisition asking that 
the vacancy should be filled. I want to get these dates in chronological order if I 
may. On the 18th of May, nearly three months afterwards—

Q. 1945?—A. 1945—the commission forwarded a draft form of advertise­
ment. That is the one which Mr. Reid referred to the day before yesterday. 
They sent it over to us for our approval. It did not set out the duties which I 
bad in mind should be placed upon the position, so I made some changes in the 
duties. I want to point out to the committee what duties I added at that time.
I will read to the committee the duties which were set out by the commission and 
then the changes that I suggested. The duties which the commission outlined 
were as follows:

To be responsible to the Director of the Indian Affairs branch for the 
administration of Indian agencies in Canada; to supervise the election 
and removal of Indian chiefs and councillors, the implementing of law 
enforcement regulations, social service, and all programs designed to 
improve the conditions of the Indians ; to deal with administrative matters 
such as the adjustment of boundaries, the construction, repair and main­
tenance of buildings and roads, the purchase of equipment and stock, and 
to perform other related duties of a senior administrative character.

I returned that advertisement to the commission and suggested that we 
should add these words. I want to point out to the committee what I had in 
mind at least as to what some of the duties should be when the new appointment 
was made. I added these words, and I must say I did so after consulting with Mr. 
Hoey.

To investigate and report on new appointments, changes in staff 
and promotions in the field administration ; to instruct and give guidance 
to employees ; to make recommendations on the grading of Indian agencies 
and the classification of Indian agents.

The commission accepted those changes and the advertisement was published. 
I should like to read to the committee the letter which I wrote to the Civil Service 
Commission when I returned that advertisement. This letter is dated May 21, 
1945, and is addressed to the Secretary of the Civil Service Commission.

Referring to your letter of the 18th instant reference to filling the 
above position, we have examined the draft advertisement which you 
prepared. You have changed the wording of the duties materially from 
those set out in our requisition. While they are substantially the same, 
it is our desire that we should emphasize particularly the duties pertaining 
to the appointment of personnel and the filling of promotions and other 
related staff matters. It is suggested therefore you should insert after the 
word “Canada” in the second line the following—-

and then I inserted the words I have mentioned.
Following that letter the commission got out the usual mimeographed adver­

tisement and it was sent out. The date for the filing of the applications was 
fixed as June 16, 1945. When the advertisements were sent to the department 
we sent them to all different branches of the department. You will recall Dr. 
Keenleyside mentioned when he gave his evidence two days ago—incidentally I 
want to correct a statement he made: he asked me to make this correction— 
the competition was open to all the government service. What he really meant 
to state was it was open to the whole department. As you know we have five
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branches. Usually when a vacancy occurs that competition is restricted to the 
branch, but in this case we opened the competition to all branches and the head­
quarters staff of the department.

Q. What you mean by that is the Department of Mines and Resources, 
Immigration, Parks— —A. Yes.

Q. All those under the administrative head of the Minister of Mines and 
Resources?—A. Whether they are employees at Halifax or Vancouver they were 
all entitled to compete. We did not restrict it to Ottawa or anywhere else. 
Applications for the position were then sent by the various candidates to the 
commission, and later on sent to us. On June 20, 1945, we received eight applica­
tions, and on June 21, 1945, we received five more applications.

Q. Is that the total?—A. Yes, eight and five, thirteen in all. I might say 
there were eighteen candidates altogether, but there were five senior officers of 
the department who were overseas, and as a rule we always rate those even 
though they do not apply. I think there were eighteen candidates altogether.

The practice is when the applications are received from the commission, the 
rating forms for the efficiency in the positions they occupy, are usually sent to 
the branch senior officers so they can advise us what marks we should give them. 
That is for the position wffiich they presently occupy. The applications were 
sent out to the various branches. I have forgotten how many there were.

When they came back Dr. Camsell, who was then deputy minister, 
appointed Mr. Hoey and myself as rating officers. I think Mr. Hoey will confirm 
what I say in this, that he and I spent a whole morning—I think it was a 
Saturday morning—dealing with the applications. We went over them very care­
fully, and after we had placed the ratings for each candidate in their present posi­
tion, confirming what some of the directors of the branches had given them, we 
then rated them on the back of the form for the competition and signed the forms. 
There was not—I am very definite in this statement, and I think Mr. Hoey 
will confirm me—any disagreement between Mr. Hoey and myself as to 
the ratings we gave the candidates. Quite true, when we were considering some 
candidates Mr. Hoey might know them a little better than I did, and I would 
consult Mr. Hoey, and if a candidate had had more to do with me than he had 
had with Mr. Hoey he would consult me. I have been in the department about 
two years longer than Mr. Hoey so I knew some of the candidates longer than 
Mr. Hoey and had an opportunity to judge their qualifications in some respects 
better than he did. When we signed the ratings we certified on the forms that 
are used in these competitions. “I certify on my honour”—that is, each one of us 
did—“that I have assigned the above ratings wholly on the basis of merit, and 
without any reference to personal or political considerations, and that the rating 
expresses my own independent judgment. I also certify that the candidate is 
not related to me.” That is the form we officially and formally signed when we 
completed our ratings.

Those ratings were sent to the commission on November 8, 1945. In fair­
ness to the committee I should point out there is a gap between July and 
November, and the file does not disclose why it took us so long to make the 
ratings. I cannot find anything in the file. I have searched my memory, and 
I cannot explain it. There is a gap here of three or four months between July 
and November.

Q. Is it unusual in these applications?—A. No, it should have been done 
sooner.

Q. Is it usual to have such a delay as that?—A. No, it is not. I cannot 
understand it, and I cannot excuse it except it may have been that there was 
some delay in connection with the rating of the candidates who were overseas.
I do not know, but there is nothing on the file to indicate why that delay occurred.
I will have to take the responsibility for it because it does appear here. When 
I was checking the chronological steps that were taken that delay appeared, but 
why it is I cannot explain. I will have to take the responsibility for it.
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The ratings were sent to the commission on November 8, 1945. On 
January 4, 1946, a letter was received from the Civil Service Commission 
accepting the ratings and approving of the selection of Mr. Pratt subject to 
the usual appeal. I should state at this time when the ratings were sent to 
the commission a letter was signed by Dr. Camsell, as I recall, and he expressed 
the view he concurred in the ratings, so the ratings were actually made by 
Mr. Hoey and myself—

Q. At ho is Dr. Camsell?—A. He was the then deputy minister of the 
department. They were concurred in by him. I make the statement now that 
I did discuss the ratings with Dr. Camsell before they were sent to the 
commission.

Q. Can you tell me how long Dr. Camsell had been deputy minister?— 
A. Since 1920 or 1921.

By Hon. Mr. Il orner;
Q. He is retired now?—A. He was retired and Dr. Keenleyside was 

appointed in his place. Actually although there were only two rating officers 
''ho signed the rating forms Dr. Camsell concurred in the ratings. As I said 
before the ratings were sent to the commission on the 8th of November, 1945, 
almost a year after we first started the competition. On January 22, 1946, 
a letter was received from the Civil Service Commission advising an appeal 
had been filed by Mr. Randle. AVe were asked to nominate some officer of 
the department to act on the appeal. As Mr. Hoey and myself had acted as 
rating officers we could not act. I think at that time Dr. Camsell had retired 
or was absent and I was acting deputy minister and I selected Mr. Allan to 
represent the department on the appeal.

The commission was informed on the 25th of January, 1946, that Mr. Allan 
'v°uld act on the board. For some reason for which I cannot account the 
board did not consider the appeal until the 5th, 6th of 7th of March. It was 
the early part of March when they sat, and Mr. Hoey was called, and I was 
Mso called, to give evidence. I think Mr. Hoey was called the day before I 
Was. He will no doubt tell you about what took place. I will tell you what 
took place when I was called the day following when Mr. Hoey gave his evidence. 
I went over to the board—

By Mr. Reid:
Q. This is the appeal board?—A. Yes, the first appeal board. That is the 

hoard held early in March, 1946.

By Mr. Gariepy:
Q. AAffio were on that board?—A. On that board the departmental repre­

sentative was Mr. D. J. Allan, who is Superintendent of Reserves and Trusts 
ln the Indian Affairs Branch.

The Chairman: He is the man who has been here with the committee for 
the last three weeks.

The AVitness: Yes, Then there was Mr. Maclsaac who represents the 
'Civil Service Federation. I think he is an employee of the Department of 
Pensions and National Health, or some other department of the government. 
I had never met him before. I am now informed he is a pension advocate in 
D.V.A. Then there was Mr. Putman, an officer of the Civil Service Commission.

By the Chairman:
Q. Putman?—A. Putman. AVhen I went into the room where the board 

'vas sitting I first asked the members of the board if the proceedings before the 
hoard were confidential, and I was assured very, very definitely they were, 
that any statements we made there would be kept absolutely secret.
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By Mr. Farquhar:
Q. Did all three act on this appeal?—A. The three were acting on the 

appeal. I then proceeded to go into the respective qualifications of Mr. Pratt 
and Mr. Randle, knowing that Mr. Randle was the appellant. I had hardly 
said two sentences before I was assured by two members of the board, Mr. 
Putman and Mr. MacRaac, “Oh, do not bother about Mr. Randle. We are 
satisfied that he has no grounds of complaint, but we intend to proceed to go 
into the ratings of all the other candidates.” I objected just as strongly as I 
could to that procedure, because I always understood when an appeal was made 
the appeal board was set up for the purpose of determining the complaint of 
the appellant and not of any person else. Notwithstanding my protest at the 
time the board said, “No, we have the right and we are going to go into all 
the other ratings.” I think we spent nearly two hours talking about the 
qualifications and duties of the position and the respective merits of Mr. Pratt 
and the other candidates.

It was very evident in my mind—and I must say it was one of the most 
unpleasant hours I ever spent because to me it appeared as if I was talking to 
a stone wall—that their minds were absolutely fixed against Mr. Pratt being 
appointed to the position. Two of the members of the board had got it into 
their minds that the duties of this position were such as to be entirely different 
from what I had in mind, and I think what Mr. Hoey had in mind, when we 
set them out the advertisement. They had different ideas altogether as to what 
these duties were. To me it seemed they were trying to build up a case which 
would not suit Mr. Pratt.

In respect to Mr. Allan at that time he was sick and did not during the 
whole proceedings take any part in the discussions which we had during that 
afternoon. Anyway, after trying to satisfy these two members of the board, 
I realized after spending all the time I did that I was not making any headway. 
I said, “There is nothing more I can do”, and I left.

That is the last I heard of the situation until we received a letter from the 
commission stating that the board had made its report.

By the Chairman:
Q. What was the date of that?—A. I want to refer to that letter particularly. 

The letter is dated May 21, 1946. It reads as follows:—
Relative to the above noted competition, I am directed to advise you 

that the commission has approved the report of a review board which 
recommended in part as follows :—

If it is an administrative job, the board is unanimous in its 
opinion that Mr. Pratt has not the minimum qualifications for this 
position and it is also recommended that Mr. Randle’s appeal be 
denied as the board is satisfied, from the evidence obtained, that 
Mr. Randle is not as well qualified as a number of others who have 
been given higher ratings than he.^
In reaching the decision that the vacant position was an adminis­

trative one, the review board was supplied with a memorandum from the 
organization branch of the commission, a copy of which is attached. The 
commission will proceed to fill this vacancy by the selection of the second 
name on the eligible list, that of Mr. Arneil, on advice from the depart­
ment as to the date when Mr. Arneil takes over the duties of the position. 

I may say that letter came like a bolt from the blue when I received it because 
I could not understand how the commission could accept any finding that 
the appeal board might make over the recommendation that Mr. Hoey and 
myself made which was concurred in by Dr. Camsell.

I might point out incidentally that Mr. Putman knew nothing about 
the administration of Indian affairs and Mr. Maclsaac knew nothing about the
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administration of Indian affairs. On the other hand, Mr. Hoey and I had been 
associated with that work for ten or twelve years, and Dr. Camsell for a longer 
time.

As I said before I was very much disturbed about it, and I phoned 
Mr. Bland and asked if I could discuss the matter with the Civil Service Com­
mission. Mr. Bland very kindly agreed to have a meeting. I met the members 
of the Civil Service Commission on the 27th of May, 1946, and we discussed 
probably for an hour or an hour and a half the findings of the board, the 
duties which the commission thought the position should have, and the duties 
which I and Dr. Camsell and others thought should go with it. When I finished 
I thought I had satisfied the commission that the appeal board was wrong. 
The commission pointed out to me that “you should have changed the title 
of the position. It is wrongly called ‘general superintendent of Indian Agencies'.” 
I agreed with them. I said, “Let us change the name. I do not care what you 
call it”, but I knew and I think Dr. Camsell knew at the time the duties we 
had in mind that should be attached to it.

When I left the commission I understood that the title would be changed 
and that the commission would then reverse its previous decision and confirm 
Mr. Pratt in the appointment. At that time I went into the hospital with 
a bad eye and did not come back to the office until about the middle of July. 
I found that nothing more had happened to the position so I wrote to the 
commission on the 20th of July, 1946. For the information of the committee 
I want to put the letter on record. I think probably I am jumping one step 
too far. I should say when I got back to the office there was a letter from 
the commission dated July 17, 1946, which reads as follows:—

By direction of the commission, I am forwarding herewith a copy 
of a report suggesting a change in the title of position MR-IAH-6, from 
general superintendent of Indian agencies to general executive assistant, 
Indian Affairs Branch, with no change in compensation. If you concur 
in this change will you please notify the commission in order that action 
may be completed?

That is July 17, 1946. Attached to that letter is a memorandum from one 
of the investigating officers of the commission. I will not read it all because it 
is not necessary but I should like to quote this reference:—

The title “general superintendent” may not be a desirable one since 
it could be said that the director is in reality the general superintendent of 
the Indian agencies. In my opinion the position is that of an adminis­
trative assistant, responsible for general administrative matters for all 
the agrencies in matters not covered by welfare and training or coming 
within the division dealing with trusts, but having to do with the general 
operation of the day-to-day work in the agencies. The responsibility 
would be to relieve the director and assistant director of much of this 
work, of which there is a considerable volume, and to co-ordinate under 
the director the work of the various specialized divisions of the Indian 
Affairs Branch.

Those were the duties which the commission thought should go with the position 
in July, 1946. In answer to that letter I wrote the commission as follows on 
July 20, 1946. I will not quote from the first part because it is not material. 
It is in reference to the matter of changing the title of the position.

As I explained to the commission at our meeting on May 27, there 
had been difficulty in properly assigning the duties to this position, and 
that was the reason why in the advertisement for the promotional com­
petition, which was approved by the commission, an effort had been made 
to clarify and define them more definitely. It is a fact the old title 
suggested functions which overlapped the work of other divisions. On 
reading Mr. Morgan’s letter'of .May 21 last quoting extracts from the
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report of the board of review and the memorandum of the organization 
branch enclosed therewith, it would appear the board had a mistaken idea 
of the duties to be performed by the successful candidate; in other words, 
for some reason they ascribed to the position duties which it was hoped, 
when the position was created in 1936, might be carried out by the then 
occupant, but which experience had shown was not workable. As an 
example, it was never intended that supervision over fur-bearing opera­
tions should be one of the duties of the position.

Mr. Hoey and myself as rating officers were aware of the difficulties 
mentioned, and we had a clearer idea of the duties and were in a position 
to judge the ability of the candidates to perform those duties. The same 
remarks apply to Dr. Camsell who concurred in the ratings. From my con­
versation with you I understand the commission is now prepared to confirm 
the appointment of the candidate who was given the highest rating, if a 
more desirable title is given to the position. It is suggested that it should 
be changed to “general executive assistant.” The department is agreeable 
to this change being made. Later, if necessary, a more clear definition 
of the duties can be prepared. I will be glad to discuss this matter 
further with the organization branch at any time. In view of the somc- 
tliis position, it would be appreciated if the commission would take 
what extended delay that has occurred in connection with the filling of 
the necessary action as soon as possible.

That letter was written on July 20. I omitted to mention to the committee 
that when the appeal board—that is the first appeal board—made its report 
they made two reports to the commission, not one. One report was signed by 
Mr. Allan and was made on March 9th. The other report was made in May. 
Mr. Allan took sick on the 2nd of April, so the second and final report of the 
first appeal board was signed only by Mr. Madsaac and Mr. Putman. An 
opportunity was not given to the department to have someone take the place 
of Mr. AVan who at that time was very seriously ill. Without any notification 
to us, or anything else, the appeal board proceeded in Mr. Allan’s absence, 
without having any representative of the department on the appeal board, to 
ascribe duties to that position which were entirely different than what we had 
in the advertisement, and then made their report to the commission that Mr. 
Pratt did not have the qualifications for the position. Naturally I think the 
department was justified in protesting very strongly to the commission.

Following the letter which I wrote to the commission on July 20 we received 
the formal submission to council dated August 5 recommending a change in the 
title. It has to go through that form. It is signed by the members of the 
commission and then by the minister and sent over to Treasury Board. On the 
30th of August, 1946, we received a formal note—this is a copy of the order 
in council—changing the title of the position from general superintendent of 
Indian agencies to general executive assistant, Indian Affairs.

Some person asked Mr. Bland the question the other day, “What has the 
department done with the other position?” There is no other position existing 
now. The title is changed. The position of general superintendent was merged 
or changed to that of general executive assistant. There is no other position 
of general superintendent open now. Mr. Bland was asked why the department 
did not fill it. I think he was a little mixed up as to what actually happened, 
but what I read is the formal order in council cancelling the old position. It is 
really not creating a new one but it is just changing the title of the old position.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. If I might interject at that point the reason that question was asked 

Mr. Bland was because Dr. Keenleyfeide said this was a different position. If 
you look up his evidence of Wednesday I think you will find he says this was
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a different job altogether.—A. They were not quite as close to the matter as 
I was. I think they misunderstood". What I have stated are the facts. That 
is why I am trying to set them out.

Q. That was Dr. Keenlevside’s evidence, and that is why that question 
"'as asked Mr. Bland. Apparently there is a divergence of opinion between 
your evidence and that of Dr. Keenleyside on that point.—A. I think Dr. 
Keenleyside misunderstood. I am not saying Mr. Bland, did it intentionally. 
I think he assumed the other position was still there. It is not. Here is the 
formal document, the order in council, P.C. 77/3663.

Q. As a matter of fact it was my contention that it was the same job. 
fn the proceedings on Wednesday I was trying to insist it was the same job 
and Dr. Keenleyside was trying to insist it was a different job.—A. As I go on 
f will show when Mr. Pratt was finally appointed he was appointed to this 
®ame job. That brings us up to the 30th of August, 1946. On the 20th of 
■November I had a conversation with Mr. Bland. I was urging him and the 
members of the commission from time to time to make the appointment.

By the Chairman:
Q. 1946?—A. 1946. I had a talk with him about it.
Q. With whom?—A. With Mr. Bland, and on the 22nd of November he 

"'rote me this letter.
With reference to our conversation of the 20th regarding the position 

of executive assistant in the Indian Affairs division, the commission is 
of opinion that it would be desirable to secure an appointee to the 
position of assistant director, Indian Affairs, before deciding upon the 
incumbent of the executive director position. A promotion competition for 
the post of assistant director is accordingly being advertised at once, and 
we shall endeavour to expedite the selection in every way possible.

That is a letter from Mr. Bland.
The Chairman: November 22?
The Witness: Yes, 1946. Later on—I haven’t got the date—I had a con­

isation with Mr. Bland and pointed out to him reasons, which I would not 
"'ant to put on the record, why we did not wish to proceed with the appointment 
°f assistant director of Indian Affairs, I think Mr. Bland concurred in the rea- 
®°"s at that time. I then urged him again to confirm Mr. Pratt’s appointment. 
^°thing was done, so on the 17th of December, 1946, I wrote a letter to Mr. 
■“land and reviewed the whole history of the case up to that time. I shall be 
^ad to put the letter on the record. It summarizes pretty much what I have 
f°ld you today, and I do not want to take up the time of the committee 
idlessly, but I will make the letter available to anyone. As far as I am 
c°ncerned our whole file is open to any member of the committee and to the 
^neral public; there is nothing to hide as far as I am concerned. I urged 
strongly in the letter and gave good reasons to the commission for the appoint­
ant being made.

The Chairman: Will you file that letter to be put on the record?
The Witness : I should be glad to read it out or put it on the record.
The Chairman : How many pages are there?
The Witness: Eight pages.
The Chairman : Shall we just put it on the record?

.. “In view of the difficulties that have arisen in connection with the promo- 
tlonal competition to fill the position of general superintendent of Indian 
aSencies, now changed to general executive assistant, it seems advisable to 
1’eview (-he facts and what has occurred to date.
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The original submission for the filling of the position was forwarded to the 
commission on February 15, 1945, the duties to be performed and the qualifica­
tions were set out as follows:—

Duties:
To undertake the general supervision of field administration of 

Indian reserves in Canada; to make reports and recommendations on 
agency administration; to conduct special investigations as required ; to 
investigate and report on new appointments, changes in staff and promo­
tions in the field of administration ; to instruct and give guidance to employ 
to make recommendations on the grading of Indian agencies and the 
classification of Indian agents; to consider and report from time to time 
on Indian agency boundaries and to suggest adjustments in such boundaries, 
if necessary, in the interest of better field administration; to make 
reports and recommendations respecting the erection and repair of agency 
buildings and the purchase of agency equipment such as boats, livestock, 
farm implements, etc., the construction and upkeep of roads on Indian 
reserves, construction and repair of bridges, dams, reservoirs, wharves, 
telephone poles, ditching, diking and irrigation projects; to perform 
general and miscellaneous duties relating to field administration involving 
the election and removal of chiefs and counsellors, social services, such 
as family allowances and relief, law enforcement and agricultural pro­
grams and to make recommendations with respect thereto ; to conduct 
correspondence with field officers and other related work.
Qualifications:

Education equivalent to high school graduation; a knowledge of the 
administration of Indian Affairs and the problems involved; ability to 
investigate staff requirements, institute office procedures and to give 
guidance to employees ; a knowledge of governmental personnel regula­
tions and practices; a knowledge of agriculture; initiative, tact, sound 
judgment and vision.

On May 18, 1945, the commission submitted a draft copy of the advertise­
ment for approval, the duties being set out as follows:—

To be responsible to the director of the Indian Affairs branch for 
the administration of Indian agencies in Canada ; to supervise the election 
and removal of Indian chiefs and counsellors, the implementing of law 
enforcement regulations, social services and all programs designed to 
improve the conditions of the Indians; to deal with administrative matters 
such as the adjustment of boundaries, the construction, repair and main­
tenance of buildings and roads, the purchase of equipment and stock and the 
staffing of Indian agencies; and to perform other related duties of a senior 
administrative character.

On May 21, 1945, the advertisement was returned with certain suggested 
amendments. These were made following discussions with officers of the coin' 
mission. These amendments were approved by the commission and the adver­
tisement was issued containing the following statement of duties :—

To be responsible to the director of the Indian Affairs branch, frj 
the administration of Indian agencies in Canada ; to investigate and 
on new appointments, changes in staff and promotions in the 
administration; to instruct and give guidance to employees ; to make 
recommendations on the grading of Indian agencies and the classification 
of Indian agents; to supervise the election and removal of Indian chie^ 
and counsellors, the implementing of law enforcement regulations, so-ch1 
serviees and all programs designed to improve the conditions of f'1 
Indians; to deal with administrative matters such as the adjustment 0
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boundaries, the construction, repair and maintenance of buildings and 
roads, the purchase of equipment and stock; and to perform other related 
duties of a senior administrative character.

Following the closing of the competition the commission on June 20, 1945, 
^warded the applications to the deputy minister in accordance with the usual 

Practice so that the ratings would be completed. Mr. R. A. Hoey, director of 
,le branch, and myself were selected by the deputy minister to rate the candi­
dates. The ratings were carefully made, approved by the deputy minister and 
orwarded to the commission by the deputy minister on November 8, 1945. 
,.n January 4, 1946, formal notice was received from the commission that Mr.

• J- F. Pratt had obtained the highest rating and had been selected for 
Promotion, but that fourteen days would be allowed to permit any of the other 
andidates to appeal. On January 22, notice was received from the commission 
Pat an appeal had been received from E. P. Randle and that a board would be 

d°nvencd. We were asked to nominate a representative of the department 
,no Mr. D. J. Allan was selected, the commission being so informed on 
January 25, 1946.
« Mr. Hoey and myself gave evidence before the board some time during the 
r®t week in March and explained the duties of the position and gave the 
easons for the ratings that had been made. It would appear the members of 
Pa board were in agreement at that time that the appellant, Randle, did not 

Possess the necessary qualifications for the position; consequently the evidence 
T the hearing centred around the duties of the position and the qualifications of 
P° candidate who had received the highest rating. I explained at some length 

and in detail to the members of the board, as I did to the members of the 
^namission, when I met you on May 27, what work we felt should be done by 
Je occupant of the position, the duties being generally those set out in the 
nal advertisement. At the hearing two members of the board expressed very 

^finite opinions on both of these subjects, although at the time they did not 
ave before them the copy of the memorandum dated April 16, which was 
tached to your letter of May 21, nor had they examined the candidate whose 

( .Edifications and rating they were strenuously doubting. It is somewhat 
'uicult, therefore, to understand what other evidence they had before them 
1 reach the conclusion that they did at that time, 

j. Some weeks following the board apparently asked that a further investiga- 
°P be made of the duties and qualifications of the position of general 

, Perintendent of agencies and a report was made by an officer of the commission 
, Ued April 16, 1946. In view of the evidence given by Mr. Hoey and myself, 
j 18 difficult to appreciate why this report was obtained or from whom the 
^ °rniation was secured, because there was no person as well qualified or in a 

ctter position to supply the information than ourselves. However, the report 
as made and apparently the final decision of the board was based upon it and 

11)011 some unknown source of information as to Mr. Pratt’s qualifications. This 
statement is made because Mr. Pratt was not given an opportunity to 

far before the board nor was anyone called other than myself and Mr. Hoey 
K° had actual and intimate knowledge of the work he was doing and had 
^doing.

If, as may be inferred from your letter of May 21, the board based its decision 
c Sely upon the report of the investigator, one can understand the wrong 
Illusion reached. It is evident upon reading the report that the investigator 
pp a mistaken idea of the duties to be attached to the position. In the first 

he has set out the duties as those which were tentatively suggested in 
e 0riginal requisition rather than those which were finally decided upon and 

1802—4
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approved by the commission, as set out in the advertisement. On page 1 of his i 
report he makes the following statement:— j

I understand that the general superintendent is responsible for the i 
farming operations and those which may have to do with lumbering, fur j 
bearing, etc., in so far as they do not come under the jurisdiction of the j 
officer responsible for the welfare of the Indians. i

This statement is incorrect. Again on page 2 he says, “The general superin­
tendent is responsible for final recommendations with respect to the separation 
or amalgamation of existing agencies.” This also is incorrect. The final recom­
mendations would be made by the director, suggestions only would be made by 
the incumbent of the position, and then only after consultation with the heads 
of the other divisions. Again, on the same page it is stated, “He should knovv 
something of procedures in connection with the construction and maintenance of 
engineering works of all kinds and have a good knowledge of practices including 
farming, lumbering, fur farming, irrigation, etc.” It is well known that the 
fur conservation activities of the branch come under the direct supervision °* 
the superintendent of reserves and trusts. Also that the surveys and engineering 
branch and the technical officers of the other branches of the department at® 
always available for advice and assistance in such matters.

Secondly, the report sets out the duties for the position which were tentatively 
suggested in the original requisition rather than those which were finally decided 
upon. Again, the qualifications were stated to be as follows:—

Education equivalent to university graduation ; demonstrated abim? 
to administer a large and specialized organization; at least five years ol 
experience in the administration of an Indian agency or in work of 9 
similar character ; a good knowledge of administrative practice and pr°' 
cedure as related to personnel, the construction and maintenance 0 
buildings, roads, wharves, reservoirs, bridges, irrigation projects, drainage 
schemes, etc.; a general knowledge of practices in various production field 
such as are found on Indian agencies, including farming, lumbering, 
raising, etc.; a knowledge of Indian customs and the organization ? 
facilities and services that have been provided to assist the Indians lD 
all parts of Canada.

It will be noted that the above qualifications are entirely different th9 
those set out in the original recommendation as quoted on page 2 of this let*6.

It is evident that the investigator and also the board were of the impress^ 
and had wrongly concluded that the duties were to be those which it was hop®
Mr. Christianson could perform when he was first appointed and which s_ubs 
quent events showed were impracticable. I believe I satisfied the commis®’0^ 
on this point when the matter was discussed with you on May 27. As a resu 1
the title of the position has now been changed to that of general execute 
assistant. _ . 0f

It is unfortunate that the representative of the department on the Boaro 
review took sick on April 2 and was, therefore, not able to fully participât® ,c 
the deliberations of the Board when the final recommendations were ma< 
While a copy of the full report of the Board has not been forwarded to ^ 
Department, in the letter from the Commission dated July 17 it is stated t*1 
the Board recommended in part as follows:— _ . 11

If it is an administrative job, the Board is unanimous in its opinl 
that Mr. Pratt has not the minimum qualifications for this position-

It is further stated that ,-ve
in reaching the decision that the vacant position was an administra 
one, the Review Board was supplied with a memorandum from 
Organization branch of the Commission . . .
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aud that
the Commission will proceed to fill this vacancy by the selection of the 
second name on the eligible list.

It is appreciated that the final say in promotional competitions rests with 
Jhe Commission under the Civil Service Act. The practice has been, however, 
Î? ask the Department to rate the candidates, which was done in this competi- 
!.l0n, and as has been stated the Commission approved of such ratings in the 
hfst instance. While no objection can be taken to the practice of establishing 
“Qards to investigate complaints of candidates who feel they have a grievance, 
'he legal authority for and the powers exercised by such Boards are questionable. 
Ihere is nothing in the Civil Service Act or regulations which gives the Com­
mission the right to delegate its authority in promotional competitions to 
another body. It is suggested the Commission cannot relieve itself of the 

®sPonsibility for preventing injustices being done by relying entirely upon the 
Commendations of the Boards of Review, particularly when the latter do not 

appear to have any legal status and when as in this instance have gone much 
Urther than merely dealing with the complaint of one appellant.

,, It is apparently agreed by everyone that no injustice has been suffered by 
he, appellant. Can the same be said for the candidate who received the highest 
ating? The acceptance by the Commission of the original ratings and the 
'^sequent notification given to all the candidates was in effect public notice 
J the results of the competition. Very strong and definite grounds, therefore, 
jmuld exist before the ratings are changed. The acceptance of the recom- 
a Cndations of the Board places the Commission in a peculiar position. It dis- 
JTees with the rating of the first candidate but is willing to accept the rating 
e.Ven to the second candidate. If the Rating Officers were wrong in the first 
Se e> upon what basis or evidence does the Commission accept the rating in the 
y^°nd ease? No full and proper inquiry was made as to the qualifications of 
j^0 other candidates, the Board apparently directing their efforts towards prov- 
i § a lack of qualifications on the part of the first candidate. It would seem to 
dliH 6ar decision was reached on the misunderstanding of the Board of the 
a»tles to be assigned to the position. No opportunity was given to the candidate 
^ ected of being heard. It would also seem to be clear there was a failure on 
4 0 Part of the Board to make a full and complete inquiry into his qualifications 
y d the experience that he possessed. If the Board assumed that the qualifica- 

were those set out in the investigator’s report, one can understand the 
asons for the decision, because Mr. Pratt has not the educational requirements 

Reified nor has he had five years’ experience in the administration of an Indian

f On the other hand, the Commission has before them the carefully considered 
ty lrigs of two senior officers who should be and are better qualified to determine 
Cfje Qualifications of any of the candidates to fill the position. The ratings were 
y^Urred in by the then Deputy Minister, who was also familiar with the work 

candidates were doing; in fact, in regard to Mr. Pratt’s work, Dr. Camsell 
tlr)s been associated with his activities for more than twenty years. To decide 

that a civil servant with thirty-three years’ service, more than half of 
4fflc.b was spent as Private Secretary to the respective Ministers of Indian 

and the last eleven years as Assistant Secretary and Chief of Personnel 
.e.Department, has not the qualifications for this position because it is an 

ty ^’uistrative one, is doing him the rankest kind of injustice. The decision 
liar ) *n effect be a bar to Mr. Pratt’s further advancement in the Service— 

bly a just reward for such long and faithful service.
The Department asks that the Commission should again consider the original 

Yfjf.gs and review them in the light of all the facts and for the purpose of pre-V6nting a real injustice being done.” 
?&02—4J
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No reply was received to that letter. The next step was discussion by Dr- 
Keenleyside with Mr. Bland shortly after Dr. Keenleyside was appointed deputy ) 
minister. His appointment took effect the 15th of March, 1947. I wish to put 
on the record a letter which Dr. Keenleyside wrote to Mr. Bland on the 17th j 
of the following month—the 17th of April, 1947.

We have canvassed the situation in the headquarters of the India® 
Affairs Branch with a good deal of care and are prepared to recommend , 
and request that you now take the first of the steps outlined in our recent 
discussion on this subject. The first step, as you will recall, is the appoint­
ment of Mr. Ford Pratt as General Executive Assistant in the India® 
Affairs Branch. Subsequently we will be writing to you again with regard i 
to the proposals which we will have to make in connection with the posts 
of Assistant Director and Superintendent of Reserves and Trusts. The 
first necessity, however, is to get the position of Mr. Pratt finally settle® 
and both the minister and I will be very grateful if you will have tin5 
matter attended to at once.

Nothing further happened. There may have been conversations untd 
November 29.

Mr. Farquhar : What date was that letter?
The Witness: April 17, 1947. We probably had conversations over the 

telephone with members of the commission but there is nothing on the file to s° 
indicate.

On November 29, 1947, Dr. Keenleyside wrote this letter to Mr. Bland:—' 
With reference to the filling of the position of general execute 

assistant, Indian Affairs, in the Indian Affairs branch of the departm®® 
at Ottawa, it is recommended that Mr. William .Tames Ford Pratt, assist' 
ant secretary and chief of personnel (MR-A-51) in the administrate1 
branch, be promoted to this vacancy, effective at once.

The new name of the position had the same number. Every position in d’1 
Civil Service is given a number.

The department after careful consideration selected this employ6® 
for promotion to position MR-IAPI-6 for the reason that he was c°nt 
sidered to be the one best qualified to perform the duties of the vac®® 
position. The title of the position has been changed and the duties ®r 
now more clearly understood. It is definitely the opinion of the se®llj 
officers in the department that there is no other employee as well quali®6‘c 
or who has had the experience that Mr. Pratt possesses to carry out th° 
duties. ]Ÿ

I should be grateful if the necessary action could be taken as e»r • 
as possible to have a certificate issued to authorize the promotion of ^ 
Pratt.

The commission replied on the 16th of December, 1947, as follows:—-
In connection with the filling of the position of general execut* 

assistant, Indian Affairs, the commission has decided that a selection 
the competition held for the position as formerly classified, general sup® t 
intendent of Indian agencies, is not advisable, in view of the fact t®^ 
the duties are different. However, advertising a new competition is ®3 
contemplated, as the commission feels that new ratings for the candid® 
in the old competition and, in addition, ratings for other employe®8 ^ 
the Indian Affairs branch entitled to consideration, who were not »PP ,j 
cants, would be sufficient, on the understanding that there will be } 
opportunity for appeals. The previous candidates and other cmpl°- 
are to be rated on the basis of the new duties.
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A list of the applicants in the competition for general superintendent 
of Indian agencies is attached, and you are requested to have a depart­
mental rating board set up to provide ratings for these and for other 
employees who should be considered.

The previous candidates will be advised that as the new position of 
general superintendent of Indian agencies has now been classified as 
general executive assistant, Indian Affairs, with new duties, no selection 
will be made from the competition already held, biri they will be rated 
for the position of general executive assistant, and an opportunity to 
appeal will be allowed.

M e took the position that that was very unfair to Mr. Pratt.
So on the 23rd of December, 1947, Dr. Keenleyside wrote this letter to 

Mr. Bland:—
I have your letter of the 16th instant in connection with the position 

of general executive assistant, Indian Affairs branch. You state a 
selection from the competition for the previous position is not advisable 
as the duties are different. May I point out that the duties of the present 
position are the same as those advertised for the previous position and 
they have not been changed. It is true, as pointed out in Mr. Jackson’s 
letter to the commission of December 17, 1946, the Board of Appeal 
took upon themselves to ascribe new or different duties, but they were 
not the duties set out in the advertisement.

That is the letter which I did not read but which is being put on record.
The senior officers of the department who made the ratings in the 

first instance, and which were concurred in by Dr. Camsell, clearly 
understood what those duties were and rated the candidates accordingly. 
Therefore, I cannot see why it should be necessary to delay further the 
filling of the position by rating the candidates again, which in effect 
means the holding of another competition with all the resulting delays 
that are likely to follow.

I stated in my letter to you of the 29th of November that the 
department had considered Mr. Pratt to be the candidate best qualified 
to perform the duties of the position and that it was the opinion of 
the senior officers in the department that there was no other employee 
as well qualified or who had the experience that Mr. Pratt possesses to 
carry out those duties. This is still the view of the department.

As you are aware, more than two years have elapsed since the com­
petition started. It is most desirable that there should be no further 
delay and it would be appreciated, therefore, if the commission would 
reconsider the matter and issue the necessary certificate assigning Mr. 
Pratt to the position.

On January 2, 1948, the following letter was received from the secretary 
°f the commission:—

The commission has considered your letter of December 23 addressed 
to the chairman and in view of your further report in connection with 
the position of general executive assistant, Indian Affairs, formerly 
superintendent of Indian agencies, has agreed to accept the ratings given 
in the competition for superintendent of Indian agencies as the ratings 
for the position as now classified, general executive assistant.

The selection of Mr. Pratt has been confirmed with the proviso 
that the other candidates will be given the opportunity to appeal, if any
wishes to do so. _, _ ,. , . . .

The candidates already rated, other than Mr. Pratt, will be advised 
that on the basis of a further report from your department the Civil
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Sendee Commission considers that Mr. Pratt has the best qualifications 
for the position and has selected him for appointment. They will 
also be advised that an opportunity to appeal will be allowed.

That letter is dated January 2, 1948.
Now, within the proper time Mr. Randle filed an appeal. That appeal, 

as Mr. Bland pointed out, was considered. On the Appeal Board there were 
Mr. Gibson, representing the department, Mr. Mclsaac, representing the Civil 
Service—

The Chairman : Do you know what date that Appeal Board was or around 
what date?

The Witness: I was going to mention that Mr. Mclsaac was representing 
Mr. Pvandle and Mr. McNaughton represented the Civil Service Commission. 
I have no definite information with me as to when that Appeal Board met 
except from the information contained in the story which appeared in both local 
newspapers on February 17, 1948. The newspaper story purported to say that 
the Appeal Board cancelled the Pratt appointment and went on to tell what 
took place before the board. Now, we always have considered the hearing5 
before that board as confidential. Mr. Bland told you the other day, that the 
Appeal Board had not made its report at that time; but in some way or another 
one of the members of the Appeal Board must have given out to the newspapers 
what took place at the first hearing of the Appeal Board. At any rate, the 
Appeal Board did not complete its hearings on February 17. In fact, I only 
learned when Mr. Bland last gave evidence, what the formal decision of the 
Appeal Board was—that was the day before yesterday. Even up to the present 
time we have no formal notification from Mr. Bland that Mr. Pratt has been 
appointed to the position. I am glad to know that he announced yesterday 
that the commission had at last confirmed the appointment.

Following this first newspaper story there was a second one appearing on 
the 11th of March, 1948. This appeared in the Ottawa Journal on March H> 
1948, and it is headed “Appeal Board confirms Pratt” ; and it goes on to saV 
that this had been the third appeal against Mr. Pratt’s appointment. It never 
was; it was the second appeal. Who gave the story to the newspaper, I do not 
know. We only heard the day before yesterday from Mr. Bland what the 
decision of the Appeal Board was; so it is very evident—I think it will be 
evident—that some person was getting stories in the papers to try to reflect 
upon Mr. Pratt’s reputation or to stop his appointment to this new position.

By Mr. Farquhar:
Q. Would this come from one of the three members?—A. I think so; ^ 

could not come from anyone else. I said I only received the news two day5 
ago, the copy of the report made by the first review board I have not seen- 
I understand Mr. Allan got a copy of the first report. I have never got a copy 
of the second report that is the report made by the board after Mr. Allan took 
sick. How it got in the newspapers or where they got it, I do not know; but 
it is very evident from the publicity I have seen that some person, as I stated 
at the beginning of my remarks, had been trying to discredit Mr. Pratt and t° 
stop his appointment to the position. I do not think I have anything more to 
say, I am willing to put myself at the disposal of the committee and answer 
any questions I may be asked.

Q. Did the appeal board not ask for a representative from the department 
when Mr. Allan took sick?—A. No.

Q. The two members went ahead and did the work?—A. Apparently< 
because Mr. Allan was sick on the 2nd of April and he hovered between lit® 
and death for a good many weeks after that. The letter which I referred to 
which we received from the commission telling of the result of the appeal board
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Was accompanied by a report made by an investigator. This report is dated 
in April, 1946. After Mr. -Allan took sick the two remaining members of that 
first appeal board apparently presumed upon themselves to go out and inquire 
as to what they thought the duties of that position were. If you like I might 
take the time of the committee to show you how they expanded those duties. 
If you want to take that time I will do it.

The Chairman : What is the pleasure of the committee? (Agreed).
The Witness: This is the report of the investigator which is referred to 

in Mr. Bland’s letter of May 21st. You will remember he said the review board 
Was supplied with a memorandum from the organization branch of the com­
mission, a copy of which was attached. This copy which the commission sent 
ns is headed “Memorandum to Mr. Putman.” It goes on to say:—

I have made a further investigation into the duties of the position of 
general superintendent of Indian agencies.

Then he proceeds to set out what he felt those duties were.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. What are Mr. Putman’s initials?—A. I think it is C. V. or something 

like that.

By the Chairman:
Q. What was the date of that?—A. It was attached to the letter from the 

Civil Service Commission dated May 21, 1946. That is the letter to which I 
referred.

Q. That is the 8-page letter?—A. No, the letter from the commission notify­
ing us of the result of the appeal.

By Mr. Farquhar:
Q. Did I understand you to say that the appeal board changed the qualifica­

tions required by the candidates?—A. Very definitely; that is my view.
Q. Does that come under the work of the appeal board?—A. No. I do not 

know what the procedure of the appeal board was when they made their first 
report. Probably I had better mention that the first report made by the appeal 
board was dated the 9th of March, 1946. It is a rather long report. I think it 
is the one Mr. Harkness may have had. I have it here. I received it a couple 
of days ago from Mr. Gibson who was our representative on the second appeal 
board. He asked that the previous reports should be made available, and I 
secured these copies from Mr. Gibson after Mr. Bland had announced here the 
other day that the case had been decided.

Mr. Harkness : I think that report should be put into the record.
The Witness: I will be glad to put it in. Mr. Bland referred to it on 

Wednesday. I will be glad to put it in. It may be the same one you have.
Mr. Harkness: I asked the other day that it should be tabled.
The Witness: This is a copy which our member on the second appeal 

board got, and I assume it is one Mr. Bland should really file, the official one, 
but this I assume is a copy.

The Chairman : That is what I was going to point out, that when we have 
the original available it is quite unusual—

Mr. Reid: I must leave at half past twelve. I wonder if I might ask 
some questions now.

The Witness: If you would allow me, there is one thing I should like to 
say. In this first report made by the first review board dated the 9th of March 
and signed by Mr. Allan this statement is made—
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By Mr. Matthews:
Q. Signed by whom?—A. By the three.

The board finds itself in a position where a decision cannot be made 
until the above situation is clarified.

That is until the duties arc clarified. Apparently after that they asked for a 
report from the organization branch as to what they thought the duties were. 
Then on the strength of that report the remaining two members made their 
final report to the commission.

The Chairman: Is it agreeable to the members of the committee that we 
should file this copy of a report when the original is available? (Agreed).

The Witness: It is a purported copy.
Mr. Charlton: Put it on the record.
The Chairman : Is that agreeable? (Agreed).
The Witness: I might say that attached to this is the second report. 

There is the first report made by the three members and then the second report 
made by the two remaining members.

By the Chairman:
Q. You said a moment ago this one was signed by Mr. Allan, Mr. Maclsaac 

and Mr. Putman?—A. Yes.
Q. Then that is the first report?—A. That is the first report, when the board 

did not reach any conclusion.
Q. I thought you said it was the second report.—A. No. I am now referring 

to the second one which is attached to this. There are two reports. The two 
reports made by the first appeal board are here. I want to point out that when 
the review board composed of the three members made their report they did not 
reach a decision. It is quite clear they did not reach a decision and, as the 
report says, “the board finds itself in a position where a decision cannot be 
made until the above situation is clarified.” At that time they had a member 
of the department on the board. The board then proceeded to have somebody 
make a statement as to what they thought the duties were. The board met 
again with two members on it, without a representative of the department, and 
they made their report to the commission.

Q. Let me understand this. The first report is signed by all three?— 
A. Yes.

Q. And that said it should be clarified?—A. Yes.
Q. Then the remaining two members proceeded to file a second report?-' 

A. Filed a second and final report.

By Mr. Gariepy:
Q. In that second report did they define further the duties of the appointee ?— 

A. Yes.
Q. Was that a part of the second report?—A. Yes, it was a part of the 

second report. They attached a copy of a memorandum which was made by an 
officer in the organization branch in which he outlined many, many duties which 
we never intended should be attached to the position. It was clear the members 
of the review board had a mistaken idea as to what those duties were, much 
different than what we ever had. I attempted to satisfy them when I gave 
evidence before the board but was unable to do so.

By Mr. Farquhar:
Q. What knowledge would they have of the duties required?—A. I do not 

know. They had never been in the Indian Affairs department at all. They
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presumed to know much more about the work and the duties and the qualifica­
tions of the position than Mr. Hoey and myself and Dr. Camsell did. They 
took it upon themselves.

Mr. Richard: Who is this?
The Chairman: The two members of the appeal board on the first appeal.

By Mr. Richard:
Q. Both of them seemed to know more?—A. They assumed to know more 

about it.
Mr. Harkness: If this were read into the record then we could question on it.
The Witness : I will put it on the record.
The Chairman : It has already been directed that they be put on the record.
Mr. Harkness: I think they should be read now so we can question on the 

basis of them.
The Chairman : Mr. Reid has to get away.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. There are one or two questions I want to ask Mr. Jackson. If some of 

them pertain to the Civil Sendee Commission or the appeal board and do not 
come under your authority then you may say so. Some of them should perhaps 
be asked of Mr. Bland. One of the questions I wanted to ask was when you 
were called before the appeal board did the appeal board have any records or 
information, or had they made any investigation previous to you being called 
in?—A. I think they had Mr. Hoey on the stand the day before. Mr. Hoey gave 
evidence before I did. The reports clearly indicate they called only Mr. Hoey 
and myself before the board, no other witnesses. Mr. Pratt was not called nor 
anybody else.

Q. Were all the ratings investigated by the appeal board, including Randle?
A. I assume they were because when I gave evidence the board stated right 

at the outset they were satisfied Mr. Randle had no complaint and they said, 
“Do not waste any time on Mr. Randle but deal with the other ratings.”

Q. To your knowledge did the board hear any of the applicants?—A. Not 
at all.

Q. Then the board dealt entirely with the case from the records and infor­
mation supplied?—A. That is right, except for the evidence Mr. Hoey and I gave.

Q. The reason I am asking this is because it is more than a matter of just 
Mr. Pratt’s appointment. I am particularly interested in how the appeal board 
Works, and if they are working properly.

Mr. Charlton: Hear, hear.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. To your knowledge was the final decision to give the position to the 

second applicant made by the appeal board or by the commission?—A. I think 
Mr. Bland stated the other day they called in the appeal board for advice, and 
it was the responsibility of the commission to make the final decision. I think 
that is quite right. When I went before the commission on May 27th I said, 
“Regardless of what the appeal board has done it is your responsibility to make 
the appointment, and I think you should make it.” That is the stand we took 
from the time I waited on the commission on May 27th until the appointment 
Was made a month or so ago.

Q. Did the appeal board send out any investigator before making their 
final decision?—A. Yes. They asked an investigator of the organization branch 
of the Civil Service Commission to inquire into what the duties of the position 
Were.
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Q. Will his name be on record?—A. I have a copy of it here. It is attached 
to Mr. Bland’s letter of May 21st.

Q. Where did the investigator get his information as to the duties of this 
position?—A. He certainly did not get them from me. Where he got them I do 
not know.

Q. Did he get them from Mr. Hoey? Mr. Hoey, did he get them from you?
Mr. Hoey : When the investigator came over he had a discussion with me.
Mr. Reid: About what?
Mr. Hoey: About the duties and responsibilities of this position.
Mr. Reid: Then it would appear an investigator had made inquiries from 

the department.
Mr. Hoey: I think he went all over the branch. I do not know that but I 

am sure he did.
Mr. Reid: He made a report in writing?
The Witness: Yes, it is attached to Mr. Bland’s letter of May 21st. I do 

not want to take up the time of the committee but I wanted to show here very 
clearly how far he went in trying to ascribe duties to the position that none of 
us ever contemplated. I must say in fairness to him he went back to the duties 
we had assigned to the position of general superintendent of Indian agencies , in 
1938. He attached those to his report and started off with the assumption, 
“There are the duties for that position and they are still the same now.”

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Did I gather from your remarks that when the board was discussing and 

investigating this case they were doing so in the light of the first advertisement 
and not on the amended advertisement?—A. There had never been any official 
change in the duties from the time they were advertised until Mr. Pratt’s appoint­
ment. I must say a few weeks ago we did give new duties to the position after 
Mr. Pratt’s appointment was made by the commission, that is when the com­
mission certified Mr. Pratt’s appointment, subject to appeal. The duties we 
advertised for that position back in 1945 were the same duties, never were 
changed.

Q. You did say when the commission first of all submitted a draft of the 
advertisement you added something to it?—A. Yes, I did.

Q. I come back to my previous question. When the board was consider­
ing the appeal were they considering the applicants in the light of the 
advertisement sent to you for correction first or the final one? There is a 
difference in the two.—A. The only one they could consider is the final one. The 
draft one they sent was just a draft. That is always the procedure. The 
commission sends over a draft advertisement. We put it in the form we 
think it should be in and send it back. That is the final draft, and that is 
the point I was arguing before the appeal board. I said, “There are the 
qualifications for the position.” I will admit quite frankly, as you said on 
Wednesday, that they were very broad.

Q. The reason I am so anxious to know what the appeal board did is that 
it seems strange to me that the appeal board would decide without calling the 
applicants and having the applicants before them before the first decision 
was made.

The Chairman: Of course, in a court of law the appellant or the parties 
do not appear at the court of appeal.

Mr. Reid: This is not a court of law.
The Chairman: I say in a court of law.
Mr. Reid: We are looking for justice more than law. Sometimes I think 

there is too much law.
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The Chairman : I am stopped.
Mr. Harkness : Mr. Reid, I think a lot of your questions would be 

clarified by the reading of these reports.
The Witness: If you will allow me I will read the duties.

By the Chairman:
Q. Do you want to read this report?—A. After all I am quite willing to 

read the report at any time, but what I was going to do was put on the 
record what this investigator thought the duties were to show how far he 
went over and above what was contained in the advertisement. After all we 
must stay with the advertised duties in these competitions, not have an 
investigator say what he thinks the duties should be.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Do you think the investigator exceeded his authority?—A. Very much 

so, and had no right to. If he had come over and talked to me and said, “This 
is the report I am going to make” I would have said, “You have no right 
to change the duties.” We know what the duties are. It is not up to some 
investigator of the Civil Service Commission who does not know the work 
to ascribe new duties to the position. He goes ahead in the report and says 
that the occupant of the position is to be put in charge of all lumbering 
operations, fur-bearing operations, things like that that we know were never 
included. Mr. Allan in the trust division is looking after the fur operations. The 
investigator referred to “looking after the construction of all buildings.” We 
have an engineering and construction service in the department which takes 
over that responsibility. It looked as if there was some attempt to add duties to 
the position that the person who made the investigation should have known were 
too wide.

Q. Was that drawn to the attention of Mr. Bland?—A. I did when I had 
the meeting with Mr. Bland and the commission on the 27th of May. When 
I finished with Mr. Bland and the other members of the commission I left and 
Went to the hospital quite satisfied the matter was all settled. When I left 
the meeting I though it was the opinion, because I had made it quite clear, 
that whoever made the report—his initials are J. A. M—had got the wrong 
track altogether.

Q. AVhy did he not sign his name? It is not a secret document.—A. I do 
not know who it is. It may be Mr. Murray. I am not sure, but it is J. A. M. 
He attaches to his report here a statement of the duties which we tried to 
assign to that position in 1938.

By Mr. Farquhar:
Q. Is this investigator in the department?—A. With the Civil Service 

Commission—duties which Mr. Hoey and myself and the rest of us knew could 
not be carried out except by a super-man because they were overlapping 
with other positions. In the new advertisement we took out some of the 
duties which we had tried to assign to the position in 1938. We were new 
then. We were hoping it would work out but we found it would not. That 
is why when we came to create the new position we restricted the duties.

I must say that I regret more than anything else I did not change the 
title "of the position at that time, but as you know there was a prohibition by 
the Treasury Board that you could not create a new position and fill it by 
Promotion. That prohibition existed at that time. I did not care what the 
title of the position Was as long as we got somebody in it. I realize now 
that if it had been called general executive assistant there would not likely 
have been this fuss and I do not think the appeal board would have got so
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mixed up. I am not trying to assign any wrongdoing to the appeal board, 
but it is quite clear they were trying to say that all the duties and more, 
that we had tried to ask Mr. Christianson to do, should be given to the 
occupant of this position, which was absurd. A man doing what is referred to 
in this report signed by J. A. M. would be running the whole department. 
That is what Mr. Hoey and I were trying to avoid. We set out these new 
duties. Mr. Hoey was coming to me from time to time complaining that 
he was over-burdened with work and wanted somebody to take over personnel 
work.

As you know Mr. Hoey had only been in office about three months. Dr. 
McGill retired in December, 1944, and we started the competition in March, 1945, 
although we could not fill it until August because Mr. Christianson was still in it. 
Mr. Hoey had impressed on me very definitely that he must be relieved from a 
lot of this detail work, going over to the Civil Service Commission on boards, and 
everything like that. We all realized that if we were going to make any headway 
with the administration of Indian affairs we had to improve the staff. That 
above all else was most important.

Those were the instructions given to me by Mr. Crerar when I first went 
into the department, “do what you can to improve the staff in the Indian 
Affairs Branch.” If I do say so myself I spent more than half my time in the 
last ten years night and day trying to improve the staff and administration 
in the Indian Affairs Branch. For nearly three years we have been trying to 
fill this position. Mr. Pratt was doing a lot of the Indian affairs work until 
the appeal was made. After the appeal was made he quite properly refused to 
do any of that work. Mr. Hoey and I and the rest of us have had to try to 
get along as well as we can until the appointment was made.

People are accusing me of finagling with the Civil Service Commission- 
I have been accused of favoritism and everything like that. I talked to a 
senior officer of a civil service organization the other day on the street. IB' 
said, “The whole matter stinks.” I do not know whether he meant that it stinks 
from my point of view or stinks from the point of view of the opposition that 
has arisen in connection with Mr. Pratt’s appointment. As far as I am con­
cerned the matter does not stink.

Mr. Reid: Well, if it smells they have contributed a great deal to it from 
what I have heard.

The Chairman : I was going to say something about a fox, but I will not-
Mr. Farquhar: I feel they changed the duties greatly.

By the Chair mem:
Q. How about this? Do you want to read this memorandum at the 

moment?—A. I will be very glad to read it. I am not going to bother reading 
the investigator’s report. Do you want me to read that? I think I should put 
on file the letter from Mr. Bland announcing the appeal. I think it is important 
it should go on the record. I do not want to take up too much time of the 
committee.

The Chairman : Is that agreeable? (Agreed).
Suppose you give us a copy.
The Witness : That is Mr. Bland’s letter and the investigator’s report.
The Chairman: Give us the date of that so we will be able to identify ^ 

later.
The Witness: It is a document attached to Mr. Bland’s letter of May 2b 

1946.
The Chairman : You could send the reporter a copy of it.
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The Witness: I will read to the committee this purported report of the 
first appeal board dated the 9th of March, 1946.

By Mr. Charlton:
Q. Mr. Jackson, you used the word “purported.” Is this not a copy of the 

original report?—A. All I know is that Mr. Gibson, whd was a member of the 
last appeal board, asked the commission to give him copies of the reports. He 
got these from the commission. I presume they are copies of the one Mr. Bland 
referred to. I got them from Mr. Gibson.

Q. I do not think the word “purported” should be used.—A. I am not 
sure it is a true copy.

The Chairman : It is purported. It is the same objection we made the other 
day when Mr. Harkness wanted to file something which was a copy of an 
original, and the original was available. The original of this is available, and 
the original should be filed.

The AVitness : I am sure it is a copy as far as I know. I can not be 
absolutely sure because it is just a typewritten document as far as I am 
concerned.

Mr. Charlton : If that word “purported” is used it does not mean any more 
than the paper it is written on.

The Chairman: Exactly.
Mr. Charlton : If the original is available I think the original should be 

the one to go in the record.
The Chairman : Quite.
The Witness: Let Mr. Bland deal with that.
The Chairman : That is exactly what I was pointing out the other day.
Mr. Bickers: That is from Mr. Gibson who was one of the members of the 

appeal board.
The Chairman: Mr. Charlton is still right. It is purported, and when we 

have the original document available we should have the original. However, 
the committee have over-ridden that and have stated we are going to file this 
purported one. Then when the original comes along we will have the original 
filed as well.

Mr. Charlton: Mr. Jackson has just said he is pretty certain it is a copy 
of the original. AArhy not go ahead with it then?

The Chairman : Because it must be a purported copy. He cannot identify 
it. He has not compared them.

Mr. Charlton: Let us go ahead and read it.

By the Chairman:
Q. Have you compared this with the original report?—A. No, I could not 

do that.
Q. Then what else is it but a purported copy?—A. I think the best thing 

to do is to let Mr. Bland produce the report. He had it here the other day.
The Chairman : Is it agreeable to have Mr. Jackson read this purported 

copy?
Mr. Harkness: I think Mr. Jackson should read it and we can ask Mr. 

Bland if it is correct.
The Chairman: Is that agreed? (Agreed.)
The AA^itness: There are two reports. I will read the first one and then the 

second one.
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9-3-46
CVP/ML
REVIEW BOARD

General Superintendent of Indian Agencies, 
Department of Mines and Resources, Ottawa, 

Comp. No. 45-809
Appellant: E. P. Randle
Successful
Applicant: W. J. F. Pratt
Board Members:
J. A. Maclsaac, representing Civil Service Federation of Canada;'
D. J. Allan, representing Department of Mines and Resources;
C. V. Putnam, representing Civil Service Commission.
The Review Board was convened in Mr. Putnam’s office on Wednes­

day, March 6, and examined Mr. Randle’s appeal, ratings and other rele­
vant papers on file.

The advertisement was examined by the Review Board and it is noted 
that only the duties of the position were enumerated therein. Both the 
departmental representative and the employee’s representative requested 
that they be supplied with the qualification requirements for the position 
and were advised, after careful inquiry was made, that no qualification 
requirements had ever been drawn up for this class.

That is an incorrect statement because they are right on the back of'the applica­
tion form.

All of the applications were examined and read in the Board, down 
to and including that of Mr. Randle.

The Board was impressed with the fact that the candidate rated in first 
position, W. J. F. Pratt, has never had any experience in the Indian Affairs 
Branch of the Department and his contact with Indian Affairs matters 
are only such as would be required by a Minister’s Private Secretary.

At this point, the Board was greatly handicapped because it did not 
have definite qualification requirements to refer to and consequently it 
was felt necessary to call at least one of the rating officers, and it was 
suggested that Mr. Hoev, the Director of the Indian Affairs Branch, be 
asked to appear before the Board.

The Board was reconvened on Thursday morning, March 7, with Mr. 
Hoey, Director of the Indian Affairs Branch, in attendance. Mr. Hoey 
was questioned at length regarding the ratings given the first eight 
applicants, especially those of Messrs. Pratt, Arneil, and McCrimmon.

The question of the exact duties of the position being raised, Mr. 
Hoey read a lengthy memorandum which went into considerable detail 
and was his idea of what the General Superintendent of Indian Agencies’ 
work should be. This explanation of Mr. Hoey was somewhat along 
the lines of that of the advertisement, but it was the opinion of the Board 
that the evidence of the Director was to magnify and expand the duties 
and responsibilities of the position beyond the normal meaning that 
could be read into the advertisement. He emphasized the importance 
which he attached to the practical administrative responsibilities of the 
position, stressing the point that the officer appointed to it must be capable 
of settling administrative problems without reference to himself as head 
of the Branch and of assuming full responsibility that the details of such 
settlements be carried out.
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Mr. Hoey also stressed the fact that he and two or three other senior 
officers of the Indian Affairs Division had been carrying the load of 
General Superintendent for a considerable period of time and that he must 
be relieved of detailed departmental administrative matters. He said 
that he wanted a man in this position who would carry on the necessary 
work of the position without constant reference to himself and who would 
be capable of giving him the expert assistance indicated in the foregoing 
paragraph.

When questioned specifically about the superior qualifications of 
Mr. Pratt above those of Messrs. Arneil and McCrimmon, he said that 
he knew the work of Messrs. Arneil and McCrimmon very well and 
considered them most excellent employees, it being a very difficult matter 
to say which of the two was the better qualified for the vacant position, 
but that he had been guided by the Chief Executive Assistant of the 
Department, Mr. Jackson, in the ratings which were given Mr. Pratt. 
Mr. Hoey also stated that he was not intimately familiar with Mr. Pratt’s 
work, that he did not know of any cases where Mr. Pratt had made any 
reports, etc., in connection with Indian Affairs matters on the one hand, 
while on the other, Mr. Pratt had for years been with various Ministers 
when Indian Agencies were visited and in attendance when various Indian 
delegations interviewed the Minister.

Upon further questioning regarding Mr. Pratt, Mr. Hoey suggested 
that he thought it would be desirable for the Board to have the advantage 
of Mr. Jackson’s knowledge of Mr. Pratt’s qualifications.

The Board was reconvened in the afternoon with Mr. Clarence 
Jackson, Chief Executive Assistant, in attendance. Mr. Jackson was 
questioned regarding the duties of the position and to the Board’s 
amazement and quite contrary to the evidence given by the Director 
placed the strongest evidence on the responsibility of this officer to be 
appointed as General Superintendent of Indian Agencies, for matters of 
personnel, attaching little importance to the practical administrative 
duties stressed by the Director. Mr. Jackson presented the viewpoint 
that more careful selection of general staff, which would be the first 
duty of this officer to the virtual exclusion of all others, would solve the 
Director’s problems.

Mr. Jackson expounded at length on the very superior qualifications 
that Mr. Pratt had in personnel work and the Board was forced to the 
conclusion that the position that Mr. Jackson had in mind for the General 
Superintendent of Indian Agencies was not that at all of an administrator 
of Indian Affairs, but a super-personnel officer who would staff the 
Branch with capable people.

The impression left on the Review Board by Mr. Jackson’s evidence 
was that he was endeavouring to shape the position to the qualifications 
possessed by Mr. Pratt, rather than to endeavour to obtain an applicant 
who would 'meet most nearly the qualifications of the position as adver­
tised, and as described by the Director.

In the opinion of the Board the advertisement falls short of placing 
before the candidates a true picture of the duties and responsibilities of 
the position as the said duties and responsibilities are interpreted by the 
Director. Conversely, the candidates could not understand from the 
published advertisement the extreme limitations placed on the duties of 
the position to that of an officer whose main duties would be to have 
charge of personnel as outlined by Mr. Jackson, the Chief Executive 

Assistant.
With these three varying ideas of the duties of the position, that of 

the advertisement, that of Mr. Hoey which in general is along the line of
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the advertisement but more extensive and covering greater responsibility 
and that of Mr. Jackson which is that of a super-personnel officer, the' 
Board finds itself in a position where a decision cannot be made until the 
above situation is clarified. If it is a personnel job, the Board considers 
that the position is not properly classified; if it is an administrative job, 
the Board is unanimous in its opinion that Mr. Pratt has not the minimum 
qualifications for this position, never having had, as far as can be deter­
mined, any kind of administrative experience.

The Board considers that, as outlined by Mr. Jackson before the 
Board, the position most nearly approaches the classification of Officer- 
in-Charge of Personnel, Indian Affairs Branch, a position already occupied 
by one of the applicants.

I do not understand what that means. It is not clear to me.
Mr. Pratt, has a part-time position, being now classified as Assistant 

Secretary and Chief of Personnel, in addition to his duties as Private 
Secretary to the Minister.

Mr. Jackson was also asked if it so happened that Mr. Pratt was 
given this promotion if he would relinquish his duties as Private Secretary 
to the Minister, it being the opinion of the Board that a man could not 
possibly give the service that Mr. Hoey expects of the person promoted 
to that position, unless he devoted full time to the job. Mr. Jackson 
said that it had been discussed with the Minister who said that perhaps 
within a month or two months or a year Mr. Pratt could be released to 
give full time to the position of General Superintendent of Indian 
Agencies.

The Review Board recommends that the Organization Branch be 
requested to have a senior investigator make careful inquiry into the 
duties of this position and present for the information of the board a 
statement outlining in detail the actual duties of the position and the 
qualification requirements for an employee to satisfactorily carry on 
these duties.

When the above is received, the board will then be in a position to 
make a final report in connection with this competition.

It is signed by J. A. Maclsaac, D. J. Allan and C. V. Putman.
Mr. MacNicol: Who finally got the job, Mr. Chairman?
The Chairman: Mr. Bland told us the day before yesterday that Mr. Pratt 

has the job, so you see this is all love’s labour lost.
The Witness: The second report, which I believe is also a copy—I 

believe Mr. Bland filed the original—it does not bear any date.
Mr. Harkness : The report you just read is word for word with the copy I 

have.
The Witness : This report is No. 45-809G. It is headed “Review Board; 

General Superintendent of Indian Agencies, Department of Mines and Resources, 
Ottawa, Competition No. 45-809.” The appellant is E. P. Randle and the 
successful applicant W. J. F. Pratt. The board members are the same, J. A. 
Maclsaac, D. J. Allan and C. V. Putman, although Mr. Allan was not present 
at that meeting.

The Chairman: He was not in attendance.
The AVitness : He was not in attendance. I will now read the report.

The Review Board was re-convened on Thursday, April 25, 1946, 
Messrs. Maclsaac and Putman being the only members available due 
to the very serious illness of Mr. Allan.



INDIAN ACT 135

The board examined the memorandum of the Organization Branch 
re the duties of the position. It is amply evident that the position requires 
an appointee who has had extensive administrative experience, staff 
matters being a small part of the very numerous and varied requirements.

In view of the determination that this is an administrative position 
and as in its memorandum of April 9th to the commission it reported, 
on page 6 at top of page, as follows:—

.... if it is an administrative job, the board is unanimous in 
its opinion that Mr. Pratt has not the minimum qualifications for 
this position, never having had, as far as can be determined, any 
kind of administrative experience.

the two available members of the board recommend that the above 
finding be approved and some other selection than that of Mr. Pratt be 
made from those who applied.

It is also recommended that Mr. Randle’s appeal be denied as the 
board is satisfied, from the evidence obtained, that Mr. Randle is not as 
well qualified as a number of others who have been given higher ratings 
than he.

It is signed by J. A. Maclsaac and C. V. Putman. Those are the two reports 
I have.

The Chairman : Is that the end of your statement?
The Witness : I will be glad to answer any questions I possibly can.
The Chairman : Are there any questions?
Mr. Bareness : I have some questions to ask. I thought perhaps someone 

else might have some questions. In your first statement, Mr. Jackson, and 
throughout your evidence, you placed emphasis on the fact that Mr. Pratt, 
Perhaps, had been done an injustice. In other words, you gave the general 
impression you were looking at it entirely from Mr. Pratt’s viewpoint and that, 
possibly, harm might have been done to him. Now, I should like to make it 
clear, as I have done before, I have not looked into the matter—

The Chairman : Gentlemen—
Mr. Bareness : Just a minute, please, I think I am perfectly entitled to 

say this.
The Chairman: You can do whatever this committee says you can do. All 

I am trying to point out to you again is that we are here to examine this witness 
and not to make statements.

Mr. Bareness: In order to ask questions one very frequently has to make 
a statement, which is what I am doing.

The Chairman: You would make a very poor lawyer.
Mr. Bareness: I do not pretend to be a lawyer. It has been pointed out 

by Mr. Reid and others quite frequently that we would make a lot more progress 
in this committee if a lot of the legal technicalities were left out.

The Chairman : We have left out enough to fill several volumes already.
Mr. Bareness: The most important thing to be considered in this committee 

is the welfare of the Indians. I should like to ask, in making your ratings for 
this position, to what extent you had in mind the welfare of the Indians, and in 
making your statement to-day, rather than the welfare of Mr. Pratt?

The Witness: I had the welfare of the Indians 100 per cent in mind; that 
is my job. I am paid to do that. I certified on my honour I did do it.
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By Mr. Harkness:
Q. It appears from this report of the appeal board that, in their opinion, 

the qualifications of the position as advertised and as described by Mr. Hoey
called for an administrative officer with experience------ A. What is meant by that,
I do not know.

Q.—in Indian, affairs; now, did Mr. Pratt have any administrative experi­
ence?—A. Well, he had been chief of personnel for a good many years for 
the whole department, covering five branches, not the one branch but at the 
same time concentrating on Indian affairs work. I used to assign his work to 
him and he took quite a bit from my shoulders.

Mr. Farquhar: I should think that would give him a vçry wide experience.
The Witness: He was listening to complaints coming into the minister’s 

office. The complaints were very numerous in the early days when Mr. Crerar 
took over. He would know what the complaints were. He knew the people 
who did not answer letters. He knew the good agents and the bad agents by 
the complaints coming in from the members and other people. He knew the good 
ones from the bad ones. He has had an opportunity of judging the staff.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. You disagree with the findings of the Appeal Board in which all three 

members said that,
Mr. Pratt has not the minimum qualifications for this position never 
having had, so far as can be determined, any kind of administrative 
experience?

A. I put my judgment on that against Mr. Putman and Mr. Maclsaac who have 
never been in the department and don’t know anything about it.

Q. This report was signed by Mr. Allan?—A. Mr. Allan was not well and 
did not take any part in the proceedings.

Mr. Farquhar : I think these men were talking about something in which 
they had no experience or knowledge themselves.

Mr. Harkness: I think we have to take the findings of the appeal board 
which is set up for the purpose of going into any disputed appointments and, at 
least, give them credit for giving their report in an honest manner.

Mr. Farquhar: I think some of us have had a great deal more to do with 
Mr. Pratt than they have and have knowledge of his experience and work. I 
have had a great deal to do with Mr. Pratt during the thirteen years I have been 
here. I have a great many Indians in my constituency. I have found Mr. Pratt 
one of the most efficient men in this department.

Mr. Little: Hear. hear.
The Witness: If they had examined Mr. Pratt, it might have been all 

right. If they had called him before them and then gone into his qualifications, 
it would have been more fair. They did not do that. They did not give him 
an opportunity of defending himself. That was one of the things that rather 
annoyed me. Here is a man who is a candidate for a position, not being given 
a chance to make any protest at all. This is all done behind his back. The 
first thing he knows about it is when he is told that he does not possess the 
minimum qualifications.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. The main point which appeals to me in these reports and the evidence 

we have been hearing is that the director of Indian Affairs required a man to do 
administrative work and take a great deal of the administrative details from 
his shoulders?—A. What is the difference between the two?
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Q. The appeal board found Mr. Pratt had not had the experience. As a 
matter of fact, I think you stated or Dr. Keenleyside admitted that Mr. Pratt 
had no experience in the field.—A. Dr. Keenleyside did not make that statement.

Q. I think it is important, from the standpoint of the recommendation we 
made last year, that

future appointments of officials concerned with the administration of 
Indian affairs should, where practicable, be restricted to applicants who 
have had previous experience in the field.

In other words this appointment, in my view, is directly contrary to the recom­
mendation that our committee made last year.—A. Actually, Mr. Pratt did not 
have experience in the field, but he had been up about a dozen times to The Pas 
and other places with the Minister dealing with Indian agents.

Hon. Mr. Horner : Dealing with Indian agencies or political work?
The Witness: Dealing with conditions on Indian reserves. Mr. Pratt had 

an administrative position, and I think the positions of General Superintendent 
of Indian Agencies or general executive assistants are administrative jobs. They 
are all administrative. I am in an administrative job now, what is called 
“Director of Administration”. I do not know what the Board meant. I do know 
what the dictionary meaning is for the word “administrative,” but I do not know 
what they—the Board of Review—had in mind.

Q. I do not think you say Mr. Pratt had anything like the experience in 
administration—

The Chairman : Senator Horner has pointed out that Mr. Pratt was up 
in The Pas on political business. Now, having in mind that politics is the science 
of government, will you tell me what is political?

Hon. Mr. Horner: I do not believe I need to tell you, you know what it is 
yourself.

The Chairman : I know very well what politics is. I know that politics 
is the science of government. Anything which will have to do with the governing 
of these Indians is politics. If you meant party politics, that is a different matter.

Mr. Matthews : I cannot see the point of this discussion. The appeal board 
has met and has given its decision. The decision was unanimous. The Civil Ser­
vice Commission has accepted that report and has made an appointment. As 
I see it, the matter is closed.

Mr. Harkness: I come back to the point I was on; as I say, I do not 
think Mr. Jackson will maintain that Mr. Pratt’s experience was anything 
more than casual or an occasional visit to an Indian agency, whereas there 
are in the department several senior officials who have been working on the 
administration of Indian affairs for many years.

The Witness: I would not agree with that statement at all, I could not 
agree with it. Mr. Pratt has had a very wide experience and has travelled from 
one part of Canada to another.

The Chairman : Here we are, a committee of thirty-four members, and 
I venture to say there is not one member of this committee which is appointed 
to deal with the very lives of 130,000 people who has visited as many agencies 
or had as much administrative experience as Mr. Pratt has had. None of 
Us has visited all the Indian reserves, with the exception of Mr. MacNicol— 
how many have you visited, Mr. MacNicol?

Mr. MacNicol: About twenty-five reserves.
The Chairman: How many thousand reserves are there?
Mr. Hoey: 2,300.
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The Chairman: Mr. MacNicol, probably the widest travelled man on 
this committee, in his travels has only been able to accomplish visits to 
about twenty-five reserves. When we start speaking about qualifications—■

Mr. Harkness: Our qualifications would have nothing to do with this 
matter. We have been appointed as members of a committee of the House 
of Commons.

The Chairman: But we are dealing with the lives of 130,000 people.
Mr. Harkness: None of us applied for a job or were considered for a 

job by this department?
Mr. Matthews: What is before the committee?
The Chairman : We have been off on a tangent investigating the inner 

workings of the Civil Service Commission.
Mr. Matthews: Mr. Jackson is not a member of the Civil Service Com­

mission, so I am wondering where we are.
Mr. Harkness: What I put before the committee was this notice of 

motion which I moved at our first meeting.
The Chairman : And which we have said was not in order, but in order to 

clarify the matter, we decided to have meetings in this committee and 
investigate it.

Mr. Harkness : I should like to point out, Mr. Chairman, that this motion 
was adopted by the committee and that is what is before the committee. This 
is really an investigation of the administration of personnel matters in the 
Indian Affairs Department.

The Chairman: I gave the reason why we adopted it.
Mr. Matthews : Are you pressing for a vote?
Mr. Farquhar: I think we have all the facts before us now. Everything 

is on the record. We have not got a quorum here now, so I move we adjourn.
Mr. Tickers: May I ask a couple of questions?
The Chairman : There is this about it; when it has been drawn to my 

notice there is no quorum, I have no other alternative but to adjourn the 
meeting.

Mr. Charlton: That is a very simple way of putting it down the drain, 
Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman : What would you suggest, Mr. Charlton?
Mr. Charlton : I would suggest we at least hear a few questions.
The Chairman: I am quite willing to stay if you can suggest some means 

by which we can do it.
The Witness: I am quite willing to stay and answer all the questions that 

you wish to ask me. I have nothing to hide.
The Chairman: I can fail to see the lack of a quorum, if you can take out 

of the record the fact that it has been drawn to my attention.
The Witness: I should like to get rid of this matter and let us get on with 

the next job. This has been going on for three years now. It is annoying to 
every person not to have it settled. We have been fooling around with the 
case for a long time. It has been the most annoying thing I have ever had in 
the department. I think an injustice has been done and I do not care whether 
I get out of the service tomorrow, I want to see it corrected. I think a rem 
injustice has been done to Mr. Pratt. That is why I wanted to take the time 
today and get all the facts on the record. I have nothing to hide.

If we had had Mr. Pratt’s appointment made when it should have been 
made, we would be much further ahead in the department than we are. We 
are having Civil Service examinations nearly every day and there are not the
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trained staff to look after this work. All that is being sacrificed. To a certain 
extent, the rest of us have had to take it on with our other duties, but we have 
not the time to spend on it we should.

Mr. Harkness: The question with which we are concerned is whether the 
best men are being appointed to these positions or not. As I said before, I do 
not think it is a matter of injustice to Mr. Pratt or anything else of that nature, 
it is merely a question of whether the best men are being appointed. In view 
of the report of this appeal board which considered the case, and every other 
piece of information I have received, I have had considerable doubt of that. It 
was for that reason I brought the matter up.

The Witness: I am not trying to be critical at all. I know you are just 
as much interested in the Indians as we are. We are all here trying to do the 
same job. I am confident, if we had gotten ahead with this position and had 
it filled, it would have been much better. If Mr. Pratt does not accept this job— 
I do not know whether he is going to do so or not—I do not know what we 
will do. I do not know where in the dickens we are going to get someone to step 
m tomorrow and take over this job. I was talking to the deputy minister 
yesterday before he went away and I said if Mr. Pratt does not take this posi­
tion, who are we going to get? I do not know where to get someone who has 
had the necessary experience. Mr. Hoey will tell you about the difficulties of 
Mr. Christianson coming—a good field man, trying to work with the intricacies 
of the Civil Service and all the red tape that we have to go through from day 
to day. It is important to have somebody who has knowledge of that and who 
can cut across the red tape and get positions filled.

Mr. Harkness: I think it is essential the positions be filled. I think this 
Particular position and others should have been filled long ago.

The Witness: I think, Mr. Harkness, if you had enquired where that 
envelope came from, probably you would have gone further into the authenticity 
°f the report. You could have asked me about it.

Mr. Harkness: The report is authentic.
The Witness: Not the first statement you made.
Mr. Harkness: What first statement?
The Witness: In the House of Commons; you were not given the true 

‘acts. You were misinformed, and if you had come to me, I would have shown 
you our whole file.

Mr. Harkness: It is quite correct, I was misinformed. From all the infor­
mation I have obtained, and in view of these reports, I think the statement you 
made some time ago that somebody met you on the street and said, “The whole 
matter of this appointment stinks”, so far as a large portion of the general 
Public and the Civil Service are concerned, I think that is the case. A lot of 
these cases stink, as you say.

The Witness: That is why I want to put all the facts on the table.
Mr. Harkness : One of the ideas I had in mind in bringing this investiga­

tion about was to try and bring out the correct facts, more or less to get the 
thing out in the open and let people know what the situation was. The way in 
Which some of these appointments have been made, I think, is undoubtedly the 
cause of dissatisfaction and loss of morale in the department and in other 
branches of the Civil Service, so far as that is concerned. I think the same 
thing is true of the entire Civil Service morale. It would be much better if 
People were convinced there was no skullduggery in connection with any of 
these matters.
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The Witness: I will make the statement, that there has been no skull­
duggery in our department since I have been there.

The Chairman : Have you some questions you desire to ask before the 
gavel falls, Mr. Tickers?

By Mr. Dickers:
Q. Yes, I should like to know, in your experience, is this the first time this 

has happened in your department that you have been delayed by the appeal 
board of the Civil Service Commission in making an appointment?—A. So far 
as appeals are concerned?

Q. Yes.—A. We have had other appeals, but they have been dealt with 
much more quickly than this one.

The Chairman: It has been brought to my attention there is no quorum 
present. It is now 12.55. I think it would be the consensus of opinion that this 
matter be dropped but since we have not a quorum present, I will have to 
adjourn it until some future date. It will probably be on Tuesday next.

The meeting adjourned.
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Page 8, Minutes of Proceedings, Thursday, 19th February, 1948, the name oi 

Mr. Brunelle, is to be inserted on the list of members of the sub­
committee on Indian Educational matters.



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
House of Commons,
Tuesday, 23rd March, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding : Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senator Taylor.—1.
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 

Charlton, Gariépy, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond 
(Wright), and Reid.—12.

In attendance: Messrs. C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and Per­
sonnel, Mines and Resources ; W. M. Cory, Legal Section ; R. A. Hoey, Director, 
Indian Affairs; D. J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts ; M. McCrim- 
tnon, Reserves Division; D. H. Russell, Secretary’s Branch ; also, Mr. Norman E. 
Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for Committee.

Mr. Reid again asked that the Committee give consideration to the matter 
of enabling legislation to permit the Provinces to take over health and education 
of Indians. Matter referred to subcommittee on agenda.

It was agreed that the departmental officials would draft proposals to give 
effect to the suggestion of Mr. Case with regard to the incorporation of reserves, 
and that such drafts would be brought to the attention of the Committee at a 
later date.

Consideration resumed of Indian Act.
Further discussion with regard to redraft of sections 2 (d) and with those 

sections dealing with: “Band Lists” and “Band Membership”. The two latter 
as well as sections 126, 127, 128, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137 to be 
redrafted and submitted to the next meeting of the Committee for discussion.

The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again at the call of 
the Chair.
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House of Commons,
Tuesday, 6th April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have 
been referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman).

Present:
The Senate: Nil (In Recess).
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, 

Charlton, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), MacLean, Raymond 
(Wright), and Reid—9.

In attendance: Messrs. W. M. Cory, Legal Section, Mines and Resources; 
T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary, Indian Affairs Branch; D. H. Russell, Indian 
Affairs Branch; also, Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for Committee.

The Chairman announced that he had asked the Speaker of the House 
of Commons to provide office space for the Counsel to the Committee who is 
now sharing an office in the Committee Branch with three other people. The 
Speaker informed Mr. Brown “that all available space is being used in the 
Parliament Building”.

It was agreed that a subcommittee composed of the Joint Chairmen and 
Messrs. Raymond and Reid would call upon the Honourable the Speaker in 
order to stress the necessity for the provision of the space asked for by the 
Chairman in his letter of 12th March.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.
Mr. Raymond raised the question of Indians in his constituency who have 

no actual reserves. Mr. Maclnnes stated that the matter of suitable reserves 
for the La Barrière and other nomad Indians in that area has been under 
discussion with the Quebec Provincial authorities. The matter is not urgent 
in the sense that these Indians are bush Indians, engaged in trapping, hunting 
and fishing and woud not remain on allocated reserves, if such were available-

The Chairman reiterated the necessity for concluding the discussion 
general principles with regard to Indian Affairs.

It was agreed that the Committee at its next meeting would discuss 
“location tickets”; that a day, at least, would be set aside to complete the 
matter of appointments and promotions to Indian Affairs, and that every 
effort would be made to complete as soon as possible the examination of the 
revised Indian Act, section by section.

The Committee adjourned at 12.50 p.m., to meet again on Thursday next) 
8th April, at 11 o’clock a.m.
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House of Commons, 
Thursday, .8th April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman).

Present:
The Senate: Nil (In Recess).

; The House of Commons: Messrs. Arsenault, Brown, Blaekmore, Case, 
Charlton, Gariépy, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Matthews (Brandon) (Vice- 
Chairman), MacLean, Raymond (Wright), and Reid.—11.

In attendance: (From the Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. 
C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel; W. M. Cory, Legal 
Section; (From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. D. ,1. Allan, Superintendent, 
Reserves and Trusts; M. McCrimmon, Reserves Division; L. L. Brown, 
Reserves Division; T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary; D. H. Russell ; also, Mr. 
Norman E. Bickers, Barrister, Counsel for Committee.

Mr. Reid expressed the hope that the new Indian Act, when introduced, 
Would not, as in 1880, originate elsewhere than in the House of Commons. The 
Chairman stated that he would make inquiries and inform the Committee on 
this point as soon as possible.

The Chairman announced that at 11 o’clock a.m., tomorrow, Friday, 9th 
April, a special meeting of the Committee would be called to continue and com­
plete the matter brought before the Committee on 19th February last by 
Mr. Harkness.

Examination resumed of Indian Act. General discussion of sections 19-24, 
both inclusive.

The Committee agreed that trusteeship, as at present exercised, should be 
P-tained for the time being, except in cases where a band, by a majority vote, 
decides to remove themselves and their lands out of that state.

It was agreed that at the next regular meeting of the Committee on Tuesday, 
13th April next, the Committee would discuss those sections of the Indian Act 
dealing with “Descent of Property”.

The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again tomorrow, 
Friday, 9th April, at 11 o’clock a.m.
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The Senate,
Friday, 9th April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman).
Present :
The Senate: Nil (In Recess).
The Plouse of Commons: Messrs. Arsenault, Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, 

Castleden, Charlton, Gariépy, Harkness, Little, Matthews (Brandon), (Vice- 
Chairman), MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), and Reid.—14.

In attendance: Messrs. C. H. Bland, C.M.G., Chairman, Civil Service Com­
mission; C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel, Mines and 
Resources; D. H. Russell, Indian Affairs Branch ; J. E. Morris, Indian Affairs 
Branch.

The Chairman announced that the sole purpose of this meeting was to 
continue and complete the examination and consideration of the matter brought 
to the Committee by the motion of Mr. Harkness on 19th February last.

Mr. C. H. Bland, C.M.G., Chairman, Civil Service Commission, was recalled 
and questioned. Mr. Bland agreed to file with the Committee the two reports 
made to the Civil Service Commission by the Appeal Board which considered 
the appointment of a General Executive Assistant, Indian Affairs Branch.

Mr. C. W. Jackson made statements from time to time.
Mr. Harkness asked questions with regard to: J. E. Gendron, promoted to 

regional supervisor, Province of Quebec ; Superintendent, Indian Agency, Selkirk, 
Manitoba; (Mr. Bryce also asked questions with regard to this appointment) ; 
the appointment of a superintendent at Lesser Slave Lake and the position now 
held by J. E. Morris, Indian Affairs Branch. Replies were given by Messrs- 
Bland and Jackson.

On motion of Mr. Reid, it was agreed, on division, That this Committee k 
satisfied, on the evidence, submitted and considered, that there was no improper 
interference in the appointment of Mr. W. J. Ford Pratt to the position 
General Executive Assistant, Indian Affairs Branch, but the Committee is not 
satisfied with the length of time taken to fill that key position, in view of the 
fact that this Committee, on August 15, 1946, recommended, inter alia',

5. That the Director of Indian Affairs Branch, Department of MincS 
and Resources, in conjunction with the Civil Service Commission and the 
Treasury Board, take immediate steps to fill such vacant key posts a® 
Indian Agents and such other vacancies in Indian Affairs Branch which; 
in the public interest, must be filled forthwith.

Mr. Gariepy called the attention of the Committee to the omission of the 
name of Mr. Brunelle from the list of members of the subcommittee on Indian 
Education. It was agreed that a notation would be made in the next number 
the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence correcting this inadvertent omisssi00'

The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Tuesday, 13th 
April next, at 11 o’clock a.m.

T. L. McEVOY,
Clerk of the Joint Committee.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
The Senate,

April 9, 1948.
The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 

appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act met this day at 11 a.m. Mr. 
D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman), presided.

The Chairman : Order, gentlemen. The last meeting we held in connection 
"’ith this Civil Service matter wround up our proceedings as far as the evidence 
was concerned. When we were closing we lacked a quorum so that we had to 
adjourn to meet at the call of the Chair. We agreed yesterday to meet today and 
"’ind up finally this particular subject. I will ask you your pleasure. I assume 
that, there is no further evidence that we need. If there is no further evidence 
shall we declare the matter terminated? Or do you want to make any report or 
any suggestion? Is there any further evidence that you want to hear?

Mr. Harkness : I understand, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Bland was coming back— 
t see him here—and there was some discussion at the last meeting about 
Setting the report of the second Appeal Board. We had the two reports of the first 
appeal Board, but I understood that the idea was we were going to ask Mr. 
*uand to present the report of the second Appeal Board and any comments he 
Phght have thereon.

The Chairman : What is the pleasure of the committee?
Mr. MacNicol: Will that get us any further with regard to the revision of 

le Indian Act? Is not that what we have got to get on with ; get the Act
revised?
i The Chairman: Unquestionably. That is our first duty here. Of course we 
i;tve got off on this side track and have spent some time clearing up this matter 
n regard to a Civil Service appointment. Now, as I said before, we cannot do 
Anything about it even if we do find that there is something wrong with the 
appointment, and we have not found anything wrong ; it has been perfectly
regular—

Mr. Harkness: What did you say?
The Chairman : I said it has been perfectly regular.
Mr. Harkness: I disagree with you, and I think anybody who reads the 

evidence will disagree with your statement also.
Mr. Gariepy: I think the evidence should speak for itself.
Mr. Harkness: The evidence should speak for itself.

, Mr. Gariepy: I see no reason for getting the second report. We will never 
Ql)ish the work of this committee if we keep digging in and out. We have had 
though evidence in this committee to draw our own conclusions on this matter 

I see no reason why Mr. Bland should be invited to make a second report, 
full history of the appointment is before us now and it is up to us to judge 

11 the evidence.
Mr. Reid: Mr. Chairman, I recognize the strength of the views of the com- 

jMtee in not wanting to prolong this matter; perhaps they are right and it 
^uld not have been carried on so long. However, I am wondering whether we 

,'atl leave this matter as it is without making some report. The matter came 
jy first in the House of Commons and then this committee. It was something 
a£tt was, shall I say, interjected into our deliberations, but we have been taking
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evidence and hearing witnesses in special sessions of the committee, and if we 
were not on this matter today I doubt whether we would be in session at all. 
However, it seems to me that we have to make some final conclusion with respect 
to the matter. Therefore, I ask you, Mr. Chairman, what is your duty as chair­
man? What would you report? Suppose we get to the final reading of the 
bill and the matter crops up again in the House of Commons ; suppose some 
member raises the matter then in the House and accuses this committee of having 
heard evidence and having remained silent with regard to it? Something further 
should be done. I do not want the matter carried on indefinitely because wc have 
not got the time to devote to it. However, we have this special meeting to try to 
wind up the matter, and I am asking you as chairman what finding you are going 
to make to the House of Commons? Are you simply going to say that we heard 
witnesses; that we asked some questions and that it that?

The Chairman : Yes, I suppose we should draft some finding containing 
some results of our investigation. So far as the evidence is concerned it is my 
belief that we wound up taking evidence at our last meeting when nobody 
had any more questions to ask.

Mr. Harkness: Mr. Chairman, I do not think that was the case. As 9 
matter of fact, as I remember the situation, a number of members had questions 
to ask, but we had to adjourn for want of a quorum.

The Chairman : I think the evidence will show that at that time we would 
have wound this matter up and the only reason we did not do so was that we 
had no quorum.

Mr. Reid: I may say, as a member of the committee, that I do not know 
just how my mind is made up at the moment. I have sat here and heard all 
the evidence. There arc many matters which are not clear in my mind. I asked 
Mr. Bland as to the relationship between the Appeal Board and the Civil Sendee 
Commission. We have not been told how information could go out from that 
board. I am not clear yet whether the Appeal Board rules the appointment or 
not. I have no idea why they waited a year or more before this man was 
appointed. To me this matter is left hanging in the air; the newspaper accounts 
still linger in my mind; accounts stating that Mr. Ford Pratt had been give” 
the appointment due to preference or political interference, shall I say; and u 
no statement is made by the committee, Mr. Ford Pratt goes into that position 
with a little stigma or under a cloud. If that is the correct situation let thc 
committee say so; if it not the correct situation, let that be the report of the 
commitee.

The Chairman : Is it the desire of the committee to have any further 
evidence from Mr. Bland, or shall we proceed now to make our finding? Wh9 
is the pleasure of the committee?

Mr. Harkness: As I said before, I understood—I think it was probably :lt 
the request of Mr. Reid—we were to get all these reports or documents befo1'6 
the committee.

The Chairman : Is it your pleasure to call Mr. Bland and get the matCr 
settled? We want to have it determined today and get it out of the way. 
have wasted a good deal of time already.

Mr. Raymond: So far as I am concerned, this matter should not hav® 
come before the committee at all. However, since we have gone so far with 1 
w^e had better complete it right now. j

The Chairman : Is it your desire to call Mr. Bland for a few minutes 9ll( 
get these documents filed which you wanted him to file?

Mr. Gariepy: Out of deference for the member for Calgary East (^r' 
Harkness), I agree.

The Chairman: Is that agreed?
Agreed.
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Mr. C. H. Bland, C.M.G., Chairman, Civil Service Commission, called :

By the Chairman:
Q. Mr. Bland, you have already 'been before the committee on this matter 

of the Civil Service appointment of Mr. Ford Pratt to a position in the Indian 
Affairs Branch. What was the first document you were to file?

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. We had read into the record at the last meeting—have you read the 

proceedings of the last meeting?—A. Yes, I have.
Q. We had read into the record what purported to be the reports of the 

first appeal board, that is, the report of the appeal board on March 5th or 6th, 
I think it was ; was that the actual report?—A. Well, Mr. Chairman, I had better 
confess at the beginning that I have not got the Ford Pratt papers with me. When 
I was asked to come this morning, I was told the matters to be discussed were 
other matters about which Mr. Harkness had asked and consequently I have 
not got the Ford Pratt papers. I can call for them and I will gladly file all the 
papers the committee wishes. I have not them before me at the moment.

As regards your question, I quoted from the actual report. It was a quota­
tion from the report and that was incorporated in the minutes of the committee. 
I will be glad to file with the committee the complete reports ; two filed in the 
original instance and two in the second instance.

The Chairman: Is that agreeable.
Carried.

By the Chairman:
Q. What were these other matters?—A. I do not know. I was asked to be 

present to answer questions which might be asked.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. At a previous meeting we had gone into the appointment at Selkirk, 

Manitoba, to some extent, and I had also asked—I think you made a note of it— 
for some information about three other appointments and particularly as to 
whether the veterans’ preference applied. My information was that it did not. 
I believe that was the case at Selkirk, Manitoba. I think the explanation given 
there was that it was required the appointee should be a graduate in agriculture 
or forestry and that was the reason why the man who was appointed was 
appointed.

The other matter was in connection with Lesser Slave Lake. I think the 
man appointed there was a man named Landry. Could you tell us anything 
about that particular appointment?—A. Yes. The position of Superintendent 
of Agency at Lesser Slave Lake was advertised throughout the province of 
Alberta in 1945. There were three returned soldier applicants. One of them 
was regarded as qualified and selected for the post. He was not found satis­
factory by the department, the department was not ready to accept him. That 
disposed of the three returned soldier applicants.

Consideration was then given to the returned soldier applicants who had 
applied but who were not residents of the immediate locality of the agency. 
An examination was held of them and one of them, Mr. Adrien Landry, was 
selected and appointed on a temporary basis pending the return of the veterans. 
Mr. Landry has been occupying that post since 1946.

In the meantime, there has been a reorganization of the department, a 
reclassification of salaries and the post has been changed. Applications are now 
being invited from the residents of Alberta for this competition. We hope it 
will produce someone who is eligible and who will be appointed in a permanent 
capacity to the post.
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Q. Have you any information as to why the first applicants were not 
satisfactory to the department?—A. There were three applicants and two of 
them were not regarded as possessing the necessary qualifications by the 
examining board which interviewed them. The board consisted of a representa­
tive of the commission, a representative of the department and a representative 
of the Canadian Legion. The reason two of them were not regarded as sufficiently 
qualified was that their final mark on the examination was not a pass mark. 
One of them secured 79 per cent and that was quite sufficient, 70 being a pass 
mark. The others secured 64 and 62, the main difficulty being that they 
lacked sufficient experience and were not regarded as suitable for the post.

The reason for the rejection of the one veteran who had passed the 
examination I do not know as that rejection was made by the Department of 
Mines and Resources. I imagine, however, that Mr. Jackson, who is here, could 
give the reason for that rejection.

Q. That is all you know about that particular matter?—A. Yes, except as 
I say the position is now being advertised. We hope to fill it in a permanent 
capacity.

The Chairman : Are there any other questions?

By Mr. Reid:
Q. To come back to the case which brought the committee into session this 

morning, I should like to ask a question regarding the long delay which took 
place, Mr. Bland, in the filling of the post. This matter ran on for over a year. 
What was the hold up?—A. The answer is simple, Mr. Reid. The commission 
declined to appoint or promote Mr. Pratt to the first position, superintendent 
of Indian Agencies. The department wished him to be appointed to it. It 
took a considerable period before it was agreed that the position would not 
be filled as the department required another position filled, namely, that of 
general executive assistant. The delay of over a year was due to the discussions 
between the department and the commission as to whether Mr. Pratt should be 
appointed to the position of general superintendent which the commission was 
not able to do, or whether another position should be filled, namely, the one 
Mr. Pratt has now filled.

Q. Did that not emanate from the report of the investigator who was set up 
by the two members of the appeal board?

The Chairman : There was a misunderstanding as to what was required 
by the branch.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. I understood there were three members of the board; one fell sick and 

the other two members took it upon themselves to call for a report from an 
investigator. This investigator, on his own initiative, drew up what he thought 
were the requirements of the job. Is that a fact?—A. No, that is not a fact. 
I would prefer to file the reports with you and let you read it for yourself. The 
appeal board consists of three members, one representative of the commission, 
one representative of the department and one representative of the Civil Service 
Federation. They filed a unanimous report and I filed that report with the 
committee.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. That is the report we had read into the record last week?—A. That is 

true, yes.
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By the Chairman:
Q. I think Mr. Reid was getting at the reason for the two members of this 

appeal board making a finding when the third one was not present.—A. They 
made a finding which was in accordance with the signed judgment of the third 
member already on file.

The Chairman: I think that is where we differ.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. Was not that where the first argument started as to what the necessary 

qualifications should be for the position?—A. When the board first met with the 
three members present, there was an argument as to—

Q. Is this the appeal board?—A. This is the appeal board. There was an 
argument as to what the duties of the position should be. The appeal was based 
upon whether Mr. Pratt possessed the qualifications necessary for the position of 
supervisor of field agencies. Naturally, the board discussed the duties in con­
nection with this position. They found there was a difference of opinion, in the 
department with regard to the duties, between Mr. Hoey, the director, and Mr. 
Jackson, the executive officer. There was a difference of opinion as to whether 
the job was to be one of supervising field agencies or whether it was to be that of 
executive assistant.

By the Chairman:
Q. Now, the first appeal board report was by two members of the appeal 

board?—A. No, the first appeal board report was by three members. The 
second report was by two members, the third one having fallen ill.

Mr. Harkness: That is the report, as I said before, which we had read into 
the record at the last meeting.

The Chairman: I am reading from some notations I have here. On the 5th 
and 7th of March, 1945, the appeal board sat. The appeal board consisted of 
Mr. Allan, Mr. Maclsaac and Mr. Putman. Two members had made up their 
minds the qualifications could not apply to Pratt.

The Witness : I do not think that is correct, Mr. Chairman. I should like 
to file the report which speaks for itself.

Mr. Castleden: Would it be possible to get that report here and settle the 
matter?

Mr. Harkness: The report is in the evidence.
Mr. Jackson: I have the first report. It is in two parts.
The Witness : The first appeal and the first report—here is a copy of the 

report signed by the three members.

By the Chairman:
Q. That is the first report?—A. That is the first report.
Q. Then, the second part of the first" report-------A. It was based upon this

one, after the first one had been made.
The Chairman: Would you like me to read those reports?
Mr. Harkness: They are on page 132 of the record.
The Chairman: Then, there is no sense reading it again. What other report 

is there you want to file? Is it just a matter of filing the original?
Mr. Harkness: No, there is the matter of the report of the second appeal 

board.
The Witness: There are two parts to the first report and two parts to the 

second report; altogether, there are four reports. I will file them all.
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Mr. Harkness: I think that would be satisfactory. Then, we would have 
the history of the thing.

Mr. Jackson: On the second appeal they dismissed it, so it was not an issue 
before the committee. I filed the two parts of the first report.

The Chairman: Are there any further questions?

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. There was an appointment of a man named Morris about which I asked 

for some information?—A. Could you give me any guidance as to what informa­
tion you want? He has been an officer in the department for many years.

Mr. Matthews : May I make a suggestion? I believe we should go ahead 
with the Pratt case first and dispose of it. Then, if there are others to be taken 
up, let us take them up.

The Chairman: If there is not too much we could get the whole story now. 
There is not a great deal in connection with this Morris matter, is there?

Mr. Harkness: I do not suppose so, but I do not know.
Mr. Raymond: I should like the committee to keep in mind the suggestion 

made by Mr. Matthews. It is a very good one.
The Chairman: My only desire is to get the whole matter out of the way 

today.
Mr. Reid : Unless we have evidence to the contrary, I think a statement 

should be made that there was no political interference in connection with Mr. 
Pratt's appointment. If any member of the committee has proof that there 
was, let him bring it forward now. There was a statement made in the House 
that there was political interference, and it was for that reason it was thrown 
into our lap. I am going to move that a report of that kind be put in, that we 
find there was no political interference. If any member of the committee has 
evidence to the contrary, let him produce it now and we will argue about it. I 
have listened attentively throughout this hearing. In my opinion, there was 
a serious laxness on the part of the appeal board to which the chairman of 
the commission apparently has. paid no attention, in that information was 
given to the press.

The Witness : I should like to take exception to that statement.
Mr. Reid: How could reports appear in the press concerning the appeal 

board before they were given out if someone was not lax?
The Witness: I take exception to that statement. The chairman has 

paid attention to it.

By Mr. Reid:
Q. What attention has been paid?—A. An investigation is being made 

and I would be glad to tell the committee about it.
Q. I am glad to hear that. I raised that very point at one of our previous 

meetings.
The Chairman : I think that was one of the chief objections to the 

newspaper reports. Somehow, these matters have got out. We felt it was 
unfair to the department and unfair to the Civil Service Commission. I am 
glad to see an investigation has been instituted.

Mr. Reid: I am one of those who believe we have to be careful that 
there is no political interference. As members of parliament we also have to 
be careful an organization does not grow up in which some people have their 
own way. Evil can arise in the two groups. We are endeavouring to protect
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the public from the government and from what we call political interference, 
but you can have it arise on the inside of an organization. Sometimes, it 
is difficult to get at. These men cannot be defeated in an election.

The Chairman : What do you mean, it could arise in any organization?
Mr. Reid: By means of the men in the organization1 using their influence 

either for or against a person. I know that is a serious statement.
The Chairman: An organization such as the Civil Service Federation, 

you mean?
Mr. Reid: I do not know anything about the actions of that organization 

at all. I have no information concerning the Civil Service Federation at all.
The Chairman : I believe the committee is pleased to know an investi­

gation is being held and that these matters which are of a confidential nature 
will be protected.

Mr. Reid: I wish now this committee would report that we have found 
no political interference or influence in the appointment of Mr. Ford Pratt. 
I think that is due to him. If a member of the committee has any evidence 
to the contrary, let him bring it forward. I have listened carefully to the 
evidence and I cannot find anything.

The Chairman: Are you suggesting we make a report to the House?
Mr. Reid: I do. You cannot leave it up in the air. The committee has a 

duty to perform.
The Chairman: Then, shall we proceed to draft a report? Before we 

discuss that, are there any other questions of Mr. Bland or Mr. Jackson?
Mr. Raymond : We were speaking about Mr. Morris.
Mr. Castleden : I believe Mr. Bland was saying he wished to make a 

statement in regard to the investigation. I think he wants to have it 
cleared up.

The Witness : Not at the moment, the investigation has begun but it is 
not completed as yet.

By Mr. Castleden:
Q. There is no statement you wish to make, then, with regard to the 

progress being made?—A. Not at the moment, except that steps are being 
taken to prevent such a thing happening in the future.

By Mr. Bryce:
Q. This sort of thing creates suspicion. You advertise for somebody, a 

special kind of agent, and you do not do the same anywhere else. We see 
Rien who have given years of service turned down for these chaps who are 
just fitted into the thing like a glove.—A. T do not think that was the case 
with regard to the Selkirk appointment. The department felt that it was 
desirable to have an agent with certain technical qualifications if such a man 
could be found for that agency. No veteran had those qualifications.

Q. You did not' do that in any other case?—A. Oh yes, we did.
Q. No, you did not. You took bank managers and you took any person at 

all who suited the job.—A. Well I would like to make some remarks here off 
the record, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman : Is it agreed that the witness shall speak off the record for 
a moment?

Agreed.
(Discussion off the record.)
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The Chairman : Shall we now proceed on the record?
Mr. Bryce: Well let us have all of this on the record or else let us have 

none of it on the record?
The Witness: The only reason I suggested keeping my remarks off the 

record was because they involved the reputation of one person.
Mr. Bryce: I certainly do not want to damage anyone’s reputation.
The Witness: I would like to say that in making selections for the Depart­

ment of Indian Affairs or for any other department, in my experience the Civil 
Service Commission and the department itself is interested in getting the best 
man possible and at the same time comply with the law. In the Selkirk case 
there was no attempt to tailor the job for any one man. I do not think that Mr. 
Jackson or Mr. Hoey had any idea of the gentleman who might possibly get the 
job when they made up the application. It was decided after the hearing of 
evidence in this committee, and after the hearing of evidence secured by the 
department in the field, that many of the Indian agents were not sufficiently 
qualified in agriculture and forestry. It was decided that in the future it would 
be good business in certain instances if the agents concerned were to have those 
qualifications. I think the committee itself felt that the qualifications of agents 
should be improved. Towards that end the advertisements were issued for 
persons having agricultural and forestry qualifications. That is what happened 
in the Selkirk case and there was certainly no attempt to tailor the job for any 
one man. It did turn out that the one veteran applicant did not have the 
necessary qualifications and I appreciate why Mr. Harkness would have it 
brought to his attention. There was only one applicant who did have the quali" 
fications and I was advised the others would not have been satisfactory. This 
man who was selected has done a splendid job on the agency.

Mr. Reid: Well in fairness, I say that the ordinary outsider or citizen in 
reading the reports released in the press regarding the appointment could not 
help but come to the conclusion there was something wrong. For instance in the 
Evening Journal of February 14 it is stated that Mr. Hoey told the board he 
had been “guided” to agree to the top rating for Mr. Pratt. Now I have listened 
very attentively to the evidence given here and I have not heard any such state­
ment made to this committee.

Mr. Harkness : If you will read the evidence at page 133 you will find that 
it is contained right in the report.

Mr. Reid: Well I have not got the report with me. Then further the news­
paper states that Mr. Hoey had been instructed by Mr. Jackson to agree with 
the high rating. Now if there is evidence that was the case let us have it but 
if there is no evidence of that let us contradict the statement.

The Chairman: To what portion of the report are you referring, Mr- 
Harkness?

Mr. Harkness : Just a moment.
Mr. Reid: A report of that kind would leave a wrong impression in the 

minds of members of the public who read it.
Mr. Charlton : I think you are referring to the proceedings at the middle 

of page 133.
The Chairman: Where is it on that page?
Mr. Jackson : The words used in the report are : “he had been guided JW 

the chief executive assistant of the department, Mr. Jackson, in the ratings which 
were given to Mr. Pratt.” He was not guided to agree. The other statement111 
the press was that Mr. Jackson had instructed Mr. Hoey to make those ratings 
There is not one tittle of evidence to that effect, but that is what it said in tj>e 
paper. It is certainly much different to say he was guided to agree with the 
report than to say that Mr. Jackson guided him in reaching a rating. In somc
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of the ratings which I made Mr. Hoey guided me. Mr. Hoey knew some of the 
men better than I did and in that case he would tell me about the man. Together 
then we would reach a conclusion as to the rating to be given that man. I did 
not guide Mr. Hoey to agree to anything, I guided him in reaching a conclusion 
as to the rating. When the newspaper said I instructed Mr. Hoey to agree it is 
an outright falsehood and it does not appear in this report.

Mr. Harkness: It appears in the second paragraph on page 133.
When questioned specifically about the superior qualifications of Mr. 

Pratt above those of Messrs. Arneil and McCrimmon, he said that he knew 
the work of Messrs. Arneil and McCrimmon very well and considered them 
most excellent employees, it being a very difficult matter to say which of 
the two was the better qualified for the vacant position, but that he had 
been guided by the Chief Executive Assistant of the Department, Mr. 
Jackson, in the ratings which were given Mr. Pratt.

Mr. Jackson: I gave him advice.
Mr. Castleden: You guided him in the ratings given?
Mr. Jackson : Yes, and properly so. You cannot find one word in this report 

where I instructed Mr. Hoey to make those ratings and that is what the news­
paper indicates. •

The Chairman : Well is there any further questioning regarding the Morris 
matter?

Mr. Bryce: There is just one question. Do I understand that in the future 
when you folks are advertising for an Indian agent, and keeping in mind this idea 
that they should be better than they ever were before, are you requiring that the 
agents have forestry training and agricultural training?

The Witness: Not in ever}'- instance, but there are certain instances where 
it is required.

The Chairman : I think it would be safe to say, Mr. Bryce—
Mr. Bryce: You do not need to say anything.
The Chairman: Well, I am going to say something, anyway.
Mr. Bryce: You do not need to say anything, just go on with the business. 

I am disgusted with the whole thing.
The Chairman : Well, I am going to say this. If we continue to extend the 

duties of the Indian agent, and I think we should, we are going to have to raise 
the standard of Indian agents considerably.

'ce: Yes, until it suits the applicant.
The Chairman: I do not care whether it suits the applicant as long as he 

does the job.
Mr. Bryce : Well, Mr. Chairman, I am finished anyway, so do not lecture me.
The Chairman : If I appear to be lecturing you, Mr. Bryce, please accept 

toy apology.
Mr. Bryce: Well, let us get on with the Morris case.
Mr. Jackson: We have a Mr. Emmett Morris in the department. What do 

you wish to know about that case?
The Chairman : Is that John Morris?
Mr. Jackson : John Emmett Morris. He was in the legal service and map­

ping division. His work there was not very active and we were short of staff in 
the Indian Affairs branch. Mr. Morris was temporarily transferred to the Indian 
Affairs branch and he was promoted to head clerk.

The Chairman: Is that the Morris that we had with us in the maritimes?

EE
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Mr. Jackson: That is the Morris who accompanied you to the maritimes. 
When Mr. Thibeault, the inspector in the maritimes, was retired we put Mr. 
Morris in as acting supervisor in the province of Quebec. Mr. Morris has been 
actipg in that capacity and we extended his duties to include the maritime prov­
inces. I must say, Mr. Chairman, that you have seen his work and he is one 
of the very active chaps in the department. His services are most satisfactory 
and he works night and day to help the Indians. The only position he is occupying 
is that of a head clerk in the department and nothing else. He secured his posi­
tion as a result of a competition within the whole department.

The Chairman : What is the question you want to ask, Mr. Harkness?
Mr. Harkness : I have had a considerable number of complaints about Mr. 

Morris’ work in the maritimes. Those complaints particularly come from 
veterans with respect to the matter of his unsympathetic handling of the veterans 
attempts to take advantage of the $2,320 to which they are entitled when settling 
on their reserves.

The Chairman: Is there something you wish to ask about the appointment? 
I think we should not get into the administrative end of the question. I think 
we should confine our remarks to the appointment of Mr. Morris.

Mr. Harkness: I would like to know if he is appointed as an inspector in 
charge of the maritimes and what his functions are?

Mr. Jackson : He is now acting superintendent.
The Witness: He has not been appointed, he has 'been placed in an acting 

position by the department.
Mr. Harkness: What are his qualifications?
Mr. Jackson: He has not been appointed but he has been doing good work 

in the Indian Affairs branch.
Mr. Harkness: You may think he is doing good work but the Indians think 

he is not doing good work. Particularly the veterans. They are complaining 
bitterly about his work and that is another thing. Now I want to know whether 
he enjoys the veteraps’ preference.

Mr. Jackson: He has been in the civil service for years, long before I 
entered the service.

The Witness: He has been in the service since 1913, or before 1914.
Mr. Castleden : Is there any channel through which these people referred 

to by Mr. Harkness can appeal?
Mr. Jackson: Yes, there is. They may appeal either to Mr. Hoey or the 

minister. I have not heard one complaint about Mr. Morris since I have been 
here.

Mr. Reid: I would like to ask Mr. Bland a question on general administra­
tion? Apart from any accusations that may have been made regarding Mr. Ford 
Pratt’s appointment is there any rule in the civil service whereby the secretary 
to a minister is entitled to an appointment in some branch of the service without 
any civil service examination? I understand there is such a rule but I am not sure.

The Witness: There are two answers to that question and I am glad that 
you asked it. The Civil Service Act provides that when a minister leaves a 
department his private secretary may be appointed to another position in the 
service. While the minister is occupying his office the private secretary, if a civil 
servant, gets the ordinary benefits received by members of the service. Mr- 
Pratt, while he occupied the position as secretary, was entitled to the same rights, 
and privileges as any other civil servant.

Mr. Charlton: Is it usual for a private secretary also to be a member of 
the permanent service?
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The Witness: It is true in quite a number of cases. I think perhaps the 
majority are not civil servants but there are a number of permanent civil ser­
vants who occupy the position of private secretary.

Mr. Charlton : They carry a dual position.
The Witness : Yes.

By Mr. Harkness:
Q. Is there any other case where a private secretary is also the chief per­

sonnel officer of the branch or the department ? I understand that Mr. Pratt, in 
addition to being private secretary, was chief personnel officer for the Indian 
Affairs branch.—A. He was chief personnel officer for the Department of Mines 
and Resources.

Q. For the Department of Mines and Resources?—A. That is true.
Q. I asked whether there was any other ease of that?—A. I do not know 

of any other, no.
Q. It seems to me that creates a situation in which the influence of the 

minister, through his private secretary, on the making of an appointment is 
excessive.

Mr. Castleden : Did he receive pay for both positions?
Mr. Jackson: No. Mr. Pratt is getting $4,320 and he gets the secretary 

allowance which is from $300 to $600 on top of the Civil Service salary.
Mr. Bryce : And in the Civil Service?
Mr. Jackson : He did not get $5,000.
The Witness: Any permanent civil servant might be chosen by the minister 

to act as his private secretary.
The Chairman: If this appointment is given to Mr. Pratt, and we assume 

that it will be, is that to mean a large increase in pay?
The Witness: No.
Mr. Jackson: It is less, in fact.
The Witness : It always will be $300—
Mr. Jackson: Mr. Pratt is getting $5,000 as private secretary and he will 

start off at $4,620 and he will actually lose $300 and some odd by accepting this 
position, but he will get $220 more ultimately. Every year he gets an increase.

The Chairman: That is a maximum of $5,220?
Mr. Jackson: Yes.
The Chairman : For how many years?
Mr. Jackson : I think there are three ranges.
The Witness: Two years.
Mr. Jackson: Two or three years is the-range.
The Chairman : Now, are there any further questions members wish to 

ask these gentlemen?
Mr. Harkness: As was pointed out a moment ago, is it not a rather 

anomalous situation to have a private secretary in charge of personnel? In 
other words, to a large extent to be responsible for appointments within the 
department?

The Witness: As I said to Mr. Bryce the law permits a minister to choose 
any permanent civil servant the minister wishes for his private secretary. I 
think several successive ministers have chosen Mr. Pratt as their private secretary. 
The position with regard to personnel in the department was one effected in the 
reorganization of the department in 1936. That was the reorganization which 
Was made by Act of parliament at that time and this position was created.

9039—2
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Mr. Reid: Was it not made necessary—to be honest—due to the fact that 
the Department of Mines and Resources was an amalgamation of three or four 
departments?

The Witness: That is right.
Mr. Reid: There used to be a Department of Indian Affairs separate and 

apart and it was added to the Department of Mines and Resources.
The Witness: It is a consolidation of four departments.
Mr. Gariepy : Can you tell us when Mr. Pratt wras first appointed to some 

position—
The Witness : In the service?
The Chairman : When did he go to the Civil Service?
Mr. Jackson : In 1913 or 1914. He has had thirty-five years’ service.
Mr. Gariepy : We can infer that he had a large experience.
The Chairman : We can also infer that nobody had more experience about 

the personnel of the department than had Mr. Pratt.
Mr. Matthews : He was chosen in the first place as private secretary 

by the present Senator Crerar, was lie not?
Mr. Jackson: No, he was secretary to the Hon. Charles Stewart in 1923 

or 1924, and he went into the National Parks Branch for five years after that.
Mr. Reid: It was natural that during the years of opposition he went back 

to his old Civil Service office?
Mr. Jackson: Yes.
The Chairman : Apparently three successive ministers in trying to find 

the best man for private secretary had gone to the Civil Service and had 
taken Mr. Pratt and they accepted his services as private secretary for 
those three different ministers.

Mr. Gariepy: Except from 1930 to 1935 when the position was taken over 
by a man from Calgary without any examination.

The Chairman : Without any examination?
Mr. Gariepy : I just forget his name. He was a local member in Alberta 

and resigned and was borrowed from Calgary and came here and had the 
position all through the Bennett administration, and nobody quarrelled 
about him.

Mr. Castleden : The position of what?
The Chairman: The position of private secretary, was it?
Mr. Gariepy: No, he was one of the head officials.
Mr. Jackson: He is referring to Dr. McGill.
Mr. Gariepy: He never passed any examination and, in fact, had n° 

■ previous experience. He had been a provincial member in Alberta and a 
personal friend of Mr. Bennett. 'He was taken from Calgary and brought 
down here and had the job all through tthe previous administration up to 1935-

Mr. Bryce: Were there no Civil Service appeals?
The Witness: That was not a Civil Service appointment ; it was a11 

appointment by the Governor General in Council.
Mr. Harkness : The same thing was done subsequently, after Dr. McGill s 

retirement.
Mr. Jackson: No, Mr. Hoey was appointed by the Civil Service 

Commission.
Mr. Gariepy : In this case we have Mr. Pratt who has been on the j°k 

for a quarter of a century ; he is known all over as a perfectly competed 
man and has complete experience. He is known for his probity, for 1>15
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character and so on; and we are simply losing time in this committee making 
an attack because he was selected for this position. He has been selected 
owing to his ability. He is a first-class public servant and he is above reproach ; 
and we have not been shown here that he is excluded in any way on political" 
ground. He gave fair play to every party, and why should his name be 
brought up in this way, meeting after meeting, when it is admitted by all 
that he is above reproach personally and able to fill the job that he is being 
called upon to fill?

Mr. Harkness : I think the point is, according to this report that we 
have in our minutes, that the Appeal Board did not think he was qualified 
to fill the position of Superintendent General of Agencies and therefore they 
turned down the appointment. I think that is the whole point at issue. 
According to the evidence we have, Mr. Pratt is the personnel man.

The Chairman: Shall we proceed to prepare a report? If we are through 
with these gentlemen we can proceed with our report. Are there any more 
questions any member wishes to ask these gentlemen? If not, we thank 
you very much, Mr. Bland and Mr. Jackson, for coming here today.

I presume, now, that a motion will be entertained. Mr. Reid has a 
motion. Do you want to proceed with that motion now, Mr. Reid?

Mr. Reid: I should like to move that this committee find no evidence 
of any improper action on the part of Mr. Pratt—

Mr. Harkness : There has never been any suggestion of improper action 
°n the part of Mr. Pratt—

Mr. Reid: I am prefacing that.
Mr. Harkness : —at any time.
The Chairman: We have had some suggestions. Could I suggest this 

to the Committee: “That the committee have considered the matter of certain 
appointments to and promotions of the personnel in the Indian Affairs 
branch; and your committee is satisfied that on the evidence submitted there 
Was no political interference in the appointment of Mr. W. J. Ford Pratt to 
the position of general executive assistant, but the committee is not satisfied 
With the length of time taken to fill that position, in view of the fact that 
this committee, recommended on August 15, 1946, as follows:

5. That the director of Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Mines 
and Resources, in conjunction with the Civil Service Commission and 
the Treasury Board take immediate steps to fill such vacant key posi­
tions as Indian agents and such other vacancies in Indian Affairs branch 
which in the public interest must be filled forthwith.

Mr. Reid: I will make that motion.
The Chairman: Has the motion any support? Mr. Raymond. What 

is your pleasure? Are you in favour of the motion?
Mr. Charlton : No.
Mr. Harkness: Would you mind reading it again?
The Chairman : “That the committee have considered the matter of certain 

appointments to and promotions of the personnel in the Indian Affairs branch; 
and your committee is satisfied that on the evidence submitted there was no 
Political interference in the appointment of Mr. W. J. Ford Pratt to the position 
°f general executive assistant, but the committee is not satisfied with the length 
°f time taken to fill that position, et cetera.”

Mr. Harkness: The first statement is that the committee is satisfied that 
there was no political interference. Now, I am not satisfied. I do not know what 
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kind of interference it was. I think it was chiefly departmental interference or 
departmental efforts. I would refer you particularly to this sentence in our 
1948 Minutes on page 133:

The impression left on the Review Board by Mr. Jackson’s evidence 
was that he was endeavouring to shape the position to the qualifications 
possessed by Mr. Pratt. . . .

The Chairman: Whose evidence is that?
Mr. Harkness: This is a report which we had filed, and I am reading from 

page 133 of our minutes.
The Chairman: Which report is that?
Mr. Harkness: It is the report of Mr. Putman, Mr. Maclsaac and Mr- 

Allan.
The Chairman: Is that the first board or the second board?
Mr. Harkness: It is the first board.

“The impression left on the Review Board by Mr. Jackson’s evidence 
was that he was endeavouring to shape the position to the qualifications 
possessed by Mr. Pratt, rather than to endeavour to obtain an applicant 
who would meet most nearly the qualifications of the position as adver­
tised, and as described by the director.”

The Chairman: Where is that given?
Mr. Harkness: That is given at page 133 of the evidence. Now, whether 

we call that political interference or what, I do not know, but at the present time 
on the basis of the evidence we have had, and particularly from what this report 
states, I think there was certainly interference in the matter of filling that 
position. As a matter of fact, the long delay was due to the fact, that the depart­
ment desired to have Mr. Pratt appointed and they refused to accept anybody 
else and as a result there was this delay of two or three years in the matter.

Mr. Reid: I may be wrong, Mr. Chairman, and I may have the wrong infor­
mation, but the way I look upon it after having listened to the evidence is this: 
I take an opposite view from that taken by Colonel Harkness.

Mr. Harkness: Do you not accept this evidence that I have just read?
Mr. Reid: I will have to accept that evidence with this qualification, and 

I am repeating what I said at the beginning of the inquiry—
The Chairman: I think we should realize what they were trying to do- 

There are certain things that they wanted the appointee to do and Fort Pratt 
was qualified to do them, and he had been doing—

Mr. Reid: I have never got it clear in my mind if the investigator was 
instructed by two members of the Appeal Board to go out and draft a new set-up 
for the job. My information—and it may be wrong—is that the investigate1" 
never went near the department and he never went near anyone. It appears to 
me that the investigator, in drafting a report, was endeavouring to draw UP 
something against Mr. Pratt. I may be wrong in that.

Mr. Harkness: The only report we have so far in our evidence is this 
report contained in pages 132-134 of the evidence.

Mr. Reid: There are other reports.
Mr. Harkness: We have other reports which are mentioned in evidence 

but this is the only one we have actually had filed; and it was not on the basis oj 
an investigator being sent out by two members of the board ; it was this ApPea 
Board—the whole three members sent in the report.

Mr. Matthews: Mr. Chaiman, is there any limit to the time we are to take 
in going back and investigating these matters? Are we to take up other appoint­
ments besides this one of Mr. Pratt?
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Mr. Reid: We will be here for ten years if we do.
Mr. Matthews: I was wondering, in view of the amount of discussion, 

whether we should go further into the matter that Mr. Gariepy brought up.
Mr. Bryce: I think the farther back you go the worse it would get.
The Chairman: We have to realize this—
Mr. Charlton : That was not a Civil Service appointment.
The Chairman : No, it was not.
Mr. Charlton : The one Mr. Gariepy referred to was not a Civil Service 

appointment; it was a case of appointing whom you want.
The Chairman : What we have to realize is that our job as an Indian 

Affairs committee is to revise the Indian Act and to do all we can for the Indians, 
and we have found in the actual work of the Indian Affairs committee that 
there has been absolute impartiality there. So, Mr. Pratt will be appointed if 
this work is wound up. Now, is it your pleasure to proceed with the motion on 
this matter now?

Mr. Reid: Let us reach a finding on it and call the matter closed.
The Chairman: Is that agreeable7 Are you in favour of that? Are you 

ready for this motion?
Mr. Gariepy: I think, Mr. Chairman, that we should be allowed a little 

more time to read these reports. There is an argument between Mr. Reid and 
Mr. Harkness on one point regarding which I am not satisfied. No doubt the 
requirements were modified at a certain stage in the history of this appointment, 
and I want to look that up myself and see if there is not something there which 
would mean an addition to the motion as you have it. That is my own view. 
For that reason I would like to have this matter left over to be taken up at a 
subsequent meeting.

The Chairman: Could we suggest a meeting on Tuesday?
Mr. Gariepy : On Tuesday I will be ready.
Mr. Reid: I am content so long as we clean the matter up.
The Chairman: We have to get the matter cleared up. We are not doing 

the Indians any good by hanging fire on an investigation which is no business 
of ours.

Mr. Harkness: Mr. Chairman, I do not agree with the statement you have 
made on several occasions that this investigation is no business of ours.

The Chairman: Certainly it is not.
Mr. Harkness : I brought the whole matter up about the administration of 

the Indian Affairs department, as I said in my original motion, to ascertain the 
extent to which any of our previous recommendations concerning administrative 
personnel have been implemented. The whole point is that I have not been 
satisfied in my own mind, and I am not satisfied yet, that the recommendations 
that we have made in previous years have been carried out. As a matter of fact, 
the evidence we had from Dr. Keenleyside indicated that in a considerable number 
of cases our recommendations have not been implemented; and it seems to me 
that the department is not taking the steps it should to carry out the recom­
mendations of this committee. I can see no sense in the world of the committee 
spending months of its time and accumulating thousands of pages of evidence 
on the basis on which we have made recommendations if the department is going 
to set aside those recommendations and in their own wisdom say, “Well, if we 
like your recommendations we will carry them out, but if wre do not, w^e will not 
pay any attention to them.”

Mr. Matthews: I think we should check on that right now. How many 
recommendations were there, Mr. Harkness?
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Mr. Harkness: I think there were more than twenty ; I have forgotten.
The Chairman : Thirty-five. It is all in the evidence.
Mr. Harkness: It is all in the evidence.
The Chairman : Two of them were not carried out and that was because of 

governmental policy.
Mr. Harkness: If you look at the evidence again and read it very carefully, 

as I have done, I think you will find—I have not made a compilation of them—
The Chairman: We have the compilation made here.
Mr. Harkness: Dr. Keenleyside made a statement. We questioned him on 

each individual point. He said most of them had been carried out, but when 
questioned, if you will read his evidence, you will find that he made the statement 
I have—

The Chairman: What evidence is there?
Mr. Harkness: The evidence that appears in No. 2 of our proceedings.
The Chairman : Give us the evidence.
Mr. Harkness : If you will read that over and make this compilation you 

will find that the majority of those recommendations were not carried out.
The Chairman: That is not the finding.
Mr. Matthews : I do not agree with that.
Mr. Harkness: That is the evidence, in my opinion.
The Chairman: That is your opinion and you are entitled to your opinion, 

but that is not the evidence as given before the committee.
Mr. Harkness: It was the evidence as given before the committee, in my 

opinion. There is room, I presume, for a difference of opinion on the thing. I 
am only asking the members of the committee to read that evidence.

Mr. Matthews : That is what we want to do. Where is it?
Mr. Gariepy: I would move that the matter stand until Tuesday.
Mr. Reid: I believe I was one of those who asked about recommendations 

which were not carried out. You will remember I brought before the committee 
a statement made by Senator Crerar that we were wasting our time. We did 
have a statement made by Mr. Keenleyside with regard to the number of recom­
mendations carried out. We could confirm that at the next meeting. I do not 
think any report should go out from this committee that the recommendations 
were not carried out if they have been carried out.

The Chairman : The evidence before the committee is that out of 35 
recommendations there are two which have not been carried out because of 
government policy, and will not be carried out until such time as this com­
mittee has brought in its report.

Mr. Harkness: I ask the members of the committee to read the evidence.
The Chairman: Give us the evidence right now.
Mr. Charlton: It is on page 106. Mr. Harkness is questioning Dr. 

Keenleyside.
The Chairman: Go ahead.
Mr. Charlton : This is a question by Mr. Harkness on page 106 of the 

evidence.
Q. I suggest, Dr. Keenleyside, that if you had been attempting to 

carry out our recommendation 23 you would have thought that field 
experience was requisite?—A. I think if you will read recommendation 
23 there are qualifying clauses in that which make it unnecessary to give 
precedence to field experience over all other qualifications.

Mr. Matthews: That is not the part at all.
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Mr. Charlton : I am coining to it.
Q. It says, “where practicable”. I see nothing in “practicable” 

that would have been against giving this job to a man who had had 
field experience.—A. Mr. Chairman, if it is a question of carrying out the 
letter rather than the spirit of the recommendations of this committee as 
contrasted with appointing a man who is manifestly superior to the others 
in the competition for a particular job and thereby lowering the standard 
of the Indian Affairs service I would, of course, have to make a decision 
to disregard in that particular instance the recommendation of the 
committee. I do not see how any public servant who felt the responsibility 
of the position could do otherwise.

Mr. Reid : That is only one recommendation.
Mr. Matthews : That is all irrelevant. There were certain recommenda­

tions made. Dr. Keenleyside made a statement as to how many of those recom­
mendations had been implemented and how many were pending, awaiting this 
report. Now, that is what I want.

Mr. Charlton : This is where he made the statement he would have to 
disregard the recommendations of the committee if they were not in accordance 
with his personal views.

The Chairman : We could sit here arguing about those recommendations 
and the evidence we have from now—I was going to say until doomsday.

Mr. Harkness: The members of the committee will have to read the entire 
evidence to get it in their minds. We cannot read it now, it is too lengthy. 
It is contained in these three booklets.

The Chairman: Assuming we read the evidence and assuming we digest 
it, where will we be on Tuesday or any other day? Will we be farther ahead 
than we are today?

Mr. Reid: I though we went over it.
Mr. Matthews: This matter has been brought up and I want it cleared 

up right now at this session. How many recommendations were made and 
how many were implemented, that is what I want to get at.

Mr. Harkness: The only way you can get at that is by reading the 
evidence.

The Chairman : We have it here.
Mr. Harkness: As the evidence was given, I jotted down “yes” or “no” 

or “partially” beside our recommendations.
The Chairman : Assume we come to a conclusion which is contrary to 

the evidence as given by Dr. Keenleyside, or assume instead of two out of 35 
we find there are 4 out of 35 recommendations which have not been carried out 
by the department, where arc we then? What good is it? How are we helping 
the Indians?

Mr. Harkness: We are helping the Indians in this way; if these recom­
mendations are now carried out and if in future the department goes ahead and 
carries out the recommendations rather than disregarding them in some instances, 
that will be a help. .

The Chairman: Let me ask you this; liow is that going to change the 
appointment of Mr. Pratt?

Mr. Harkness: That has nothing to do with Mr. Ford Pratt.
The Chairman : We have a motion before us.
Mr. Charlton : It is the general principle, not this appointment.
The Chairman: This motion is to the effect that this committee is satisfied 

there was no political interference in the appointment of W. J. Ford Pratt to the
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position of general executive assistant, but the committee is not satisfied with 
the length of time taken to fill that position, in view of the fact that this com­
mittee recommended on August 15, 1946, as follows—that is the recommendation 
that positions be filled forthwith.

Mr. Reid: Does Mr. Gariepy ask that the matter stand?
Mr. Raymond : We have been a long time considering this matter and Mr. 

Gariepy ought to be satisfied if we take the vote now.
The Chairman : I do not see how -we are going to make any great contribu­

tion to Indian Affairs or the Indian Affairs administration by prolonging some­
thing which has evolved into a sort of political controversy.

Mr. Gariepy: Has the motion which you have just read been moved?
The Chairman : Yes.
Mr. Gariepy: I withdraw my motion, then.
Mr. Harkness: I take objection to your statement that this has become a 

political controversy.
The Chairman : One need only read the newspapers to ascertain that.
Mr. Harkness : So far as I am concerned there is no political controversy 

about it. It is a matter of the administration of the Indian Affairs branch with 
which I have not been satisfied, and the appointments to that service.

An Hon. Member: A lot of us think otherwise.
Mr. Harkness: As I said a few moments ago, whether it is a matter of 

political interference or departmental interference, whatever you might wish to 
call it, I think there have been rather peculiar things going on. I am not satisfied 
that the recommendations of this committee are being carried out.

Mr. Ray'mond: I believe we have to consider we are dealing with human 
beings and not with angels. On many occasions since I have come to Ottawa 
we talked of human beings as if they were angels. After all, they are human 
beings trying to do the best they can.

Mr. Matthews: I want to read this part of the evidence, I want to put it 
on record, in view of the statement which has been made because I resent that 
statement. This is a statement by Dr. Keenleyside on page 38 of the evidence 
taken on March 2, 1948.

This is a very brief summary made up because of the suggestion that 
has been made that the recommendations of the committee had not been 
attended to 'by the department, it even being suggested in cerain cases that 
we had paid no attention to them at all. In general, of course, I do not 
think it is necessary to say that that is not true. We are just as much 
interested in these recommendations as the members of the committee 
are. We are very much pleased that the recommendations were made, and 
are doing our best to carry them out.

This is a summary of the 10 recommendations in 1946 and the 26 
recommendations in 1947. There were 2, one in each set, that overlapped, 
and in consequence there was a total of 35 recommendations. Of those 
35 there were 11 that wrere matters of government policy over which the 
department had no control, or else were matters relating to the procedures 
of the committee itself, or else referring to some department other than 
the Department of Mines and Resources. There are 11 in that category- 
That left a total of 24 recommendations on which the department waS 
more or less free to act. I say more or less because in certain cases action 
depended on other departments or on the Civil Service Commission as wen 
as on our own department.

Of those 24 there are 18 that were carried out, or are in effect. There 
were 4 that were partially carried out or are partially in effect, and there
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were 2 that have not been acted upon. Instead of being delinquent on the 
whole 35, as has been suggested, the department failed to act on only 2 
recommendations, and I am prepared to explain the failure on those two. 
In other words, in the relatively short time that has elapsed since the 1947 
report of the committee, the recommendations, with 2 exceptions, have 
been carried out as far as the department is concerned. It seems to me 
that is not a wholly unsatisfactory report.

Mr. Harkness: My point, Mr. Matthews, is this; if you read the subsequent 
evidence in which we dealt with each of those recommendations in turn, you will 
find the evidence does not bear out that statement. Rather than there being only 
2 recommendations which were not carried out, there were quite a few more.

The Chairman : I think you have the two confused with the eleven.
Mr. Harkness : No, I jotted this down as we went over the list. All I ask 

is that the members of the committee read the subsequent evidence. I think it 
will be found it does not bear out that particular part of the evidence.

Mr. Matthews : I suggest, in fairness to Dr. Keenleyside, he be recalled.
Mr. Reid: I do not think there is any general disagreement with Dr. 

Keenleyside’s statement. He made quite a frank statement as to the number of 
recommendations which had been carried out. At the time he made the state­
ment there was no great exception taken to it.

Mr. Matthews: I have known Dr. Keenleyside for quite a while and I will 
not sit here and listen to certain imputations made against him any more than 
I would sit on any other committee and listen to any imputations made against 
my friend Mr. Harkness. That is the way I feel and I hope you will accept 
my assurance that there is nothing personal in this at all.

Mr. Harkness: I hope you will feel that I am trying to deal fairly in this 
matter, too.

The Chairman: Let us all kiss and make up.
Mr. Raymond: Fumer un Calument de paix.
The Chairman : Oui. I do not know what you are trying to say.
Mr. Raymond: The thing we desire is to have the spirit of our recommenda­

tions rather than the letter of our recommendations carried out. Do you not 
think so?

Mr. Harkness : Yes, I think so. I am afraid that is what we have not had.
Mr. Raymond : Certainly, a very good start has been made. I think you will 

admit that if you want to be really fair and I am sure you do not want to be 
unfair. Certainly there is an improvement in that department.

The Chairman : Well, we have a motion before us.
Mr. Reid: I believe we have heard all the evidence. I believe each member 

of the committee has his mind made up one way or the other. It is iny opinion, 
I may be wrong, but I think we could argue here for another year and not 
change the view of the various members of the committee.

The Chairman: After all, we must consider that our report is going to be 
either a boost or a knock to the appointment of Mr. Pratt who has been a faithful 
servant since 1914.

Mr. Harkness: What you are doing is placing this on the basis of the 
position of Mr. Pratt—

The Chairman : That is what the motion says.
Mr. Harkness : This whole thing, in my mind, was never on that basis. I 

have made it clear a dozen times that I asked for this investigation from the 
point of view of the welfare of the Indians. I think that is a matter of concern.



164 SPECIAL JOINT COMMITTEE

It is not a matter of Mr. Pratt or Mr. Pratt’s particular appointment, it is a 
matter of how the administration is functioning and how appointments are being 
made.

The Chairman: As I say, because of statements made in the committee, 
statements made in the House, and newspaper reports, it has evolved around 
that point. We cannot escape it. I know that the members of the committee 
are most anxious to be fair to Mr. Pratt, to be fair with the commission and to 
be fair with themselves.

Mr. Reid: I had hopes, but I doubt nowr if we will ever get a unanimous 
report. We could argue for another three or four months on this matter. You 
might as well put the motion. If there are members who disagree with it, of 
course, that is their privilege. Every member has his rights.

The Chairman: Is it your pleasure to proceed with the motion ?
Your committee is satisfied that there was no political interference in the 

appointment of Mr. W. J. Ford Pratt to the position of general executive assis­
tant, but the committee is not satisfied with the lengh of time taken to fill that 
position in view of the fact that this committee recommended on August 15, 
1946, as follows—

Mr. MacNicon: I did not hear the last part.
The Chairman : Shall I read the whole thing again?
Mr. MacNicon: Please.
The Chairman : It reads as follows:

Your committee is satisfied that there was no political interference 
in the appointment of Mr. W. J. Ford Pratt to the position of general 
executive assistant, but the committee is not satisfied with the length of 
time taken to fill that position in view of the fact that this committee 
recommended on August 15, 1946, as follows— 

that recommendation is taken from our 1946 report.
Now', if there is any way by which we can reach a unanimous decision, I 

am willing to listen to it.
Mr. Castleden : I think it will be very difficult to reach unanimity on it in 

view of the fact we have not all the evidence as to whether there was poltical 
interference or not.

The Chairman : This is based on the evidence as presented to us.
Mr. Castleden : Then, that ought to be put in the motion.
The Chairman: How else could we deal with it?
Mr. Reid: Well, then, say it is based on the information presented to us.
The Chairman : If there is any evidence to the contrary, now is the time 

to have it.
Mr. Castleden: I have not any evidence but I am not satisfied there was 

not any interference.
Mr. Raymond: Could we put in the words, “according to the evidence we 

have”?
The Chairman : All right, if you are satisfied with that. We could sayf 

“On the basis of the evidence submitted,” or simply, “On the evidence sub­
mitted.” Would you agree with that, Mr. Castleden?

Mr. Castleden : I am satisfied.
The Chairman: It would read, “On the evidence submitted there was n° 

political interference in the appointment of Mr. Pratt, etc.”
Mr. Bareness: As I said before, I do not like these words, “political inter­

ference.” I do not know whether it was political interference or whether it was 
a working about in the department.

Mr. Reid: What about using the words, “There was no irregularity”?
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Mr. Gariepy: No undue interference.
The Chairman: Shall we just drop the word “political”? There was no 

interference?
Mr. Haricness: All right.
The Chairman: Is that agreeable?
Mr. Reid: I am a man of peace, yes.
The Chairman : Is that agreeable?

Your committee is satisfied, on the evidence submitted, that there 
was no interference in the appointment of Mr. W. J. Ford Pratt to the 
position—

Mr. Gariepy: No improper interference.
The Chairman : Would that be agreeable?
Mr. Bryce: If you phrase it in that manner it would be better to make no 

recommendation at all.
The Chairman : Then shall we leave the word “political” in?
Mr. Reid: There is one bad feature about the word “political.” It is such 

a wide term. I hear it mentioned in the House; almost everything is political. 
Whether you are a member of parliament or outside in some organization, you 
hear the word, “political.”

The Chairman : From my own point of view, I want to be known as a 
politician.

Mr. Charlton: I don’t.
The Chairman: I do not want to be known as a ward heeler. Politics is the 

science of government and if there is any higher qualification for being a member 
of a government than being a politician, I should like to hear of it.

Mr. Bryce: Do not start fooling us, or yourself.
Mr. Gariepy : I suggest the motion read, “No improper interference.”
The Chairman: We are, of course, only making a recomjnendation.
Mr. Reid: That is all right with me.
The Chairman: Is that agreeable now?
Mr. Reid: That is agreeable to me.
The Chairman: Will those in favour of the motion please signify? Con­

trary?
Carried.
Mr. Bryce: I do not think there should have been any recommendation 

made at all.
The Chairman : AVhat would you have done?
Mr. Reid: We did not ask for it.
Mr. IIarknbss: I do not think that is quite correct. I asked for this 

investigation.
Mr. Gariepy: Mr. Chairman, I have the floor. In the booklet of February 

last—the secretary has the date—on the educational subcommittee the name of 
Mr. Brunelle was left out. I am asking that it be inserted. There has been a 
complaint in that regard.

The Chairman : I think we have decided about the subcommittee—
Mr. Gariepy: Very well, but have it made right.
Mr. Castleden : I should like to ask whether the committee on treaties has 

been called?
The Chairman: We decided in the general committee, Mr. Castleden, that 

since most of these matters are going to be referred to the general committee 
anyway the work of the subcommittee would be rather useless.

The committee adjourned.





SESSION 1948

mm

SPECIAL JOINT COMMITTEE OF THE SENATE 
AND THE HOUSE OF COMMONS

APPOINTED TO CONTINUE AND COMPLETE THE EXAMINATION 
AND CONSIDERATION OF THE

INDIAN ACT
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS AND EVIDENCE

No. 5

TUESDAY, APRIL 13, 1948
to and including

MONDAY, JUNE 21, 1948

Third and Fourth Reports to Parliament

APPENDICES

OTTAWA
EDMOND CLOUTIER, C.M.G., B.A., L.Ph., 

PRINTER TO THE KING’S MOST EXCELLENT MAJESTY 
CONTROLLER OF STATIONERY 

1948





MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
House of Commons,
Tuesday, 13th April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present: The Senate: Nil. (In Recess). The House of Commons: Messrs. 

Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Case, Charlton, Farquhar, Gariépy, Harkness, Matthews 
{Brandon), MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), Richard (Gloucester) 
and Stanfield.—14.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel ; W. M. Cory, Legal Section; 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. D. J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves 
and Trusts; M. McCrimmon, Reserves and Trusts; E. Armstrong, Estates 
Officer; L. L. Brown, Trusts ; D. H. Russell; also, Mr. Norman E. Lickers, 
Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.

The Chairman acknowledged receipt from Mr. Bland, Chairman, Civil 
Service Commission of true copies of reports of the review boards held in 
connection with the position of General Executive Assistant, Indian Affairs 
Branch. It was agreed to print, as an Appendix to the Minutes of the Committee, 
the report of the February 16, 1948 review board. (See Appendix HW).

It was agreed to receive and distribute to members of the Committee Briefs 
received from the Confederacy of the Interior Tribes of British Columbia. It 
Was further agreed that the said Briefs be printed as Appendices to the Minutes 
of the Committee. (See Appendices HX, HY, HZ).

Consideration resumed of sections of the Indian Act dealing with “Descent 
of Property” (as re-drafted).

It was agreed that the next regular meeting of the Committee would be 
held on Friday next, 16th April, instead of tomorrow Thursday, 14th instant.

The Committee adjourned at one o’clock p.m., to meet again on Friday 
Oext, 16th April, at 11 o’clock a.m.

House of Commons,
Friday, 16th April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
167
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Present: The Senate: Nil (In Recess). The House of Commons: Messrs. 
Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, Farquhar, Gariépy, Matthews (Bran­
don), MacLean, Richard (Gloucester).—10.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel ; W. M. Cory, Legal Section; 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. D. J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves 
and Trusts; T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary ; E. Armstrong, Estates Officer; also, 
Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.
Sections 25 and 27 (as re-drafted), 26 to 32, both inclusive ; and 33 and 33A 

(the two latter to be re-drafted) were examined.
The Committee adjourned at one o’clock p.m., to meet again on Tuesday 

next, 20th April, at 11 o’clock a.m.

House of Commons,
Tuesday, 20th April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: Thé Honourable Senators Horner, Johnston, Leger and 
Taylor—4.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 
Farquhar, Gariépy, Little, Matthews (Brandon), MacLean, Raymond (Wright)> 
Reid, Richard (Gloucester)—13.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) ; Messrs. C. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel; W. M. Cory, Legal Section! 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director; T. R. L. Maclnnes, 
Secretary ; B. F. Neary, MBE, Superintendent, Training; D. H. Russell; also, 
Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.

The Chairman informed the Committee that a Convention of the North 
American Indian Brotherhood has been called to meet in Ottawa on May 17, next'

The Chairman read letters from Messrs. George H. Ross, K.C., Calgary» 
Alberta and Walter L. Clink, K.C., Battleford, Saskatchewan, containing 
suggestions with regard to the revision of the Indian Act. Ordered: That the8® 
letters be filed for consideration when the pertinent sections of the revised A° 
are under examination and consideration.

A letter from Henry Jackson, Secretary, North American Indian Brother' 
hood, addressed to Mr. Walter Little, M.P., a member of the Committee, w.aB 
read. Ordered: That the Clerk pass the letter to the Director, Indian Affa>1B 
for investigation and report.

The Committee resumed consideration of the Indian Act.
Mr. R. A. Hoey made a general statement with regard to Indian Education
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It was agreed that the subcommittee on Indian Education with the whole 
! Committee present would meet at one o’clock p.m., Wednesday, 21st April, in 
/ Room 604 to hear a statement from Mr. B. F. Neary, Director, Training 

Division.
It was further agreed that the Chairman take up with the Honourable the 

! Speaker of the House and others the matter of a Committee Room for subse- 
\ quent meetings of this Committee.

The Committee extended a sincere vote of condolence to Mr. L. J. Raymond, 
M.P. (Wright), on the occasion of the death of his father.

The next regular meeting of the Committee will be held on Thursday, 
22nd April, at 11 o’clock a.m.

The Committee adjourned at 1 o'clock p.m., to meet again on Wednesday, 
21st April, at 1 o’clock p.m.

House of Commons,
Wednesday, 21st April, 1948.

The subcommittee on Indian Education appointed by the Joint Committee 
of the Senate and the House of Commons met this day at 1.00 p.m.

Presiding: Mr. J. E. Matthews, M.P. (Brandon).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Horner, Macdonald (Cardigan). and 
Taylor—3.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, 
Charlton. Church, Farquhar, Gariépy, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Little, Mat­
thews (Brandon), Reid and Richard (Gloucester)—13.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. H. L. 
Keenleyside, Deputy Minister; C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and 
Personnel; (From Indian Affairs Branch): Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director; B. F. 
Neary, MBE, Superintendent, Training; also, Mr. Norman E. Bickers, Barrister, 
Counsel for the Committee.

The Chairman expressed satisfaction that Mr. Keenleyside was present at 
this meeting, his first since his return from Western Canada.

Mr. Keenleyside made a brief statement with regard to his trip with par­
ticular reference to the Conference on Native Indian Affairs, sponsored by the 
B.C. Indian Arts and Welfare Society, held at the University of British Columbia 
on April 1, 2 and 3 last. Mr. Brown notified members that notices of the Con­
ference had been received late during the Easter Recess.

The Chairman thanked Mr. Keenleyside for his informative statement.

Mr. B. F. Neary, MBE, Superintendent, Training, Indian Affairs Branch, 
made a statement with regard to Indian education.

The Committee adjourned at 2.30 p.m., to meet again on Thursday next, 
22nd April, at 11 o’clock a.m.
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House of Commons,
Thursday, 22nd April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98. R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Horner and Taylor—2.
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, 

Charlton, Farquhar, Gariépy, Little, Matthews {Brandon), MacLean, Mac- 
Nicol, Raymond (Wright), Reid and Richard (Gloucester)—14.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. H. E- 
Keenleyside, Deputy Minister; C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and 
Personnel ; (From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director; B. F- 
Neary, MBE. Superintendent, Training; D. H. Russell ; also, Mr. Norman E- 
Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.

The Chairman read a letter from Mr. Andrew Pauli, President, North 
American Indian Brotherhood, dated 19th April, in which the Committee *s 
advised that a Convention of that Brotherhood will be held in the Auditorium 
of the Victoria National Museum, Ottawa, at 10 o’clock a.m., on Monday, 17th 
May. The Right Honourable the Prime Minister has been asked to meet the 
group on the 19th; the Convention hopes to consider the revised Act and take 
all necessary action to bring the opinion of the Brotherhood to the attention 
of Parliament.

The Chairman will acknowledge receipt of the letter and advise Mr. Pauli 
that the Committee will be glad to have the opinion of the Brotherhood with 
regard to the revised Act but that at this time no definite undertaking can be 
given to receive a delegation from the Brotherhood.

Consideration resumed of sections of the Indian Act dealing with Indian 
Schools.

The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Tuesday next, 
27th April, at 11 o’clock a.m.

House of Commons,
Tuesday, 27th April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have 
been referred to the said Committee, met this day, in camera, at 11 o’clock a.m-

Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman), presided.
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Blais, Horner, Johnston, Leger’ 
Macdonald (Cardigan) and Taylor—6.
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The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 
Farquhar, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Harkness, Little, Matthews (Brandon), 
Raymond (Wright), Richard (Gloucester)—12.

In attendance: Messrs. H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, C. W. Jackson, 
Director, Administration and Personnel, Mines and Resources ; R. A. Hoey, 
Director, Indian Affairs ; P. E. Moore, M.D., Medical Services, Indian, Depart­
ment of National Health and Welfare; B. F. Neary, MBE, Superintendent, 
Welfare and Training; Dr. Diamond Jenness, Dominion Anthropologist, Mines 
and Resources; also, Mr. Norman E. Bickers, Barrister, Counsel for Committee.

A discussion took place as to future sittings, and it was agreed that the 
Joint Committee would sit again at 4.00 o’clock p.m., on Wednesday, April 28, 
and at 11.00 o’clock a.m. on Thursday, April 29.

The Committee then resumed consideration of the draft amendments to the 
Indian Act.

Section 10, subsections 4, 5 and 6 thereof relating to education of Indian 
children were under study.

The Chairman filed two communications addressed to him, from Mrs. 
Julienne C. Williams.

The Committee adjourned at 1.05 o’clock p.m. to meet on Wednesday, April 
28 at 4.00 o’clock p.m.

House of Commons,
Wednesday, 28th April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day, in camera, at 4 o’clock p.m.

Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman), presided.
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senator Taylor—1.
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 

Castleden, Farquhar, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Matthews (Brandon), MacLean, 
Raymond (Wright), Richard (Gloucester), Stanfield—13.

In attendance: Messrs. H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, C. W. Jackson, 
Director, Administration and Personnel, Mines and Resources ; R. A. Hoey, 
Director, Indian Affairs; D. J. Allan, Superintendent, Indian Affairs; W. M. 
Cory, Departmental Solicitor, Department of Mines and Resources ; Mr. M. 
McCrimmon, Chief Clerk, Indian Affairs Branch ; Mr. F. J. G. Cunningham, 
Departmental Solicitor, Department of Mines and Resources ; also, Mr. Norman 
E. Bickers, Barrister, Counsel for Committee.

The Committee resumed consideration of proposed amendments to the 
Indian Act.

The Committee discussed Section 5 of the Order of Reference, namely, 
Eligibility of Indians to vote at Dominion Elections. It was agreed that, at 
the next meeting, consideration would be given to a Resolution recommending 
that all restrictions as to voting by Indians be abolished.

The Committee adjourned at 5.20 o’clock p.m. to meet on Thursday, April 29, 
at 11 o’clock a.m.
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House of Commons,
Thursday, 29th April, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11.00 o’clock a.m.

Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman), presided.
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senator Taylor.—1.
The House of Commons: Messrs. Arsenault, Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, 

Case, Castleden, Farquhar, Little, Matthews (Brandon), MacNicol, Raymond 
(Wright), Richard (Gloucester), Stanfield.—13.

In attendance: Mr. R, A. Hoey, Director, Indian Affairs, Mr. D. J. Allan, 
Superintendent, Indian Affairs, Mr. M. McCrimmon, Chief Clerk, Indian Affairs, 
Mr. L. Brown, Reserves and Trusts, Mr. T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary, Mr. 
W. M.. Cory, Departmental Solicitor, Department of Mines and Resources; also 
Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for Committee.

The Committee discussed Section 5 of the Order of Reference, namely» 
“Eligibility of Indians to Vote at Dominion Elections”.

On motion of Mr. Blackmore, seconded by Mr. Farquhar, it was unanimously
Resolved,—That the Committee recommend to the House that voting privi­

leges for the purpose of Dominion Elections be granted to Indians on the same 
status as electors in urban centres.

The Committee resumed, in camera, study of proposed amendments to the 
Indian Act—“Section 102—Liability of Indians to Taxation”.

On motion of Mr. Case, it was unanimously
Agreed,—That the Clerk of the Committee be instructed to write to Dr- 

Frederick F. Tisdall to convey the thanks of the Members of the Committee for 
his hospitality at the very enjoyable function held in Room 16, of the House of 
Commons, on Wednesday evening, April 28.

At 1.00 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned to meet again at 11.00 o’clock 
a.m., Tuesday, May 4, 1948.

House of Commons,
Tuesday, 4th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11.00 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Blais, Dupuis, Fallis, Horner, Mac­
donald (Cardigan), and Taylor.—6.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, Castleden, 
Charlton, Farquhar, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Harkness, MacLean, MacNicol,
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Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), Raymond (Wright) and Richard 
(Gloucester).—14.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel; W. M. Cory, Legal Section; 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R, A. Hoey, Director ; D. M. MacKay, 
Superintendent, Welfare; B. F. Neary, MBE., Superintendent, Training; D. J. 
Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts ; M. McCrimmon, Reserves and 
Trusts; L. Brown, Solicitor; also, Mr. Norman E. Bickers, Barrister, Counsel 
for the Committee.

The Chairman read to the Committee a telegram from Rev. P. R. Kelly, 
President, Native Brotherhood of British Columbia, requesting an appearance 
before the Committee to present important additional matters. It was agreed 
to ask the Brotherhood to submit in writing any such additional matters which 
will receive consideration by the Committee and determination of necessity for 
any further submissions. Mr. Kelly was also to be advised that no organizations 
or individuals have been asked to appear before the Committee prior to or after 
presentation of final report of Committee.

Consideration of Indian Act resumed.
Sections dealing with “Management of Indian Moneys” were examined.
The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Wednesday 

next, 5th May at 1 o’clock p.m.

House of Commons,
Wednesday, 5th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day as 1.00 o’clock p.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Fallis, Horner, Macdonald (Car­
digan) and Taylor.—4.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, Castleden, 
Charlton, Little, Matthews (Brandon), MacNicol, and Raymond (Wright).—10.

In attendance: (From the Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs.
C. W. Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel ; W. M. Cory, Legal 
Section; (From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director ; Dr.
D. M. McKay, Superintendent, Welfare; D. J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves 
and Trusts ; M. McCrimmon, Reserves and Trusts; also, Mr. Norman E. Bickers, 
Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.
Sections 90-95 (“Management of Indian Moneys”) ; 34-38 (“Trespassing on 

Reserves”) ; and 40-45 (“Sale and Barter”) were examined.
The Committee adjourned at 2.45 p.m., to meet again at 11 o’clock a.m., on 

Thursday, 6th May next.
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House of Commons,
Thursday, 6th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Blais, Fallis, Homer, Leger, 
Macdonald (Cardigan)—5.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, Little, 
MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond {Wright)— 8.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel; W. M. Cory, Legal Section; 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director ; T. R. L. Maclnnes, 
Secretary ; Dr. D. McKay, Superintendent, Welfare; D. J. Allan, Superintendent, 
Reserves and Trusts; D. H. Russell ; also, Mr. Norman E. Linkers, Barrister, 
Counsel for the Committee.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.
Discussion of sections 40-45 (“Sale and Barter”) ; 46-47 (“Roads and 

Bridges”) ; 48 (“Lands taken for Public Purposes”).
The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again at the call of 

the Chair.

The Senate,
Tuesday, 18th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98 R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Mr. Stevenson.—1.
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Case, Castleden, Charlton, 

Farquhar, Little, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), MacLean, MacNicol, 
Richard ( Gloucester).—11.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W- 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel; W. M. Cory, Legal Section; 
E. Cunningham, Solicitor; (From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R. A. Hoey, 
Director; T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary; D. J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves 
and Trusts ; M. McCrimmon, Reserves and Trusts ; L. Brown, Solicitor ; D. H- 
Russell ; also, Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.

The Honourable Senator Stevenson informed the Committee that owing to 
pressure of other Committee work he had not been able to attend this Committee 
earlier, but was able to do so, now that the Senate was in Recess.
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The Chairman explained why it had not been possible to hold meetings 
during the past week.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.

Discussion of sections 48 (“Lands taken for Public Purposes”) ; 110-119 
both inclusive (Redraft of sections dealing with enfranchisement of Indians).

The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again this day at 
4 o’clock p.m.

AFTERNOON SESSION

The Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).

Present:
The Senate: Nil. (In Recess).

The House of Commons'. Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, Charlton, 
Farquhar, Little, MacLean, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), Raymond 
(Wright) and Richard (Gloucester).—11.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel; W. M. Cory, Legal Section ; 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary; D. J. 
Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts ; M. McCrimmon, Reserves and 
Trusts ; also, Mr. Norman E. Lickcrs, Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.

The Chairman and Messrs. Case, Raymond and Bryce joined in paying 
tribute to the late Senator J. Fred Johnston, who had been Joint Chairman of 
the Committee in 1946 and had since continued to be a very active member of 
the Committee. It was agreed that the Chairman would send a letter of 
condolence, on behalf of the Committee, to the widow and family of our 
deceased member.

The Chairman notified the Committee that a delegation from the North 
American Indian Brotherhood presently in convention in Ottawa would visit 
the House of Commons at 2 o’clock p.m., tomorrow, Wednesday, 19th May, to 
extend an address and present a ceremonial bonnet to the Right Honourable 
the Prime Minister. It was hoped that as many members of the Committee as 
could conveniently do so would attend.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.

Sections 93A (“Band Funds”) ; and 52 were examined.

The Chairman informed the Committee that he was in receipt of many 
requests from Indian organizations and bands asking for an opportunity to 
give new evidence to the Committee. It was agreed that all these would be asked 
to submit their briefs in writing for consideration by the Committee and that 
no witness would be heard orally, unless the Committee should decide otherwise, 
after study of the evidence submitted in writing.

The Committee adjourned at 6 o’clock p.m., to meet again at 4 o’clock p.m., 
Wednesday next, 19th May.
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House of Commons,
Wednesday, 19th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 4 o’clock p.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: Nil. (In Recess).
The House of Commons: Messrs. Arsenault, Brown, Bryce, Charlton, 

Farquhar, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Little, MacLean, Raymond {Wright) and 
Richard (Gloucester)—10.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel ; W. M. Cory, Legal Section : 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary ; D. J. 
Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts; D. H. Russell;

Also, Mr. Norman E. Linkers, Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.
Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.
The following sections were examined :

67-70; 94-95A (“Powers of the Minister”) ;
71-75 (“Patents”) ;
76-89 (“Timber Lands”).

The Committee adjourned at 6 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Thursday next, 
20th May, at 11 o’clock a.m.

The Senate,
Thursday, 20th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: Nil. (In Recess).
The House of Commons: Messrs. Arsenault, Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 

Charlton, Harkness, Little, MacLean, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), 
Raymond (Wright), and Richard (Gloucester)—12.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) ; Messrs. C. W- 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel ; W. M. Cory, Legal Section ; 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director; T. R. L. Maclnnes, 
Secretary ; D. J. Allan, Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts ; D. H. Russell ;

Also, Mr. Norman E. Dickers, Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.
Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.
Sections 96 (subsections 1-17), 97A, 97B, 97C, were examined.
The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Tuesday next, 

25th May, at 11 o’clock a.m.
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The Senate,
Tuesday, 25th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senator Paterson—1.
The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Blackmore, Castleden, Charlton, 

Farquhar, Harkness, Little, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice Chairman), MacLean, 
Raymond (Wright), Richard (Gloucester)—11.

In attendance : (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel ; W. M. Cory, Legal Section ; 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director; D. J. Allan, 
Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts; T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary; D. H. 
Russell ;

Also, Mr. H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, Mines and Resources.
The Chairman distributed the Brief of the Confederacy of the Interior 

Tribes of British Columbia.
In reply to a question asked by Mr. Castleden, the Chairman advised the 

Committee that concurrence in the Third Report of the Committee, tabled in the 
House on 6th May last, would be moved at an early date.

Questions with regard to certain vacancies in the Indian Affairs Branch, 
asked by Mr. Stokes, M.P., were referred to the Indian Affairs Branch for reply 
which, when received, will be sent to Mr. Stokes by the Chairman.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act. The following sections were 
examined: 97D(l-8) ; 105-109; 118-138.

The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again this afternoon at 
4 o’clock p.m.

AFTERNOON SESSION 
The Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m.
Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman).

Present :
The House of Commons: Messrs. Arsenault, Brown, Blackmore, Case, 

Charlton, Farquhar, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Harkness, Little, Raymond 
(Wright)—10.

In attendance: as at morning session, except Messrs. Keenleyside and Allan.
Consideration resumed of Indian Act. Examination of sections 138-159 

inclusive.
The Committee adjourned at 6 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Wednesday, 

26th May next, at 4 o’clock p.m.
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House of Commons,
Wednesday, 26th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C. 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 4 o’clock p.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present: The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 

Charlton, Gibson (Comox-Albemi), Harkness, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice- 
Chairman), MacLean, MacNicoI, Raymond (Wright)—11.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel ; W. M. Cory, Legal Section; 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director; T. R. L. Mac- 
Innes, Secretary ; D. J. Allan. Superintendent, Reserves and Trusts; D. H. 
Russell ; also, Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for the Committee.

The Chairman read to the Committee the following Resolutions adopted at 
the recent Convention in Ottawa of the North American Indian Brotherhood.
Resolutions considered.

I. That the Government be requested to allow Indians to sit with 
the Indian Act Committee during the final stages of the revision of the 
Indian Act. Each province to be represented by the Indians chosen by 
the N.A.I.B. convention which is now being held in the City of Ottawa. 
The purpose of this request is to give the Indians a chance to study the 
structure of the new Indian Act and to suggest any change which in 
their opinion may be necessary for the welfare of their race, and that 
the expenses of such delegates be paid by the Government. Delegates 
so chosen: Thos. Jones, Cape Croker, Ont.; Frank Assu, B.C.; Ed. 
Beauvais, Quebec; Thos. Roy, Northern Ontario ; Ben Christmas, Mari­
time Provinces.

II. That the N.A.I.B. request the Government of Canada that one of 
the Indian Treaties be submitted to a proper tribunal as a test case, on 
the validity of the terms of a Treaty in regards to Fish and Game. 
Counsel to be chosen by the Indians and financed by the Department.

It was agreed that the Clerk of the Committee notify the President of the 
N.A.I.B. of the consideration of the said Resolutions by the Committee and of 
the reasons why the Committee could not give effect to the Resolutions.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act.
Sections 164 to 168 both inclusive; 99; 101 and 185 were examined.
The Committee adjourned at 6 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Thursday, 

27th May next, at 11 o’clock a.m.

House of Commons,
Thursday, 27th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C. 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.
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Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present: The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Blackmore, Case, 

Charlton, Gibson (Comox-Albemi), Matthews '(Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), 
MacLean, MacNicol, Raymond (Wright), Richard (Gloucester)—11.

In attendance: (From Department of Mines and Resources) : Messrs. C. W. 
Jackson, Director, Administration and Personnel ; W. M. Cory, Legal Section; 
(From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director; T. R. L. Mac- 
Innes, Secretary; D. H. Russell; also, Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, 
Counsel for the Committee.

Consideration resumed of the Indian Act and sections 101 and 185 again 
examined.

The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again this afternoon 
at 4 o’clock p.m.

AFTERNOON SESSION
The Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m.
Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present: The House of Commons: Messrs. Arsenault, Brown, Bryce, Black- 

more, Charlton, Church, Farquhar, Gibson (Comox-Albemi), Matthews 
(Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), MacLean, Raymond (Wright), Richard (Glou­
cester)—12.

The Committee considered a letter from the Rev. Canon Henry G. Cook, 
Superintendent, Indian School Administration, of the Missionary Society 
of the Church of England in Canada, dated April 26, 1948, which enclosed an 
excerpt from Archdeacon Middleton, principal and missionary, Blood Reserve, 
Alberta, criticising a proposed new definition of “Indian”, within the meaning 
of the Indian Act.

It was agreed that the Clerk of the Committee advise Canon Cook of the 
decision of the Committee, at the same time pointing out that the Committee 
has for months been sitting in camera and that any discussions or proposals 
therein are as yet confidential and that the Committee regrets any breach of 
confidence which made Archdeacon Middleton, or anyone else, aware of any 
inconclusive deliberations of the Committee.

Examination of sections 101 and 185 of Indian Act continued and completed.
The Committee adjourned at 6 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Friday, 

28th May, next, at 11 o’clock a.m.

House of Commons,
Friday, 28th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C. 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
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Present: The House of Commons: Messrs. Arsenault, Brown, Bryce, Black- 
more, Case, Charlton, Church, Gibson {Comox-Alberni), Matthews (Brandon) 
(Vice-Chairman), MacLean, MacNicol—11.

Consideration resumed of Indian Act. Sections not previously examined 
were taken up, also such other matters as Indian marriage, eventual creation 
of advanced Indian reserves as municipalities and such portions of the Order 
of Reference not already dealt with in Committee.

It was agreed that the subcommittee on agenda and procedure will undertake 
the preparation of the Fourth Report and that a draft thereof be submitted to 
the Joint Committee for consideration and approval, as soon as possible.

At 1 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned to meet at the call of the Chair.

House of Commons,
Monday, 21st June, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have 
been referred to the said Committee, met this day at 8 o’clock p.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, AI.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present: The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Castleden, Charlton, 

Church, Farquhar, Harkness, Little, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), 
MacLean, MacNicol—10.

In attendance: Mr. T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary, Indian Affairs Branch ; 
also, Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Counsel for the Committee and Liaison Officer 
for the Indians of Canada.

The Committee met in camera to consider the draft, submitted by the 
subcommittee on agenda, of the Fourth Report of the Committee.

After consideration of the said Report,
On motion of Mr. Case, it was
Resolved: That this Committee adopt the Fourth Report of the Joint 

Committee, as submitted by the subcommittee on agenda and procedure, and 
that the Joint Chairmen present the said Fourth Report to both Houses of 
Parliament tomorrow, Tuesday, 22nd June. Carried, on division.

On motion of Mr. Castleden, it was
Ordered: That there be printed as appendices to the Minutes of Evidence 

and Proceedings such additional briefs as have been received during the present 
session and not yet printed into the record.

On motion of Mr. Little, it was
Ordered: That the expenses incurred by the following witnesses before the 

1947 Committee, as recommended by the subcommittee on agenda, be paid' 
The names of the witnesses concerned are: Rev. P. R. Kelly, D.D.; Rev. Ah ah 
Spence, Paynton, Sask. and Mr. Boniface Guimond, Pine Falls, Manitoba.

At 10.30 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned sine die.
T. L. McEVOY,

Clerk of the Joint Committee.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,
April 29, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act met this day at 11 a.m. 
Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman), presided.

The Chairman : Gentlemen, let us proceed with our meeting. Yesterday, 
when we met in camera, we were discussing the question of voting privileges for 
Indians, and it was decided that we recommend to parliament that voting 
privileges for the purpose of dominion elections be granted to Indians. In other 
words, that the disqualification against Indians voting at dominion elections be 
removed entirely ; with one qualification, that Indians be considered on the 
same status as electors in urban centres. That is to say, that for the purposes of 
dominion elections the Indians on reserves would have to be enumerated and 
the lists published, so that if any Indian was not properly entered on the 
enumerator’s list he would have the opportunity of making an application for 
the addition of his name to the list. The result would be that the Indian would be 
in the same status as that of any other Canadian citizen living in an urban centre.

Now, a motion will be entertained recommending that we report to parlia­
ment and that this matter be considered and, if necessary, referred to the proper 
committee for further consideration.

Mr. Little: What about Indians not on the reserves?
The Chairman : I presume so far as Indians not on reserves are concerned 

they would be in the same position as other Indians.
Mr. Farquhar: This refers to all Indians.
The Chairman : Now, a motion will be entertained along those lines.
Mr. Blackmore: I make that motion.
The Chairman : Mr. Blackmore so moves, seconded by Mr. Farquhar ; all 

in favour?
Mr. MacNicol: Mr. Chairman, I could not be here yesterday, and I am not 

going to refer to anything I would have said had I been here, but did you con­
sider the South African system? There are two states in which the natives are 
allowed to vote; New Zealand, where they elect Maoris directly to the legisla­
ture; and South Africa where the blacks vote to elect whites, not blacks; but in 
neither case would the votes of either of these people—

The Chairman : We have considered that aspect.
Mr. MacNicol: You did?
The Chairman: Yes.
Mr. MacNicol: Both cases?
The Chairman: We considered the advisability of having Indians repre­

sented by Indian members of parliament and we were unanimously opposed 
to it. We did not believe there should be any segregation whatsoever.

Mr. MacNicol: You opposed the New Zealand system; how did you deal 
with the South African system?

The Chairman: What is that?
Mr. MacNicol: They elect whites.
The Chairman : They would be under the same category, I presume.
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Mr. MacNicol: Not the same. The white representatives would not have 
the power, representing the natives, to vote a government out.

The Chairman: We did not discuss the South African system, but my own 
thought would be that if the Indians were to elect Indian members—perhaps 
I did not understand you. Do I understand you to say that the blacks elect 
whites?

Mr. MacNicol: Yes.
The Chairman:You say that in other words the Indians would elect some 

white member to represent them alone?
Mr. MacNicol: Yes.
The Chairman : I still say that would be in the same category and that it 

would lead to segregation and we -want Indians to be assimilated with the 
general population.

Mr. MacNicol: They will not be much assimilated if they have not 
the say—

The Chairman : Yes, they "would ; they would vote like the rest of us.
Mr. MacNicol: I am all for them getting the vote. I understand your 

program, your objective. There are about 135,000 Indians in Canada and per­
haps 40,000 or 50,000 of them will vote and they will be voting in all provinces. 
They would not be able to elect anybody to represent their opinions because in 
each riding in which they vote the whites would dominate. Take a riding like 
Mr. Tickers’. All Indians would vote, but their influence might not be enough 
at any time to elect an Indian.

The Chairman : I say that as regards the 5,000 Indians in Mr. Tickers’ 
constituency, if they were not properly represented by the man who was to 
represent them they would see to it, at the next election, that he would not 
be elected.

Mr. MacNicol: They are not that powerful in Brant.
The Chairman : I think 5,000 is a strong vote.
Mr. MacNicol: If all the Indians in Brant, Elgin West and Tambton voted 

together they would be a powerful vote. All right. I am all for it.
The Chairman : We have considered all these matters and this is what 

we have decided.
Mr. Raymond: May I ask Mr. MacNicol a question? Do you have any 

details about the way the South African people vote?
Mr. MacNicol: I did not bring it down with me. I have studied i* 

thoroughly.
Mr. Raymond: Are they exercising their right just like the white people?
Mr. MacNicol: For the time the black representative is a white.
Mr. Raymond : Do they vote for the same man as the white man does?
Mr. MacNicol: Yes. The whites and blacks do not vote together to elect 

a representative of the black race ; the representative in the legislature is elected 
solely by the blacks themselves and he is a white man.

Mr. Richard: That is a matter that could be studied in the House. The 
report we make is that we recommend the Indians be given the right to vote- 
There are different angles to the situation; it does not preclude us fro#1 
studying them.

Mr. Bryce: If we start a system like that we would be voting for a Scotsman 
or an Irishman or something of that sort. Tet them vote as Canadians.

Mr. Farquhar: I think we have discussed the matter from all angles- 
It was the opinion of all the committee that this was the solution to the problem-
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Mr. MacNicol: I am not going to oppose it, but the subject was not con­
sidered from the South African angle, and when the matter comes up in the 
House I will talk about it. The blacks vote, but they do not vote with the 
whites; but all the blacks vote together and elect so many representatives, 
but they elect whites. Perhaps later on they will elect blacks. I am asking 
myself how the Indian is going to have representation in parliament.

The Chairman: How are Scotsmen going to have representation?
Mr. MacNicol: All right. It does not need to go any further than that.
The Chairman: Are you ready for the question? Shall we revert to 

our sittings in camera?
Mr. Tickers: I think it would be well to get it on the record that although 

we are giving the Indians the vote we are not taking away any of the privileges 
they have in connection with property rights or in connection with their reserves.

Mr. Raymond: You can mention that. They are not losing their privileges; 
they stay as they are.

The Chairman : We want it distinctly understood that when the vote is 
given it is given without reservation and with no strings.

Mr. Richard: You would not mention any particular rights—existing 
rights?

Mr. Tickers: Without disturbing any of the existing rights which they 
now have.

Mr. Castleden : It is quite evident we understand that there is no surrender 
by taking up the franchise. Some of them were fearful about this first step 
in citizenship; that as soon as they became citizens they would lose their rights 
under the treaty. It should be emphatically stated here that by the recom­
mendation to parliament—and parliament will understand it—that none of the 
Indian rights are being interfered with in any way by granting this privilege, and 
that it is entirely optional with the Indian.

The Chairman; I suppose we should give a reason. We know that the 
Indians are paying sales tax on nearly all the commodities which they purchase. 
Many are paying tax on income earned off the reserve. Many pay other federal 
taxes, such as excise taxes and so on, and for that reason we feel they are 
entitled to vote.

Mr. Tickers: On anything they purchase on the reserve they pay tax. 
The only tax they actually do not pay is the land tax and income tax for income 
earned on the reserve.

Mr. Blackmore: As was pointed out, fundamentally the Indians are British 
subjects and have been for hundreds of years. They were the first Canadian 
citizens. They have a right to vote. Also, it should be borne in mind that many 
Indians have fought and died for the freedom of Canadians.

The Chairman: Yes. We feel, too, that we cannot instil in the Indians a 
knowledge of our democratic principles and forms of government unless we give 
them the privilege of participating in that form of government.

Mr. Blackmore: It was also pointed out that although a number of the 
Indians might not have the education which one might expect them to have in 
order to vote intelligently yet because of the radio, xvhich so many of the 
Indians possess, they are able to keep well informed on public affairs, and 
they do.

Mr. Castleden : In some areas.
Mr. Blackmore: They all can do it, even those who do not.
Mr. Castleden : Some of them cannot read.
Mr. Blackmore : They can listen to the radio. •

10214—21
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The Chairman : I assume that this is unanimously carried?
Mr. MacNicol: I want to see the Indian have representation in the House 

directly, if he can have it.
Mr. Blackmore : I think it would only be fair to Mr. MacNicol to tell him 

that when we were considering the possibility of having Indians elect an Indian, 
or two or three Indians across Canada, it was pointed out that it would be next 
to impossible to have an Indian travel the whole of Canada and present himself 
before the Indians. The same difficulty would surround a white man who was 
trying to represent the Indians as a whole across Canada.

Mr. MacNicol: It is not impossible to direct that some member for whom 
the Indians were going to vote would represent them. They could vote as is 
done in South Africa.

The Chairman: I am not going to open up the debate again, but my thought 
on it would be the same as was stated by Mr. Bryce, that if the representative does 
not represent the people in his constituency he should no longer be a repre­
sentative. If he does not represent the Indians in his constituency he will no 
longer be their representative, and that will be proved in a very practical way at 
the next election. He will be defeated if he does not represent the opinion of all 
the people in his constituency. We are not going to open up the debate; we 
went into all that.

Mr. MacNicol: I am not opening up the debate. I said this was not done 
on the basis of the South African system.

The Chairman: We did not discuss the matter on the basis of the South 
African system ; we did discuss the New Zealand system; but in my opinion the 
same principle applies.

Mr. MacNicol: I am not opposing giving them the right to vote.
The Chairman: Are we unanimously agreed that this report should be made 

to parliament?
Mr. MacNicol: I am not opposing that.
Mr. Farquhar: The motion has been carried.
The Chairman : I was wondering if it was unanimous. It is unanimously 

carried. We will continue in camera.
The committee went into camera.

House of Commons,
May 18, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
. appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act met this day at 4 p.m. Air- 
D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman), presided.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, will you please come to order. Before pro­
ceeding with the work of the committee I should like to make one reference ()t 
importance, and that is to the passing of Senator Johnston. Senator Johnston, 
as you know, was a member of this committee from its inception until the time 
of his passing. He was the first Senate co-chairman of the committee and 
carried on the work of co-chairman for the first session in which the commit*66 
operated. Since that time he continued to be a very valuable member of °ur 
committee.

Senator Johnston passed away suddenly on Sunday, May 9, at Regipa’ 
Saskatchewan. He had been in attendance at meetings of the committee during 
the week preceding his passing. I know the committee would wish me to expresS
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its sentiments to Senator Johnston’s widow and family, and to express to them 
our sincere regrets at his passing; to express also to them not only the regrets 
but the appreciation of the committee for the very valuable services that were 
rendered by the late Senator Johnston.

If it meets with your approval, I would suggest that an appropriate message 
be sent to Mrs. Johnston and the family.

Mr. Case: Mr. Chairman, before you put the motion I would like to 
associate myself with the remarks you have just made. I would like to say 
I knew the late Senator during the days when he was serving as a member for 
his constituency in the House of Commons and, of course, I was able to know 
him a good deal better when I came to Ottawa. We have lost a very valuable 
member of our committee, one whose judgment was highly regarded and respected 
and a member whom it will be difficult to replace. He had a great interest in 
this committee. Those of us who were privileged to travel on the royal com­
mission through the maritime provinces came to know something about the 
other side of his life, that is, his sense of good fellowship, the genial disposition 
he possessed. I feel each of us has suffered a personal loss in the passing of 
one who was so highly respected and so highly regarded.

It is a tribute to the man that he served Canada for so many years and that 
his contribution was considered such that he was rewarded by being appointed 
to the Senate. I know that he will be missed in that chamber; but particularly 
we as commoners will miss him most on this committee.

I wholeheartedly join with the chairman in expressing our sincere and 
deepest sorrow at his untimely passing, and I hope this message will be con­
veyed to his widow and to his family and that we will underscore our sense of 
appreciation of his fine services.

I was with him on the Saturday before he left for Regina, although I did not 
know he was going to Regina; I was deeply shocked by his passing. I know 
we all feel a deep sense of loss not only as members of this committee but 
in a personal way.

Mr. Raymond: Mr. Chairman, may I say one word about my late friend 
Senator Johnston? I had the opportunity of being very close to him when we 
were in the maritimes and since. I wish to say—and maybe I am being too 
sentimental in saying it—that he has been like a father to me and he has been 
like a father to my wife. That was more especially true when we were in the 
maritime provinces.

I remember a short time after we came back from the maritimes I brought 
my two children here to the House of Commons, to meet the Senator. In the 
name of my children, my wife and myself I wish to express our deep regret. 
To my wife and myself he was like a father and to my kiddies he was like a 
grandad. I feel his death very deeply.

Mr. Bryce : Mr. Chairman, I do not think any more can be said. I regret 
deeply the passing of Senator Johnston. I was quite closely attached to Senator 
Johnston, perhaps in a different way from the rest: we roomed together when 
we were in the maritimes while we were going through the Indian reserves, and I 
got to know the man much better than I ever would have had we just been 
meeting one another around the House. We had the same interest in live stock 
and he made himself famous as a breeder and lover of Ayrshire cattle. We 
had that in common. I can only endorse what the other members of this com­
mittee have said, that we will miss him very much in this committee.

The Chairman : If it is your pleasure, gentlemen, we will see that an 
appropriate message is forwarded to Mrs. Johnston and the family, expressing 
our regrets at the passing of Senator Johnston.

(The committee then continued in camera.)
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REPORTS TO PARLIAMENT
Thursday, 6th May, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, begs leave to present the following as a

THIRD REPORT
Your Committee recommends that voting privileges for the purpose of 

Dominion elections be granted to Indians on the same status as electors in urban 
centres.

All of which is respectfully submitted.
W. H. TAYLOR,
DON. F. BROWN,

Joint Chairmen.

Tuesday, 22nd June, 1948.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the 
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been 
referred to the said Committee, begs leave to present the following as a

FOURTH REPORT

Pursuant to a Resolution of the House dated 9th February, 1948, your 
Committee continued and completed “the examination and consideration of the 
said Indian Act begun by a Joint Committee pursuant to a Resolution of the 
House on May 13, 1946, and continued by a similar Joint Committee pursuant 
to a Resolution of the House on February 13, 1947”.

Since May 13, 1946, there have been 128 meetings and 122 witnesses have 
been heard. In addition, 411 written briefs from Indian bands and organizations 
and from other individuals and organizations interested in the welfare of om 
Canadian Indians have been printed in the Minutes of Evidence.

During the present session your Committee diligently examined the Indian 
Act section by section and has agreed to report as follows:—

Indian Act
Many anachronisms, anomalies, contradictions and divergencies were found 

in the Act.
Your Committee deems it advisable that, with few exceptions, all sections 

of the Act be either repealed or amended. The Law Officers of the Crown would- 
of course, need to make other necessary and consequential revisions and 
rearrangements of the Act which, when thus revised, should be presented t° 
-Parliament as soon as possible, but not later than the next session.

Your Committee, recommends that immediately Parliament next reassembly 
a Special Joint Committee be constituted with powers similar to those granted 
your Committee on 9th February last and that there be referred to the said 
Special Committee the draft Bill to revise the Indian Act presently before the 
Law Officers of the Crown.
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All proposed revisions are designed to make possible the gradual transition 
of Indians from wardship to citizenship and to help them to advance themselves.

In order to achieve these objectives, your Committee recommends, in addi­
tion to other recommendations hereinafter set out,

(a) That the revised Act contain provisions to protect from injustice and 
exploitation such Indians as are not sufficiently advanced to manage 
their own affairs;

(b) That Indian women of the full age of 21 years be granted the right 
to vote for the purpose of electing Band Councillors and at such other 
times as the members of the band are required to decide a matter by 
voting thereon ;

(c) That greater responsibility and more progressive measures of self 
government of Reserve and Band affairs be granted to Band Councils, 
to assume and carry out such responsibilities;

0d) That financial assistance be granted to Band Councils to enable them 
to undertake, under proper supervision, projects for the physical and 
economic betterment of the Band members ;

(e) That such Reserves as become sufficiently advanced be then recom­
mended for incorporation within the terms of the Municipal Acts of 
the province in which they are situate ;

(/) That the offence and penalty sections of the Indian Act be made equit­
able and brought into conformity with similar sections in the Criminal 
Code or other statutes ;

{g) That the Indians be accorded the same rights and be liable to the 
same penalties as others with regard to the consumption of intoxicating 
beverages on licensed premises, but there shall be no manufacture, sale 
or consumption, in or on a Reserve, of “intoxicants” within the meaning 
of the Indian Act;

(/i) That it be the duty and responsibility of all officials dealing with 
Indians to assist them to attain the full rights and to assume the 
responsibilities of Canadian citizenship.

Your Committee was given “authority to investigate and report upon Indian 
administration in general” and, in particular, certain other matters, viz:—

1. Treaty Rights and Obligations

Your Committee recommends that a Commission in the nature of a Claims 
Commission be set up, wjth the least possible delay, to inquire into the terms of 
all Indian treaties in order to discover and determine, definitely and finally, such 
rights and obligations as are therein involved and, further, to assess and settle 
finally and in a just and equitable manner all claims or grievances which have 
arisen thereunder.

2. Band Membership

To replace the definition of “Indian” which has been statutory since 1876, - 
there must be a new definition more in accord with present conditions. Parlia­
ment annually votes moneys to promote the welfare of Indians. This money 
should not be spent for the benefit of persons who are not legally members of 
an Indian Band.

Your Committee believes that a new definition of “Indian” and the amend­
ment of those sections of the Act which deal with Band membership will obviate . 
many problems.

Your Committee recommends that in, the meantime, the Indian Affairs/ 
Branch should undertake the revision of existing Band membership lists. I
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3. Liability of Indians to Pay Taxes

Your Committee recommends the clarification of those sections of the Act 
which deal with the exemption from taxation of an Indian’s real and personal 
property on a reserve.

Your Committee, however, is of opinion that Indians should continue to 
pay taxes on any income earned by them off, i.e., away from their reserve, even 
though they do reside on or have an interest in a reserve.

4. Enfranchisement of Indians Both Voluntary and Involuntary

The revised Indian Act should, in the opinion of your Committee, contain 
provisions to clarify the present rules and regulations regarding enfranchisement.

5. Eligibility of Indians to Vote at Dominion Elections

As part of the education and preparation of the Indian to assume his place 
in the Canadian body politic, your Committee recommended, on May 6 last, 
that “voting privileges for the purpose of Dominion elections be granted to 
Indians on the same status as electors in urban centres”. This is a matter which, 
in the opinion of your Committee, should be referred to a special committee on 
the Dominion Elections Act, with a view to early implementation of the 
recommendation.

It is realized that many Indians are not anxious to have or to use the 
franchise, under the misapprehension that, if they do exercise it, they will lose 
what they consider their rights and privileges.

Many Indians who do not have the right to vote at Dominion elections do 
pay taxes on income earned away from the reserve, together with sales tax, 
gasoline tax, excise tax, et cetera. This is taxation without representation.

It is the opinion of your Committee that it would encourage Indians, par­
ticularly the younger ones, to interest themselves in public affairs, if they were 
given the privilege already recommended. Your Committee is further of opinion 
that the public generally would be given a better appreciation of Indian affairs.

6. Encroachment of White Persons on Indian Reserves

Your Committee recommends that the revised Act contain provisions to 
prevent persons other than Indians from trespassing upon or frequenting Indian 
Reserves for improper purposes.

7. The Operation of Indian Schools

Your Committee recommends the revision of those sections of the Act wrhich 
pertain to education, in order to prepare Indian children to take their place as 
citizens.

Your Committee, therefore, recommends that wherever and whenever pos­
sible. Indian children should be educated in association with other children.

8. Social and Economic Status of Indians and their Advancement

Your Committee recommends that the Government consider the advisability 
of granting a pension to aged, blind, or infirm Indians. This is in addition to 
recommendations previously made with regard to the social and economic 
advancement of Indians.

9. Indian Administration in General'
In 1946 and again in 1947 the Joint Committee on the Indian Act made 

recommendations with regard to
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administrative improvements which could be effected without the revision 
of existing legislation and which, when put into effect, would remove 
some of the causes out of which arise grievances and complaints of many 
Indians.

There are still some “administrative improvements” which your Committee 
deems advisable.

Your Committee, therefore, again recommends that the administration of 
all aspects of Indian affairs be placed under one ministerial head.

Your Committee reiterates the recommendation made by the 1947 Joint 
Committee on the Indian Act, viz:

10. The Director of the Indian Affairs Branch . . . should be named 
a Commissioner who shall have the rank of a Deputy Minister and shall 
have at least two Assistant Commissioners of whom one should be a 
Canadian of Indian descent.

10. Parliamentary Inquiries

Since 1867 there have been only two parliamentary inquiries into Indian 
affairs, each of which was very narrow in scope. One, in 1930, dealt with Bill 
No. 14, which contained amendments with regard to the adoption of the elective 
system of Chiefs and Councillors; the other, in 1926, was a Joint Committee 
which inquired into the claims of the allied Indian tribes of British Columbia.

Your Committee recommends that the rules of the House of Commons be 
amended to provide ior the appointment ot a Select Standing Committee" on
Indian Affairs:------------------------- ------- -- ~ ' ~~-

' In theopinion of your Committee such a Committee will be necessary for 
a few sessions at least, to consider and report upon the working out of any 
Indian Act and regulations framed thereunder.

Your Committee considers a lapse of more than 20 years without parlia­
mentary investigation too long to permit of that good administration of a Branch 
or Department of Government which deals with such human problems as 
Indian Affairs.

11. Advisory Boards

Your Committee recommends that the Government consider the advisability 
of appointing such Advisory Boards or Committees as, from time to time, are 
deemed necessary for the carrying out of the provisions of the Indian Act,

12. Other Cognate Matters

There are certain aspects of Indian affairs administration which, perforce, 
require co-operation between Dominion and Provincial officials, to bring about 
the future economic assimilation of Indians into the body politic of Canada.

Your Committee, therefore, recommends that the Government consider the 
desirability of placing on the agenda of the next Dominion-Provincial Con­
ference, for consideration by the Provinces, the following matters:—

(a) Education ;
(b) Health and Social Services;
(c) Fur Conservation and Development and Indian traplines;
(d) Provincial Fish and Game laws;
(e) Provincial liquor legislation ;
(/) Validity of marriage solemnized by Indians, on Indian reserves, accord­

ing to tribal custom and ritual.
Your Committee realizes that the matters above enumerated arc matters 

which, normally, are dealt with under provincial legislative powers. However, 
it should be possible to arrive at such financial arrangements between the
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Dominion and Provincial governments as might bring Indians within the scope 
of such provincial legislation, in order that there be mutual and co-ordinated 
assistance to facilitate the Indians to become, in every respect, citizens proud 
of Canada and of the provinces in which they reside.

13. Appendix

The Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence taken before your Committee 
are tabled herewith.

14. Conclusion

As this is the final report of your (1948) Committee, it is now considered 
fitting and timely to express due appreciation to all those individuals and 
organizations which, by their appearance before your Committee, or by carefully 
prepared written briefs, rendered valuable help to the deliberations of your 
Committee.

Officials from several departments of Government rendered particularly 
valuable service, as did Mr. Norman E. Tickers, barrister, who acted as counsel 
for the Committee and as liaison officer for the Indians of Canada.

All of which is respectfully submitted.
W. H. TAYLOR,
DON. F. BROWN,

Joint Chairmen.
Concurrence: House of Commons, June 26, 1948.
Adoption: The Senate, June 28, 1948.
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APPENDIX HW

45-809G

Review Board:—General Executive Assistant Indian Affairs Branch, Depart­
ment of Mines and Resources, Ottawa, Ontario. Competition: 45-809.

Highest Ranking Candidate: Mr. W. J. F. Pratt, Assistant Secretary and 
Chief of Personnel. Entered Service: May 11, 1913.

Appellant:—Mr. E. P. Randle (rank 8) Superintendent, Indian Agency, 
Grade 4, Six Nations Indian Agency. Entered Service Sept. 19, 1935.

Departmental Rating Board: Mr. R. A. Hoey, Director Indian Affairs 
Branch ; Mr. C. W. Jackson, Chief Executive Assistant, Department of Mines and 
Resources.

Review Board:—Mr. J. A. Maclsaac, representing Civil Service Federation 
of Canada; Mr. R. A. Gibson, representing Department of Mines and Resources; 
Mr. H. R. McNaughton, representing Civil Service Commission of Canada.

This Review Board was convened at 2.15 p.m. on Monday, February 16, 
1948.

Mr. E. P. Randle, who had previously appealed this selection in January 
1947, stated that he was handicapped in preparing his appeal through lack of 
specific information as to the present requirements of the position but in the 
absence of this information was basing his appeal on substantially the same 
grounds as before, namely, his administration for a considerable number of years 
of the largest Indian Agency in the Dominion which, in his opinion, should give 
him knowledge of and experience in purely Indian administration not enjoyed 
by the successful candidate whose duties appeared to be of a secretarial nature. 
He also submitted his long administrative experience in the army and as an 
official of Agricultural organizations and the extensive knowledge of personnel 
acquired through the duties these positions have involved.

In accepting the ratings given in March 1945 as a basis for selection for this 
position at the present time, the Civil Service Commission did so with the under­
standing that the duties of the present position are the same as those advertised 
for the previous position and have not been changed.

From information submitted to the Review Board by the Departmental 
Representative, it is evident that there has been a material change in the duties 
contemplated for this position.

Mr. Gibson indicated that since the retirement of Mr. M. Christianson, 
the former incumbent, in 1945 there have been several changes in the organization 
of the Indian Affairs Branch and in the allocation of the work. He stated that 
it is not proposed to use the appointee in any sense as an Inspector of Agencies 
or on field work, but as an immediate Executive Assistant to the Director of the 
Branch at headquarters in order to relieve the latter of a portion of his present 
heavy load. While many decisions would necessarily be based on reports received 
from the field it would appear that there would be very little actual field work 
involved. Mr. Gibson also stated that any construction work calling for 
scientific knowledge was now dealt with by an Engineer in another Branch of the 
Department.

In the light of the changes indicated, the Review Board is of the opinion that 
the ratings awarded in 1945 on the basis of the requirements of the position at 
that time would not necessarily represent the comparative qualifications of the 
candidates for the position as at present contemplated.
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In fairness to all employees concerned, the Board accordingly recommends a 
re-rating of the candidates on the basis of the actual requirements of this posi­
tion at present so that the Review Board may pass judgment on the appeal which 
has been filed by Mr. Randle.

(Sgd). R. A. GIBSON, 
Department of Mines and Resources.

(Sgd.) J. A. MacISAAC,
Civil Service Federation of Canada.

(Sgd.) H. R. McNAUGHTON,
Civil Service Commission.

Feb. 17-48.
H. R. McNaughton,
Civil Service Commission :

Having regard to the concluding sentence of this report, the Federation feels 
that due weight has not been given to the findings of the Board of March 1946, 
and with particular reference to the observations as contained in the last para­
graph, page 5 (and continuing on page 6).

In view of the fact that new ratings are to be established on the basis of 
administrative experience, and as this is now an administrative post, one could 
scarcely anticipate a new list in the same order of precedence as the original one.

Then again, further action need not necessarily be a Randle appeal. As a 
matter of fact the Federation is hopeful that the findings of this new Rating 
Board will be entirely satisfactory to all concerned and that further action by 
this Board will be unnecessary. Should it be necessary to have the Board 
re-assemble, it will not be for the purpose of passing judgment on the appeal 
which has been filed by Mr. Randle.

The Federation also believes that further ratings should be prepared by a 
full board and not by two members only, and that applicants should be given 
the opportunity, if they so desire, to appear before such Rating Boards as is 
customary in the selection of personnel for important positions.

With these observations and tentative reservations I have signed this report.
(Sgd.) J. A. MacISAAC.
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APPENDIX HX

CONFEDERACY OF THE INTERIOR TRIBES OF BRITISH COLUMBIA
P.O. Box 639,
Steveston, B.C.
March 31, 1948.

To the Special Indian Act Committee,
House of Commons,
Ottawa, Ont.
Honourable Sir:—

I have been instructed by the Chiefs, Councillors and delegates to the 
convention of the Confederacy of the Interior Tribes of B.C. to forward you a 
copy of the Petitions and Resolutions passed yesterday, and I was definitely 
instructed to ask, that your sympathetic action be given to these important 
decisions for their immediate implementation.

These grievances have existed too long to the detriment of the Indians, and 
early action implementing the recommendations of the Indian Act Committee 
that a “Claims Commission” be appointed by the Government at the earliest 
possible moment, should be executed now.

We also ask that these Resolutions and Petition be considered by the Indian 
Act Committee, as the Interior Tribes did not have the opportunity of having 
their delegates heard by the Indian Act Committee last year.

May I hope that you will acknowledge this letter and would be pleased to 
know your decision in the matter and thanking you, I have the honour to be,

Respectfully yours,
FRANK ASSU,

President.

CONFEDERACY OF THE INTERIOR TRIBES OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

Kamloops, B.C.
At a meeting of Chiefs, Delegates and representatives of the Confederacy 

of the Interior Tribes of British Columbia, held in the Community Hall of the 
Kamloops Indian Reserve of the Kamloops Agency within the Province of 
British Columbia, March 29th and 30th, 1948, the following Resolutions were 
adopted.

WHEREAS, in the opinion of this meeting, because*of the many delays, 
misunderstandings and the invasion of our legal and hereditary rights, -through 
the inaction of our legal trustees the Government of Canada, and because many 
actions of the white people have prejudicially affected the best interests of our 
people, by the loss of our legal and aboriginal rights, the time has come, when 
we must appoint a legal adviser, who shall be our Counsel and Solicitor in all 
matters,

RESOLVED THAT we do hereby appoint Mr. Henry Castillou, K.C., of 
Vancouver, B.C., as our Adviser, Counsel and Solicitor in all matters, and in 
particular the following fundamental subjects, which are based upon our native 
rights, as the aboriginals of this country :
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1. THAT we immediately ask the Government of Canada, to forthwith dis­
continue the compulsory collection of Income Tax and that all moneys collected 
from Native Indians as Income Tax since the year 1943, be refunded to each 
one from whom it was forcibly and illegally collected, to be returned in the 
form of Government War Bonds.

2. THAT former Joint Indian Reserve Allotting Commissioners representing 
the Governments of Canada and that of the Province of British Columbia, and 
others whom we were led to believe were properly constituted officials, did allot 
(as is recorded in the Schedule of Indian Reserves of Canada, (1913)), certain 
quantities of water to be guaranteed for all time to come, for the explicit use of 
the Indians.

That an action was instituted in one of the Courts of this Province, which 
Court did render a decision giving the control of water for irrigation purposes 
to the Government of the Province of British Columbia, and,

That we do say that such decision was ultra vires because it contravened 
well established principles of British Justice, when we the said Indians, were not 
informed such a court was to be held, and because we were not represented before 
the court, whose decision took away from us the waters which had been allotted 
to us, as above.

3. THAT, in addition to our legal and hereditary rights, we also have our 
natural rights, to the above (Paragraph 2), and also to adequate grazing areas 
for our stock, without which it is not humanly possible to eke out an existence, 
which is also necessary to ourselves and heirs, so we request the allotment of 
adequate grazing areas to be allotted and guaranteed to us in a manner to be 
agreed upon.

4. THAT great tracts of land were for centuries recognized as the property 
of Indians or Indian families, upon which they alone or members of their family 
could use as a trap-line, as in many parts of the Province, trapping and hunting 
is the only means by which they can obtain a livelihood.

That we now understand the Government of the Province of British Colum­
bia did pass laws with the view of preserving these trapping areas to the people, 
who in the past had used such areas as their own particular trap-lines, but 
through the inaction of the officials of our legal trustees, and because of our 
illiteracy, and because it was not made known to us by the Indian Agents, that 
all hereditary trap-lines had to be registered, many of these hereditary trap-lines 
are now lost to us, and some were illegally expropriated from the Indians even 
after they were registered under the direction of the Indian Agent, as required 
by the Government of British Columbia, and

That denial and prohibition to the native Indians of following their vocation 
of hunting and trapping is a denial of a legal, hereditary and a natural right, 
which works a hardship upon the Indians, as they are denied a livelihood.

• That this Confederacy request Henry Castillou, K.C., to take immediate 
action, in co-operation with our representatives, to return to the Indians, their 
hereditary trap-lines, and those illegally expropriated from them, and to give 
to them those which were lost to them by the inaction of the Indian Agents of 
the Government of Canada.

5. THAT these and other fundamental requirements, including the right to 
procure fish and game for food, be guaranteed to us by statute, and not to be 
left to the discretion of any branch of the Governments or their officers for our 
benefit and our heirs to come.

That the Government and the Parliament of Canada, in their wisdom, and 
because of their knowledge that many things were wrong, and because there 
was great laxity in the administration of Indian affairs, did appoint a Joint 
Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons to inquire into the admin-
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istration of Indian affairs, and the said committee did on the 10th day of July 
last present 26 recommendations to the Parliament of Canada, all of which were 
approved by Parliament, and,

That one of the recommendations was that a “Claims Commission” shall 
be appointed to inquire into the claims of the Indians and such other matters as 
may be relevant and be brought before the said “Claims Commission”.

6. THAT we request the above fundamental requirements be brought by 
Mr. Henry Castillou, K.C., to the attention of the said “Claims Commission” 
or before any court of justice of competent jurisdiction, with the right to appeal 
from any decision to The Judicial Committee of His Majesty’s Privy Council.

We further say and proclaim, that because of the historical fact, that our 
trustees the Government of Canada, have, since the advent of the white people 
into our country, failed to properly and adequately protect our interests, and 
because some of these natural and hereditary rights have been lost to us for 
many years, we say that the cost of restoring to us these necessities, or the 
securing of adequate compensation is the responsibility of the said Government 
of Canada.

That we petition the Government of Canada to pay to Mr. Henry Castillou, 
K.C., his fees and any costs that may be incurred in the prosecution of our 
just and proper claims.

In conclusion, because of the importance of these and relative subjects, we 
hereby resolve that copies of. the above be despatched one to The Honourable the 
Prime Minister of Canada, one to the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, 
one to each Honourable Member from British Columbia of the Senate, and one to 
each Honourable Member of the House of Commons from British Columbia, one 
to each member of the Joint Indian Act Committee of Parliament now in session, 
one to the Director of the Indian Affairs Branch, and one to be presented for con­
currence to the next convention of the North American Indian Brotherhood.

Dated at the City of Kamloops, in the Province of British Columbia, this 
30th day of March, A.D., 1948.
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APPENDIX HY

CONFEDERACY OF THE INTERIOR TRIBES OF BRITISH COLUMBIA
Special Joint Committee
of the Senate and the House of Commons
on the Indian Act,
House of Commons, Ottawa.
Honourable Members of the Committee:

The representations, respectfully submitted, of the Confederacy of Interior 
Tribes of British Columbia on Indian Administration reads as follows:

Substitution of Paragraph 2, page 2004 of Minutes of Proceedings and 
Evidence No. 41 of the Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of 
Commons, Thursday, July 10, 1947.

(2) That a Commission, in the nature of a Claims Commission, be set up 
with the least possible delay to inquire into all the rights and obligations due 
the Indians, whether treaty or non-treaty Indians of Canada whether original 
Indians always resident in Canada or who were allowed to emigrate into Canada 
and settle.

To appraise and settle in a just and equitable manner and to provide 
adequate compensation for all rights and obligations taken away which cannot 
be given back and to give back the rights and obligations to all Indians, which 
can be given back to them.

First. The Treaty Indian who made an agreement with the white man.
Second. The Indian who welcomed the white and allowed him to peaceably 

penetrate in the Indian Lands.
Third. The Indian who was welcomed in the country by both Indians 

and whites and allowed to become one of us.
Substitute for Paragraph 11:

“That Indians who are qualified for any position in the administration of 
Indian affairs at any level, be given a preference for appointments to such 
positions within that administration for which they qualify or are suited.

That qualification or suitability in reference to the Indians mentioned above 
shall not be subject to Civil Service restrictions, but the qualification or suitability 
shall depend entirely on the question whether the Indian above-mentioned is 
capable of handling the position he is assigned to and a number of new positions 
for Indians may be made such as welfare and field work and housing work to 
work directly with Indians to encourage them in their efforts.”
Add at end of Paragraph 12:

“Such agent, shall be acceptable to the Indians of the agency he is sent to 
and to have a good knowledge of the customs and habits of the said agency 
that he is in charge of so that he is capable of being a real agent of the Indians.” 
Add to Paragraph 14:

“Providing the assistant is acceptable to the Indians.”
Add to Paragraph 17:

“And are acceptable to the Indians.”
I cannot impress upon you that you must have men acceptable to the 

Indians. It is a waste of time and effort to place a man in a position over 
Indians whom they have no confidence in, and having him there is just a 
detriment to Indian affairs.
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Add to Paragraph 19:
“That where Indians themselves are examined they are chosen for their 

ability to lead in the field and all Civil Service technicalities be done away with.
8. Redistribution of all Indian agencies having regard only to separate 

nations of Indians.
If one agency is too large divide into subagencies of that nation of Indians.”
Dated at the City of Vancouver in the Province of British Columbia, this 

12th day of May, A.D., 1948.
Confederacy of Interior Tribes of British Columbia

(Signed) FRANK ASSIT,
President.

10214—3



198 SPECIAL JOINT COMMITTEE

APPENDIX HZ
CONFEDERACY OF THE INTERIOR TRIBES

OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

Special Joint Committee of the Senate and
the House of Commons on the Indian Act,

House of Commons, Ottawa.
Honourable Members of the Committee:

One million dollars is needed in B.C. for housing on native reserves, for 
example. On May 9th I took pictures of homes at Deadman’s Creek, 35 miles 
west of Kamloops City. In this picture hereto attached, as it can be seen, are 
approximately 18 homes made out of logs, average size 20' x 18', with mud on 
roof, average l\" to 2' thick, must be replaced immediately. The Kamloops 
Residential School has made wonderful progress in trying to build new homes 
at Deadman’s Creek Reserve. With their own saw mill they have built and 
completed three 4-room houses, at the total cost of one thousand seven hundred 
dollars each, for the natives of Deadman’s Creek Reserve, also two 4-room 
houses in other villages. Pictures of the old houses taken the same day with mud 
on roofs instead of shingles also attached. This is hard to believe in modern 
times. I should like to indicate that during the year 1948 such conditions 
should not exist in B.C. with all its resources and timber.

At the Kamloops Reserve, just two miles from the prosperous city of 
Kamloops, there are approximately 40 houses that should be replaced within the 
immediate future, at a cost of $68,000, to alleviate deplorable and unhealthy 
unsanitary conditions. This could only be done by having this saw mill 
operated at the Kamloops Residential School with all their equipment such as 
trucks to haul lumber, which saves transportation costs when you have to haul 
thousands of feet of lumber. This particular saw mill which is now established 
is only operating in a small way and should be duplicated in other schools in 
other parts of B.C. Also a Government policy in the way of long-range 
assistance to Indians to operate commercial saw mills where feasible, and saw 
mills and fish canneries to Indians on coastal waters ; also fruit canneries in 
interior areas. A special grant for this purpose should be immediately set up 
to give various natives self-sufficiency. A special grant of one million dollars 
as a start towards a continual housing programme, which should be spread out 
over a period of years.

Dated at the City of Vancouver in the province of British Columbia, 
this 12th day of May, A.D., 1948.

Confederacy of Interior Tribes of British Columbia.
(Sgd.) FRANK ASSU,

President.
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APPENDIX IA
As members of the Graduate Student Christian Movement of the University 

of B.C. we endorse the following resolution:
BE IT RESOLVED:

1. That the officially declared objective of the Government of Canada 
should be such equalization of status between Canadians of whatever 
ancestry as will entail the disappearance of any specific Indian problem 
probably within a generation and certainly within half a century.

2. That all possible steps to that end should be taken at the earliest 
possible time, and specifically, that Indians should be relieved of all 
restrictions as to conduct, occupation, place of residence, civil rights, 
education, and equally applicable to the citizen body generally; and that 
the conferring and exercise of these and related rights be effectually 
disassociated from the economic and social sacrifices incidental to 
enfranchisement under the present Indian Act.

3. That in the case of Indians -whose health, morale and earning 
capacity have been undermined or left undeveloped under present 
conditions and public policies, the Indians concerned be classed and 
treated as unemployables of whatever ancestry ; that those classified as 
partially but not wholly self-sustaining be given such training, supervision 
and assistance, of whatever needed kind, throughout such a period as 
conditions may render necessary, and no longer ;

4. That any Indian child shall be entitled to free education in the 
public school nearest to his parents’ place of residence, or such other 
school as they may choose ; and that, where attendance at an ordinary 
public school is impossible it shall be the duty of the federal authorities 
to provide educational opportunities equal in efficiency with those available 
in provincial public schools.

5. That persons of Indian ancestry shall be eligible, on terms of 
equality, with Canadians of any other origin, to enjoy the advantage of 
any and all social services financed by public funds; it being understood 
that expense thus devolving upon municipal and provincial authorities 
shall be reimbursed by the federal authorities.

6. That subject to the possible wisdom of providing, during the period 
of transition, for special Indian representation in the parliament of 
Canada, in accordance with practice in the case of the Maoris of New 
Zealand, all Indians shall be entitled to enrolment on the voters’ list of 
the constituency within which they may severally reside.

7. That the Government of Canada should announce a definite time 
for the attainment of the objectives of this Dominion relative to its native 
peoples and that, in the meantime, progress reports should be issued at 
specified periods.

Signed Resolutions received from:
Joe Francis, 40 College St., Toronto.
Mr. and Mrs. James T. Melvin, Capilano, P.O., B.C.
J. Hundal, 40 College St., Toronto, Ont.
Robt. J. D. Morris, 12 East 39th Ave., Vancouver, B.C. 
A. T. Peachey, 2192, West 11th Ave., Vancouver, B.C.
R. B. McLellan, Copper Mountain, B.C.
Mildred MacLeod, R.R. 2, Nanaimo, B.C.
Alistair MacLeod, R.R. 2, Nanaimo, B.C.
Teja Hundal, 3716 West 11th Ave., Vancouver, B.C.

10214—3i
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APPENDIX IB
“love and help thy brother”

UNION OF SASKATCHEWAN INDIANS
Box 91, Leask, Saskatchewan,

April 15, 1948.
Mr. D. F. Brown, Chairman,
Special Joint Committee—Indian Act 
House of Commons,
Ottawa, Ontario.
Dear Sir:

On behalf of the Indians of Saskatchewan, I am forwarding to vour 
Committee for your consideration and action a copy of resolutions drawn up 
and approved by thirty delegates representing the various Indian points in 
this province.

We hope your Committee will give these enclosed resolutions immediate 
action where possible.

All of which is respectfully submitted.
Yours sincerely,

GLADYS DREAVER,
Secretary-Treasurer.

Enel. 1.

RESOLUTIONS CARRIED 

I. Education

(1) Whereas, the Treaty Indians, members of John Ballantyne Band, of 
Deschambault Lake and Pelican Narrows Band, represent bona fide locals of 
the Union of Saskatchewan Indians, and

Whereas, we reaffirm the representations made by the Union in May, 1947, 
with regard to Education and Schools, and

Whereas, we have forty-six (46) children, twenty-nine (29) of whom are of 
school age at Deschambault Lake and a greater number at Pelican Narrows, 
all of whom reside with their parents at permanent places of residence known as 
Deschambault Lake and Pelican Narrows.

Be it therefore resolved, that we petition the Indian Affairs Branch, 
requesting that a Day School with teachers be established at places hereinbefore 
mentioned at the earliest possible time.

(2) Be it resolved, that we reaffirm our representations on education con­
tained in the Union brief of May, 1947, that is: all that portion contained on 
pages eleven to twenty-two, inclusive, and we also reaffirm our representations 
for the need of Day Schools, particularly in the Northern section of the Province, 
contained on page seventy of the May, 1947, brief.

(3) Whereas, the Union of Saskatchewan Indians has made representations 
to the Indian Affairs Branch with regard to education, and

Whereas, the need for education for Indians is such that early and imme­
diate implementation of educational facilities is of paramount importance, and
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Whereas, in the fourth report of the Special Joint Committee of the Senate 
and the House of Commons to both Houses of Parliament, at the conclusion of 
the 1947 sittings, it is recommended, among other things, “8. That the whole 
matter of education of Indians be left over for further consideration.”

Be it resolved, that we urge in the strongest terms possible that immediate 
implementation be affected of our representation for the Indians1, particularly 
for the Indians of Northern Saskatchewan.

(4) Section 15, of the May, 1947 brief. Be it resolved that Section 15 of 
the Union Brief of May, 1947, be amended by deleting all that portion beginning 
on the tenth line thereof.

II. Hospitalization (Northern Saskatchewan)
Whereas, the nearest accessible Medical Doctor and Hospital to Treaty 

Indian Bands, members of the Indian Reserves 184, 184A, 184B, 184C, 184D, 
and 184E reside at Flin Flon, Manitoba, and

Whereas, a great majority of our Indian brethren reside in and around the 
settlement known as Pelican Narrows, Deschambault Lake, and Jons Lake, and

Whereas, it is not always possible in cases of sickness for patients to be 
transported to Flin Flon for attention.

Be it resolved, that we petition the Indian Affairs Branch, requesting that 
a hospital be built at Pelican Narrows to serve the needs of Treaty Indians at 
the above mentioned places;

(2) Be it further resolved, that we reaffirm our representations of May, 
1947 that all medical, hospital, and public health services should be made 
available to every Treaty Indian by the Dominion Government without any 
charge whatsoever.

III. Natural Resources

(1) Royalties
Whereas, Treaty Indians have been required to make payment of Royalties 

upon Winter Furs, and
Whereas, The Treaty Indians of this Union, maintain that such payment 

of fees by Treaty Indians is contrary to their articles of Treaty,
Be it resolved, that we petition the Indian Affairs Branch, requesting that 

it either have this practice discontinued, or that it assume and pay all Royalty 
Fees on all furs caught by Treaty Indians.

(2) Indian Forest Estates
Whereas, Forest Estates upon Indian Reserves, are being depleted, and
Whereas, under Sub-section 3, of Section 93, of the Indian Act, the Superin­

tendent General may lease any part of Indian Reserve Land,
Be it therefore resolved, that we petition the Indian Affairs Branch to 

inaugurate a system of forest conservation by a more efficient method of 
operations, and

Let it be further resolved, that instead of surrendering our timber to tenders 
as presently in effect, that a system of contract by mutual agreement as between 
the Indians and timber operators be effected whereby the Indians may own the 
lumber instead of the lumber operator, thus assuring to the Indians a greater 
cash return than they are presently receiving.

(3) Permits and Fees
Whereas, Treaty Indians are subject to certain fees known as lease permits 

for purpose of building cabins on their trap lines, and
Whereas, the payment of these fees is regarded by the Treaty Indians as an 

abrogation of their Treaty rights,
10214—4
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Be it therefore resolved, that we petition the Indian Affairs Branch, request­
ing that Treaty Indians be not compelled to pay the fee for such leases and other 
relevant permits on Natural Resources obtained either on, or off the Reserves.

(4) Destruction Natural Resources. The following resolution was submitted 
by delegates from Northern Saskatchewan:

Whereas, as a result of the development of electric power facilities, located 
at Island Falls in Northern Saskatchewan, necessitating the periodic release of 
water from the power dam, which water has had the effect of destroying such 
natural resources as muskrat marshes and beaver colonies, and

Whereas, such destruction of natural resources has resulted in a reduction 
of the earning capacity of Treaty Indians resident along the sinuosities of the 
water course, and

Whereas, Treaty Indians, residing as above mentioned have not been 
compensated in any manner whatsoever for such loss of natural resources,

Be it therefore resolved, that we petition the Indian Affairs Branch to 
appoint a Commission to study the extent and nature of the destruction of these 
natural resources with a view that some cash compensation be accorded the 
Treaty Indians involved for the loss of these natural resources.

IV. Employment of Indians.
(1) Whereas, it has been brought to the knowledge of the Union of Saskat­

chewan Indians that a treaty Indian, named Eli Wuttanee, after being recom­
mended by a medical doctor, Dr. Kirby, has been refused employment at the 
new Indian Hospital at North Battleford, Saskatchewan, and

Whereas, the fourth report of the Senate and the House of Commons by 
the Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons appointed 
to “continue and complete the examination and consideration of the Indian Act”, 
reads as follows:

11. “That Indians who are qualified for any position in the admini­
stration of Indian Affairs at any level, be given a preference for appoint­
ment to such positions within that administration for which they qualify 
or are suited.”

Be it therefore resolved, that mere lip-service will not implement the con­
ditions of the said recommendations, and that the Indian Affairs Branch be 
insistent upon the carrying out of this recommendation.

V. P.F.A.A.
Whereas, the Union of Saskatchewan Indians in its May, 1947 brief made 

certain representations with regard to benefits under the Prairie Farm Assist­
ance Act, and

Whereas, the Treaty Indian farmers have not as yet been brought within the 
terms and provisions of this Act, and

Whereas, since the submission of the representations referred to a con­
siderable number of Treaty Indians pursuing the vocation of agriculture have 
suffered crop failure due to drought conditions,

Be it therefore resolved, that immediate or early amendments be made to 
this Act to include the Treaty Indian Farmers, and

Be it further resolved, that a separate representation be made to the proper 
authorities urging immediate action upon this very important subject.

VI. Indian Representation.
(1) Whereas, the Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of 

Commons appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act are entering into 
the third year, and

Whereas, it is indicated that matters appertaining to a proposed revision of 
the Indian Act will be considered by the said Committee during this year, and
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Whereas, the Union of Saskatchewan Indians maintain that there should 
be Indian representation in the drafting of this Indian Act;

Be it therefore resolved, and we do hereby petition the Indian Affairs 
Branch that Indian representation be placed upon the said committee; and

Be it further resolved, that independent legal counsel be provided the Indian 
representatives by the Dominion Government at no cost to themselves.

VII. Non-Treaty Sioux Indians of Saskatchewan.
Whereas, there is in the Province of Saskatchewan a considerable number 

of Sioux Indians (Non-Treaty), and
Whereas, there are certain anomalies in the status of these people in that 

when a male Sioux Indian marries a Treaty Indian woman, the said woman 
assumes the status of a Sioux non-treaty Indian;

Therefore be it resolved, that we petition the Indian Affairs Branch that 
it give special consideration to Sioux Indians in order that they may enjoy full 
rights and privileges of a full-treaty Indian.

Resolutions submitted and passed at meeting October 7, 1947, between the 
Indian Affairs Branch, the Department of Natural Resources and 
Officials of the Fish Board, have also been endorsed by the Union 
of Sask. Indians. Resolutions are as follows:

(22) We recommend that a joint Northern Development Programme be 
embarked upon by the Federal and Provincial Government with respect to the 
development of the North as a means of making the residents self sustaining and 
that a Northern Development Programme be established on a 60-40 basis, similar 
to the Fur Programme.

(23) In view of the fact that commercial fishing is one of the mainstays in 
supporting the livelihood of the Treaty Indians and the Metis population in the 
North, as well as that of the whites, and as it is also a fact that a reasonable 
standard of living cannot be maintained at present high prices of goods and 
comparatively low prices of fish, we recommend that, in place of a work and 
wages programme, the Federal and Provincial Governments replace relief by 
payment of a subsidy on all fish produced in these Northern areas.

(24) We recommend that the Department of Natural Resources officials 
be permitted to issue Social Welfare to sick or destitute Indians or Metis where 
none other appointed for this purpose is resident in that area, and that such 
issuances be under the authority of the Federal Government in the case of 
Treaty Indians and under the authority of the Provincial Government in the 
case of the Metis.

(25) We recommend that an Educational Programme be drawn up to teach 
the Natives the proper use and care of their equipment and the proper handling 
of the product to ensure the highest possible return to the people and the lowest 
possible waste.

(26) We recommend that the administration of any joint agreement between 
the Provincial and Federal Government be carried on in a manner to avoid 
over-lapping and duplication.

(27) Whereas, in the past advances have been made to Northern natives 
only on the basis of making profits by exploitation of the natives, and

Whereas, the advancing agency has not been in the position of putting into 
effect any conservation or development Programme in the North,

We hereby recommend that the Government Agencies be called upon to take 
some definite part and action in regard to advances made to natives of the North.

(28) Whereas, we believe in a policy of supplying employment in develop­
ment of our Natural Resources such as much better than administering social 
aid to natives of the Northern Areas, we recommend that the Federal Govern­
ment should shoulder their rightful responsibility in assisting the Provincial 
Government in making advances to fishermen and trappers.
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(29) It should be drawn to the attention of the Federal and Provincial 
Governments, the urgency of the present situation in regard to financing, grub­
staking fishermen and trappers, and supplying them with equipment in order 
that they may have a livelihood this winter, and so, not become a Social Aid 
problem.

(30) Realizing the crying and urgent need for educational facilities for 
all the children in the North, with particular reference to Treaty Indians, and 
further that the building programme would provide a much needed works 
programme as well as providing practical adult education, be it resolved that 
the governments concerned be requested to reach an early agreement if not an 
immediate, agreement to provide the facilities and programme mentioned.
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APPENDIX IC

B.C. INDIAN ARTS & WELFARE SOCIETY 
Victoria, B.C.

CANADA

Miss Alice Ravenhill 
Founder

President Emeritus

His Honour the Lieut.-Governor 
Of British Columbia 
Charles A. Banks 

Mrs. Banks 
Patrons

Mrs. A. J. Tullis 
President

1513 Laurel Lane. 
Victoria, B.C., 
May 10, 1948.

The Secretary,
Committee on the Revision of the Indian Act,
Parliament Buildings,
Ottawa, Ont.
Dear Sir:—I enclose a list of recommendations proposed by our Society, following 
the conference on Native Indian Affairs, held in the University of British 
Columbia on April 1, 2 and 3.

The report and recommendations, when printed, will be sent to members 
of your committee but in the meantime we felt that you should have an advance 
copy of the recommendations.

Sincerely yours,
ELLEN HART,

Corresponding Secretary.

recommendations

A. Arts and Crafts.
1. Marketing of Handicrafts.—In view of the fact that the B.C. Indian 

Arts and Welfare Society has for a considerable period of time carried out 
a sustained experiment in the marketing of Indian Arts and Crafts, we 
recommend that the Society prepare an evaluation of the experiment with 
suggestions as to the possibilities for future development and expansion, 
and that these suggestions be submitted to the Indian Affairs Branch, Ottawa.

2. Sale of Crafts in National Parks.—We recommend that the Depart­
ment of Mines and Resources be approached with the view of securing its 
co-operation in the fostering of plans to market Native Indian Arts and 
Crafts through the National Park Service of Canada.

B. Health and Welfare.
1. Tuberculosis.—From evidence presented by the medical officials of 

the Indian Affairs Branch, we are convinced that real progress is being 
made in the fight against this disease. We are impressed with the light 
quality of institutional treatment now available in several hospitals. How­
ever, we recommend that the Indian Affairs Branch give increased attention 
to preventive treatment on the reserves, and to Health Education.
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2. (a) Housing: Water Supply.
Evidence has been presented to the Joint Committee of the Senate and 

the House of Commons investigating the Indian Act regarding the acute 
need for improved housing and water supply on the reserves. We recom­
mend that every effort be made by the Department of Mines and Resources 
to remedy these conditions as soon as possible, and that plans for improve­
ment be formulated jointly with native representatives in each area.
(b) Housing at Canneries.

At a number of canneries where Indian workers are employed, new 
housing units have been constructed in recent years. At others, replace­
ments are urgently needed.

Much improvement has been due to the work of the Provincial Depart­
ment of Health, which is now taking an active interest in cannery sanitation.

We recommend that in every cannery a Camp Council of Native 
leaders be chosen to make and enforce rules for the use of facilities provided.
3. Old Age Pensions.

Social Assistance for Unemployables.
Old and unemployable persons among the native people should receive 

the same benefits as white persons.
We recommend that the Federal Government confer with provincial 

authorities with the object of working out a scheme for providing such 
benefits.

The wellbeing of the Indian should not be sacrificed because of divided 
authority in administration.
4. Indian Trust Funds.

We recommend that a complete resurvey of the administration of Trust 
Funds be instituted, with a view to determining the most efficient use of 
these funds for the general improvement of the conditions of life among 
the Indians, and that pertinent information be made available to tribal 
bands.
5. Nursing and Social Service Field Work.

We recommend that immediate efforts be made to increase the number 
of field workers in general nursing and social service work. In this con­
nection we advocate an extension of the system now in force in certain 
parts of the province, whereby the nursing services are provided by the
B. C. Department of Health and Welfare and paid for by the Dominion 
Government.
C. Education.

1. School Facilities.—At the present time school facilities in many 
districts are inadequate, but our Society believes that the Indian Affairs 
Branch is now making a real effort to meet the situation. New schools 
and teacherages are being built, teachers’ salaries have been increased and 
day school teachers are now included in a teachers’ pension scheme. We 
recommend that efforts along these lines be continued, and that particular 
stress be laid on improving the qualifications of the teachers.

We endorse the avowed policy of the Indian Affairs Branch in placing 
the emphasis on the construction of Day Schools rather than Residential 
Schools, which will only be built where the operation of a day school is not 
practical.

2. Course of Study.—We recommend that the Course of Study continue 
to follow closely that of the Provincial Department of Education, but that 
the Native Culture and Tradition be woven into the teaching of such 
subjects as drawing, literature, and Social Studies.
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The Indian School Bulletin now issued by the Indian Affairs Branch 
provides an excellent medium for extending information to teachers on native 
cultures.

3. School Attendance.—(a) Residential Schools: We assume as a basic 
premise that every Indian child should have the opportunity of attending 
school for the full number of hours per school year, and we are pleased to 
learn that the Indian Affairs Branch is striving to lengthen classroom 
instruction in Residential schools to 5 hours per day. We feel that satis­
factory results can only be obtained if the hours at which the resident 
children are kept at school maintenance tasks are reduced to a minimum. 
The aim should be to provide the amount of work which will best contribute 
to the pupil’s education and physical development, (b) Day Schools: 
Parents of children who attend Day Schools must realize the importance of 
regular school attendance and be ready to make sacrifices to keep their 
children in school.

We recommend that the Native Brotherhood and the North American 
Brotherhood carry on an educational campaign to create a deeper con­
sciousness among native people of the need of regular school attendance.

4. Indian Children in “White” Schools.—We recommend the continu­
ance of the system of sending Indian children to “white” schools. Unfor­
tunately there is still a prejudice among some school boards in regard to 
the admission of Indian children to “white” schools. This Society is pre­
pared to assist in a campaign to fight this prejudice. We wish to point out 
that the exclusion of Indians from these schools perpetuates the very 
conditions of which the school boards complain. We are asking the B.C. 
Indian Affairs Branch to keep us regularly informed regarding any special 
difficulties in the placement of High School pupils.

5. School Lunches.—Cases have been brought to our attention where 
children do not receive sufficient suitable food at home, to be in physical 
shape to benefit from their education. It is recommended that provision 
be made for serving at least a nourishing hot drink at noon. The amount 
of money now provided by the Indian Affairs Branch is not considered 
sufficient to provide a nourishing drink every day.

6. Teaching of English.—We recommend that measures be taken to 
teach all Indian children the English language before they come to school. 
Nursery schools would be the ideal solution of the problem but other helpful 
means could be worked out in many villages to prepare little children for 
English instruction in school.

7. Summer Courses.—We recommend that courses in the history and 
culture of the B.C. Indians be made available at regular intervals, preferably 
at Summer Schools, so that Indian Affairs Branch personnel, teachers in 
Indian Schools, etc. will have the opportunity of informing themselves upon 
these matters.

8. Teachers’ Convention.—We recommend that a yearly Convention of 
Teachers in Indian Schools be instituted, for the mutual exchange of ideas, 
instruction and discussion of Indian school problems.

9. Youth Training School.—We recommend that an arrangement be 
made between the Indian Affairs Branch and the Department of Extension 
of the University of British Columbia for the holding of a regular Youth 
Training School for Native young people, providing brief courses of training 
in such subjects as leadership, health, home-making, elementary mechanics, 
handicrafts, etc. This would be an intermediate stage, the ultimate goal to 
be attendance at the regular “white” conferences.

10. References to Indians in Textbooks.—We recommend that those 
responsible for preparing readers and textbooks in Social Studies for 
Canadian school children should take pains to give a fair picture of past 
historical events regarding the Indians and present more material on their 
culture and achievements.
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D. Training of Teachers, Welfare Workers, Nurses, etc.
1. Employment of Natives.—In view of the shortage of staff in the 

welfare educational and administrative services which deal with the native 
Canadian, we press for the immediate employment of Indians in these 
services.

2. Training Opportunities.—Publicly supported institutions such as 
hospitals should accept Indian applicants for training in nursing, etc. and, 
as the need is so great for trained personnel in these fields, should even 
make concessions to encourage Indian young people to enter these fields.

3. Nurses and Welfare Aids.—To meet immediate needs, one or two year 
courses for Nurses’ Aids, Social Welfare Aids, Aids in Nutrition and other 
allied fields should be instituted and given at the educational level for 
which applicants may be found.

E. Standing Committee on Native Indian Affairs.
We commend the manner in which hearings have been held and evidence 

received by the Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons 
investigating the Indian Act. We recommend that a Standing Committee 
on Indian Affairs be set up, to continue this work on a permanent basis.
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APPENDIX ID

Mohawk Nation,
St. Regis Reserve,
May 11, 1948.

Joint Committee to Investigate the Indian Act,
Parliamentary Building,
Ottawa, Ontario.

Gentlemen:-—We, the Chiefs of the Mohawk Nation who swear allegiance to 
the Six Nations Confederacy, as the only true government for our people, having 
assembled in council, have decided to call the attention of the Joint Committee 
to Study the Indian Act to the following facts.

The white man found a race occupying, owning and functioning under a 
most democratic form of government, when he arrived on this northern section 
of the North American continent. The French called the aborigines the Iroquois. 
The Dutch designated them as Maquaas, while the English called them the Five 
Nations, later the Six Nations. Each nation controlled and operated its own 
local tribal affairs—somewhat similar to your own provincial governments. 
However, matters of war or sales of land were determined by a central govern­
ment. They held the soil of their ancestors by allodial title, higher than fee 
simple, for they owned, occupied and functioned under their own form of govern­
ment from time immemorial, paying tax or tribute to no other government. 
The British Crown recognized the Indians’ right to the soil when, in the Royal 
Proclamation of 1763 act of October 7, it directed that Indian tribes remain 
undisturbed.

Many treaties have been made with Indian tribes. By definition, treaties 
are made between sovereign nations. The British and Canadian governments 
have repeatedly recognized the sovereignty of the Six Nations, not only by 
becoming parties to the treaties, but by instigating them in most cases.

Considering these facts:
(1) We occupy our territory, not by your grace, but by a right beyond your 

control.
(2) We hold original title.
(3) We have never voluntarily submitted to the domination of the Cana­

dian government, and have never been conquered by it in a just war.
(41 According to International Law, no nation can legislate over another 

without first acquiring title to the land.
(5) Canada considers itself a democratic country. The basis of democracy 

is the rule of the people governed by the law. We submit that we, the people 
of the Mohawk Nation can find no bona-fide evidence that we had a voice in 
preparing the original Indian Act or in its revision. Since we reject the premise 
that the Canadian Parliament can make laws over us, it is only justice that 
said Parliament should denote the legal basis for enforcing its laws on the 
reserves.

(6) The burden of proof must be borne by you, for we wish to hold to the 
status quo which was established in the first encounter of red man with white.

Can you disturb this status? If so, you must expect that a decent respect 
for the opinions of mankind demands that you set forth the reasons that impel 
you to such disturbance of our status.

Let us now set forth the basic tenets by which we live as a political body.

10214—5
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We arc members of the Six Nations Confederacy. To the government of 
the Six Nations we owe allegiance and to no other. We are prevented from 
submitting to the domination of Canadian laws by our constitution which 
translates in part: “Now we stand in a circle with our hands joined. If any 
man or any nation shall submit to the laws made by other people, they are no 
longer in but out of the confederacy, and shall be called ‘they have alienated 
themselves’. Be strong so that if a tree fall on our arms, it will not separate 
us”. This part of our own Constitution would prevent us from recognizing any 
laws that may be passed by the Canadian Parliament, as to the internal affairs 
of our Indian people on our reserved lands.

As to the interference in our affairs from outside sources occurring at the 
present time, we list these as only a small portion of the total number of 
our grievances.

(1) Fishing and hunting privileges were maintained as inherent rights, on 
our reservations, at least we were safe from licences and game seasons. Now 
we are to be disturbed in one of our traditional activities if the proposal of the 
local Indian Agent goes through. If we allow these interferences to continue, 
there will be more and more interference confronting us. Precedent will follow 
precedent and our autonomy will be destroyed eventually.

(2) The province of Ontario is assuming jurisdiction beyond its right in 
requiring licences to be taken out for our motor driven boats in reservation waters. 
We hereby protest that the St. Lawrence River runs through the St. Regis 
Reserve in this vicinity, and that unless and until the Province of Ontario can 
prove undisputed title to both banks of the river at the point in question, we of 
the St. Regis Band will claim a certain amount of voice in the regulation of river 
craft. The licensing of river craft constitutes an unwarranted and unwanted 
interference in the interal affairs of our reserve.

(3) Under consideration by the Canadian and American governments is 
the St. Lawrence Power Development Project, and Deep Waterway. We submit 
that all plans for such project call for the use of certain lands and islands in the 
possession of Indians. The use of the river through the reservation has been 
on the basis of certain agreements and franchises which have to do only with the 
present setup. In all justice any change in the waterway project must involve 
new contracts, title searches, and extinguishment of fee. We are prepared to 
state that any attempt to work injustice upon our people in the form of legisla­
tion without representation (the revised Indian Act), will result in a people less 
disposed toward co-operation, and co-operation is desirable in this era of world 
crises, when the grievances of small nations and minority races are aired in 
world conference and Canada can not afford to give other nations opportunity 
to accuse it of fostering persecution and invasion of rights.

We have already objected, in writing and submitted to the Joint Committee, 
to the high-handed action of the Indian agent of our reserve who seeks to 
appropriate land through questionable methods for what ostensibly is a project 
in the public interest. We hold this truth to be self evident, that the soil of our 
ancestors is the property not only of the present generation but also of the 
“children yet unborn”. We must deliberate to the best of our ability in the 
administration of the lands we have left. We must be jealous of our inherent 
right to deal with our property and not be overruled by the white man agent 
who must needs care less about justice and more about results.

We believe that the bulk of our grievances can be traced to the undemocratic 
procedures possible under the Indian Act as it stands today. Since we have 
our own government and have no wish to be bound by the Indian Act, we as a 
majority do not take part in the election of our “Indian Act Councillors”. 
Through inquiry among our people and testimony given in open council, we have 
gained this information, which we believe to be substantially correct.
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Joe King, councillor, was elected by two votes, Mitchell Jacobs and 
Richard Cook.

John Debo, Councillor, elected by one vote, Andrew Benedict.
Paul Caldwell, councillor elected by two votes, Mitchell and Richard 

Seymore, at the Caldwell home.
Clifford White, chief councillor, by one vote, John Peters, at the home 

of John Peters.
In contrast, we refer you to the Constitution of the Six Nations. This 

Constitution (originally of the Five Nations) has been praised by many of the 
statesmen of the world as a remarkable instrument of true democracy. Legal 
historians state that our government has served as a pattern for all of the great 
democracies of the modern world. There is provision for woman suffrage, and a 
means whereby the voice of any member of the tribe can be heard on an equal 
footing with that of any chief. We have these nine Six Nations Chiefs:

1. Turtle Clan.—Tekarihoken, Aionwhatha, Satekariwate.
Under Tekarihoken is a war chief named “Aionwaehs” who acts as 

messenger and also speaks in council in behalf of the general public.
2. Wolf Clan.—Sarenhowane, Teionhekwen, Orenhrekowa.
3. Bear Clan.—Tehonakarine, Astawenserenta, Soskoharowane.

Each chief is nominated by a Clan Mother. Actual appointment must 
be with the unanimous approval of the clan that the chief represents. 
Impeachment is done at the order of the Clan Mother and executed by the 
War Chief.

We have hereby made the above representation with what small ability and 
what few resources were at our disposal. We trust that the Joint Committee 
will see the justice of a generous attitude on their part toward a people who have 
only the wish to remain as they are in this modern world when justice and 
human dignity has been found to be infinitely more important than material 
progress. We have hold and still hold to the illustration made by that faithful 
servant of the King, Sir William Johnson, when our forefathers and he pledged 
a friendship that would last forever: we firmly clasp our hands. Then we bind 
about our arm a golden chain of friendship. We wfill forever keep this golden 
chain bright and free from rust. We are hopeful that the end of the chain 
nearest you will be given the same care.

Respectfully submitted,
PETER MITCHELL,

Chief, Turtle Clan, Tekarihoken.
DOMINIC COOK, Turtle Clan.
MOSES THOMPSON, Bear Clan.
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APPENDIX IE

GOVERNMENT OF THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
Department of Education

A resolution passed at a ratepayers meeting in Hobbema School on Wednes­
day, January 21, 1948.

Moved by E. Martin and seconded by F. J. Bowman, and carried:—
That the following statement and request be forwarded to officials of the 

Federal and Provincial Governments for their decision:—
Besides the half-breeds living outside of the Indian Reserves, there are 

other half-breeds living on the Reserves and these are either adopted by Indians, 
or came 'there by marriage of one parent to an Indian, generally a widow with 
children being married to an Indian man.

The problem is—Who is responsible for the education of these half-breed 
children living on the reserves, and what provision has been made or will be made 
for their education?

The opinion of the meeting was that the Federal government should look 
after these mixed breeds living on the Reserves and the other half-breeds are 
the charge of the Provincial authorities. It is not just a local problem, but has 
extensive proportions in the province.

The request is, that this problem be decided and the decision be reported 
to any school board or school authorities that would be affected thereby.

Submitted by,
A. J. LAW,

Secretary of the meeting.
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APPENDIX IF

The following briefs are spoken in Carrier Indian language and translated 
and written out in English by Chief Jimmy J. Antoine. The whole brief was 
discussed and selected by:—.

Chief Maxime George, Fort Fraser, B.C.
Chief Jimmy J. Antoine, Vanderhoof, B.C.
Councillor Frank Antoine, Vanderhoof, B.C., and,
Councillor Adanas Alexis, Vanderhoof, B.C., for all the Carrier Indians

of Central and Northern British Columbia.
The habits and condition of living for Central British Columbia are mostly 

hunting, trapping, fishing and mixed farming:
But since the outbreak of war many of our boys joined the armed forces, 

and others went after exciting high wages, on military projects and timbering 
for war purposes.

And now the veterans and war workers came back on the Reserves, and 
found out that they are set back far as five years. Rehabilitation is certainly 
needed on these Carrier Indian Reserves.

For many year, many Indians know many places where there is good looking 
ore and ground of different nature. But since the Indians have been ill-treated 
and cheated, they are afraid to show them out. Nowadays, most of these Indians 
are logging, and they will be back home for spring time, to put in their four 
to ten acres of oats.

And in fall time they will be all out hunting and fishing, for dry meat and 
drying fish, and they go on back to work again.

We have one Residential School called Lejac, near Fraser Lake. It’s about 
twenty-six years old. That means no civilization before that time for the 
Indians. We have had experience of the Residential School at Lejac. That it’s 
one of the best and most up to date, perfect in everything. Clean, good clothes, 
lots to eat. But on the other hand the examples from some boys and girls 
are terrible. We know some of these boys tell their story, but they got away with 
lots of things. Some get away with a whole sack of peanuts, some whole block of 
cheese, some box of apples. They can enter in any store room with their own 
made keys, taken sample on piece of paper, every chance they get.

And when they quit school at sixteen with grade four or five they do not 
want to live with their parents, because their parents are poor and ignorant. 
So they go out to the city and town, and what next. They simply go crazy, and 
maybe drunkards, and make fools of themselves. And when they find out that 
they have not enough education through difficulty of securing a job, from town 
to town, they go home to their poor parents, and bring back with them only 
disgrace, including bedbugs, venereal disease, and sometimes pale face babies. 
So we believe that day-school is the best method for educating the Carrier 
Indian children. No matter how poor the parents might be, they raise their 
children in honesty, and the children go through many hardship with their 
parents, and when grown up they get wise to hardship.

The Northern remote Bands, as Fort Ware, Fort Grahame, Bear Lake and 
Takla Lake, the Indians from those points have no homes nor doctor nor educa­
tion facilities. They live on fishing, hunting and trapping. Their country is a 
good mining country.

The Southern part of Carrier tribe are also far off civilization. They also 
fish, trap and hunt. This country is a good grazing country. Some have cattle 
and horses. Some work for white cattle ranchers.
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Representation.
1. That the Indians be granted representation in the House of Commons.
2. That a British Columbia Indian representative be elected in the provincial 

election.
3. One delegate from every Indian Agency as a Tribal representative. 

Supervision.
1. The Tribal representative should also be a supervisor knowing both 

languages—Indian and English.
Chief and Councillors.

1. The election of such Band for Chief and Councillors should be at most, 
every three years.

2. Right from the top rank of Indian Affairs down to the Indian Agent, 
they all are government officials, and are paid generous allowances by the Depart­
ment. We do not see why the Indian Chiefs and Councillors are not counted 
as members of Indian Affairs, when all services and materials comes from 
them, or ends with them, responsibilities and difficulties, without any income.
Mining.

1. Since the Indians are not in position in education and in finance to operate 
a mine, we think our only protection against losing the discovery of such ore 
or placer, the government should supply the uneducated and trustworthy Indians 
with grub-stake and tools to prospect. If any discovery of such mine, the 
government should take over and employ the Indians, and pay percentage to the 
discoverer as partnership.

2. Education about minerals and mines should be taken into consideration 
for young intelligent Indians.
Industries.

There are industries on Indian Reserves such as farming, fur-farming, 
brick-yards and saw-mills. Loans of finances should be made available for 
establishments of self supporting Indians.
Trapping, Fishing and Hunting:

1. Traplines should be restored to the Indians by all means for the Central 
B.C. The Indians should use all the wild meat and fish any time for their 
own use.
Voting.

1. The Indians should be given the privilege of voting at Provincial elec­
tions without losing their possessions.
Education.

1. Establishment of non-dcnominational day-schools on Reserves. Reten­
tion of Residential Schools only for the care and education of the underprivileged 
and children from remote Bands, where day-schools are impracticable.

2. Establishment of vocational training centres so that our boys and girls 
after leaving school may learn useful trades and occupations, and high-school 
facilities be made available for those who qualify for higher education.

3. Catholic Missionaries are most wanted men by the Carrier Indian 
Catholics for their Spiritual affairs, but we believe that in education, religious 
affairs should be separate from the schools.

4. Qualified teachers should be approved by Provincial School Inspector.
Medical Services.

1. We request that a Sanatorium for treatment of tuberculosis and other 
communicable diseases be established at a central point within the Stuart Lake
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Agency, and also a full time Doctor, qualified Public Health Nurse, and travelling 
Dental and Eye Clinics for regular visits to Reserves; distant from Doctor, a 
Dispensary should be provided.
Housing.

1. A supervisor should convince the Indians about better housing, which 
will lead to modern homes.

2. There should be an economical system of obtaining all housing materials 
with Government aid.

3. Overcrowding should be prevented.
4. Assistance in building should be provided, as head Carpenters.
5. Water supply should be made available at certain locations on Indian 

Reserves.
Agriculture.

1. Purchase of additional farm lands, particularly natural hay lands for 
stock raising, purposes for those who are agriculturally minded, and trying to 
obtain a living out of soil. Vegetable and fruit gardens should be encouraged.
Enfranchisements.

1. The Carrier Indians are not prepared either by civilization or by educa­
tion for enfranchisement. But on the other hand the Indians pay all tax, as 
stumpage and royalty, real estate and school tax. The Indians should vote 
without enfranchisement.

2. Enfranchisement of Indians should be voluntary at one’s own wish. 
Intermarriage.

1. Intermarriage of Native Indian women with White persons should be 
prevented, because their children are only a nuisance to both Indians and 
Whites in Schools and Churches.
Welfare, Relief and Old Age Pensions.

1. Whereas, the relief rations issued to the aged and incapacitated are totally 
inadequate, we ask old age pensions for every Indian 60 years and over be paid 
at the same rate as to the Whites, and the relief rations for the sick and 
incapacitated be increased sufficiently to provide adequate necessities of life.
Indian Act—“Liquor Traffic”.

1. That all sections of the Indian Act pertaining to intoxicants be abolished, 
and that the Indians be granted the privileges and be governed by the same laws 
and regulations as the Whites in this respect. Beer for beverage and for 
consumption should be sold on Indian Reserves on a similar time schedule as 
for Armed Forces between work hours.

Traplines.
1. Preservation of Beaver and Muskrats should be encouraged at certain 

points where Beaver and Muskrats are now trapped out.
Police.

1. We recommend that for control of Indians on Reserves, there should be 
Native Police employed by Provincial or Dominion Police Departments.

2. The Indians have been paying fines, unjustly.
3. The Native Police does not need education as long as he is an able 

bodied man.
Proving above mentioned, that one Indian man of Prince George has as 

an assistant as follows:—Mr. Parson, Inspector-Sgt. Walker; Tom Vandyke; 
Sgt. Clark ; Det. McBrain; Dave Anderson ; Provincial Game Warden, George 
Sole. Were all satisfied with their services, when they didn’t know even
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A, B, C. All have been acting as Special Police searching and trailing for about 
twenty years.

4. There also should be Game Warden and Forestry Service. Since the 
Indian pays Income Tax, Fur Tax, Royalty and Stumpage, he should have the 
right to apply for and get these jobs.
Agency Administration.

1. Whereas, the Stuart Lake Agency is far too extensive to be adequately 
supervised by one Agent, we recommend that a separate Agency be established 
at Burns Lake, B.C., to include Stellaquo, Burns Lake, Maxim Lake, Francois 
Lake, Cheslatta Lake and other Bands.



INDIAN ACT 217

APPENDIX IG

Kitamaat, B.C.
January 5, 1948.

To the Honourable Gentlemen of the Special Joint Committee of the 
Senate and the House of Commons.
Gentlemen,—Whereas the purpose of your Committee is to revise the Indian 
Act, and

Whereas we believe that one of your main interests is the improved adminis­
tration of Indian reserves and villages,

Therefore we humbly petition your Committee to make the following 
recommendation to the Department concerned,

That the Kitamaat Band, its village and reserves be transferred from the 
Bella Coola Agency to the Prince Rupert Agency.

While this may be a small matter as compared with your other interests it is 
of considerable importance to the Kitamaat people as the following reasons show :

1. Prince Rupert is the centre of the geographical district of which Kitamaat 
is a part and a considerable amount of Kitamaat business is already taken care 
of by the Prince Rupert Agency.

2. Mail service is a lot better between Kitamaat and Prince Rupert than 
between Kitamaat and Bella Coola and we get our mail returned in one week 
from Prince Rupert as compared with three weeks from Bella Coola.

3. Kitamaat is already under the supervision of the Prince Rupert office of 
the Department of Health and Welfare.

4. Kitamaat is only forty miles from Hartly Bay which is - in the Prince 
Rupert Agency and the agent from that agency could reach us by adding only 
about four hours to his travelling time. He can, then, visit us much oftener 
than can the Bella Coola Agent who is lucky if he can visit us twice in a 
whole year,

5. It would increase the efficiency of the Bella Coola Agency by eliminating 
the long, four day trip needed to reach us. This would give the Bella Coola 
Agent more time in which to take care of the troubles of the rest of his far too 
extensive agency.

Because the Prince Rupert Agency, like the Bella Coola Agency, is at 
present under staffed we would also ask your Committee to recommend to the 
Department that the Prince Rupert Agency be provided with a staff sufficient to 
handle its present duties as well as the added duties which our transference 
would impose upon it.

We believe that this is a matter which should have been taken care of 
long ago and we know that if it is done it will be very much to our advantage 
as to that of the Bella Coola Agency. If your Committee will do this much 
for us you may be sure of our very hearty “thank you”.
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Signed by the Kitamaat Village Council as representatives of the whole 
Kitamaat Band.

Head Councillor—
FRED WOODS, 

Council Members
DON GRANT, 
ERNEST GRANT, 
KELLY STEWART, 
HEBER AMOS, 
ALEX GRAY, 
JOSEPH BELTON, 
JONAH NELSON.
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APPENDIX IH

The Presbyterian Church in Canada began its mission amongst the Indians 
in 1866 near the present site of Prince Albert, Saskatchewan. An extensive 
work was begun on several reserves and churches were built.

When church union was consummated in 1925 a part of this task was under­
taken by the United Church in Canada.

At the present time besides the work on the reserves we have two resi­
dential schools and one improved day school under the care of our Church— 
Birtle School, Manitoba; Cecilia Jeffrey School, Kenora, Ontario; and Mistawasis 
School near Prince Albert, Saskatchewan.
Birtle School—

One hundred and nineteen pupils enrolled, 63 girls and 56 boys, from the
following reserves :

Mistawasis........................................................................... 25
Round Plains (near Prince Albert) ............................... 4
Rolling River ................................................................... 11
Elphinstone ......................................................................... 14
Griswold ............................................................................. 6
Valley River ..................................................................... 1
Birdtail ............................................................................... 15
Waywayseecappo .............................................................. 43

In the Birtle School the course of study as outlined by the Department of 
Education for Manitoba is followed and all subjects listed therein are taught. 
All grades attend for the full school-day period from 9.00 a.m. to 4.00 p.m. as in 
the Provincial schools. With the full-day system almost all children are able 
to cover the work outlined in the course for the year in that time. Four pupils 
are doing two grades in the one year. The highest grade is grade eight. Some 
pupils have voluntarily expressed their desire to return for further education 
but whether they will or not is yet to be known. In the great majority of cases 
the parents persuade them to stay home.
Special Subjects:

Household Science, which covers all phases and cooking, is taught to all 
girls over nine years of age. The four-year course outlined by the Extension 
Service Branch of the Department of Agriculture for Manitoba is followed. Each 
group receives one-half day per week of instruction and work and one evening 
per week. Near the conclusion of the term an Achievement Day is held in the 
school and all the work is displayed. The public is invited to the display and the 
articles are judged by a representative from the Extension Branch. Also articles

The boys in grades 3 to 8, inclusive, spend one-half day per week and one 
evening in Manual Training. This is the first year, that a full course has been 
given in this work. As yet the workshop is too small and only hand tools are 
available, which limit the type and kind of work being done.

The girls and boys take a keen interest in both Household Science and 
Manual Training, and spend a great deal of their spare time on this.

Grades 3 to 8 each have two half-hour periods of physical training per week. 
Some of the classes are held in the auditorium and the others in the playrooms. 
In the warm weather they are held outside. Boys and girls are taken separately, 
and the period is spent in teaching folk dances, tumbling, physical exercises 
and organized games.
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The nurse has taken health classes with all grades each week through the 
term. The senior girls are completing a course in Home Nursing and the senior 
boys a course in First Aid. These are the courses outlined by the St. John’s 
Ambulance Corps and the students are writing the examination as set by this 
organization. The representative of the Corps will be visiting the school before 
the end of the term to test the students in the work covered.

Some vocal music is taught in each classroom by the teacher in charge. 
The children are very fond of singing. Six boys take violin lessons and there is 
a very good violin orchestra. They practise for fifteen minutes every day at 
noon. Twelve girls are taking piano lessons. Some from each reserve are selected; 
and each practises for half an hour a day.

Staff:
At present we have thirteen staff members. We hope to have a full staff 

by the beginning of September. The members of the staff are all very co-opera­
tive and there are some outstanding leaders among them. They take a very keen 
interest in the school and its progress, get along with the children exceptionally 
well and work together harmoniously.

Children’s Transportation:
The children from the Birdtail Reserve are brought to and from the school 

by their parents, and the cost of transportation of the children from all the other 
reserves is borne by the school.

The biggest item of transportation is the cost of bringing in the children 
from the Mistawasis and Round Plains Reserves. They are taken part way by 
train and the rest of the way by truck. This amounts to a considerable sum each 
year. Each year the Department allows our Society a grant to cover part of 
the cost.

Sports:
Winter time is the real sport season for these children. The juniors enjoy 

sleigh-riding on the hills in front of the school. They have a number of hand- 
sleighs which were in constant use all winter. The rink w-as most popular with 
the seniors. Every boy had a pair of skates, as well as all the senior and inter­
mediate girls who wished them. Every day all winter they were out either on 
the hill or on the rink with a supervisor. The boys took a keen interest in 
hockey and both the Pee-wee and Midget teams w-ere successful in most games 
with white teams in the district. The Midgets won all matches.

In summer some football and softball are played. The little girls enjoy the 
swings but should have a few more. The little boys play a great deal in the 
bush near the school.

All the children look forward to a party each month. The juniors have their 
party from seven to nine in the evening which consists of games, supervised by 
one of the staff, followed by lunch. The seniors’ parties usually start as soon 
as the juniors have left the auditorium for lunch. Theirs consist of contests, 
games, stunts and some dancing.

June brings the annual picnic and sports days each year. Every Thursday 
evening a moving picture is shown in the auditorium. One teacher has qualified 
as an operator of 16 mm. projectors. Films are obtained from the National 
Film Board free of charge and a number from the Visual Education Branch 
of the Department of Education. These are both instructive and entertaining.

Farm:
The Principal and Farm Manager strive to have the very finest of animals 

on the farm and the herd of cows is fully accredited. It is one of the best Dual 
Purpose herds in Manitoba.
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The farm, including a quarter section owned by the Church, consists of 
approximately 880 acres. A great deal of it is waste land and much of it is 
hilly, rocky and slough. There are about 125 acres of arable land on the Church 
quarter and about 200 on the school property.

Most of the produce of the farm is used at the school.

Cecilia Jeffrey School, Kenora

The enrolment at the present time at the Cecilia Jeffrey School is 125 but it 
should be 150. There are many children on the reserves who should be in the 
schools.

The course of study as outlined by the Ontario school curriculum is 
followed. Four boys are trying grade 8 this year. The academic work is good, 
considering the difficulties which the children have to overcome, such as learning 
a new language and becoming accustomed to school life.

Full-day school is held in the junior rooms and one-half day in the senior 
room, with the exception of grade eight, which is in school all day. The children 
who are not in school are attending some other class, such as domestic training, 
sewing or manual training. '

Special subjects:
Special classes for the girls are held in home nursing, health, etc. In the 

sewing room the girls are taught how to make dresses, tunics, blouses and how 
to darn and make over clothes. In the kitchen they are taught how to prepare 
meals, the care of foods and are given instruction in housekeeping.

The boys in the manual training class are given instruction in wood working, 
repairing, electrical wiring, repairing and building radios, making crystal sets. 
On the farm they are taught gardening and the care of buildings. They also 
receive instruction in firing the furnace, pipe fitting, carpentry, glazing and 
shoe repairing.

The children, under a qualified band instructor, receive training in the 
playing of various instruments and over a period of years have shown their 
capabilities in the winning of honours at music festivals. The children also 
receive instruction in the classroom in singing.

Staff:
There are 15 on the staff. During the war years it was difficult to have all 

the members of staff as highly qualified as we would have liked but each year 
we are hoping that the standard will be raised.

Children’s Transportation:
The children come from the reserves round about the Lake of the Woods. 

They are usually brought to the school by their parents, although on occasion 
the school boat is sent out to some of the reserves. This means that the cost 
of transporting the children of the Cecilia Jeffrey School is not so great as that 
of Birtle.

Sports:
Sports are found to be a very valuable aid W training, discipline and good 

health. Through the Royal Canadian Cadet Corps, skis, snow shoes, practice 
rifles and ammunition were procured. The school hockey team won the 
championship for the Kenora district and again had the privilege of playing 
the Winnipeg and Manitoba champions in Winnipeg.
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The girls are gradually losing their shyness and are making considerable 
progress in skating, softball and basket ball. The girls use the senior classroom 
for reading and quiet games in the evening. The boys have a similar arrangement 
in the intermediate classroom.

Farm:
The farm of 220 acres is owned but only about forty acres are arable. Two 

farms are rented, totalling 250 acres, with about 60 acres arable.
The stock on the farm is of good breed and each year the produce is 

practically all used at the school.
The farm played a big part in keeping up the standard of good food. There 

was sufficient milk at all times and usually enough eggs for two or three meals 
a week.

Mistawasis Day School

The teacher at the Mistawasis school is the missionary in charge, who is 
deeply interested in the Christian life of this reserve, ministering to all Indians, 
old and young.

The children who attend the day school receive a hot meal at noon. Our 
Society gives a grant each year towards the cost of providing these meals.. Bales 
of clothing are sent in to be distributed amongst the needy. The school and the 
manse are used as centres for any social gatherings of the Indians.

Comments:
While there are plenty of children on the Reserves, parents are not always 

willing to send them to school. One of the reasons why the children do not 
progress as much as they should in their academic studies is that they do not 
come in until they are nine,, ten, and eleven years old rather than beginning at 
six years of age. One marvels at the progress they make considering that they 
have to get accustomed more or less to school life, learning a new language as 
well as new customs. We feel that a definite effort should be made to persuade 
the parents to bring their children to the school at the age of six years. Then 
we might have more who would want to go on beyond grade eight.

In both schools there is the need for sports equipment. The health and 
happiness of the children require that they be kept in the open air as much as 
the school program will allow, and if there is sufficient sports equipment 
provided they will be much more contented.

In the schools more labour-sawing devices should be installed, so that the 
children would not spend needless hours in the ordinary routine tasks of washing 
dishes and preparing vegetables, etc.

In the manual training shops more equipment should be provided that the 
standard of training might be raised to a higher level.

In reports received from the schools we know that an attempt has been 
made during these last few years to try to develop the social spirit amongst the 
children, as well as to introduce among them some idea of organization—for 
example, Girl Guides, Canadian Girls in Training, and Mission Bands. Choirs 
have been organized in both schools and the natural love of the Indians for 
music is being carefully cultivated. We point with pride to our Band at the 
Cecilia Jeffrey School, whicfy has won notable recognition at music festivals in 
Winnipeg, and we would remember those boys in the Birtle School who have 
been learning to play the violin, and the girls who have learned to play the 
piano. It is always our hope that on their return to the Reserves these children 
might awaken in the hearts of their own people the desire to develop their 
musical ability.
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A great deal of use has been made of film projectors in the schools as a 
means of instruction and entertainment.

We are grateful for the increase made in the grants this year but we do feel 
that a still greater increase is needed if we are to get the right kind of members 
of staff and keep the schools up to the standard of efficiency which the department 
requires.

Religious Education:
In all schools careful thought is given to religious instruction. Each school 

day opens with Scripture reading and prayer in the classrooms. In the Cecilia 
Jeffrey School, the lower grades are now using for a guide the daily religious 
instruction as prepared for the schools in Ontario.

Chapel services are held for the whole school two evenings a week and on 
Sundays there are Church services and Sunday School, special services being held 
at Easter, Christmas and Thanksgiving.





__
__



//





Sfr ÿ



Bound by
Hweetfe Prea» Cii mi ■«*»»

(Wdonvele




